VERSION 18.1.3 MARCH 2025 702P09379

Xerox® FreeFlow® VI Design Express Software

User Guide



© 2025 Xerox Corporation. All rights reserved. XEROX[®], FreeFlow[®], VIPP[®], and GlossMark[®] are trademarks of Xerox Corporation in the United States and/or other countries.

Other company trademarks are acknowledged as follows:

Adobe PDFL - Adobe PDF Library Copyright © 1987-2022 Adobe Systems Incorporated.

Adobe PDF Converter – Adobe PDF Converter Library Copyright © 2022 Adobe Systems Incorporated.

Adobe[®], the Adobe logo, Acrobat[®], the Acrobat logo, Acrobat Reader[®], Distiller[®], Adobe PDF JobReady[™], InDesign[®], PostScript[®], and the PostScript logo are either registered trademarks or trademarks of Adobe Systems Incorporated in the United States and/or other countries. All instances of the name PostScript in the text are references to the PostScript language as defined by Adobe Systems Incorporated unless otherwise stated. The name PostScript also is used as a product trademark for Adobe Systems implementation of the PostScript language interpreter, and other Adobe products. Copyright 1987-2022 Adobe Systems Incorporated and its licensors. All rights reserved. Includes Adobe[®] PDF Libraries and Adobe Normalizer technology.

Intel[®], Pentium[®], Centrino[®], and Xeon[®] are registered trademarks of Intel Corporation. Intel Core[™] Duo is a trademark of Intel Corporation.

Intelligent Mail[®] is a registered trademark of the United States Postal Service.

Macintosh[®], Mac[®], OS X[®], and macOS[®] are registered trademarks of Apple, Inc., registered in the United States and other countries. Elements of Apple Technical User Documentation used by permission from Apple, Inc.

Novell[®] and NetWare[®] are registered trademarks of Novell, Inc. in the United States and other countries. Oracle[®] is a registered trademark of Oracle Corporation Redwood City, California.

PANTONE[™] and other Pantone Inc. trademarks are the property of Pantone Inc. All rights reserved. QR Code[™] is a trademark of Denso Wave Incorporated in Japan and/or other countries.

TIFF® is a registered trademark of Aldus Corporation.

The Graphics Interchange Format© is the Copyright property of CompuServe Incorporated. GIFSM is a Service Mark of CompuServe Incorporated.

Windows[®], Windows[®] 10, Windows[®] 11, Windows Server[®] 2016, Windows Server[®] 2019, Windows Server[®] 2022, and Internet Explorer are trademarks of Microsoft Corporation; Microsoft[®] and MS-DOS[®] are registered trademarks of Microsoft Corporation.

All other product names and services mentioned in this publication are trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective companies. They are used throughout this publication for the benefit of those companies, and are not intended to convey endorsement or other affiliation with the publication.

Companies, names, and data used in examples are fictitious unless otherwise noted.

While every care has been taken in the preparation of this material, no liability is accepted by Xerox Corporation arising out of any inaccuracies or omissions.

Changes are made periodically to this document. Changes, technical inaccuracies, and typographical errors are corrected in subsequent editions.

Produced in the United States of America.

BR41047

Contents

Installing VI Design Express	11
Supported versions of Adobe InDesign	12
Program Download	
Specialty Imaging and Barcode Font Download	14
Minimum System Requirements	
Installation Notes	
Windows Installation	
Complete and Custom Windows installation	
macOS Installation	
Custom Install for macOS X	
Licensing	
License File	22
VI Design Express Overview	25
VI Suite Customer Forum	27
Glossary of Terms	
Documentation Overview	
The InDesign Workspace	
Supported Graphic Formats	
Screen and Printer Fonts	
Overview of Specialty Imaging and VDE	
Limitations	40
Sources of the Limitations	
Opening VDE Documents in Updated Versions of InDesign	44
Using VDE	45
Setting VDE Preference Options	
Interface tab	
Export Settings tab	49
Font Export Options Tab	52
Batch Process PDF Files as Resources	59
Modify PDF with Embedded EPS	59
Variable Information and Design Layout	60
Buttons, Check Boxes, and Icons	62
Getting Started	70
Opening the VDE panel	70
Preparing the workspace	71
Defining a Data File	
Defining the Delimited Data File	
Loading a subsidiary delimited data file Defining an XML Data File	
Selecting an Asset Folder	80 102
Selecting and ober total minimum minimum minimum minimum minimum	

Defining VDE Data Object Types	105
Rules	
Rule Term Definitions	110
Rule Creation	113
I MOT Subset Potrioval Pule Constation	
Dulo Modification or Duplication	
Rule Testing	
Rule Deletion	
Un-associate a Visibility Object from a Layer	
Find a File with an Unknown File Extension	
Importing and Exporting Rules and Transforms	
Importing a New Data File and its Effect on Rules and Transforms	
VDE Design Elements	
Text	
Static Text	
Variable Text	
Variable Text Files	
Text Fitting and Wrapping Options	129
Variable Text On a Path	135
Variable Text Around an Object	
Distorted Text	
labs	
Paragraph Indent	
Suppress Blank Variable Text lines	
l ables Containing Variable Fields	
Dynamic Character Styles	
Basic Character Formats	
Advanced Character Formats	
Underline Options	
Underline Options	146 1/40
Mixing Static and Dynamic Text Styles	149 150
Granhics	153
Static Graphics	153
Variable Images	
Barcodes	157
Aztec	
Data Matrix	
EAN-5	161
EAN-8	
EAN-13	
GS1 Databar	
MaxiCode	

PDF417	
QR Code	
USPS 4-State Customer Barcode (IMB)	175
UPC-A	176
UPC-E	178
Barcode Fonts	
Code 128	
Code 39	182
EAN 128	
EAN (8-digit)	184
EAN (13-digit)	185
Interleaved 2 of 5	
PostJPN	
PostNet	
UPC (Version A)	
OMR	
Variable Layers	193
PDF Fillable Form Fields	194
VDE Text Pattern Swatches	197
Creating a Text Pattern Swatch	
Using SI Effects in a Text Pattern Swatch	201
Artistic Black VDF Text Pattern Swatch	201
Fluorescent VDE Text Pattern Swatch	202
Infrared VDE Text Pattern Swatch	203
Micro Text VDE Text Pattern Swatch	
Xerox® GlossMark® Technology and Correlation Mark Text VDE Text Pattern Swatch	205
Xerox Specialty Inks	207
Static and Variable Text	209
Text Limitations	210
Static and Variable Images	
Objects	
Objects	
Paths	
The Completed Page Layout	215
Variable Color	217
Applying a Variable Color to a Frame Stroke or Frame Fill	218
Applying a Variable Color to a Monochrome Image	221
VDE Business Charts	223
Business Chart Options	224
VI Design Express Chart Options	225
Selecting Input Data	
Bar and Line Chart Options	
1	

Pie Chart Options	229
Preview	231
Margins	231
Advanced VIPP® DDG Parameters	232
PIF Options	235
Using VDE PIF Options	236
Add a Note	236
Add a URI	238
Delete a VDE PIF Option	241
Advanced Functions	243
Activating an Advanced Function	244
Setting Up the BOOKMARK Advanced Function	246
Adding a New Advanced Function	248
Exporting and Importing an Advanced Function	251
Tagging an Advanced Function to a Frame	253
Placing the VIPP® code within the Job Structure	254
Saving Advanced Functions	257
Deleting Saved Advanced Functions	258
Setting the Path For Saving Advanced Functions	259
Creating a VPC File Compatible with Xerox® FreeFlow® Core for Splitting Based on Records	261
VIPP® Job Submission to FreeFlow Core and getting status back from FreeFlow Core	262
Prerequisites to Submit Job to FreeFlow Core	262
FreeFlow VI Design Express Job Status Service Port Configuration	262
FreeFlow Core Tab in Preferences Panel	
Submit Job to FreeFlow Core	
FreeFlow Core Submission Settings	
Setting Inbound and Outbound Rules	203
Submit Job to FreeFlow VI eCompose	268
Prerequisites to Submit Job to FreeFlow VI eCompose	268
FreeElow VI eCompose Tab	
Submit to FreeFlow VI eCompose	
FreeFlow VI eCompose Submission Settings	269
FreeFlow VI eCompose Job Status	270
Data Transforms	273
Create Data Transform Panel	274
User Input Masks	281
Arithmetic Expressions	
Creating an Arithmetic Expression Data Transform	
Creating A Data Transform Named Add Two Numbers	
Export and Printing	287
Export Options	200

Create VI Project Container: Project Settings	
Create VI Print Package: Print Package Settings	
Create VI Design Express PDF: PDF Settings	
Export and Print Panels	
Print settings	
Multi-Up	
Flattening	
Page Boxes	
PDF Resources Cropping	
Media and Finishing	
Export Presets	
Custom Export Presets	
Printing the VPP, VPC, or PDF file	
VI Print Package (.vpp)	
VI Project Container (.vpc)	
Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data	
	225
Page Layouts	
Single Occurrence Field Master Page	
Multiple Occurrence Field Transaction Page	
Ather Pages	
Sample Test Files	
Transactional Workflow	
Just Send the Data	
In Design Screen View and Actual Application Proving	
Indesign screen view and Actual Application Preview	
Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data Formats	
Header Record	
Field Descriptor	
FIELX	
Root Prefix	
SOF	
MOF	
First Multi-occurrence Prefix	
Prefix/Field	
Delimiter Character	
Examples of Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data Files	
Built-in Variables	
VPPpageCount (also shown in the Data Panel as VDE_PageNumber)	
VPPpageTotal (also shown in the Data Panel as VDE_PageTotal)	346
VPPpreviousValue	
VPPnextValue	
VPPtirstValue	
vppiastvalue	
VPPspaceLeftInFrame	

VPPprefixName	
VPPruntimeProductName	
Built-in Rules and Data Transforms	
Built-in Rules	
Built-in Data Transforms	
Designing a Transactional Document	35
Creating a Transactional Document	352
Creating a Presorted Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data Document	
ng Specialty Imaging Effects	
Printer Support Restrictions	403
Limitations	
Important Printer Setup Information	406
Download and Install Specialty Imaging Fonts	406
Set the Printer to Use Specialty Imaging	406
Installing Specialty Imaging support for VDE	41(
Using a Specialty Imaging Color Swatch	41(
Specialty Imaging fonts for VDE	41´
Correlation Mark	412
Single Layer Correlation Effect	412
Two Layer Correlation Effect	412
Correlation Mark Font (Deprecated)	413
Single Layer Correlation Mark Effect Using Correlation Fonts (Deprecated)	414
Two Layer Correlation Mark Effect Using Correlation Fonts (Deprecated)	415
Correlation Mark limitations and requirements	
Correlation Mark font table (deprecated)	
Correlation Mark Color Swatches	
Designing Documents with Correlation Mark	
Fluorescent Mark Color	
Single Layer Effect	
I wo Layer Fluorescent Effect	
FluorescentMark (LIV) Color Swatches	
Designing Documents with EluorescentMark Colors	426
GlossMark® Text	/.)
GlossMark® Text font (deprecated)	،
GlossMark Toxt Limitations and Poquiromonts	/,)(
GlossMark Text Entitations and Requirements	
GlossMark Color Swatches	43(
Designing Documents with GlossMark Text	
Variable Pantograph	432
Installing Pantograph Font for Windows OS	432 ل
Installing Pantograph Font for Mac OS	
Creating a Variable Pantograph	
Applying a Variable Pantograph to a Frame	436
Applying Specialty Imaging Effects to Monochrome TIFF images	

Infrared Color	443
Infrared Color Swatches	443
Designing Documents With Infrared Color	446
MicroText Font	448
Use the Effect	448
Microtext Font Limitations and Requirements	449
MicroText font table	450
Designing Documents With Microtext Fonts	450
SI Correlation Mark Effect CR Key Generation	451
Generate CR Key	451
Applying a Key Swatch to a Frame	454
Deleting a CR Key	455
Designing a Document with both SI Effect and Key	456
Hints and Tips	459
Getting Started	460
Using Suppress Variable Blank Lines	463
Using Data Transforms to Correct Case Issues	465
Using Data Transforms to Sub-Divide Data Base Fields	468
Using Data Transforms to Concatenate Two Strings	471
Using Data Transform to Format Numeric Data	473
Create a Rule to Insert Text	475
Using Rules to Control Layer Visibility	477
Using VPPlayerName to Support Several Layers with a single Visibility Rule	
Page visibility	490
Adding Specialty Imaging	
How to add MicroText	
How to add FluorescentMark	

Installing VI Design Express

This chapter contains:

Supported versions of Adobe InDesign	12
Program Download	13
Specialty Imaging and Barcode Font Download	14
Minimum System Requirements	15
Installation Notes	17
Windows Installation	18
macOS Installation	19
Licensing	21

Installing VI Design Express describes system requirements, installation procedures, and licensing.

When first installed, VI Design Express (VDE) runs for 30 days without a license. After 30 days, a VDE license is required to operate. To obtain a license, contact a local Xerox representative for details.

System clock

Do not attempt to change the system clock to circumvent the license. If you attempt to change the system clock, VDE detects the change and fails to operate.

Updates are released as Full Installers

You are able to install any FreeFlow VI Suite 18.1.3 update over any prior release of the FreeFlow VI Suite. Installation of VI Suite components requires Administrator privileges.

Active products must be stopped prior to update installation

Any active product, such as FreeFlow VI eCompose or VI eCompose services must be stopped prior to any update installation.

Prerequisite for installation

If you are using this 18.1.3 release of the VI Design Express software, upgrade the VI Compose software on the printer to VI Compose 18.1.1. If you are using VI eCompose software, upgrade the software version to VI eCompose 18.1.1.

Support removed

Adobe InDesign CS3, InDesign CS4, InDesign CS5, InDesign CS5.5, InDesign CS6, InDesign CC (v10), InDesign CC (v11), InDesign CC (v12), InDesign CC (v13), InDesign CC (v14), InDesign CC (v15), InDesign CC (v16), InDesign CC (v17), and InDesign CC (v18) are no longer supported.

Supported versions of Adobe InDesign

VDE supports two versions of Adobe InDesign software, as documented in Minimum System Requirements. As VDE is updated to support newer versions of Adobe InDesign software, Xerox reserves the right to drop support for earlier versions of Adobe InDesign software.

Warning: Do not choose automatic Adobe InDesign or Creative Cloud updates without first verifying that your version of VDE will run on that later version of the Adobe software. You may need to disable this automatic update process.

Program Download

To download the VDE program electronically, go to www.xerox.com/support, then select **Software & Platforms**. Select **FreeFlow > FreeFlow Variable Information Suite**, then select **Software and Solutions**. If necessary, to display the correct installer file, select the operating system appropriate for your target platform, then download the FreeFlow VI Design Express installer file.

Specialty Imaging and Barcode Font Download

To download Specialty Imaging and Barcode fonts, go to www.xerox.com/support. Select **Software & Platforms**, then select **FreeFlow > FreeFlow Variable Information Suite**. Select **Software and Solutions**, then download the required fonts from the list.



Note: When you download fonts, you are directed to review an End User License Agreement. To download the fonts, review and accept the End User License Agreement. If you do not accept the End User License Agreement, the system exits the font download page.

Minimum System Requirements

VDE is supported on Windows 10 (64-bit), Windows 11 (64-bit), and macOS.

Note: Support for VDE on Windows 10 and Windows 11 systems depends on Adobe support for that operating system.

VDE 18.1.3 requires an installed version of VI Compose 18.1.1 on the target printer. If VI Compose is installed on the printer, upgrade it to version 18.1.1.

The minimum requirements to run VDE are the same as the minimum requirements to run Adobe InDesign on a supported system. VDE is supported on these versions of InDesign:

- Adobe InDesign 2024 (19.0.1 or later)
- Adobe InDesign 2025 (20.0 or later)

It is required that Adobe InDesign Creative Cloud is installed prior to installing the VDE software. Refer to the Adobe InDesign or Adobe Creative Suite for OS support.

The requirements for Windows are:

- Windows 10, Windows 11, Windows Server 2016, Windows Server 2019, and Windows Server 2022. Service Pack Levels as required by Adobe InDesign
- For processor and memory requirements, refer to the system requirements for installing the Windows operating system
- 4 GB or better RAM
- 5 GB or better available hard-drive space
- 1024 x 768 monitor
- DVD-ROM/CD-ROM Drive

The requirements for macOS are:

- Mac OS X (Intel processor)
- Mac OS 13 (Apple Silicon)
- Mac OS 14 (Apple Silicon)
- Mac OS 15 (Apple Silicon)

Processor: Multicore Intel processor or Apple

silicon/M1/M2/M3 Operating system:

MACOS FOR VI DESIGN EXPRESS ONLY	VERSION
Sequoia	15
Sonoma	14.1 or later
Ventura	13.2 or later
Monterey	12.1 or later

🧪 Note:

- FreeFlow VI Design Express is supported as universal binary for macOS (Apple Mac systems using Apple silicon (M1/M2/M3) in native mode and Intel based Mac systems).
- InDesign 2024 is supported in Rosetta mode in macOS Monterey, Ventura, Sonoma, and Sequoia.
- InDesign 2025 is supported in Rosetta mode in macOS Sequoia.
- Minimum 84 GB RAM
- 5 GB or better available hard-drive space
- 1024 x 768 monitor
- DVD-ROM/CD-ROM Drive

VDE does not require that VI Compose is installed on the workstation. However, when you send the exported VI Project Contained (.vpc) file to the printer, it is required that VI compose is installed on the target print device. If using the Export option, VI Design Express PDF, VI Compose is not needed, however, exporting to VI Design Express PDF is not as efficient as exporting and printing the .vpc file.

Note: The installation of Xerox[®] FreeFlow[®] VI Design Express will always be installed in the default location of Adobe InDesign, normally C:\Program Files\Adobe (Windows) and /Applications/ (Mac). If Adobe InDesign is installed in a directory other than the default location, installation of FreeFlow

VI Design Express will fail stating that the installation of the Adobe InDesign application is missing. Ensure that Adobe InDesign is installed in the default location while installing FreeFlow VI Design Express.

Ensure that Microsoft Windows Copilot is disabled and following steps states how to disable Copilot in Windows 11.

- 1. Open the Windows 11 Start menu and type Copilot.
- 2. Select **Copilot** to open the settings screen.
- 3. Locate Copilot and select Off.

Note: Instructions based on Copilot (preview) as of January 2024 and subject to change in future Windows 11 updates.

For additional details, refer to FreeFlow[®] VI Suite Specialty or Security Imaging for VI Compose and Design Express on a Fiery DFE - FreeFlow Variable Information Suite - Xerox.

Installation Notes

All Windows and Mac OS X:

• Both the Windows and Mac OS X software installations must be done with the user logged in as an Administrator with administrator privileges.

Note: If the user has no administrator privileges, software installation will not be successful.

• It is recommended that you uninstall the current version of VDE prior to installing the new

version. Windows 10 and above:

• When installing on a Windows 10 system, a Program Compatibility Assistant (PCA) dialog can display the following message:

This program might not have installed correctly.

If no error messages were displayed by the VDE installer, the software was installed successfully and the PCA message can be disregarded. To complete the installation, click **This program installed correctly**.

Specialty Imaging effects:

• Specialty Imaging effects are supported on FreeFlow Print Server (FFPS) and EFI devices that drive Xerox production print devices. Inkjet and Xerox Solid Ink technology and similar systems are not supported. Specialty Imaging effects are supported only when using .vpc or VIPP[®] code on the print device. Exporting and/or printing Specialty Imaging effects from a PDF file is not supported.

 st Note: VIPP® and SI must be set up on any EFI DFE prior to doing any VIPP® or SI printing.

- Do not install Specialty Imaging fonts when Specialty Imaging features will not be used. To install the fonts later, run the Custom Install, then read and follow the onscreen instructions.
- Specialty Imaging fonts are screen fonts intended to replicate the color and size of the Specialty Imaging font effect on the screen only. They cannot be used for printing. To print an application that uses these fonts, download the Specialty Imaging fonts used in the application. Refer to Specialty Imaging and Barcode Font download for more information about downloads. Download the printer fonts needed. Some of these font files can be large. Xerox recommends that you only install the fonts used in your application.

Barcode Fonts:

• A zip file that contains printer barcode fonts (BarcodeFonts.zip) is available for download. For more information, refer to Specialty Imaging and Barcode Font download. This file contains printer barcode fonts for use in VIPP®- based applications. These fonts need to be installed as printer fonts on the target print device.

Windows Installation

 \sim Note: Prior to beginning this installation, refer to Installation Notes for important background information.

Windows installation takes place via the .zip file downloaded from the www.xerox.com/support website. Refer to Program Download for more information. The .zip file contains the installer executable, the readme file, and a folder VIPP® Example that contains files and resources that can be used for the examples located in Hints and Tips.

To install VDE, you must be logged on and have administrative rights.

When downloading the VDE installation application, XeroxFreeFlowVIDesignExpress_xx.exe, place it in a temporary directory and extract the files into that directory. Where xx is the software version.

Double-click the extracted installer file to install the plug-ins.

Once the installer starts, select the appropriate language for the installer to use, then follow the on-screen instructions to read and confirm the End User License Agreement (EULA), and install the software.

Also, during the installation process, choose one of the following:

Typical	To install the VDE plug-in and related files. Use this option to install VDE when Specialty Imaging features are not required.
Complete	To install the VDE plug-in and all of the Specialty Imaging screen fonts.
Custom	To select the features and fonts to install.

Other files installed with the Plug-Ins are a README file, the Xerox EULA, an Adobe EULA, and Legal Notices PDF files. The *Xerox® FreeFlow® VI Design Express Software User Guide* in the selected language is also installed.

When Installation is complete, restart the computer.

COMPLETE AND CUSTOM WINDOWS INSTALLATION

Note: Prior to beginning this installation, refer to Installation Notes for important background information.

Use the Complete option during the initial installation process to install VDE and all of the Specialty Imaging fonts. The Custom option is used during the initial installation process, or at a later time, to install some or all of the Specialty Imaging fonts.

Follow the on-screen instructions to complete the installation. When Installation is complete restart the computer.

macOS Installation

 \nearrow Note: Prior to beginning this installation, refer to Installation Notes for important background information.

The Mac OS installation takes place via a .dmg file located in the .zip file, downloaded from the www.xerox.com/ support website. Refer to Program Download for more information. The .zip file contains the installer .dmg file, the readme file, and a folder (VPP Example) that contains files and resources that can be used for the examples located in Hints and Tips.

- 1. To mount the VI Design Express installation disk on the desktop, double-click the XeroxFreeFlowVIDesignExpress_xx.dmg file.
- 2. To install the VI Design Express, double-click the installer application.

A dialog box with the message XeroxFreeFlowVIDesignExpress.app is an app downloaded from the internet. "Are you sure you want to open it?" appears.

- 3. Select the option Don't warn me when opening applications on this disk image, then click Open.
 - Important: For macOS Catalina installations, if you do not select the option **Don't warn me when opening applications on this disk image**, and you run the installer directly from the .dmg file path, the installation can fail without notification. For macOS Big Sur installations, if you do not select the option **Don't warn me when opening applications on this disk image**, and you run the installer directly from the .dmg file path, a java cannot be opened because the developer cannot be verified. To terminate the message, select **Cancel**.

An authorization dialog box appears on the screen. If the logged-in user has administrative privileges, type the appropriate password. If the logged-in user does not have administrative privileges, a nonPrivAuth dialog appears. Ensure that the appropriate user name and password are entered, then select **Install Helper**. A dialog box with the message **iCloud Drive may not work properly** appears. To proceed, select **OK**.

4. When the language dialog box appears, select the appropriate language for the installer to use from the menu. Follow the onscreen instructions to read and confirm the End User License Agreement (EULA) and complete the installation.

During the installation process, choose one of the following:

Typical	To install the VDE plug-in and related files. Use this option to install VDE when Specialty Imaging features are not required.
Complete	To install the VDE plug-in and all of the Specialty Imaging screen fonts.
Custom	To select the features and fonts to install.

Other files installed with the plug-ins are a README file, the Xerox EULA, an Adobe EULA, and Legal Notices PDF files. The *Xerox® FreeFlow® VI Design Express Software User Guide* in the selected language is also installed.

CUSTOM INSTALL FOR MACOS X

Note: Prior to beginning this installation, refer to Installation Notes for important background information.

Use this option to install the Plug-ins, and some or all of the Specialty Imaging fonts. This is the option used to install Specialty Imaging fonts when they were not included in the initial installation of VDE.

Installing VI Design Express

Follow the on-screen instructions to complete the installation.

Licensing

When your product is first installed, it will function for 30-days without a license. To use the product after the 30day trial period you must convert the trial to a fully licensed version of the product. To do this you need to purchase a production license.

The process to license VDE will depend on where and how the VDE software was purchased. This is due to unique licensing requirements based on geographical regions. This information will be included in the kit you receive/ download when you purchase VDE.

System clock

Do not attempt to change the system clock to circumvent the license. VDE will detect such a change and will fail to operate if this is attempted.

License file for manual load

When using the manual process of the Load License option, you will be provided a license file. License files (*. dat) for all VI products are generated via an automatic process. The process saves the file as HardwareAddress. dat, where HardwareAddress is the address of the computer on which the product will be licensed. Therefore, it is possible to receive more than one product license file with identical file names. It is your responsibility to ensure that you do not overwrite existing licenses when saving a new product license. When license files used on a single computer will expire at the same time it is possible to request one file that will activate all the VI products on that computer.

To view how many days remain in the trial or the status of the license, select the **VDE panel menu** at the top right of the VDE panel shown below.



Selecting the VDE panel menu will produce a menu with these entries

License....

This option is discussed in detail in the chapter you are now reading.

Preferences...

This option is discussed in Setting VDE Preference Options.

VI Compose Printer License...

This option is discussed in the Prerequisites to Support Xerox Office Printers section.

Modify PDFs with Embedded EPS

This option is discussed in the Batch Process PDF files as resources section.

About FreeFlow VI Design Express

This option should be used when reporting a software problem to Xerox. This option will display the software version information that is critical in any troubleshooting activity. If possible, always include a screen shot of error messages and a screen shot of the version information.

User Guide

This option will open the Xerox® FreeFlow® VI Design Express Software User Guide.

Frame Inspector

The Frame Inspector is used to list VDE-specific information about a Frame. To display the Frame Inspector, choose the Frame Inspector item from the drop-down menu on the VDE panel. When the Frame Inspector is open and a graphic frame or text frame is selected in an InDesign document, the frame options for that frame are displayed in the Frame Inspector. Frame options include text-fitting, Xerox Specialty Inks, text distortion, variable frame color, and barcode information.

LICENSE FILE

The License option produces the FreeFlow VI Design Express License panel. This panel provides access to information about the installed license and three unique licensing options. Use the panel to choose the option suited to your location.

License panel options:

License Information

This panel includes:

LICENSE TYPE	
Days Remaining	The number of days until the existing license expires.
License Host ID:	VDE finds and displays this information from your computer. If a valid license is loaded, the Host ID used by the license is shown.
Product Version	The installed version of the VDE software.

If you have an activation key

The information in this panel is designed for users who have received a software activation key as part of the software license kit for the VDE software.

If you do not have the license kit, and are in a location that requires this option, contact your Xerox sales representative to purchase the software license kit for the VDE software. Once the order has been processed a ship kit containing the Software Activation Key and Serial Number if provided will be shipped to the customer location.

For further instruction, go to Using the Activation Key option.

If you have obtained a license file

Use this option when you have received a license file (*.dat) usually via email. When the file is delivered be sure to store it in a safe and accessible place on your computer.

For further instruction, go to Using the Load License option.

Using the Activation Key option

Note: Retain the Software Activation Key and Serial Number (if provided) in a safe location as they may be required for future upgrades, support, etc.

If you have the Software Activation key, use the automated license process outlined here:

1. Choose one of the available System Host IDs for the license Host ID. (The default is recommended.)

Note: If the automated license process fails you need to have the System Host ID string and the Software Activation Key available when you contact the Xerox hotline for assistance.

- 2. Enter the Serial Number of the device on which the software is installed.
- 3. Enter the **Software Activation Key** in the area provided and click the **Activate...** button.
- 4. The Xerox License Server may return a form requesting additional information. Fill in the form as requested and select **OK** when done.
- 5. This information and the Software Activation Key will be submitted to the Xerox License Server.
- 6. At this point the Xerox License Server should have all the information required to validate the license request. If additional information is required, a new screen requesting additional information will be displayed. Fill in the required information and select **OK**.
- 7. The Xerox License Server will validate the information and either enable the license or return an error code if the information supplied does not match our records. If an error code is generated, report the error code to your local Xerox representative so they can assist you further.

If the information entered is valid, a license file will be generated and loaded to your system. Details of the license will be displayed in the License Information area of the License screen. To apply the license, click the **OK** button. When the OK button is selected, the license will be applied.

On occasion, the automated license activation may fail. When this happens, contact the Xerox hotline for assistance. Have the System Host ID of the workstation and the Software Activation Kit supplied in the ship kit available. Further assistance may result in a license file being emailed to you. If this happens, use the process below to manually activate the license.

Note: If you fail to connect to the license server using the method shown above, go to any internet connected device and login to the portal using this URL: https://www.xeroxlicensing.xerox.com/activation. Enter the Activation Key and follow the on-screen prompts. You will need to know the System Host ID of the PC where VDE has been installed. A License file will be emailed to you. Move the license to a safe location on the VDE system and use the Load License option to install the license.

Using the Load License option

To activate the VDE license using a license file:

1. Select the Load License option.

Installing VI Design Express

- 2. Browse to the location of the license file, select it, then click **OK**.
- 3. The license will be installed. The new license information will be displayed at the top of the license panel.
- 4. Select **OK** to activate the license.

VI Design Express Overview

This chapter contains:

VI Suite Customer Forum	27
Glossary of Terms	
Documentation Overview	
The InDesign Workspace	35
Supported Graphic Formats	
Screen and Printer Fonts	
Overview of Specialty Imaging and VDE	
Limitations	40
Opening VDE Documents in Updated Versions of InDesign	

VI Design Express (VDE) is an application plug-in for use with Adobe® Creative Cloud InDesign. It is designed to allow a graphic artist to:

- Create applications that contain variable information.
- Export the variable data application. VI Design Express provides three export types.

	Recommended for Xerox Print devices enabled with the VI Compose software. This is the most efficient way to print VIPP® applications, taking full advantage of VIPP® Pro and Dynamic Document Construction (DDC).
VI Print Package	Targeted for office or non-Xerox devices enabled with VI Compose. This takes advantage of the speed that DDC brings to printing variable data applications.
VI Design Express PDF	This is the VIPP® PDF emitter, recommended for small iel This does not take advantage of VIPP® Pro or P take longer to print when the record more. Do not use Specialtur a VDE PDF. Special generation

- Print the application at production speeds when exporting the job using the VI Project Container format (.vpc).
- Set in-line feeding and finishing for the application (device dependent).
- Allow further advanced design modification using the code based FreeFlow VI Design Pro tool or allow processing to PDF via VI eCompose.

In addition, VDE allows the graphic artist to do all of that without having to learn VIPP[®] programming techniques or the VIPP[®] Pro language, while at the same time providing the benefits of VIPP[®] Pro, such as:

- no chunking data files
- no waiting for precomposition so .vpc and .vpp output only
- easy reprint capabilities.

VDE is available on both Mac OS X and Windows platforms and is designed to facilitate creation of variable data applications that take advantage of the speed VIPP® Pro software provides, from within a familiar design environment.

With InDesign and VDE, the static and variable elements of the application are inserted or defined using the InDesign environment and VDE. Static elements of the design are created using InDesign tools and graphic resources. VDE is used to introduce the variable elements, such as database fields and conditional logic, all of which are controlled through a simple-to-use GUI interface. When ready to print, the InDesign Export option is used to output a .vpc, .vpp or a PDF file. The .vpc or .vpp file can be printed to any Xerox device that is VIPP® Proenabled has the VI Compose software installed and licensed at the rip to take advantage of Dynamic Document Construction, while the PDF file can print to any engine that supports PDF printing.

Both .vpc and .vpp packages take full advantage of dynamic document construction and both are the most efficient output formats to print large volume applications. Xerox recommends using these formats for applications with more than 1,000 records. For small jobs, the VDE PDF output option is also available. Because the PDF emitter has to compose the PDF, this output will take longer to print than the .vpc or .vpp option. However, the PDF option does not require that VI Compose be installed and licensed at the print engine.

VDE provides a simple and easy to use GUI interface while delivering speed and flexible output options. When InDesign and VDE are used together, the advantages are a familiar and powerful design tool for the layout, and speed and/or flexibility for the printed output. When using the power of the VI Compose engine on the printer, and the .vpc or .vpp output from the VDE Export menu, jobs can be printing in minutes, with no waiting to compose print ready files. Or, if flexibility is important, use the VDE PDF output option to print anywhere.

Intended audience

The VDE plug-in for InDesign, and this documentation, are intended for use by graphic designers with experience using Adobe InDesign. If InDesign related training is required, or to become familiar with InDesign, refer to the tutorials and documentation provided with that program.

Documentation

This documentation describes the VDE plug-in as used on a Windows operating system. VDE functionality is identical on both Windows and Mac operating systems; however, Mac users will have to adjust for possible discrepancies between Windows and Mac mouse functions and keystrokes. For example, when the instructions indicate a Right-click, Mac users should use the Mac shortcuts, mouse clicks, and so on. The VI Project Container, or .vpc, is referred to throughout this document. Unless noted, these terms are interchangeable with the VI Print Package, or .vpp file. Both are output formats supported by VDE.

VI Suite Customer Forum

Xerox hosts a Community Support Forum. The VI Suite Customer forum is now part of this larger support forum, allowing you to post and review information about Xerox products and services, all from one location. Take a minute to log into this customer forum community: https://VIPPsupport.xerox.com.

Glossary of Terms

VDE breaks down the wall between the world of creative document design and variable data applications. As such, there are terms used in this document that may not be familiar to graphic artists or to IT professionals. Because of the unique capability of the VDE product, descriptions of some of the graphic art and IT terms used in this document are included here.

Advanced Function

A unique type of VI Design Express Rule used to insert an Advanced Function into the document. Advanced Functions can be used to insert the VIPP® BOOKMARK command into the VPC file that is generated by VDE, or to insert custom VIPP® code at a particular location in the document. A BOOKMARK command is processed by FreeFlow VI eCompose to set a split point when generating PDF output.

APPE

Adobe PDF Print Engine (APPE). VDE output can be printed to the APPE engine of the FreeFlow Print Server. The APPE supports advanced features such as PDF-referenced XObjects, transparency, and so on.

Application, design, and layout

In the context of the VI Design Express, these terms are used to describe what appears in the InDesign Document Window. The words Design and Layout are used interchangeably to describe what appears onscreen. The word Application is used to describe the entire VDE job, including the way that the job looks and how the job works.

Artistic Black

A Xerox Specialty Imaging effect using patterned ink. For more information, refer to Specialty Imaging With VIC in the *Xerox® FreeFlow® VI Compose Software User Guide*.

Asset and Resource

Synonymous terms used to describe the files used in an InDesign or VI Project.

Bleed

A graphic art term used to describe an area outside of the document page boundary. For example, a bleed of 3.175 mm (0.125 in.) adds a new bleed boundary around the document. Use this extended boundary to place objects. When the page is cut at the document page size and not at the bleed boundary, a clean cut through an area of color occurs. If the cut is not in absolute alignment, using the bleed boundary avoids the possibility of stray white areas. So, a bleed area adds area to a design, and the added area can be cut off later.

Chunk

Chunk means to break apart a larger submission file into smaller chunks. Applications that pre-compose the print file outside of the printer output of VIPP[®] SE typically require data files to be chunked in an attempt to produce output quicker at the print device and provide some level of reprint capability rather than processing the whole data file again.

Data object/Data Object List

In VI Design Express, the Data Object is a data field, rule, or transform imported into VDE or generated using an option within VDE, such as a Data Transform Object. These Data Objects are listed in the Data Object List in the VDE plug-in panel. A Data Object can be one of several different types.

Delimited Database File

A delimited data base file is used to drive the variable data application when designing applications in VDE. A delimited data file is typically an extraction from a larger database system. A Database Administrator is the typical contact for more information about delimited data files.

Duplex/Tumble Duplex

Duplex and Tumble Duplex are settings in the VDE Export menu, in the Print Settings panel. Selecting either of these options can result in content being printed on both sides of the sheet. The Duplex option prints on both sides of the sheet with the top of each page image at the top of the sheet. Tumble Duplex prints the front side with the top of the page image at the top of the page, while the back page image is flipped. The settings used for specific printers vary, according to how the paper is fed through the print device, and settings such as portrait, landscape, short-edge feed, long-edge feed, and other duplex options on the print device that can affect how pages are printed. Under normal operation, the start of a new record can be printed on the front of the next duplex sheet, if necessary, a blank back side sheet is forced. To disable printing a new record on the front of the next duplex sheet and forcing a blank back side sheet, select Duplex, Continuous or Tumble Duplex, or Continuous. Use caution when using this option because the start of a new record does not force printing on the front side of the next sheet. Instead, the start of a new record prints on the next available side. It is recommended that the options be tested on the target device. If output is not printed as required, re-export the job, then select the other duplex option.

Elements

In the context of the VI Design Express, elements are the various components of the InDesign layout that make up the basic design. Elements can include lines, boxes, or other graphics, files, variable information, layers, and any other component of the design. Elements used with VDE are either static or variable.

- Static elements: In a VDE application, static elements are the parts of the design that do not change when the application changes from one record to the next.
- Variable elements: In a VDE application, variable elements are the parts of the design that change when the application changes from one record to the next. Variable elements in the design can include text, text files, graphics, and layers. Variables are inserted in the application directly, or through the use of rules, which are based on conditions defined in VDE.

Static elements

In a VDE application, static elements are the parts of the design that do not change when the application changes from one record to the next.

Variable elements

In a VDE application, variable elements are the parts of the design that change when the application changes from one record to the next. Variable elements in the design can include text, text files, graphics, colors, and layers.

FreeFlow Print Server (FFPS)

A term used to describe the Xerox FreeFlow Print Server family of production print devices driven by the FreeFlow Print Server controller. The acronym, FFPS, is used in this document.

FreeFlow® VI Compose (VIC)

Formerly called VI Interpreter. A PostScript output, device-resident software that provides the means to print complex documents at production speeds. Using VI Compose with the VIPP[®] language provides enhanced variable data printing performance through the use of cached object elements, dynamic text flow, data driven

graphics, data formatting, conditional processing, and workflow improvements.

FreeFlow® Variable Information Suite (VIS)

A suite of software programs designed to enhance the production of print jobs that contain variable information on VIPP[®]-enabled print devices. The suite consists of these applications:

- FreeFlow VI Compose
- FreeFlow VI Design Express
- FreeFlow VI Design Pro
- FreeFlow VI eCompose
- FreeFlow VI Explorer
- VIPP[®] Manage

Init File

An init file is a set of VIPP[®] header instructions that can be prepended to a data file or, on some devices, added to a printer queue. These actions allow an application that is run multiple times using the same resources to be run independently from VDE. The new data file can be extracted from the database, and the init file can be prepended or set up in the printer queue.

LMOT

LMOT is an acronym for Limited Multiple Occurrence Tag and is used to describe groups of data in an XML file that can be repeated a limited number of times. For example, a customer record can contain an LMOT group that contains information such as phone type, area code, phone number, and location. For any customer this information could be repeated for each phone type on record. Phone types could be home, work, or cell phone numbers. Each phone type has the same tags, but the data contained within the tags can be different. Using the phone type record example, the LMOT group would contain three phone iterations.

Margin

A term used to describe an area of the physical sheet of paper on which printing is not permitted. A margin, in effect, reduces the printable area of a physical sheet of paper.

Page Size

The physical size, in width and height dimensions, of a sheet of paper. Refer to Sheet Size.

Physical Page/Logical Page/Multi-Up

Used in the context of VI Design Express. InDesign creates a document layout consisting of pages, as defined under the Document Setup menu. During the export function, there is an option to select a page size. This option is defined as the Physical Page or sheet on which the printer can print the job. This size can be the same or bigger than the document size defined in InDesign. Often the intention is to print a document multiple times on the physical sheet. In an IT world, this is referred to printing many logical pages, or printing the original document onto the physical sheet used by the printer, which is also known as *Multi-Up*. The export function in InDesign handles these options for VDE.

Prefixed Transactional Delimited Data File

Prefixed Transactional data describes a data format supported by VI Design Express and used to generate transactional documents such as telephone bills, credit card statements, etc. The first field of each data record contains a prefix that is used to determine how that record will be placed in the document.

Production Speed

A term used to describe print speed. When a printer is printing at production speed, it is running as fast as the printer and application allow.

Rule

Used to control the logical flow in a variable data application. A rule is an IF or ELSE condition, which are decision points. If something is equal to *x* do *y*, otherwise do *z*. In VI Design Express, a rule can be used to test a database field or a value and can be based on the result of an action such as placing text or an image. In addition, a VDE rule can turn on or turn off the visibility of an InDesign layer.

Sheet Size

In the context of VI Design Express, this designation is used in the InDesign Export menu when the final output parameters are created. Sheet size refers to the size of the sheet of paper on which the application is printed. Refer to Page Size.

Slug/Crop Marks

Slug is a term used to specify a mark, normally a short thin line, that is printed on the final output of the page and used as a guide to finish the application. It is used typically to guide a cutting operation. A slug is printed typically at each corner of the document, just outside of the document area defined by the document size that is used in the Document setup menu. The term crop mark is used often to describe the same thing.

Specialty Imaging

A reference to the area of specialty printing in the offset industry that covers special printing effects. VI Compose includes support for MicroText Font, Correlation Mark(s), GlossMark, InfraRed, Fluorescent Mark, and Variable Pantograph. These unique printing capabilities can be used to deter fraud and add visual effects to documents. Refer to Network Printer Security - Xerox or FreeFlow Variable Information Suite for Variable Data Printing - Xerox.

TransPromo

TransPromo or TransPromotional is a mixing of promotional content with transactional type data. For example, a telephone statement is made up of transactions. By adding promotional material to the billing statement, such as advertisements for a new mobile telephone service, or coupons for store discounts, value can be added to the billing statement. TransPromo has been replaced by the Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data feature, which VI Design Express now supports.

Variable Information

A term used as a generic description of the data that is used in VIPP® applications. The generic description refers to the many resources that can be inserted into an application, and to the way elements of the design can be placed conditionally into the application. The most recognizable Variable Information application is a mail-merge application, in which the variable data, name, address, and so on found in a data base file, are inserted into a letter.

Variable Information Production Printware (VIPP®)

A programming language used as a basis for VI Compose, and the software that is included in the FreeFlow VI Suite of applications. When a document is exported, VDE writes all the VIPP® Pro code that is used at the print device to format the application. Learning to program VIPP® is not necessary.

VI Design Express PDF

VI Design Express PDF is an export option. When selected, VDE will process the variable data application on the PC or Mac, and generate a PDF file.

VI Print Package (VPP)

A VPP is a print ready package output during the Export function of VI Design Express. The VI Print Package is designed for direct submission to an office device and is a self-contained print file. VI Design Express software will package up all resources, control files, license files, if available, and so on into the .vpp file. Unlike the .vpc file (described next), the printer does not need to extract the files onto disk, however, system resources on the target device must be sufficient to allow the .vpp file to store all resources in memory. If there is not enough system resources, you need to review how to submit a .vpc file to an office device.

VI Project Container (VPC)

A VPC is the physical grouping of resources of the project. VPC is a compressed archive that contains all the resources of a VP plus the VPF file and is used for transporting and archiving VPs.

VI Project Resource

A file that is part of a VI Project. Generally, VI Project resources are VIPP® resources, but there can also be non-VIPP® files included in the project. The non-VIPP® files are not processed by VI Compose. A project resource can be part of a VI Project with a VPF, or a non-VPF project. The directories that contain project resources are determined by the value of the SETPPATH command in the xgfdos.run or xgfunix.run file, together with the SETPROJECT command in a VIPP® job.

VIPP[®] Pro/VIPP[®] SE

Pro describes the type of VIPP® Pro code that is processed directly by VI Compose at the device without the need to go through a costly pre-composition step. The data file is processed at run time on the device. A pre-composition VIPP® workflow is referred to as VIPP® SE, in which a pre-composed print file is generated outside of the printer. With VIPP® Pro, changes can be made right up to print time, the data files do not need to be chunked, and it is quick and easy to reprint one or more records. Total processing and print time is much faster with VIPP® Pro.

VDE outputs a VPC file, the type of VIPP® Pro code contained inside the VPC file is VIPP® Pro.

VIPP[®] Resource

A VIPP® resource is a file that is used by a VIPP® job or VI Project. VIPP® resources include the following:

- Forms
- Images
- Segments
- Text, data, and program files
- PostScript files
- Submission

files VIPP® Pro-

enabled

Describes a device on which VI Compose software resides. VIPP® documents and VDE applications can be sent to a VIPP® Pro-enabled print device.

Xerox Specialty Inks

Xerox Specialty Inks is an optional fifth color, available on various Xerox devices. For additional details on what printers and inks are available, refer to the *Xerox® FreeFlow® Variable Information Suite What's New in Version 18.1.0 Reference Guide* for VIPP® release. The VI Design Express supports the creation of variable data documents targeted for this device by allowing users to easily apply Xerox Specialty Inks to text and graphics without the need to apply spot colors or overprint.

XML

Extensible Markup Language (XML) is a data format that uses <start> and </end> tags to encapsulate the data and attributes associated with a data file. XML data files can be imported into the VDE panel, which allows you to select XML data elements to publish on a page, or for use in conditional logic.

Documentation Overview

This document is intended for use by InDesign users who have a basic knowledge of how to design documents that contain variable information. In addition to this Overview, this document covers the following:

- Installing VI Design Express
- Using VDE
- Rules
- VDE design elements
- VDE Text Pattern Swatches
- Xerox Specialty Inks
- Variable Color
- VDE Business Charts
- PIF Options
- Advanced Functions
- Data Transforms
- Export and Printing
- Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data
- Using Specialty Imaging Effects
- Hints and Tips

The InDesign Workspace

The basic InDesign workspace is shown. Generally, the terms listed are reserved for descriptions of actions performed in InDesign rather than in VDE. For information about InDesign, refer to the tutorials and documentation provided with that program. (Learn I Adobe)



Tools panel

When you use VDE with InDesign to create variable data jobs, access to the variable data required for the job is through the VDE panel. You can find the VDE panel in the InDesign menu. The VDE panel is placed typically in the InDesign docking area. The VDE panel is described in detail in this document.

VI Design Express Overview

¢ VI DESIGN	EXPRESS				++	∗≣
Sample Data	File:					
						Q,
Asset Folder:						
					8	8
Show Us	er Data					
🔽 Highlight	Fields					Ŀ
* 1	<u>a aaa</u>		Г			Q
-						*
						-
\$	0	0	T	\$	B	
Supported Graphic Formats

VDE supports all graphic formats that are supported by Adobe InDesign for static objects. The formats include single-page PDF files, .png, .bmp, .eps, .tif, .jpg, and other common formats. Supported formats for variable objects include single-page PDF files, PDF objects, as well as .tif, .eps, and .jpg formats.

When you use PDF files as variable resources, VDE provides an option to embed an EPS (encapsulated PostScript) version of that resource into the PDF file. This action is required when the target device is a PostScript RIP (raster image processor), because a VIPP[®] job in a .vpc or .vpp format cannot natively print a PDF to a PostScript engine, because printing a VIPP[®] file in those formats does not use any print drivers that are invoked typically when printing PDF files to a PostScript engine. This embedding of EPS into the PDF file can occur during export. Each PDF takes 1–3 seconds to process, or you can use a batch mode before you start the application design.

For more information, in the InDesign Export Options, refer to Modify PDFs in Asset Folder with Embedded EPS and Batch Process PDF files as Resources.

Note: If the target device is an FFPS Adobe PDF Print Engine (APPE), you do not need to embed EPS into the PDF resource, because APPE can print PDF file formats directly.

Screen and Printer Fonts

When you use TTF, TTC, and OTF fonts, VDE makes the fonts available to VI Compose on the target print device. VI Compose packages the fonts with embedded CID technology, in an internal format in the .vpc or .vpp file that is generated at export. VDE checks for any font licensing restrictions imposed by the font owners and vendors, then issues a warning during the export action if any restrictions are found. If restrictions are found, the user is presented a dialog with the actions required to continue.



When using Xerox Specialty Imaging and barcodes, VDE uses a placeholder image to represent the approximate size and placement of the object. VDE does not render these items. The items are rendered on the printer or in the PDF that is generated using the VDE PDF option.

To render on the printer, the Specialty Imaging printer fonts or printer fonts for font-based barcodes such as Code 128, Code 39, EAN, 2of5, PostNet, and UPA, require installation of a printer font on the print device. All 2-D barcodes, UPC-A, and UC-E barcodes available in VDE are drawn by the rendering engine and do not require printer fonts. Legacy UPC-A and UPC-E printer fonts are still available, if needed. The same applies when exporting to a VDE PDF file. Install printer fonts to the Adobe Normalizer fonts folder, found in one of these locations:

- On a Mac: /Applications/Xerox/VIPP/VPP/normalizer/v2vnormproc/fonts
- On a 64-bit PC: C:\Program Files (x86)\Xerox\VIPP\VDE\normalizer\fonts

You can download Specialty Imaging and Barcode printer fonts. For more information, refer to Specialty Imaging and Barcode Font Download.

Note: Due to the large number of characters and glyphs found in TTF, TTC, and OTF fonts with embedded CID technology, you need to increase the Adobe InDesign Font Embedding Glyph Count setting to a minimum of 70,000.

- To increase the Adobe InDesign Font Embedding Glyph Count setting, from the GUI, click Edit
 > Preferences > General.
- When using TTF, TTC, and OTF fonts with embedded CID technology, the font package that is built by VDE during export can become quite large. Each CID font that is used in the application can be greater than 40 Mbytes. The large font file size can impact performance during export, building the .vpc file, and during execution on the printer or proofing tool, because a large font package is created, then extracted on the target device. These actions can add as much as 30 minutes to your processing time.
- To avoid these delays, install the printer fonts to your device and proof tool, and use the VDE Font Substitution option to avoid the need to package the CID fonts.
- Instead of packaging the large fonts, VDE uses a reference to the printer fonts that reduces greatly the size of the font package that VDE builds during exports. The action reduces the time to extract the resources on the target device, speeding up your total design and print time. While font substitution was designed for use with CID fonts, the VDE Font Substitution option can be used with any font used in your application. For more information about the VDE Font Substitution option, refer to Font Export Options Tab.

Overview of Specialty Imaging and VDE

Xerox Specialty Imaging is supported on Xerox print devices that are driven by FFPS and EFI Digital Front Ends. Xerox Specialty Imaging allows low cost, low-level security or novelty effects to be added to documents using the standard toner delivered with the printer. No special equipment or toner housings are required. Not all effects are copy proof, but by using a combination of color and variable data, you can add interest and low levels of document security.



Note: VIPP® and SI must be set up on any EFI DFE prior to doing any VIPP® or SI printing.

Specialty Imaging effects are supported only when using .vpc output. Specialty Imaging effects are not supported on Xerox Office devices, or when generating or printing PDF output.

Do not use the effects for documents that require high levels of document security.

- When using Xerox Specialty Imaging technology, use the Specialty Imaging screen fonts that are installed by the VDE Custom Install option. During the design phase, these fonts represent the height and width of the Specialty Imaging effect used for printing.
- When you use GlossMark Text, Correlation Mark Text, or Micro Text effects, install the Specialty Imaging printer fonts on the printer. Failure to install the printer fonts results in a VIPP® MPR or GLT Font Not Found error.

Limitations

In the most simple terms, there are limitations to what VDE can do because of differences between how VDE and other software programs send applications to a printer.

InDesign, and most other desktop programs, use a traditional composition model to print the final output. However, when VDE is used with InDesign, jobs are printed using the technology at the core of VDE, which is based on the Dynamic Document Construction (DDC) model used in production plants across the world.

In the DDC model, the final assembly of the document is done at the last moment in the workflow. The final composition of the job is usually inside a viewer or the print controller, which is referred to as a Digital Front End (DFE). When using the DDC model to print, the instructions that describe the assembly and presentation of the document are created in the design phase. The variable and static elements that comprise the document are sent to the printer in a VI Project Container (VPC). Because the elements are inserted into the design at the DFE, both the time needed to print, and the space required to hold the job in a queue is reduced significantly.

In contrast to the DDC model, the traditional composition model does the assembly and presentation of the components of the document early in the workflow and creates a print file in a PDL format, such as PDF, PostScript, PPML, and so on. These print files can be 1 Gbyte or more, because they describe fully the presentation of each element on each page of the document, even when the same element is presented in the same manner in each page. Print files can take a considerable amount of time to be created by the composition software, then the files are transferred to the DFE that processes the PDL and composes each page before it is printed. In the composition model, after the PDL file has been created, any change in the presentation of the document, including assets and variable data, requires that the entire document is recomposed, and that a new PDL file is created.

VDE leverages fully the DDC model by employing the user interface provided by InDesign to design the document, then exports the internal InDesign instructions to assemble and present the document using the VIPP® Pro language. Through the use of VPCs, VDE submits all the assets, including VIPP® Pro templates and variable data files, to the DFE, in a single step.

The limitations occur when combining feature-rich InDesign applications with the need to include variable data and to print the final output at production speed. VDE is intended for fast production of high volumes of simple variable documents. VDE has been designed purposely with tradeoffs to achieve this target. The following sections describe the most important of the limitations and provide a general explanation of what drives these limitations, to understand what works or what does not work.

It is recommended that you proof the job before submitting the job into production. Other VIPP®-based tools such as VI Design Pro, and VI eCompose, can be used to view or process the VPC file that is generated by VDE, or the PDF file that is generated using the VDE PDF option:

- Any user-defined name requires filenames that are composed only of 7-bit ASCII characters. User-defined names include rules, transforms, layers, colors, Data Base field names, and Job resources that are called in tags.
- To prevent potential conflicts with PostScript, VIPP[®] command syntax, or parameter handling, do not use the following characters: { } () [] <> ~ ! @ \$ % ^ * I : ' ? / \ "
- It is recommended that user-defined labels or Data Base field names use three or more characters, to avoid the special characters.
- The label can contain at least one or more uppercase characters and one or more lowercase characters. It is recommended that the underline character _ be used instead of a space character to avoid the label being treated as a VIPP[®] or PostScript command.

SOURCES OF THE LIMITATIONS

While the DDC model is efficient, some of the current technology limitations in PDLs and DFEs impact the InDesign feature set available to VDE. One of the most important features is related to transparency and the process of merging superimposed page objects to produce a single object with the correct appearance or flattening.

InDesign software provides features such as drop shadows that use transparency. These features are created by flattening the objects using transparency and generating a bitmap out of them. Current PDLs and their interpreters in the DFEs, cannot perform the flattening in a predictable manner. For this reason, VDE supports only InDesign features that use transparency and do not contain variable information.

Note: In the following sections:

- Variable text is any InDesign text object that contains VDE data objects of the type Text or Text File. Any text string that contains such a VDE data object results in the entire string being treated as variable text by VDE.
- Variable graphics are any graphic files of type Graphic that are inserted into an InDesign layout using a database record or conditional rule.

Text

There are limitations for variable text related to some of the InDesign presentation features for text that does not apply to non-variable text. In general, effects that result in InDesign rasterizing are not available in VDE. Rasterizing is the process to create a bitmap representation of text. The most important limitations for variable text are as follows:

- Only the font-based spacing between characters is supported.
- Variable text reflow between frames, shapes, and tables is not supported.
- Hyphenation is not supported for variable text.
- Footnotes and Headers are not supported.
- Ensure that the created text frame can accommodate the complete text content. When the text variables are resolved, the text fits in the specified text frame.
- Adobe supported fonts should be used for variable text. Also, this applies for Arabic fonts.

Graphics

There are limitations for variable graphics, related to some of the InDesign presentation features for graphics, that do not apply to non-variable graphics.

- Graphic frames that contain variable graphics cannot be distorted or sheared.
- Variable text with an in-line graphic, or a graphic placed directly into the text frame and not placed in a graphic frame, are not supported. Use the option Variable Text Around an Object.
- The alignment of the graphic inside the frame is limited to options that are applied using the Frame Fitting Options panel only. Do not use a Fitting option chosen from the menu. For more information, refer to Fitting an Image to a Frame.
- Do not use the white arrow tool to move or modify the image after insertion within the frame, because the changes do not remain in the layout. For more information, refer to Fitting an Image to a Frame.

Variable Layers

VDE relies on InDesign software to flatten fixed objects and provide an EPS (encapsulated PostScript) file for the resulting flattened object. For fixed layers that appear on each page of the document, InDesign generates a single EPS file. However, when conditional logic based on variable data is created to turn off or on the layers for a specific page, several combinations of layers require flattening and one EPS file is required for each combination, which increases greatly the complexity of the job.

To avoid unexpected results, minimize the number of variable layers that are called or switched on or off, using a visibility object that is used in the application. The following combination factors into the performance of the VDE Export when creating the output .vpc file: The number of visibility-controlled layers available, and the total number of visibility-controlled layers that are used on a page. When possible, minimize the number of these visibility layers used per page, and combine the information into one or two layers. The action of combining the information makes a significant difference in the export performance, and the total file size of the VPC file created for printing.

When you select the Export option, and before creating the VPC file, select several related Export options. When using variable layers that are controlled using a visibility object, review the information in the **Flattening** menu. The Flattening menu has two required entries under the heading Number of layers per page with variable visibility. It is important to enter the correct minimum and maximum values. For more information about setting these values, refer to Flattening.

Static and Variable Object Interaction

Due to the way VDE separates static data objects from variable objects, care should be taken to avoid placing static elements over a variable element. Although the presentation in InDesign can appear correct, VDE does not render the objects in this order, and the variable object overwrites, or knocks out, the static object.

- Tip: To avoid knocking out the static elements, force the static object to be treated as a variable object. Depending on the object you are working with, there are ways to do this, for example:
 - For text objects, create a Data Transform object that contains an empty field or a space character, then add that transform to the end of the text string. This action forces VDE to treat that text as a variable.
 - For graphic objects, try calling in the object with a graphic rule.

Master Pages

InDesign software allows the creation of a special type of page that can be used as a template for creating other pages. Such pages are called masters. VDE supports only the use of masters that do not contain variable text or graphics.

Other InDesign Objects

InDesign allows the inclusion of many types of objects that are not considered to be simple objects like text or graphics, for the purpose of non-printing applications. These objects are often media elements such as buttons, sound files, URLs, and movies. Such types of objects are not currently supported by VDE, and using the objects can create unpredictable results. It is recommended that only simple objects be used for print presentations.

D[®]

Note: URLs and PDF Notes can be added to applications that use the VDE PIF options to export to PDF. Refer to PIF Options.

XML

VDE supports XML data files. The following limitations apply:

- Transactional type XML files are not supported currently. For more information about Transactional records, refer to Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data.
- Job resources that are called in the tags require 7-bit ASCII. Do not use the following characters for Job resources: { } () [] < > ~ ! @ \$ % A * I : ' ' ? / \ ".
- This release can support XML data files with limited multiple occurrence tags (LMOT). For example:

```
<RECORD>
<RECORD>
<RECORD>
<REACODE>avid Kirk</NAME>
<PHONE type='cell' location='work>
<AREACODE>310</AREACODE> <NUMBER>555-1234</NUMBER>
</PHONE>
<PHONE type='cell' location='home'>
<AREACODE>310</AREACODE> <NUMBER>555-6789</NUMBER>
</PHONE>
</RECORD>
....
```

- The XML element that is defined with the tags <PHONE> and </PHONE> is an LMOT. There are multiple sets of <PHONE> and </PHONE> tags within the single customer record. The customer record that is defined by the <RECORD> and </RECORD> tags is considered an LMOT because <PHONE> is repeated only in a customer record a limited amount of times, once for each type of phone the customer has.
- This release cannot support XML data files with nested LMOTs within LMOTs. For more information on using XML data files, refer to Defining an XML data file.

Opening VDE Documents in Updated Versions of InDesign

When you open a VDE document that was created in an earlier version of Adobe InDesign, a conversion process is initiated by Adobe InDesign. The conversion can affect settings to the application made by the VDE plug-in. It is recommended that you view or proof your document to validate that no objects, rules, transforms, or positioning of frames have been affected. If the application has been changed due to the conversion process, it is recommended that you recreate the application using the newer version of the Adobe InDesign software.

Using VDE

This chapter contains:

Setting VDE Preference Options	48
Batch Process PDF Files as Resources	59
Variable Information and Design Layout	60
Buttons, Check Boxes, and Icons	62
Getting Started	70

VDE works by allowing the insertion of variable data elements into an InDesign document and by controlling variable elements or layers via conditional logic or Rules. The variable elements are additional content that can be placed into the original InDesign document design and are driven by values in a data file. Each document can be customized based on data. This is called a data driven variable data application. Delimited, Prefixed Delimited or transactional, and non-transactional XML data files are supported.

These features are driven by the VDE plug-in:

- The effect of the variable data in the design can be seen in the InDesign layout as the record number changes.
- Data can be transformed. For example, a name can be transformed from lower case to title case, or a numeric value can be formatted for currency.
- Text and images can be modified on the fly to fit within text or graphic frames. Blank lines can be suppressed in name and address blocks.
- Visibility can be turned on or off at the layer or page level.
- A subset of a larger data file can be selected for printing using Record Range.
- A single record can be repeated multiple times within a job.

Static elements can be added to a document at any time using existing InDesign tools, and variable elements can be added any time using VDE tools. The following is an example of the typical actions taken to create a variable information application using InDesign and VDE:

- Use InDesign to create the initial design. Open InDesign normally and create the document page using the Document Setup properties. To use bleed options, specify bleeds at this point in the process. VDE ignores any Slug options selected using this InDesign menu option. Slugs may be selected later in the VDE Export menu.
- Create the basic static layout of the document using the InDesign tools. This includes placing graphic files and text frames and applying special effects to these objects. All InDesign graphic formats can be used in this static layout, as can special effects such as drop shadows, etc. At this point, the static layout can be treated in the same manner as any other InDesign layout. The basic layout can also include multiple pages. The number of pages is defined during the initial design by changing the default value in the InDesign New Document > Number of Pages field, or additional pages can be inserted via the InDesign Add Page option found under the Layout > Pages menu.
- Create a new folder on the system, use a meaningful name so that the folder can be located easily. Copy all external resources used in the application into the new folder, which is referred to as an Asset folder in this documentation.

- Start the VDE plug-in. Refer to Getting Started.
- Select the delimited or XML data file. Refer to Loading the Delimited Data File, or Loading the XML Data File.
- If using a delimited data file, set the correct delimiter. Refer to Defining the Delimited Data File.
- If using an XML data file, set the iterator tag. Refer to Defining an XML Data File.
- If using prefixed delimited transactional data, refer to Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data.
- Select an asset folder. Refer to Selecting an Asset Folder.
- As the data file is imported into VDE, the field names and data values will populate the Data Object List. VDE will assign the field Type such as Text, Text File, Graphic File based on the attributes in the data file. However, the user should verify that the correct data type has been applied by VDE and modify as necessary. Refer to Defining VDE Data Object Types:
 - Text
 - Text File
 - Graphic File
 - Visibility
 - Color
- Insert variable information into the InDesign layout. Refer to Rules.
 - Add variable data objects to text frames and graphics frames.
 - Create variable Rules, Transforms, and Advanced Functions if needed.
 - Create additional layers and apply variable Visibility information as needed.
- Test and adjust the design.
 - Test long text strings if needed.
 - Scroll through the records and view the variable effect on the design.
 - Test conditional logic and element placement and adjust as required.
- Save and print the application. Refer to Export and Printing.
 - Export the Application:
 - Select .vpc, .vpp, or VI Design Express PDF as the output format from the Export menu.
 - Select output sheet size.
 - Select Page Range or Record Repeat, if required.
 - Select Multi-Up and Z-sort Imposition options, if required.
 - Select crop marks if required.
 - Adjust Gutters to achieve desired results, as needed.
 - Set Variable Page conditions if required.
 - Define and select feeding and finishing options, if required.
 - Proof the application.

- Test and validate the application before going into production.
- Send the .vpc, .vpp, or PDF generated by the Export option to the printer, or to a print provider, for production.

Setting VDE Preference Options

The VDE Preferences panel is used to set interface and VI Projects preferences. Xerox recommends use of the default settings.

Options are set for the current logged on user. If multiple user accounts are supported on the computer, then each user will have their own preference settings.

Choose **Preferences** from the VDE panel menu to display the VDE Preferences panel.

The VDE Preferences panel has four tabs, which are described in the following sections:

- Interface tab
- Export Settings tab
- Font Export Options tab
- OMR Configuration tab

INTERFACE TAB

The Interface tab has three available settings.

FreeFlow VI Design Express Preferences		
Interface Export Settings	Font Export Options	
Maximum sample data records:		
Maximum XML data file size:	vi Design Express panel.	
Default field delimiter:	O None O Tab	
	O Space O Other ,	
Default decimal delimiter:	Period (.)	
Restore All Defaults	OK Cancel	

Maximum sample data records

This option sets the maximum number of data records VDE will load into the VDE data object list. VDE must process every record in the selected data file when scrolling through data records. By changing the maximum

sample data records value, the number of records processed is increased or decreased. This can affect the time VDE needs to scroll through each record.

The default value is 500. The allowable range is 10–100000.

Maximum XML data file size

This option sets the default delimiter used in the data files that are accessed to create the VDE job.

Default field delimiter

This option sets the default delimiter used in the data files that are accessed to create the VDE job. Select **Other** to change the default when most of the data files being processed use a delimiter other than None, Tab, or Space.

Default decimal delimiter

This option sets the default decimal delimiter value used in the VDE. The options are a period or a comma. The default setting is based on your location. For example, in the USA, the decimal delimiter should be set to the period. The option selected should be based on the target local for the data and application.

Show advanced VIPP® DDG parameters

Enable this option to select advanced VIPP[®] DDG parameters in the Business Chart feature. If the check box is not selected, the DDG parameters are not available.

EXPORT SETTINGS TAB

The Export Settings tab has nine available settings. These settings will be the default values found on the VDE Export panel, or the values that will be specified in the VIPP[®] Pro code generated by VDE.

Export Settings Font Export Options	
Default VI folder name:	VIDesignExpress
Default VI project name:	<default></default>
Font/color switch string:	[~]
	The character sequence used for switching font, color and line spacing.
Font/color switch index length:	÷4
	The number of characters that immediately follow the font/color switch string that represents the actual font, color or line spacing index string.
Crop marks width:	⊕ 0p0.5
Crop marks width: Crop marks length:	
Crop marks width: Crop marks length: Crop marks offset:	↓ 0p0.5 ↓ 1p6 ↓ 0p4.5
Crop marks width: Crop marks length: Crop marks offset: Maximum VM size threshold:	▲ 0p0.5 ▲ 1p6 ▲ 0p4.5 ▲ 10 MB

Default VI folder name

The Default VI folder name option is used to specify the folder name VDE will use when exporting the document to a VI Container file. This is the folder where VI Compose will locate job and resource files during the print operation. This folder is located under the xgfc folder.

The default folder name is VIDesignExpress. This may be changed based on individual requirements. The folder name is case sensitive, it must be no longer than 32 characters, and it can contain only dash (-), underscore (_), period (.) and alphanumeric characters.

Default VI project name

The Default VI project name specifies the name used for the VI Container project name. This is the job name used for the document.

The default value is <default>. When set to <default>, VDE will use the InDesign document name as the project name. When changed, all jobs will use the value specified as the Project Name. This may be useful to prefix all the jobs with a set value, such as MyJob_. During the export process the unique job name can be added to the prefix.

The total number of characters in the project name used by VDE cannot exceed 32 characters. It is case sensitive and can only contain the dash (-), underscore (_), period (.) and alphanumeric characters.

Font/color switch string

This setting is used to change the default font and color switch settings that the Export function will use when generating the VI Project Container. These settings are used when the job is processed on a VIPP® Proenabled printer to control the fonts and font colors used by the application.

The default character string is I~I. It is unlikely you will need to change this value. However, when the data includes the string I~I in the data, it will be interpreted as a font/color switch. To avoid this, change the default setting using this preference menu to a character string not used in the data file.

This string has a minimum of 3 characters and a maximum of 6 characters. It must only contain lower (7-bit) ASCII characters, excluding the space character, backslash, open and close parentheses, and percentage sign.

Font/color switch index length

This value specifies the length of the string following the font/color switch that will be used to name the font or color index. This information is used by VI Compose when processing the job.

The default value is set to 4. Do not change this value unless you are familiar with the VIPP[®] Pro language and need to use more than 4 characters to describe the font/color switch name. The allowable range is 4 to 6.

Crop marks width

This option sets the default thickness of crop marks, when the VDE crop marks option is selected in the VDE Export menu.

This value will be displayed in the units of measure currently selected under the InDesign **Edit > Preferences > Units and Increments panel**. (The InDesign unit selections are Points, Picas, Inches, Inches Decimal, Millimeters, Centimeters, Ciceros, Agates, or Custom.)

The default value is 0.5 points. The allowable range is 0.2 to 9.0 points.

Crop marks length

This option sets the default length of the crop mark, when the VDE crop mark option is selected in the VDE Export menu.

The default value is 18.0 points. The allowable range is 4.0 to 72.0 points. This value will be displayed in the units of measure currently selected under the InDesign **Edit > Preferences > Units and Increments panel**.

Crop marks offset

This option sets the default offset of the crop mark from the corner of the page logical page if using the Multi-Up option, when the VDE crop mark option is selected in the VDE Export menu.

The default value is 4.5 points. The allowable range is 0.0 to 18.0 points. This value will be displayed in the units of measure currently selected under the InDesign **Edit > Preferences > Units and Increments panel**.

Maximum VM size threshold

This option sets the maximum threshold for VIPP[®] imposition operations within VI Compose running on the printer. It is set to 10MB to avoid definition of a stack size (ZSORT) parameter that exceeds the available virtual memory on the device. When VDE detects a ZSORT parameter that exceeds this threshold limit it warns the user. When warned, either increase the threshold VM limit, if enough memory is available on the device, or, reduce the stack size in the ZSORT option.

Note: The stack size should be equal to or less than the number of sheets the off-line cutter can handle. The normal range is between 200 and 500 sheets.

Default Print Quality

The Default Print Quality specifies a particular print mode for the printer. Support for Print Quality is more often found on office devices than on production devices. When a device does not support Print Quality, any setting other than Printer Default will be ignored.

FONT EXPORT OPTIONS TAB

The Font Export Options tab provides a mechanism to substitute OTF/TTF/TTC fonts used in the InDesign application with printer fonts installed on the target print device.

Benefits of using printer fonts

When you export the job, VDE will build a font package based on the fonts used in the document. Using standard font sets non-CID fonts the font package will remain relatively small, so the time to build the font package and the time to expand the font package on the printer is not significant. However, if using large fonts such as OTF/TTF/TTC fonts with CID technology, the font package can quickly become large, as these fonts can be in excess of 40MB apiece. This will increase the time to build the font package (from seconds to minutes), and require additional time on the printer to extract these fonts.

Avoid this added time by installing printer fonts on the target device, then using a VDE Font Substitution table to exclude certain fonts from the font package. By pairing a font used in your application to a printer font installed at the target printer, those fonts will not need to be included in the font package, as VDE will issue direct calls to the printer fonts. This will result in much smaller font packages and thus, save time during export and printing. Although originally designed to save time when using OTF/TTF/TTC fonts with CID technology, this process can be used with any OTF/TTF/TTC font used in your application. You may only see significant time improvements when using font substitution with OTF/TTF/TTC fonts with CID technology.

How to use Font Substitution

When using Font Substitution, the process is first to define a Font Substitution table, then, during the export function, choose to use the Font Substitution table by checking the **Enable font substitution** check box in the Project Settings panel. Only visible when a Font Substitution Table has been created.

Creating Entries in the font substitution table

To create entries in the font substitution table you must know the printer font's PostScript name not the file name. Because of this requirement, some knowledge of printer fonts is required. This is especially true if using OTF/TTF/ TTC fonts with CID technology, as you need to know how to specify a fully qualified PostScript font name.

Go to the VDE menu bar and select **Preferences**, then select the **Font Export Options** tab. The window below is displayed.

reeFlow VI Design Express Preferen	ces		
Interface Export Settings Font	Export Options		
Local Fonts	Substitute using printer PS font name	Font is already installe on the printer	ed
Xerox Sans Regular	C XeroxSans	e	8
Xerox Sans Expert Regul	ar 💌 📀 XeroxSansReg	C	
+ - Add Doct	iment Fonts		Ţ
Restore All	Defaults	ОК	Cancel

When the Font Export Options tab is initially opened, any local font with a user-entered PostScript font name will be included on the Font Export Option tab's Local Fonts list.

If the fonts you will use in your application do not appear in the Local Fonts list or have not had their corresponding PS font name entered, you must enter them manually. To do so, add the fonts individually by clicking the **+** sign, or add all of the fonts used in your current InDesign document by selecting **Add Document Fonts**.

When you use the + button, a new Local Fonts drop-down selection box, and a Substitute using printer PS font name data entry window will be opened. The Local Fonts drop down box will be populated with a list of all of the fonts installed on your computer. Click on the font you want to add, then manually enter the appropriate PS font name.

When you click on **Add Document Fonts**, VDE will automatically enter all of the Local Fonts used in your current InDesign document. You must manually enter the appropriate PS font name for each of the local fonts.

FreeFlow VI Design Express Preferences			
Interface Export Settings Font Expor	t Options		
Local Fonts	Substitute using printer PS font name	Font is already installed on the printer	
Xerox Sans Regular	O XeroxSans	e	
Xerox Sans Expert Regular 💌	XeroxSansReg	•	
Arial Regular	•	0	
Add Decument Fents			
Restore All Default	5	OK Cance	el

To delete entries, place the cursor in the gray area between the Local Font entry and the Printer Font PS Name entry, then click to highlight the entry. Pressing the **delete button (-)** will remove the highlighted entry from the table.

FreeFlow VI Design Express Preferences		
Interface Export Settings Font Expo	rt Options	
Local Fonts	Substitute using printer PS font name	Font is already installed on the printer
Xerox Sans Regular 💌	C XeroxSans	· _
Xerox Sans Expert Regular 💌	XeroxSansReg	0
Arial Regular	•	
+ - Add Document	Fonts	⊻
Restore All Defaul	ts	OK Cancel

The check box to the left, when checked, indicates that this Font Substitution entry is active, meaning this Local Font will not be included in the VDE font package when the document is exported. Uncheck this checkbox to manually control what fonts in a Font Substitution table are active or not. When unchecked, VDE will include the Local Font in the font package.

Activate the radio button under "Substitute using printer PS font name" to enter the PS font name when required.

The radio buttons under "Font is already installed on the printer" indicate that status.

Printer Font PS Name

The Printer Font PS Name entry is a user entered field. This field is the PostScript font name not the printer font file name and, in the case of OTF/TTF/TTC fonts with CID technology, this needs to be the fully qualified PostScript font name.

OTF/TTF/TTC fonts

The PostScript font name can be found by viewing the printer font in a text editor. Search for "/ FontName". For the Xerox Sans font used above, the search would result in the string /FontName / XeroxSans def, where XeroxSans would be the PostScript font name that would need to be entered as the Printer Font PS Name.

OTF/TTF/TTC fonts with CID technology

The PostScript font name for OTF/TTF/TTC fonts with CID technology requires a fully qualified PostScript font name. This is a combination of the font name, the character set, UTF8 encoding, and writing direction. Knowledge of CID Printer fonts, CMAPs, etc., is required to obtain the fully qualified PostScript name. In the above example,

Ryumin-Light_UniJIS-UTF8-H is the fully qualified PostScript name required

where: FontName = Ryumin-Light

CharacterSet = UniJIS

UTF8 Encoding = UTF8

Writing Direction = H (Horizontal)

If the Printer Font PostScript name is entered incorrectly, the job will not find the printer font and, depending on the printer's font substitution settings, will either abort or use the default printer font.

OTF/TTF/TTC Font Handling

The following options are available when using fonts in variable objects in a document:

Font Embedding With Resident Font Detection

The Do not use Font Export Options check box in the VPC Export Project Settings panel must be selected if Local CID fonts have been set up and enabled using the **Preferences > Font Export Options** panel. In this case, each OTF/TTF/TTC font with CID technology is placed in its own EPS file and is included in the VPC as a VIPP[®] job resource. The corresponding UTF-8 CMaps are all placed in the EPS Font Package. If the CID fonts referenced in the job are not found on the target print device, the embedded fonts are used instead, and the resulting behavior is the same as in previous releases. However, if the CID fonts used in the VIPP[®] job are installed on the target print device, significant performance improvement is observed.

No Font Embedding, Same Font is Installed on the Target Device

In the **Preferences > Font Export Options** panel, select **Font is already installed on the printer** for each font that you have already installed on the target device, and make sure the Do not use Font Export Options check box in the VPC Export Project Settings panel is not selected.

In this case, the OTF/TTF/TTC fonts with CID technology enabled in the Font Export Options panel will not be embedded in the VPC; only the UTF-8 CMaps are embedded in the EPS Font Package. This provides the benefits of a much smaller VPC file size and improved performance when loading and processing the VIPP[®] job. It is expected that users have already installed the required CID fonts on the target print device and each font is found when the VIPP[®] job is submitted and processed.

If standard (non-CID) PS fonts are set up in the Font Export Options panel, they are not embedded in the VPC and, therefore, they are expected to be installed on the target print device as well.

Note: It is very important to make sure the exact PS Font Name referenced in the VIPP[®] job is found on the print device; otherwise, errors can occur. It is important that the font matches exactly the font family, style, weight, type, and version. Otherwise, there can be differences in the fonts that can change the rendering of

the page. It is also possible that the UTF-8 CMap may not work for all characters causing the end result to have white/black boxes instead of the expected characters, or no characters at all.

Font Substitution, No font embedding - substitution font is installed on device

In the **Preferences > Font Export Options** panel select **Substitute using printer PS font name** for each font that you have already installed on the target device, and make sure that the Do not use Font Export Options check box in the VPC Export Project Settings panel is not selected.

This option works the same as previous releases. The substitution font on the target print device must have a name that matches the PS Font Name set up in the Font Export Options panel exactly.

Note: Ensure that the fonts installed on the print device match exactly the family, style, weight, type, and version of the fonts referenced in the VIPP[®] job, as it was created using VDE. Otherwise, results can be unpredictable.

To process and/or view the VIPP[®] job with other VI Suite software, the same OTF/TTF/TTC fonts with CID technology must be stored in the following directories:

VI Design Pro:	<vipp installed="" path="" software="">/vide/ resource/CIDFont/vide/resource/ CIDFont</vipp>
VI Explorer:	<vipp installed="" path="" software="">/vviewer/ resource/CIDFont</vipp>
VI eCompose:	<vipp installed="" path="" software="">/xvtp/ bin/normalizer/Resource/CIDFont,and/or C:/Windows/Fonts</vipp>

Note: An example of the <VIPP software installed path> is C:\Program Files (x86) \Xerox\VIPP.

Export Using the Font Substitution Table

The Font Substitution table will be used by default, unless you select **Do not use Font Export Options** on the Project Settings panel.

- Proof VI Project Container after Export
- Include SI screen fonts in VPC
- Do not use "Font Export Options"
- Embed EPS in PDF files in Asset Folders

When selected, VDE will not include the active font substitution Local Fonts as defined in the font substitution table, and will instead use calls to printer fonts that must be resident on the target printer.

Warning: If the printer fonts are not available on the target printer, or the PostScript font names entered in the Font Substitution table are incorrect, the job will either abort or use the default printer font based on the Font Substitution policy on the target printer. When using Font Substitution tables, it is recommended that you verify that the correct printer fonts are being used before going into

OMR Configuration tab

Defines the configuration of the OMR code for OMRINIT/OMRSHOW.

OMR Configuration tab has four settings.

nterrace	Export Settings	Font Export Options	OMR Configurat	ion	
		Cor	figuration string Bar width	C-CPAIS1-FX	
		Spac	Bar length e between bars	• 16 pt • 12 pt	

Configuration String

Each character in the string represents a bar in the OMR symbol. More detailed information can be obtained by clicking the info icon beside the Configuration string field.

Bar width

Adjusts the width of the bar

Bar length

Adjusts the length of the bar

Space between bars

Adjusts the space between the bars.

Batch Process PDF Files as Resources

PDF objects can be used as static and variable resources in a VIPP[®] application. However, to use a PDF as a variable resource, the PDF file needs to have EPS image information embedded in the PDF file in order to print correctly on a PostScript printer. This is not required when printing to a supported APPE engine. VDE provides two options to process PDF resources and add the EPS image information to the PDF. This section describes the Batch process.

To batch process PDF files in a resource folder, access the PDF Batch Processing option from the VDE Options menu. Then browse to the folder location containing the PDF files. When the folder is selected, the batch process automatically begins.

Depending on the number of PDF files you access in your application this can take several minutes. The status of the files being processed is indicated on a status bar.

Once the PDF files have been processed in this manner, the EPS information will not be reapplied. Thus, when you go to the Export option and select Modify PDFs in Asset Folder with Embedded EPS, VDE will add the required EPS information only to those files in which it is required.

EPS and file size

Embedding EPS into the PDF files will increase the original file size. Ensure that you have enough storage space on your file system.

Transparency limitations

When printing to a PostScript engine you need to be aware of transparency limitations. For example, a variable image with transparency laid over a background will knock out what is below the image.

MODIFY PDF WITH EMBEDDED EPS

VDE can generate VIPP® applications that use variable references to PDF images. While VIPP® supports the use of variable PDF images, these PDF files can only be used when the target print device is a FFPS APPE engine or VI eCompose. When targeting a PS engine, this resource type is invalid. When exporting your VIPP® application to VI Projects (.vpc) you have the option to check the Modify PDFs in Asset Folder with Embedded EPS option. When checked, this option will modify the original PDF by embedding an EPS version of the original PDF image inside the PDF. When targeting a PS VIPP®- enabled device, VIPP® will use the embedded EPS information instead of the PDF. FreeFlow VI Explorer, available from the Xerox e-store, contains a batch file that can be used to automate this embedding process as a pre-process step in the workflow.

Advanced PDF options

Advanced PDF options such as transparency, are lost when generating the EPS image file, but are still retained in the PDF file. When printing the PDF to the PS interpreter, VIPP[®] will use the embedded EPS language.

Do not use this option with the FFPS Adobe Print Engine (APPE)

When you design applications targeting the FFPS APPE that use PDF resources, it is not necessary to use this option. APPE can directly ingest the PDF resources in a VIPP[®] application.

Variable Information and Design Layout

VDE allows entry of these variable information types into the existing InDesign layout:

- Text Strings
- Text Files
- Graphics
- Visibility
- Style
- Color

These variable types allow designs that vary according to the job requirements using one basic InDesign layout as the basis for the design. With VDE, the text, graphics, and even the layout of the design can change according to the data fields and layers assigned to, and the Rules created for, the job, including page visibility.

For purposes of illustration, the examples contained in this section of the *Xerox® FreeFlow® VI Design Express Software User Guide* are based on an application designed to create Identification Cards that use:

- Static InDesign features such as layers, text and graphic boxes
- Variable VDE features that allow the static design to vary according to set Rules and data fields
- Specialty Imaging features to add variable information to the finished ID card, which add an extra level of security to the printed output

An example of the finished ID Card is shown below.



The variable information included on the ID card is:

- Employee's first and last name
- Employee's Department
- Employee ID
- Employee photograph

• Specialty Imaging features on the photograph or MicroText, and on the gold bar under the department name or Fluorescent text.



Familiarity with the VDE panel, along with knowledge of variables, and the creation of Rules to govern those variables, is required. The following sections are intended to provide that information.

Note: For information on designing in or using InDesign, refer to the appropriate InDesign tutorials and documentation. This document only provides information on the use of the VDE plug-in.

Note: For additional details, refer to Xerox[®] FreeFlow[®] Variable Information Suite Easy Start for ID Card Creation Using FreeFlow VI Design Express on how to do this on www.xerox.com.

Buttons, Check Boxes, and Icons

The VDE panels contain buttons, checkboxes, and icons, which are used to enter information into the design or into transforms and Rules. The information in this section provides an overview of these controls.

To insert data into the basic InDesign layout, use the buttons and check boxes that appear on the VDE panel.

♦ VI DESIGN EXPRESS	>> •=
Sample Data File:	
	Ē
Asset Folder:	
	8 8
🔲 Show User Data	
🔽 Highlight Fields	Ŀ
<u>≜</u> 1	Q
	<u> </u>
	v
* 00	

BUTTONS, FIELDS, AND ICONS	DESCRIPTION
VDE PANEL BUTTONS, FIELDS, AND ICONS	
- × 	Choose the buttons at the top of the VDE panel to minimize or maximize the panel, close the panel, to load or view the licence, set file preferences or read about VDE.
	For more information refer to Setting VDE Preference Options.
	These buttons are located at the top right of every InDesign fly-out panel and are used to access pop-up menus related to those panels. For example, clicking on this button on the Swatch fly-out panel produces the menu from which VDE swatch options are defined.
È	Select Data file Use the Data File button to browse for and select the data file used in the application.

BUTTONS, FIELDS, AND ICONS	DESCRIPTION
VDE PANEL BUTTONS, FIELDS, AND ICONS	
	For more information on the Data File button, refer to Loading the Delimited Data File.
R.	Choose Asset Folder
	Use the Asset button to browse for and select the folder in which the assets (resources such as graphics, etc.) for the application reside.
	For more information on the Asset button, refer to Selecting an Asset Folder.
	Show User Data
✓ Show User Data ✓ Highlight Fields ✓ 3 a. aaa	Select Show User Data to switch between actual data and header information Check this box to show actual contents of the data object instead of the label (name) of the data object. If this box is not checked, the selected field name, layers with variable visibility states, and variable graphics field names are displayed.
	Show User Data Show User Data

BUTTONS, FIELDS, AND ICONS	DESCRIPTION
VDE PANEL BUTTONS, FIELDS, AND ICONS	
VDE PANEL BUTTONS, FIELDS, AND ICONS	Highlight fields Select Highlight Fields to indicate the variable text data fields in the job by highlighting them. This checkbox will highlight the text data objects inserted into an InDesign document. This is useful when the Show User Data checkbox is selected, as it will provide a guide to what is static and what is a variable object in the job. Highlight Fields
	Employee ID: 1-98709-3
Show User Data	Record number box
✓ Highlight Fields □ ♥ 3 a. aaa Q	Use the record number box to select the record in the data file that will display on-screen. The data appears in the InDesign workspace and in the corresponding list on the bottom portion of the VDE panel.
B	Variable color toggle
	This icon is a toggle switch used to apply variable color to the frame stroke or the frame fill. If the filled box is on top, then the Frame Fill will be selected. If you click the icon to

BUTTONS, FIELDS, AND ICONS	DESCRIPTION				
VDE PANEL BUTTONS, FIELDS, AND ICONS					
	toggle it so that the outline is on top, then the variable color will be applied to the frame stroke.				
<u>555</u> <u>5</u>	Text value field lengths				
	Click the a button to find the record with the shortest text value for the selected record.				
	Click the aaa button to find the record with the longest text value for the selected record.				
	Because the data contained in variable text objects may be of variable length, these two buttons are available to help determine if there is enough space available in the format to accommodate all of the data that may be contained in the data file. Highlight a field name and click a to view the shortest record, or aaa to view the longest record in that field.				
	This is an example of a test record created using the long first and last names in a data file. The first is an example the intended results, and the second is an example of unplanned results; both have highlighted fields that illustrate the areas of concern.				
	Clobalstorage Solution Name: David Kirk Department: David Kirk David Employee ID: (1-98709-3)				
	BLOBALSTORAGE SOLUTIONS Name: (Heather (Gains-) Department: (Marketing) Heather (Gainsman) Heather (Gainsman) Employee ID: (1-00000-1)				

BUTTONS, FIELDS, AND ICONS DESCRIPTION	
VDE PANEL BUTTONS, FIELDS, AND ICONS	
VI DESIGN EXPRESS Sample Data File: C:\Users\Harriet\Documents\24_XEROX\VI Progr. Asset Folde: C:\Users\Harriet\Documents\24_XEROX\ACTI Show User Data Highlight Fields 2 a. aaa City Q Data Fields II. FullName Jenni Smith II. FullName Jenni Smith II. FullName Smith II. FullName Smith II. Addr1 237 Webster Street II. Addr2 City Webster II. State NY TI. Tan	By making a simple adjustment to the text or the text box in the design, all of the data in all of the records can be correctly included in the job.
₽	Submit to PDF Server The Submit to PDF Server button is used to invoke submission settings dialog box to submit jobs to FreeFlow Core and FreeFlow VI eCompose. For more information, refer to Submit Job to FreeFlow Core and/or Submit to FreeFlow VI eCompose.
	PDF Server Status The PDF Server Status button is used to invoke the

BUTTONS, FIELDS, AND ICONS	DESCRIPTION			
VDE PANEL BUTTONS, FIELDS, AND ICONS				
	FreeFlowCore and FreeFlow VI eCompose Job Status dialog box. It shows the status of the submitted jobs. For more information, refer to Submit Job to FreeFlow Core and Submit to FreeFlow VI eCompose.			
Select PDF Server:	Select PDF Server			
FreeFlow VI eCompose 🛛 🗡	Select either FreeFlow Core or FreeFlow VI eCompose from the dropdown to send the Job to FreeFlow Core or FreeFlow VI eCompose.			
Data Fields	Data Field, Rule and Data Transform display			
Data Transforms	The triangular buttons to the left of the object type list at the bottom of the VDE panel allows the lists to expand or			
🗸 Data Fields	collapse. Click the button to see a complete list of options,			
I FullName Mary Hahn	or to shorten the list.			
II Fname mary				
II Lname HAHn				
T Addr1 389 Western Ave				
II Addr2				
<u>I</u> City Miami				
T) State fi				
II Zip 33019				
II Dept Sales				
T(EmployID 1-96676				
ImageNo 96676.jpg				
T Telephone 3055558976				
🖙 Data Transforms				
II Firstname Mary				
II Lastname Hahn				
T StateUpper FL				
	Advanced Function button			
	Click the Advanced Function button to insert an Advanced Function (BOOKMARK).			
	For more detailed information about what is being inserted and how to insert it, refer to Advanced Functions.			
0 0	Export and Import buttons			
	Click the Export (up) or Import (down) arrow to export or import a Rule or Data Transform.			

BUTTONS, FIELDS, AND ICONS	DESCRIPTION				
VDE PANEL BUTTONS, FIELDS, AND ICONS					
SJ	Data Transform button				
	The Data Transform button is used to invoke a panel on which a Data Transformer of type Text, Text File, or Graphic File is created. For more information, refer to Data Transforms.				
3	Create Rule button				
	The Create Rule button is used to invoke the Create Rule panel on which a conditional Rule is defined. For more information refer to Rule Creation.				
۵.	Edit Rule/Data Transform button				
	The Edit Rule/Data Transform button is used to invoke an Edit Rule or Edit Data Transform panel on which an existing conditional Rule or Data Transform can be modified. For more information refer to Rule Creation and Rule Modification or Duplication.				
3	Delete Rule button				
	The Delete Rule button is used to delete a highlighted Rule from the VDE panel.				
VDE Panel Icons used to indicate object types					
✓ Data Fields	When a data file is selected, the fields in the selected file				
T FullName Mary Hahn	appear in this area of the VDE panel. An icon, indicating the				
II Fname mary	object type, appears at the left of the data object's name.				
표 HAHn					
표 Addr1 389 Western A ve					
II Addr2					
II City Miami					
II State fl					
<u>I</u> Zip 33019					
II Dept Sales					
<u>Д</u> ЕтроуID 1-96676					
ImageNo 96676.jpg					
LT Telephone 3055558976					
TI II II	Text icons Data field, Rule, and data transform.				
	Text File icons				
	Data field, Rule, and data transform.				

BUTTONS, FIELDS, AND ICONS	DESCRIPTION			
VDE PANEL BUTTONS, FIELDS, AND ICONS				
	Style Rule icon			
📜 🚺 🎦	Graphic file icons			
	Data field, Rule, and data transform.			
*	Visibility icons			
	Data field, and Rule.			
	Color icon			
	Variable Color, and Variable Color Rule. The color of the box will change based on the Color Name in the Swatch panel. If no color is defined the icon is gray. To correct this, make sure you have a valid variable color name defined.			
Buttons and Icons found on panels				
	Keyboard icon			
	Whenever a string is entered in the Rule panel, a keyboard icon appears next to that field.			
+ -	Add and Delete buttons			
	Large plus/minus buttons are used to add or delete entries.			
	Large plus/minus buttons are used to add or delete entries.			

Getting Started

Getting Started describes how to open VDE and provides the basic background information needed to understand the VDE panel and what it does, and to set up the InDesign application to use VDE. The background information is found in these sections:

- Opening the VDE panel
- Preparing the workspace
- Defining a data file
- Selecting an asset folder
- Defining VDE data object types

OPENING THE VDE PANEL

To view the VDE panel, if not already displayed, select **Window > VI Design Express** from the InDesign menu bar. The VDE fly out will be displayed on the screen.

InDesign provides a docking area for plug-ins and other panels, which is usually found to the right of the workspace. However, the VDE panel can be placed anywhere on-screen using the drag and drop function.

¢ VI DESIGN E	XPRESS	5				++	≠≣
Sample Data F	ile:						
							Ĩ
Asset Folder:							
						8	8
🔲 Show User	Data						
🔽 Highlight Fi	elds						-b
* 1	<u></u>		Г				Q
							-
*	0	0	T	a.	Δ	e	.di

Entering information or selecting functions on the VDE panels, can be completed by double-clicking the function,

right clicking a button, or manually entering information into a selected object. The controls on the VDE panel will be enabled only when the appropriate InDesign page element and/or data object list item is selected.

PREPARING THE WORKSPACE

Note: First, set the InDesign Display Units using the InDesign Preferences Menu Edit > Preferences on the InDesign Menu bar. This will set the units InDesign and the VDE will use to display grids, rulers, and Export functions.

Variable information can be added to an existing design, or the design can be built adding the variables at the same time. No matter what method is chosen, prior to adding any variable data to the design, select a data file to use, assign the asset folder in which the variable resources reside, and verify the file type for each item that appears on the VIPP[®] data objects list.

The basic steps for preparing the workspace are described in these sections:

- Defining a data file
- Selecting an asset folder
- Defining VDE data object types

The process begins on the VDE panel:



DEFINING A DATA FILE

VDE can import a delimited data file or XML data file. The process to import both types of data is similar, however, there are fewer restrictions on naming conventions, and so on, when importing an XML file. A brief description for each data file type, and of the process to import the data file for use within VDE, is described below.

DEFINING THE DELIMITED DATA FILE

VDE can handle two types of delimited data file specifications. This section describes a standard delimited data file where one delimited data line equals one customer record. A Prefixed Delimited Transactional data file used for transactional or transpromo type applications is also supported. This is described later in Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data, refer that section for more information.

A delimited data file is used to drive a variable data application. Typically, a delimited data file is the result of some data extraction or query from a larger database system. A delimited file can also be created in a text editor or a spreadsheet and saved in a comma-separated format.

There is a limit to the maximum number of data fields allowed in a data file loaded into a document. The maximum limit will depend in the number of characters per field name. As a general rule, assuming each field name has 8 characters or less, the maximum number of data fields allowed would be about 350. So, it is recommended that you keep the limit in mind when defining field names because, as the number of characters for each field name increases, the maximum number of data fields allowed decreases.

• When defining field names in a data file it is important to avoid name conflicts with PostScript and VIPP® reserved words. therefore, it is highly recommended that you use a combination of upper and lower case characters for example FirstName, LName, Status or use an underscore as prefix/suffix for example, __firstname,

_lname, _status.

It is also recommended that you use at least three characters or more or field names to avoid possible reserved word conflicts. Also, you must not have field names that are composed of only numeric characters (e.g. 1234). In addition, the following characters should not be used to avoid potential conflicts with keywords and parameter handling:

{ } () [] <>~!@\$%^*I:''?/\"

• All job resources called directly in a VIPP[®] job or referenced through a variable or data field must have filenames composed of ONLY 7-bit ASCII characters. In addition, the following characters should not be used due to potential conflicts with PostScript and VIPP[®] command syntax or parameter handling:

{ } () [] < > ~ ! @ \$ % ^ * | : ' ' ? / \ "
Note: Information about characters that can be used in filenames and field names: Sample or Production data filenames imported to VDE may contain characters beyond the 7-bit ASCII range. However, it is still highly recommended that you avoid the list of characters that can cause potential conflicts with PS/VIPP® command syntax and parameter handling as shown below. Data file field names may contain characters beyond the 7-bit ASCII range. However, you still need to avoid the list of characters that could cause potential conflicts with PS/VIPP® command syntax and parameter handling as shown below. Data file field names may contain characters beyond the 7-bit ASCII range. However, you still need to avoid the list of characters that could cause potential conflicts with PS/VIPP® command syntax and parameter handling as shown below and avoid name conflicts with PS and VIPP® reserved keywords by using more than two characters in your field names and using a mix of upper and lower case characters, for example, Fname instead of fname or FNAME. Any other job resources for example image or text files MUST have filenames composed of ONLY 7-bit ASCII characters and MUST avoid using the list of characters that can cause potential conflicts with PS/VIPP® command syntax and parameter handling as shown below. The following characters should not be used in file names or field names to avoid potential conflicts with keywords and parameter handling: { } () [] <

>~!@\$%^*I:''?/∖".

The data file is made up of many records. The record count is determined by the data extraction. VDE is not affected by the number of records in the data file, however, when the production data file contains many records, a shortened version is often used for test purposes.

The first record in a delimited data file used by VDE must contain the field names, separated by the delimiter character. All subsequent records contain user data in the fields.

A typical delimiter character is the comma thus, the comma separated file, or CSV file. Sometimes a record within a comma delimited file contains a comma, as shown in the table below, which can cause data extraction problems.

Field name (first record):	Address1	Bonus
Extracted data (second record):	123 West 5th Avenue	Suite 45A
Looks like this in the data file:	123 West 5th Avenue, Suite 45A, \$5,000	

If this is left as is, the comma is looked at as a separator character. The value, \$5,000, is lost, because the text Suite 45A is considered to be the data value for the Bonus field. If the user data contains the delimiter character one of these two options must be chosen:

- The database file must be regenerated using a different delimiter character, which is not used in the data.
- A technique known as quoting must be used when the database file is created. When quoting is used, the database file looks like this:

Field name or first record:	Address1	Bonus
Extracted data or second record:	123 West 5th Avenue, Suite 45A	\$5,000
Looks like this in the data file:	123 West 5th Avenue, Suite 45A, \$5,000	

When processed, the quotes protect the comma included in the user data.

Loading the Delimited Data File

Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data import is described in Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data.

Once the basic InDesign layout for a variable data job has been completed, a data file must be loaded to associate

variable data with the job. The delimited data file a CSV file) contains the variable information for the job. In its simplest form, the job is driven by the data contained in the data file's records only. For more complex or individualized jobs, Rules can be defined.

In a delimited data file, the character used as the delimiter can be any ASCII character, but is typically a comma default, a colon, a space character, or Tab. The Data File Properties panel will display the first line of the data base file from which the delimiter can be determined. If in doubt, contact the database administrator or the person who provided the file. If the delimiter is None used for single field data files, Tab, or Space, select that in the GUI screen. If the delimiter is anything else, select Other and then type the delimiter character in the area provided.

The data file used in the design phase is often a subset of a much larger file that is selected during the Export phase of the project. When this occurs, both data files must share the same characteristics, such as field names, and delimiter character. While it is typical to select a larger production file during the export phase, it is also legal to use the file selected here as the print data file.

Once data file selection is complete and the delimited file loads into the job, the VDE panel is populated with the names of the database fields found in the delimited file. All the fields are loaded into VDE with a default data type of Text, as shown by the \mathfrak{A} icon, or Graphic, as shown by the \mathfrak{A} icon, to the left of the field name. Therefore, if the database file contains records that do not contain text, those records' data type must be changed to the correct data type based on the descriptions below. The actual records contained in the data file can consist of any one of the following entries:

Text	Any character or string of characters.
Text File	The name of a file containing text.

Note: The text file must be a UTF-8 or ASCII with character codes less than 0x80 text file. Any proprietary formatting commands or tags will be ignored and printed as text.

Graphic	the name of a graphic element. Valid image file resources have one of the following file extensions: . jpg, .jpeg, .tif, .tiff, .eps, .ps, or .pdf. All other extensions will be ignored and will not be included when generating the VIPP® job.
Visibility	a visibility field can contain an indicator On or Off that is used to control the visibility of a layer or page.
Color	a variable color field that contains the name of a defined color in the Color Swatch. If the color does not exist, you must create the color swatch. If the color swatch is not defined, the default color <i>White</i> is used.

The data types listed above can also be assigned to a VIPP[®] data object via a conditional Rule and added to the InDesign layout. Those objects will appear on the VDE panel list when the Rule is created.

To load the data file that is used for the job, click the **Select Data File** button.

The Select Data File dialog will open. Browse for and highlight the data file for the job, then click **Open**.

🐻 Select Data F	ile					×
Look in:	📙 VI Program E	xamples	• 0	🗊 📴 🖽 -		
Recent Places Desktop Libraries Computer Network	SI_IDCard	VPPExample				
	File name:				•	Open
	Files of type:	Comma Separated Value	es files (*.csv)			Cancel
		Copen as read-only				

VDE opens the Data File Properties panel.

a File Properties		
Data File Encoding: First Line of the Data File:	Western European (Windows-1252)	• ОК
FullName,Fname,Lname,Addr1,Addr2,City,State	e,Zip,Dept,EmployID,ImageNo,Telephone	Cancel
Data Field Delimiter:		
© None		
🔘 Tab		
© Space		
Other	,	
Decimal De <mark>l</mark> imiter:	Period (.)	
Strip leading and trailing quotes		
Strip leading and trailing spaces for field data	i de la companya de l	
Data file contains prefixed multiple-occurrence	ce fields	
Check this checkbox only if your data file contains transact user documentation for more details.	tional data, i.e. multiple values within a single record field. Please refer to VDE	
Data file contains header line		
First Multi-occurrence Prefix:		

The Data File Properties panel contains these fields:

Data File Encoding

A drop-down box contains a selection of the currently supported file encoding types. Data File encoding allows selection of different encoding schemes based on the data. When unsure of the correct encoding option, choose Unicode (UTF8), as it is appropriate for most US and European languages.

The current supported encoding types are:

- Unicode (UTF8)
- Unicode (UTF-16) (support for CSV only, not XML data)
- Western European (ISO Latin-1)
- Western European (ISO Latin-9)
- Western European (Mac OS Roman)
- Western European (Windows-1252)
- Central European (ISO Latin-2)
- Central European (Windows-1250)
- Central European (Mac OS Latin2)
- Cyrillic (Windows-1251)
- Cyrillic (CP-866)
- Cyrillic (Mac OS Cyrillic)
- Thai (Windows CP-874)
- Thai (TIS-620)
- Vietnamese (Windows-1258)
- Japanese (Shift-JIS)
- Japanese (EUC-JP)
- Greek (ISO Latin)
- Greek (Windows-1253)
- Turkish (ISO Latin-5)
- Turkish (Windows-1254)

Note: Currently, any data file selected for the InDesign document through VDE is always converted to UTF-8 before the data is copied into the VPC submission file. This allows VIPP® to handle both the variable data and existing text strings from the document itself, using the same encoding within the VIPP® Pro code i.e., no mixed encodings on the same job.

Restrictions:

The converted data from ISO Latin-1 and ISO Latin-9 to UTF-8 could potentially be two or three times as large as the original data, depending on the number of upper-ASCII characters > 0x7F found in the data. The lower ASCII characters are always one byte in ISO Latin-* and UTF-8.

For applications that will be run many times such as a daily report, and so on, where only the data changes, and

there are no changes to any of the resources such as forms or images; VDE supports the Just Send the Data model of VIPP[®] Pro, where the new data file is extracted and sent directly to the printer. Creating a new VPC using VDE is not necessary. To support this Just Send the Data model use one of these options:

- Define an init file on the printer queue refer to Glossary of Terms that contains the VIPP® header file.
- Use the .nub file located in the original .vpc file for this job and append that to the top of the new data file before submitting directly to the printer.

```
%!
%%<VIDE: encoding='Windows-1252'>
%% Init Header for Submission Data Files %%
XGF
[ (VIPP_Pro_Pub) (Where_Book) ] SETPROJECT
[ /LocalToUTF8 1 ] SETPARAMS
(Where_Book_DM.jdt) SETJDT
(Where_Book_DM.dbm) STARTDBM
Field1,Field,2,Field3,Field4.....
data,data,data,data......
```

The text above is an example of a .nub file. To use this Just Send the Data method, the data must use UTF8 encoding. Append the .nub file to the top of the data file. The contents of the .nub file is shown above. The blue text represents the new data file that must conform exactly to the original data file. Field names must be the same and in the same order.

Use caution when manually editing the VPC data submission file because the encoding must be maintained as UTF-8. This means that if the data must be manually edited, it must be done using a text editor that handles and displays UTF-8 correctly, and the modified file must be saved to the disk as UTF-8.

First Line of the Data File

The data comprising the first line of the delimited data file appears here. In order to work as expected with VDE, the first line of the delimited data file MUST contain header information. The First Line of the data file is displayed to help select the Delimiter Character used in the file. For questions about the data file encoding and delimiter used in the file, see the person who generated the data file.

Data Field Delimiter

The program defaults to Other and inserts a comma in the Other field. When the data file contains a different delimiter, that delimiter can either be selected, using one of the option buttons, or be entered into the Other field. The Delimiter Character is the character used to separate the fields in the data file. There are four options:

None

No delimiter, each record contains one field.

Tab

The delimiter character is the tab character, this option allows selection of a tab as the delimiter character (it is not always easy to enter a tab as a delimiter character, it is often done by using the hex value, this avoids having to do that).

Space

The space character is used to delimit the file.

Other

Some other character is used as a delimiter. When selected, the character must be typed in the box provided. VDE defaults to a comma.

Decimal Delimiter

The program defaults to Period (.). A comma can be selected as the decimal delimiter if required.

Strip leading and trailing quotes

Used to strip leading and trailing quotes. If the delimiter character is used inside the data base file, it is typical for database programs to enclose the data fields in quotes. This option strips these quotes when the data field is being resolved. When checked, the quotes are discarded when populating the list. When unchecked, the quotes appear as part of the data in the list.

Strip leading and trailing spaces for field data

Used to strip leading and trailing blank spaces from the beginning/end of the field data.

Data file contains prefixed multiple-occurrence fields

Do not select this check box unless using a Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data file that meets the TransPromo data specifications listed in Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data. Refer to that section for more information.

OK and Cancel

Click **OK** when all selections are completed or **Cancel** to close the panel without assigning a data file. Once this panel is completed, select the **OK** button. The database fields immediately show up as a list in the VDE panel.

\$ V	I DESIGN EXPRESS	▶ •≡
Sa	mple Data File:	
C	:\Users\Harriet\Documen	ts\24_XEROX\VI Progra
As	set Folder:	
C	:\Users\Harriet\Documen	ts\24_XEROX\ACTI 🛞 🚱
	Show User Data	<u></u>
Г	Highlight Fields	
÷	2 <u>a</u> <u>aaa</u>	٩
V	Data Fields	_
	T FullName	Jenni Smith
	<u>T</u> Fname	Jenni
	I Lname	Smith
	T Addr1	237 Webster Street
	T Addr2	
	T City	Webster
	<u>T</u> State	NY
	TI Zip	14580
	T Dept	Marketing
	T EmployID	1-64733
	ImageNo	64733.jpg
	T Telephone	5855558963 💌
×	> 00	E E LE LE

When changing the record number on the VDE panel, the field value for the new record is displayed to the right of the field name. In addition, once the InDesign layout includes inserted data file fields, the text or images will change on-screen as the records change.

LOADING A SUBSIDIARY DELIMITED DATA FILE

Subsidiary Database

Subsidiary database is a capability to import an additional CSV file having a field which matches a field in the main CSV file.

It works similarly to the main database file. Let's see a scenario to illustrate the usage.

- 1. Open the VDE panel, if not already open.
- 2. Load the main data file (customer.csv) from the VDE panel.

3. After loading the main data file, the Import subsidiary data file option will be enabled as shown below.

C:\VIP	Pdev\InDesign plug-	in\Test cases\Multiple databases\cu 🏳 🛱	
Asset Fo	older:		
		Import	a subsidiary data fi
Sho	w User Data		
🗌 Higl	hlight Fields	2	
01	.aaaa	Q	
- Da	ata Fields (15)		
T	MARQUE	AUDI	
I	MODELE	TT Coupé	
I	TITRE	Mr	
T(NOM	PRESLEY	
I)	PRENOM	John	
T)	RUE	Rue des bains	
I)	NR	47	
<u> </u>	BTE	291	
I)	CP	7810	
<u>T(</u>	LOCALITE	ILEZELLE	
<u> </u>	PAYS	BE	
<u>I</u>	Nr dealer	999	
<u>I</u>	Matricule	982	
<u> </u>	Nom_UR	MARTIN MOTORS B.V.B.A.	
I	Localite_UR	SINT-MARTIN	

4. Click on the option Import a subsidiary data file. It will launch a new dialog where the user can load the subsidiary data file and provide the required inputs.

c: (viPPdev/indesign plug-in/rest c	ases\Multiple databases\de	alers.csv		Bro	wse) (ОК
ata File Encoding:		Western European (Windows-1252)		~ ~	Cancel	
First Line of the Data File:						ouncer
DealerNr:Name:Address:City:Tel:Fax	:Email:Web					Keset
ata Field Delimiter:						
O None						
⊖ Tab						
O Space						
O Other		:				
Matching Fields: Main:	Nr dealer) I	Subsidiary:	sd1_DealerNr	~ II	
Subsidiary Prefix:	sd1					
Strip leading and trailing quotes						

5. After filling the required details click **OK**. A separate collapsible node with all fields available in the subsidiary data file (dealers.csv) will appear in the VDE panel.

Sample	Data File:	
C:\VIP	Pdev\InDesign plug-i	n\Test cases\Multiple databases\customers.csv 🛛 😝 🖺
Asset Fo	lder:	
Sho	w User Data	
_ Hig	hlight Fields	- C
01	<u>,a, ,aaa</u> ,	
- Di	ata Fields (15)	
TĬ	MARQUE	AUDI
Ţ	MODELE	TT Coupé
TÍ	TITRE	Mr
I	NOM	PRESLEY
I	PRENOM	John
I	RUE	Rue des bains
T)	NR	47
<u> </u>	BTE	291
I)	CP	7810
<u>T(</u>	LOCALITE	ILEZELLE
<u>T</u> (PAYS	BE
<u> </u>	Nr dealer	999
I	Matricule	982
<u> </u>	Nom_UR	MARTIN MOTORS B.V.B.A.
<u> </u>	Localite_UR	SINT-MARTIN
~ Si	ıbsidiary Data Fields s	d.,
Ľ	sd1_DealerNr	999
<u> </u>	sd1_Name	Martin Motors b.v.b.a.
Ľ	sd1_Address	Kirshweg, 974
T(sd1_City	9245 Sint-Martin
I(sd1_Tel	Tel. 09/281.99.88
T(sd1_Fax	Fax 09/281.99.77
<u>T(</u>	sd1_Email	karl.schmith@martinmotors.audi.be
<u>T</u>	sd1_Web	www.audi.be/martinmo

- 6. The node provides the following two options for the subsidiary data file in the context menu.
 - Edit Subsidiary Data File opens the dialog where the user can make modifications.
 - Delete Subsidiary Data File removes the subsidiary data file from the InDesign document.

ample Data File:		
C:\VIPPdev\InDesign p	lug-in\Test cases\M	lultiple databases\customers.csv 🛛 😂 🖞
sset Folder:		
		® I S
Show User Data		-
] Highlight Fields		님
1 <u>a</u> <u>aaa</u>		
Data Fields (15)		
TI MARQUE	AUDI	
TI MODELE	TT Cou	pé
TT TITRE	Mr	
TI NOM	PRESLE	Υ
T PRENOM	John	
T RUE	Rue des	s bains
<u>T</u> (NR	47	
TI BTE	291	
<u>T</u> CP	7810	
TI LOCALITE	ILEZEL	LE
TI PAYS	BE	
<u>T</u> Nr dealer	999	
<u>T</u> Matricule	982	
T Nom_UR	MARTI	MOTORS B.V.B.A.
TI Localite_UR	SINT-M	IARTIN
Subsidiary Data I	ields	Edit Subsidiary Data File
T sd1_DealerNr	999	Delete Subsidiary Data File
T sd1_Name	Martin	
T(sd1_Address	Kirshwe	eg, 974
T sd1_City	9245 Si	nt-Martin
Tí sd1_Tel	Tel. 09/	281.99.88
T sd1_Fax	Fax 09/	281.99.77
<u>T</u> (sd1_Email	karlisch	nmith@martinmotors.audi.be
T sd1_Web	www.au	idi.be/martinmo

- Create Rule Rule Name Is_DealerNr_994 T Description •• None •• true 🔻 🚵 when any of the following is true • • sd1_DealerNr ▼ <u>T</u> [#] is equal to 994 MARQUE PAYS Nr dealer Matricule sd1_Name _ sd1_City sd1_Tel sd1_Email sd1_Web
- 7. The subsidiary data fields are available for creating Rules and Data Transformations as shown below.



8. All subsidiary data fields behave the same as main data fields. They can be used anywhere in the InDesign documents as the main data file fields.



DEFINING AN XML DATA FILE

An XML data file generated by a web service, or extracted from a database, can be used to drive a variable data application designed using VDE. XML Extensible Markup Language is a data format that uses start and /end tags <tagname></tagname> to encapsulate the data and attributes associated with the data file. VDE allows you to import an XML file into the VDE Data panel, and then select XML data elements to publish on the page, or for use in conditional logic.

Data may be presented within the XML data in one of two ways:

- Single Occurrence
- Limited Multiple Occurrence Tag (LMOT)
- Unlimited Multiple Occurrence Tag (UMOT)

The first 2 are dedicated to promotional type XML postcards, tickets, and so on. The last one is related to transactional type XML. When a tag is selected as UMOT additional VDE features are enabled to support processing of transactional data.

Single Occurrence

A single occurrence, the most common form of XML tag, is a single data element contained within the start-tag and end-tag. For example, you may have a start-tag, <PET>, and end-tag </PET> and within that tag have the value or PET element contents Dog:

```
<PET> Dog </PET>
```

Limited Multiple Occurrence Tag (LMOT)

A limited multiple occurrence tag (LMOT) is a tag that may be repeated more than once in a single customer record. That tag may contain other tags, but it cannot contain a nested LMOT. Nested LMOTs are not supported.

In the XML data shown below, the tags, <PHONE> and </PHONE>, are Limited Multiple Occurrence Tags that are contained within the tags, <RECORD> and </RECORD>. The <PHONE> element appears twice, once containing information about the work phone number, the second occurrence containing information about the home phone number. Unlike transactional data, these are limited. You can only have so many phone numbers. Your application may require that you print all available values for the selected tags in the LMOT group the default behavior or select a subset of the tags in the LMOT group. To select a subset, it is necessary to create a Rule. For more information, refer to LMOT Subset Retrieval Rule Generation.

```
<records</pre>
<records</pre>
<records</pre>
<records</pre>
<records</pre>
<records</pre>
<records</pre>
</records</pre>
```

Unlimited Multiple Occurrence Tag (UMOT)

An unlimited multiple occurrence tag (UMOT) is very similar to a LMOT except that the number of occurrences can be very large (UMOTs typically contains transactions) and may not fit on a single page. Therefore, when placing UMOTs in a frame a mechanism to automatically create continuation pages will be enabled. VDE can process only one UMOT group for a given XML file.

Although the data format is different, VDE is using the same mechanisms to process XML UMOT data as it does to process Multiple Occurrence Fields for *Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data*. Refer to **Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data** to learn how to design a transactional document and understand how transactions can flow on duplicated or continuation pages.

An Unlimited multiple occurrence tag (UMOT) is a tag that may be repeated more than once in a single customer record with no limit. This may cause page overflow when composing the document. This is what we call *transactions*, for example, list of bank operations, list of phone calls, and so on. That tag may contain other tags, but it cannot contain a nested UMOT. Nested UMOTs are not supported.

```
ines>
     ine>
           <Type>0</Type>
           <Date>01FEB</Date>
           <Time>9:00a</Time>
           <Place>Humberside</Place>
           <Number>2201 990 0003</Number>
           <Rate>24Hr</Rate>
           dinutes>21</Minutes>
           <Amount>180</Amount>
      </line>
      ine>
             <Type>0</Type>
             <Date>25JAN</Date>
             <Time>9:00a</Time>
             <place>Humberside</place>
             <Number>2201 990 0003</Number>
             <Rate>24Hr</Rate>
             <Minutes>10</Minutes>
             <Amount>90</Amount>
      </line>
</lines>
----
```

In the above XML Data, the line> and </line> tag are Unlimited Multiple Occurrence Tag (UMOT) that are contained within tag line> and </line>. The line> appears unlimited times for each record and are not fixed for each record.

In the sample XML data file that follows, the tag <lines> <line> < /line> <line> </line> </line> are example of UMOT group. There can be any number of <line> </line> tag for each record. When an UMOT group is shown in the VDE panel only the first occurrence of the UMOT <line> tag will be shown, remaining values will be added to the transaction table when created.

```
ines>
      <line>
             <Type>0</Type>
<Date>01FEB</Date>
             <Time>9:00a</Time>
             <Place>Humberside</Place>
             <Number>2201 990 0003</Number>
              <Rate>24Hr</Rate>
             <Minutes>21</Minutes>
             <Amount>180</Amount>
       </line>
       ine>
             <Type>0</Type>
             <Date>25JAN</Date>
<Time>9:00a</Time>
             <Place>Humberside</Place>
             <Number>2201 990 0003</Number>
             <Rate>24Hr</Rate>
             <Minutes>10</Minutes>
             <Amount>90</Amount>
       </line>
</lines>
```

Each field inside the <line> tag will be shown in the VDE panel under the UMOT group name <invoice><line>. Expanding the tree, you will be able to see all the fields and corresponding values as shown in the below image.

VI Design Express		
sample Data File:	-land (DC Teners) Discord Different	
Macintosh HD:0sers:xgroulio:De	sktop:vDE Trans:PhoneBill.xm	
Asset Folder:		
-,		\& (%
✓ Show User Data		—
Highlight Fields		
‡ 1 <u>a</u> , <u>asa</u> ,		9
<u>T</u> <invoice><anyminutesu< td=""><td>se 00428</td><td>Γ</td></anyminutesu<></invoice>	se 00428	Γ
T <invoice><nightminutes< td=""><td>U 01267</td><td></td></nightminutes<></invoice>	U 01267	
T <invoice><totalminutes< td=""><td>Us 01695</td><td></td></totalminutes<></invoice>	Us 01695	
T <invoice><uservicefund< td=""><td>> 000126</td><td></td></uservicefund<></invoice>	> 000126	
T <invoice> <costrecovery< td=""><td>> 000073</td><td></td></costrecovery<></invoice>	> 000073	
<u>T</u> <invoice> <excise></excise></invoice>	000133	
Tí <invoice> <currentcharg< td=""><td>es> 000332</td><td></td></currentcharg<></invoice>	es> 000332	
T <invoice><rateplannam< td=""><td>e> Evolvcom 700F</td><td></td></rateplannam<></invoice>	e> Evolvcom 700F	
<u>T</u> <invoice><options></options></invoice>	004667	
<pre><invoice> <lines> <line></line></lines></invoice></pre>		
<invoice><lines><li< td=""><td>ne>< 0</td><td></td></li<></lines></invoice>	ne>< 0	
r <invoice> <lines> <li< td=""><td>ne>< 01FEB</td><td></td></li<></lines></invoice>	ne>< 01FEB	
<u> </u>	ne>< 9:00a	
<invoice> <lines> <li< td=""><td>ne>< Humberside</td><td></td></li<></lines></invoice>	ne>< Humberside	
rinvoice> <lines><li< td=""><td>ne>< 2201 990 0003</td><td></td></li<></lines>	ne>< 2201 990 0003	
r <invoice><lines><li< td=""><td>ne>< 24Hr</td><td></td></li<></lines></invoice>	ne>< 24Hr	
rinvoice> <lines><li< td=""><td>ne>< 21</td><td></td></li<></lines>	ne>< 21	
_Υ <invoice> nes> <li< td=""><td>ne>< 180</td><td></td></li<></invoice>	ne>< 180	
▼ Rule (1)		
© сору	Off	
it.		

Loading the XML Data File

The XML file used in the design phase of the application should be a subset of the larger production XML file that can be selected during the export phase of the project. Using a subset of the larger production file will allow VDE to work more efficiently during the design phase. This test file should contain all the expected tags and LMOT/UMOT groups, if used that will be found in the production XML file. The tag names must match the production data. If your production XML file is relatively small then you can use that file for both design and production.

Once XML file selection is complete and the XML file is imported into VDE, the VDE panel is populated with the names of the XML tags found in the XML file. VDE will assign the default Type value of Text I to all tags, unless

the file extension can be interpreted as a graphic 📬 , or text file 🕼 type as shown by the icon to the left of the tag name.

It is recommended that you review the type value that VDE has associated with the tags. If the automatically assigned type value is incorrect, manually change the tag type based on the descriptions below. This is important because the tag type determines the functionality that can be assigned to the tag.

Text	Any character or string of characters.
Text File	The name of a file containing text. NOTE The text file must be a plain UTF-8 or ASCII with character codes less than 0x80 text file. Any proprietary formatting commands or tags will be ignored and printed as text.
Graphic	The name of a graphic element. Valid image file resources have one of the following file extensions: . jpg, .jpeg, .tif, .tiff, .eps, .ps, or .pdf. All other extensions will be ignored and will not be included when generating the VIPP® job.
Visibility	The visibility field can contain an indicator On or Off that is used to control the visibility of a layer or page.
Color	The variable color field that contains the name of a defined color in the Color Swatch. If the color does not exist, you must create the color swatch. If the color swatch is not defined, the default color White is used.

The data types listed above can also be assigned to a VIPP® data object via a conditional Rule, and added to the InDesign layout. Those objects will appear on the VDE panel list when the Rule is created.

An example XML data file follows. The tag names used below are for example purposes only. Other XML data files may use different tag names.

The data encoding is defined in the first line. It is defined as utf8, which is the default if not otherwise specified.

Some HEADER data is supplied between the tags <HEADER...> and </HEADER>. This is optional and may not be present in all XML data files.

All customer records are found within the <RECORDS> and </RECORDS> tags. The sample below contains three customer records, which are defined within <RECORD> and </RECORD> tags.

It is important to identify the tag that starts each customer record. It is called the iterator tag. Similar to defining the delimiter for a delimited data file, the iterator tag must be identified so that VDE can identify each customer record. In the following data file example, the <RECORD> tag is the iterator, as it defines the start of a new customer record. The full XML path would be <RECORDS><RECORD>.

<?xml version='1.0' encoding='UTF-8'?>
dUSEBDATAs
efebORR Attr0='%quot;Tom & Adams"" Attr1="Value1" Attr2='Value2' Attr3='Value3'> RECORDS <RECORD> <TO> <FIRSTNAME>David</FIRSTNAME>

```
<LASTNAME>Kirk</LASTNAME>
            <PHONE type='cell' location='work'>
                  <AREACODE>310</AREACODE>
                  <NUMBER>555-1234</NUMBER>
             </PHONE>
            <PHONE type='landline' location='home'>
                  <AREACODE>818</AREACODE>
                  <NUMBER>555-6789</NUMBER>
             </PHONE>
 </TO>
 <FROM>
                                                                Tags that are not highlighted in the
      <FIRSTNAME>Janet</FIRSTNAME>
                                                                XML data example are considered
      <LASTNAME>Smith</LASTNAME>
                                                                Single Occurrence tags.
 </FROM>
 </RECORD>
<RECORD>
<T0>
     <FIRSTNAME>Mary</FIRSTNAME>
                                                                                                                           NUMBER> 555-0033</NUMBER>
     <LASTNAME>O&apos;Donald</LASTNAME>
                                                                                                                       </PHONE
           <PHONE type='fax' location='home'>
                                                               Tags that are highlighted in green are
                                                                                                              </TO>
                                                                                                              <FROM>
                 <AREACODE>310</AREACODE>
                                                               LMOT groups. The <PHONE> tags are
                                                                                                                  <FIRSTNAME>Robert</FIRSTNAME>
                 <NUMBER>555-2200</NUMBER>
                                                               repeated multiple times within each
                                                                                                                  <LASTNAME>Dawson</LASTNAME>
                                                                                                               </FROM>
            </PHONE>
                                                               customer record. An LMOT group can
                                                                                                              </RECORD>
            <PHONE type='landline' location='work'>
                                                               contain only one instance of the
                 <ARFACODE>818</ARFACODE>
                                                               repeated tags, or may contain two or
                                                                                                           </RECORDS>
                 <NUMBER>555-0022</NUMBER>
                                                               more instances, as shown here. Each
                                                                                                           <FOOTER>
            </PHONE>
                                                               instance of the LMOT group will have
                                                                                                              <F1A>Footer FieldA</F1A>
<F2A>Footer FieldB</F2A>
            <PHONE type='cell' location='mobile'>
                                                               the same set of tags repeated for each
                                                                                                           </FOOTER>
                 <AREACODE>713</AREACODE>
                                                               instance
                 <NUMBER>555-2222</NUMBER>
                                                                                                           </USERDATA>
            </PHONE>
                                                                                                           </RECORDS>
</T0>
                                                                                                           <calls>
<FROM>
                                                                                                           <call>
     <FIRSTNAME>Marvin</FIRSTNAME>
                                                                                                                  <Type>0</Type>
<Date>01FEB</Date>
     <LASTNAME>Anderson</LASTNAME>
                                                                                                                  <Time>9:00a</Time>
</FROM>
                                                                                                                  <Place>Humberside</Place>
<Number>2201 990 0003</Number>
</RECORD>
                                                                                                                  <Rate>24Hr</Rate>
<Minutes>21</Minutes>
<RECORD>
                                                                                                                  <Amount>180</Amount>
                                                                                                           </call>
<T0>
                                                                                                           <ca11>
     <FIRSTNAME>Jane</FIRSTNAME>
                                                                                                                  <Type>0</Type>
                                                                                                                  <Date>251AN</Date>
     <LASTNAME>Patterson</LASTNAME>
                                                                                                                  <Time>9:00a</Time>
            PHONE type='landline' location='home'>
                                                                                                                  <Place>Humberside</Place>
                                                                                                                  <Number>2201 990 0003</Number>
                 <AREACODE>213</AREACODE>
                                                                                                                  <Rate>24Hr</Rate>
                 <NUMBER>555-3300</NUMBER>
                                                                                                                  <Minutes>10</Minutes>
            </PHONE>
                                                                                                                  <Amount>90</Amount>
                                                                                                           </call>
           <PHONE type='landline' location='work'>
                                                                                                               . large number of <call> tags ...
                                                                                                           </calls>
</RECORDS
                 <AREACODE>310</AREACODE>
```

Loading the XML data file

To load the XML data file:

Xerox® FreeFlow® VI Design Express Software User Guide

1. Click on the **Select Data File** button. The Select Data File dialog will open.

Id Select Data F	ile							×
Look in:	🔋 VI Design Exp	ress_InDesign_Examples	•	G 💋 📂				
Altern	Name 🔺		- Date	modified 🚽	Туре	- Size	-	
1 St.	IDCard		7/14/	2013 9:19 PM	File folder			
Recent Places	VPPExample		6/17/	2013 1:50 PM	File folder			
	😬 data		7/10/	2013 9:49 AM	XML Document		2 KB	
	🖀 data 1		7/10/	2013 9:51 AM	XML Document		1 KB	
Desktop								
Libraries								
-								
Computer								
Network								
	File name:	data				-		Open
	Files of type:	Extended Markup Langu	age files (*.	xml)		•		Cancel
							<u> </u>	
								1.

- 2. Set the File of Type option to **Extended Markup Language files (*.xml)** and select the XML file from the list displayed.
- 3. Select **Open** to continue.

Data Encoding

The data encoding used should be specified in the XML data file. If it is not, utf-8 will be used as the default encoding.

The current supported encoding types are:

- Unicode (UTF8)
- Western European (ISO Latin-1)
- Western European (ISO Latin-9)
- Western European (Mac OS Roman)
- Western European (Windows-1252)
- Central European (ISO Latin-2)
- Central European (Windows-1250)

- Central European (Mac OS Latin2)
- Cyrillic (Windows-1251)
- Cyrillic (CP-866)
- Cyrillic (Mac OS Cyrillic)
- Thai (Windows CP-874)
- Thai (TIS-620)
- Vietnamese (Windows-1258)
- Greek (ISO Latin)
- Greek (Windows-1253)
- Turkish (ISO Latin-5)
- Turkish (Windows-1254)

			Data File Properties		
	Data F	ile Encoding:	Unicode (UTF8)	I	ОК
		Iterator Tag:	<invoice></invoice>	▼	Cancel
	Decir	nal Delimiter:	Period (.)		
lease specify	y the types of	the multi-occ	urrence groups:		
⊙ LMOT	О ИМОТ	<invoice><l< td=""><td>PhoneNumber></td><td></td><td></td></l<></invoice>	PhoneNumber>		
O LMOT	● UMOT	<invoice><l< td=""><td>ines><line></line></td><td></td><td></td></l<></invoice>	ines> <line></line>		
				-	
MOT - Limited n	nultiple-occurrent	ce tag		1	
mor - Unimiter	u multiple-occurn	ence tag			

When the Data File Properties panel shown above is displayed, you need to verify or change:

Iterator TagThe Iterator tag is the first tag of each new customer
record and will be used by VI Design Express to
identify the start of the new customer grouping.Decimal DelimiterThe decimal delimiter should be set based on your
country default. The allowable options are period
or comma.

Choose Tag Type

Please specify the type of Multiple Occurrence Tag

This will list all the Multiple Occurrence tag from the XML and prompts the user to choose the type of occurrence LMOT or UMOT. There can be only one UMOT.

Once you have identified the Iterator Tag and Decimal Delimiter, click the **OK** button.

VDE will parse the data file and try to identify the tag type. If fields are not identified correctly, you can right click the incorrect tag to modify these settings.

VDE will display the data panel. The data panel will display the tag type, the tag path right justified and the tag value.

¢ V	Design Express -	
San	le Data File:	4
Ma		1
Ass	Folder:	
	how User Data	
	ighlight Fields	1
÷	<u>a</u> <u>a</u>	-
92	∑ <invoice><anyminutesuse 00428<="" td=""><td></td></anyminutesuse></invoice>	
	χ <invoice><nightminutesu 01267<="" td=""><td></td></nightminutesu></invoice>	
19	χ <invoice><totalminutesus 01695<="" td=""><td></td></totalminutesus></invoice>	
	χ <invoice><uservicefund> 000126</uservicefund></invoice>	
22	χ <invoice><costrecovery> 000073</costrecovery></invoice>	
	χ <invoice><excise> 000133</excise></invoice>	
	χ <invoice> <currentcharges> 000332</currentcharges></invoice>	
	χ <invoice><rateplanname> Evolvcom 700F</rateplanname></invoice>	
14	χ <invoice><options> 004667</options></invoice>	
	<invoice><line></line></invoice>	
1.51	II <invoice><line>< 0</line></invoice>	
	<pre></pre>	
	<u> </u>	
	Invoice> line> <, Humberside	
	<u>I</u> <invoice><line>< 2201 990 0003</line></invoice>	
	<pre> <u> </u></pre>	
	<pre> <u> </u></pre>	
	<pre></pre>	
•	ule (1)	
	copy Off	-
23		

If, when parsing the XML data file, VDE will display identified LMOT group in green and identified UMOT group in purple. If there are multiple LMOT groups, they will be shown in alternating shades of green. LMOTs will use Type marker with green and UMOTs will use Type marker with purple color.

In the sample XML data file that follows, the <PHONE> ...</PHONE> tags are an example of an LMOT group. The first customer record has two occurrences of phone data, one for the land line phone and one for the cell. When an LMOT group is displayed in the data panel, the first occurrence of the tag values are shown initially. You can change

the occurrence shown by right-clicking on an LMOT tag, highlighting the tag and selecting the occurrence you want to display in the data panel.

<RECORD>

</RECORD>



The tags highlighted in green are considered to be LMOT groups. The values displayed are the first occurrence values in the LMOT group for those tags. You can change the occurrence being displayed by right clicking any of the LMOT tags and selecting the LMOT Occurrence option. This will display all occurrence values for that LMOT tag.

Changing the occurrence for one tag will change all tags in that LMOT group. It may be necessary to change the occurrence being displayed to validate rules using LMOT tags. Otherwise, it has no bearing other than that the occurrence selected will be the tag data displayed in the data panel and in InDesign when the tag is placed on the

page.

If there are multiple LMOT groups within a customer record, each group will be highlighted in alternating shades of green.

Using XML Data in your document design

When using either single occurrence, Limited Multiple Occurrence or Unlimited Multiple Occurrence tag XML data into your document you must be aware of the type of XML tags that are included, either single occurrence or Limited Multiple Occurrence tag.

A single occurrence tag can be placed on the page by inserting the text tool into a text frame or table and doubleclicking on the tag element in the data panel. This is very similar to placing delimited fields into a text frame (or table). The majority of XML data is treated as Single Occurrence Tags. These can be used in rules, data transforms and placed in text frames in your document using the same operations used for delimited data.

A Limited Multiple Occurrence Tag (LMOT) is a different type of tag element, which will react differently when placed in the document. Because the tag is part of a repeated set of related tag data, the value for the tag varies, depending upon the occurrence of the tag within the LMOT group. Using the XML data example on page 91, the first customer record tags within <RECORD> and </RECORD>, have two sets of <PHONE> data, each set, called an occurrence, contains the same set of XML tag names, but, with different data values for the tags depending on the occurrence.

When an LMOT tag(s) is placed in a text frame the value, shown in the tag occurrence selected in the data panel, will be shown on the InDesign screen. However, when printed, the corresponding tag values will be printed one below the other for each occurrence of the selected LMOT tags within the currently selected customer record.

To select only some occurrences from an LMOT group, you need to create a rule to retrieve a subset of that group. Refer to LMOT Subset Retrieval Rule Generation. The rule will be evaluated and will create a subset data element in the data panel. Placing this data object in a text frame will print just the subset of evaluated values.

Because of the way an LMOT tag is processed and the fact that it will print each occurrence of the tag's values one below the other, care needs to be taken when mixing static and/or variable data with a LMOT tag.

```
<RECORD>
<TO>
<FIRSTNAME>Mary</FIRSTNAME>
<LASTNAME>O&apos;Donald</LASTNAME>
<PHONE type='fax' location='home'>
<AREACODE>310</AREACODE>
<NUMBER>555-2200</NUMBER>
</PHONE>
<PHONE type='landline' location='work'>
<AREACODE>818</AREACODE> <NUMBER>555-0022</NUMBER>
</PHONE>
<PHONE type='cell' location='mobile'>
<AREACODE>713</AREACODE>
<NUMBER>555-2222</NUMBER>
</PHONE>
</TO> <FROM>
<FIRSTNAME>Marvin</FIRSTNAME>
<LASTNAME>Anderson</LASTNAME>
</FROM>
</RECORD>
```

To print the sample below using the XML code sample above:

Use these Phone Numbers: 310-555-2200 818-555-0022 713-555-2222

You may be tempted to create a single text frame and place the static text Use these Phone Numbers: followed by the <AREACODE> LMOT tag, and a dash character followed by the <PHONE> tag. This is incorrect as the text frame will be repeated for each occurrence of PHONE in the LMOT group. Doing so would produce this:

Use these Phone Numbers: 310-555-2200

Use these Phone Numbers: 818-555-0022

Use these Phone Numbers: 713-555-2222

The correct method to create the desired output is to create two text frames. The first text frame containing the text Use these Phone Numbers: The second text frame containing the <AREACODE> LMOT tag, and a dash character followed by the <PHONE> tag.

When processed, this produces the correct output as only the <AREACODE> tag, the dash character, and the <NUMBER> tag will be repeated per occurrence. However, only the first occurrence value, or the currently selected occurrence value for the LMOT tags will be displayed in the text frame in InDesign.

Because of this different action with LMOT tags, it is recommended that you do not mix static and variable text with LMOT tags, unless you understand the expected output. The text frame with the LMOT tags will repeat down the page for each occurrence in the LMOT group for the current customer record.

To print all the area codes and phone numbers with location= home from the above example, you need to create two LMOT subset retrieval rules. These rules will be used to select the values for <AREACODE> and <NUMBER> when the location tag is equal to home. This will generate two LMOT data objects in the data panel that can now be used to place the area codes and phone numbers as a subset of the LMOT group in a text frame. This is explained in more detail in LMOT Subset Retrieval Rule Generation.

Using XML data in tables

XML data can be inserted into InDesign tables.

For single occurrence tags the process for placing a tag in a table is similar to the process used for delimited data: Place the Type Tool cursor in the table element and double-click the tag in the VDE panel that you are placing into the table.

For limited multiple occurrence tags (LMOT) the process is similar, but because the tag is a LMOT, there could be multiple values for the LMOT tag. Therefore, the table is created as a single row table with optional headers or footers in a text frame large enough to contain the multiple LMOT values for the tags selected. If the largest LMOT group for the tags selected, has three occurrences, the text frame needs to be large enough to populate three rows, plus the optional header and footer. Each LMOT value will be placed in its own row in the table one below the other. If the table contains multiple columns, the data in the columns will also be repeated. Static data or single occurrence tags will be repeated in each row, LMOT tags will print the next value for the LMOT occurrence.

- To create a table that will contain a list of phone number details using the example data file beginning on page 91, follow the steps below. In the example, the maximum number of phone Go to Next Page occurrences in a customer record in the production data will not exceed three. For your jobs, the supplier of the XML data file should supply this type of information to the designer.
- 2. Create an InDesign text frame large enough for three rows of data. If a header and/or footer will be added to the table, the text frame must be big enough to accommodate any header or footer rows in addition to the data rows.
- 3. With the Type Tool cursor in the text frame, select the Table option from the InDesign menu bar. The Insert Table panel is displayed.

Insert Tal	ble	
Table	Dimensions	 OK
	Body Rows: +1	Can
	Colu <u>m</u> ns: +2	
	Header Rows: 📮 1	
	Footer Rows: 0	

- 4. Set the Body Rows value to 1. This is the setting used whenever LMOT data is used in a table.
- 5. Enter the values for the numbers of columns and Header/Footer rows. This example table will contain two columns, one header row, and will not include a footer row.
- 6. Adjust the text frame to fit the data. The text frame needs to be wide enough to contain the Area Code and Phone Number. It also needs to be high enough to support the maximum number of LMOT values for Phone, plus a row for the optional Header Row. Information about the maximum number of LMOT values is supplied as part of the XML data file. In the example data file, the maximum number of occurrences of PHONE in this LMOT group is 3.
- 7. Adjust the column widths to fit your requirements.
- 8. Add the Header Text. The table header will be printed only once.
- 9. Add the XML tags for the table.
- 10. In the first column add the Location element tag.

11. In the second column add the AREACODE tag followed by a space character, a dash character and another space character followed by the NUMBER tag.

Location	Phone Number
work	310 - 555-1234

Although only one row is shown in the InDesign layout, when the document is exported using the example data file, the following tables are built for each customer record.



Using UMOT in tables

For unlimited multiple occurrence tags (UMOT) the process is similar, but because the tag is a UMOT, there could be indefinite values for the UMOT tags. Therefore, the table is created as a single row table with optional headers or footers in a text frame large enough to contain the multiple UMOT values for the tags selected. If the table contains multiple columns, the data in the columns will also be repeated. Static data or single occurrence tags will be repeated in each row, UMOT tags will print the next value for the UMOT occurrence. Here are some rules to follow:

- A frame that contains UMOTs (fields from the transaction tag) is a UMOT frame.
- A page that contains a UMOT frame is a UMOT page.
- There can be several UMOT frames in a UMOT page and several UMOT pages in a document.
- All UMOT pages must be consecutive.
- All UMOT frames of all UMOTS pages are filled in sequence.
- If no UMOT frame is filled in a given UMOT page, that page is not imaged for the document created for the data set related to the current iterator tag.
- If necessary, the last UMOT page is re-used until all transactions are exhausted.

If the value UMOT occurrence overflows the residing UMOT text frame, then the information is passed to next UMOT text frame in same or next UMOT Page. If there is only one UMOT frame and the values overflow, then table is carried over to the next page until next record.

1. Place a text frame in the page long enough to accommodate all the UMOT tags comfortably. If not, the data will shrink in the cell.

2. Now make sure the text frame is selected and right-click on the UMOT group in the VDE panel and then click create transactional data table.

×			•
© VI Design Ex	press	*	
Sample Data File		1 ~ 0	
Macintosh HD:U	ers:xgfbuild:Desktop:VDE Tr	rans:PhoneBill.xml	
Asset Folder:			
		\& %	(180
Show User D	ta	_	
Highlight Fie	ds	4	
‡ 1 <u>a</u>	.888	9	6
Tĩ <invoice< td=""><td><anyminutesuse 00428<="" td=""><td></td><td></td></anyminutesuse></td></invoice<>	<anyminutesuse 00428<="" td=""><td></td><td></td></anyminutesuse>		
T <invoice< td=""><td><nightminutesu 01267<="" td=""><td></td><td></td></nightminutesu></td></invoice<>	<nightminutesu 01267<="" td=""><td></td><td></td></nightminutesu>		
Ti <invoice< td=""><td><totalminutesus 01695<="" td=""><td></td><td></td></totalminutesus></td></invoice<>	<totalminutesus 01695<="" td=""><td></td><td></td></totalminutesus>		
 Tĭ <invoice< td=""><td><uservicefund> 000126</uservicefund></td><td></td><td></td></invoice<>	<uservicefund> 000126</uservicefund>		
Tí <invoice< td=""><td><costrecovery> 000073</costrecovery></td><td></td><td></td></invoice<>	<costrecovery> 000073</costrecovery>		
Tĩ <invoice< td=""><td><excise> 000133</excise></td><td></td><td></td></invoice<>	<excise> 000133</excise>		
Tĩ <invoice< td=""><td><currentcharges> 000332</currentcharges></td><td></td><td></td></invoice<>	<currentcharges> 000332</currentcharges>		
 T1 <invoice< td=""><td><rateplanname> Evolvcor</rateplanname></td><td>m 700F</td><td></td></invoice<>	<rateplanname> Evolvcor</rateplanname>	m 700F	
Tĩ <invoice< td=""><td><options> 004667</options></td><td></td><td></td></invoice<>	<options> 004667</options>		
<invoice< td=""><td>><lines><line></line></lines></td><td></td><td></td></invoice<>	> <lines><line></line></lines>		
Tî <inv< td=""><td>ice><lines><l croot<="" td=""><td>a Transactional Data Table</td><td></td></l></lines></td></inv<>	ice> <lines><l croot<="" td=""><td>a Transactional Data Table</td><td></td></l></lines>	a Transactional Data Table	
	lice> <lines></lines>	b Visibility Object from Layer	
 I`` <inv< td=""><td>Detac</td><td>ua</td><td>1 11 00</td></inv<>	Detac	ua	1 11 00
	vice> <lines><line>< Hur</line></lines>	mberside	100
 	pice> <lines><line>< 220</line></lines>	11 990 0003	-
	pice> <lines><line>< 24+</line></lines>	4	
TY <inv< td=""><td>pice><lines><line><</line></lines></td><td>······································</td><td></td></inv<>	pice> <lines><line><</line></lines>	······································	
	vices cliness clines c 21		
	inces chiness chines chin 180	<u> </u>	
	04		
C copy	UII		
\$			

3. VDE will create the transactional table in the selected text frame as shown below, with each column for each UMOT tag values.

<in-< th=""></in-<>

4. Now we can edit the table as required to add the header or footer. When we export the document to PDF or VPC, we will be able to see the frame is filled with all the transactional data from the XML data file.

SELECTING AN ASSET FOLDER

Assets also known as *resources* can be any type of file used in the application such as a text file, or a graphic; they are typically embedded into the document via variable data or conditional logic.

All resources intended for use in the application should be contained in a single asset folder, which is a user-defined location on the Windows or Mac system.

VIPP[®] and InDesign must know where the assets or VIPP[®] resources can be located on the computer or network. Assets, or resources for the job, should be placed in a single folder. Do NOT use subfolders, as VDE and VIPP[®] can only access specific resource types in a single folder. If an Asset Folder is not assigned, VDE will look for the assets in the folder in which the Data file is contained.

Note: Like the data file, VDE supports the concept of test and production environments, which allows the use of one asset folder during design test and another asset folder during the Export phase for production. Although it is common practice to have a design and a production asset folder in different locations, a single asset folder may be used during both design and production, if desired. When using design and production asset folders, the design asset folder can contain low resolution test files, and the production asset folder can contain the high-resolution image files used during final production. The production asset folder is selected during the *Export* phase.

To define the asset folder, click the **Choose Asset Folder** button.

Next, browse for and select the folder where the assets for the job can be found.

5 Select a Folde	r	2	×
Look in:	🕌 VI Design Express User's Guide 💌	G 🧊 🛤 🖽 -	
1	Name 🔺	Date modified Type	
2	NonTranslatedGraphics	5/22/2012 12:12 PM File folder	- 21
Recent Places	J TranslatedGraphics	6/22/2012 12:43 PM File folder	
	📗 V11 Examples	7/17/2012 2:48 PM File folder	
	퉬 VDE Graphic Updates	7/17/2012 3:36 PM File folder	
Desktop	JUDE v9 Source	7/11/2012 11:47 AM File folder	I
Libraries Computer Network			
	<u> </u>		1
	Folder Name:	▼ Select]
		Cancel	

When the folder is selected, the path to the asset folder is entered into the Asset Folder field of the VDE panel.

VI DESIGN EXPRESS	₩ *
Sample Data File:	
C:\Users\Harriet\Documents\24_	XEROX\VI Progra
Asset Folder:	
C:\Users\Harriet\Documents\24_	
Show User Data	
Highlight Fields	Ŀ
÷2 <u>a aaa</u>	٩
Data Eights	
Data Transforms	
* 001	

DEFINING VDE DATA OBJECT TYPES

When the delimited, or XML data file is first loaded into VDE, the Data Object List is populated with the field or XML tag names and data values. Click the small triangle to the left of the data object list to display the tree containing the data objects. Close or open that section of the Data Object List by clicking on this triangle.

Once the Data file has been selected:

- The VIPP[®] data objects list at the bottom of the VDE panel is initially populated with the fields contained in the data file. Additional data objects are added to this list as the design process continues.
- The record counter, shown below the Highlighted Fields checkbox, displays the current customer record being displayed. Change to another customer record using the up or down arrows, or by typing in the customer record.

As you scroll through the customer records, the values for the fields or tags being displayed will change.

		,	
¢٧	I DESIGN EXPRESS	►►	-
Sa	imple Data File:		
C	:\Users\Harriet\Documen	ts\24_XEROX\VI Progra	Ĩ
As	set Folder:		
C	:\Users\Harriet\Documen	ts\24_XEROX\ACTI	8
Г	Show User Data		
Г	Highlight Fields	[Ъ
ŧ	2 <u>1</u> , <u>.aaa</u>		Q
	Data Eiskis		
~		James Carab	F
-	TY -	Jenni Smith	
	⊥(Fname	Jenni	
	<u>그</u> Lname	Smith	
_	T Addr1	237 Webster Street	
	<u>T</u> (Addr2		
_	<u>T</u> (City	Webster	
	<u>T</u> (State	NY	
	<u>T</u> (Zip	14580	
	<u>T</u> Dept	Marketing	
	T EmployID	1-64733	
	LimageNo	64733.jpg	
	Tí Telephone	5855558963	
X	> O C		

VDE lists the fields on the VDE panel, and displays three pieces of information about each data base field:

- Icon
- Field Name
- Data

Icon

An icon indicating the Type of the object is displayed in the first column. Initially, VDE will evaluate the field and assign an icon that best describes the file. For example, if the field contains data with a graphic file extension, it will assign a graphic icon . Otherwise, most fields will be assigned a Text icon . Object types can be changed to any one of the following, based on their intended use.

Field Name

Text	Arbitrary text.
Text File	A UTF-8 or ASCII with character codes less than 0x80 text file. Any proprietary formatting commands or tags will be ignored and printed as text.
Graphic File	A graphic element like a jpeg, tiff, eps file, and so on.

Visibility	A true/false value that specifies whether or not a layer is visible.
Color	A variable color. A color of that name must exist or be created in the Swatch panel during the design,
	otherwise it will default to White.

The second column displays the field or tag name as displayed in the data file.

Data

The third column shows the data contained in that field for the current record displayed in the Record Display box, which is directly under the Highlight Fields checkbox. The column may also contain information on conditional settings for subsequently added object; for example, a visibility object may be either On or Off.

Show User Data	
Highlight Fields	Ь
€ 3 <u>8</u> .	Q

In the event that one or more of the fields or tags, are NOT the same type as the assigned default, the field or tag type must be changed.

To change a field or tag type, right-click the field to change, then select **Change Type** on the pop-up menu.

When the Change Type option is highlighted, a sub-menu containing the type options appears. From the sub-menu select the correct type for the field or tag. The icon in the first column will change to represent the chosen type.

When exporting the file to VI format, it is possible to define a data field where the value can be used in defining the media or repeat count during Export and Printing.

Right-click on a text variable data object in the VDE panel. When the Show In option is highlighted, a sub-menu containing show in option appears. From the sub-menu, select the option for the field. If Repeat Count List is selected, the field name will appear in the Repeat Count menu for the Print Settings panel. If any of the Media settings are selected, they will appear in the corresponding Media setting found in the Define Media panel.

Using VDE
Rules

This chapter contains:

Rule Term Definitions	110
Rule Creation	113
Rule Modification or Duplication	119
Rule Testing	120
Rule Deletion	121
Jn-associate a Visibility Object from a Layer	122
ind a File with an Unknown File Extension	123
mporting and Exporting Rules and Transforms	125

Rules are the key to controlling a variable data application. A Rule can insert text, the content of a text file, or a graphic into a text or graphic frame. Rules can also control the visibility of a layer or page.

Rule Term Definitions

Rule

A Rule consists of one or more entries that will be evaluated.

Entry

An entry consists of a value that is used by the Rule if that entry is evaluated to be true. The exception to this is the first entry, which only contains a default value that is used if all the other entries are evaluated to be false.

An entry also contains an And/Or evaluation clause and one or more conditions to which the clause will apply.

It is the entries that are evaluated true or false. Entries are evaluated sequentially from top to bottom, starting at the second entry skipping the default entry. If an entry is evaluated as true, the evaluation is stopped, and its value used as the result. If none of the entries are evaluated as true, the default value is used.

Conditions

The conditions define what will be tested. The parts are:

- The two operands are XML tags, database fields, or user-entered text strings that are used for comparison.
- The comparison operator such as to equal to or greater than.

Rule Types

These are the Rule types:

• Text Rules: A Text rule is used to place a text string into a text box in your document. The string can be placed as the only text in the text box, or can be inserted at the start, middle or end of an existing text string.

Use Example: You may want to offer a different discount value based on membership level. If the Membership level is Gold, you may want to offer a 25% discount or if the Membership level is Silver you may want to offer only a 10% discount.

• Text File Rules: A Text File rule is used to reference a file containing text into a text box in your document. The contents of the file will be evaluated and placed in the text box.

Use Example: You may want to provide a short paragraph description of an item for sale. You could store these short descriptions in a text file, one for each product, then call each one based on the Product ID or Name.

• Graphic File Rules: A Graphic File rule is used to place an image into a Graphic Frame in your document.

Use Example: You may want to print a Real Estate letter and use the correct agent photograph in the title section of the document. You could call out the correct image based on some value in an XML tag, or database field.

• Style Rules: A Style rule is used to change or assign various font attributes to the selected text.

Use Example: You may want to offer a different discount value based on membership level. If the Membership level is Gold, you may want to offer a 25% discount, but you may also want to print the customer's name using various text attributes, such as Gold Color, Bold Type Face, and so on. If the Membership level is Silver, you may want to use different font attributes. Refer to Dynamic Character Styles for additional information.

• Visibility Rules: A Visibility rule is used to turn InDesign Layers *On* or Visible, or *Off* or Non Visible in your document. This has been extended to support the printing of a page. For step-by-step help, refer to Using Rules to Control Layer Visibility.

Use Example: You may have a State Logo and State information that you need to place on the page. These may even be in different languages. You could achieve this by generating a single layer for each state and for each language. Then call in the appropriate layer based on information in the data. A variable option called VPPlayerName, is available from the field drop down in the Rules dialog. Using VPPlayerName allows you to set the Visibility rule once for multiple layers, this avoids the need to set the visibility rule for each layer one at a time. For more information refer to Using Rules to Control Layer Visibility. The use of VPPlayerName is described at the end of that section.

• PDF Visibility Rules: Adobe Acrobat and Reader have a capability that allows parts of a PDF document to be made visible or hidden by the user (when viewed or printed) using the visible/hidden toggle button of the *Layers* panel in the tool bar. This Rule enables VDE to create layers in PDF.

Use Example:

- Allow a background form to be present in the PDF but be disabled when the document is printed on pre- printed paper.
- Enable/disable a watermark COPY for instance.
- Color Rules: A Color rule is used to paint a monochrome image or fill/stroke a frame in a selected color. For text use a Style Rule.

Use Example: You may need to add color to a monochrome image, such as a logo.

• LMOT Subset Retrieval Rules: Refer to Defining an XML Data File for descriptions of XML data types. The XML data that is presently supported falls into two categories: Single Occurrence Tags, and Limited Multiple Occurrence Tags (LMOT).

When building rules to evaluate single occurrence XML tags, the same process that is used for delimited data can be used. When building rules to evaluate Limited Multiple Occurrence XML tags, the process although very similar, is evaluated slightly differently and is used to create a subset of values from many possible LMOT values. For more information, refer to LMOT Subset Retrieval Rule Generation.

- Variable layer objects and performance: Use Text or Graphic rules where possible to decrease the number
 of variable Layers used on a page. Many different variable layer objects on any one page can negatively
 affect the performance of VDE, and result in very large file sizes at Export. It is far better to have one
 variable layer object, even though that variable object may have many different versions, than to have
 four or five different Variable Layer items on one page that may only have a few versions of each object.
- Select Show User Data when testing: When using Visibility Rules and testing your application, you must select Show User Data to display the correct working order of the Visibility Rule. Failure to have this option checked, will result in all layers showing. You can waste several hours trying to identify errors in your Visibility Rules if this option is not checked.

* VI DESIGN EXP	RESS			••	•≣
Sample Data File:					
C:\Users\Harriet\[Docume	nts\24_X	EROX\V	I Progra	Ê
Asset Folder:					
C:\Users\Harriet\[Docume	nts\24_X	EROX\A	СТІ 🛞	18
Show User Da	ata				
Highlight Field	s				묘
₽ 2 <u>a</u>	555				٩
Data Fields					*
Data Transform	ms				
					Ŧ
\$	0 6		a.	1 8	

Rule Creation

The steps below provide an overview of the steps required to create a Rule of any type.

Note: There is a maximum number of Rules that can be defined in a document. This limit will depend on the length of each rule definition, the number of data file tags or fields and the length of each tag or field name. Xerox recommends that you keep the names of rules short, and that you minimize the number of *conditionals* in each rule.

Tip: Write the conditional logic down on a piece of paper, then follow the logic through to make sure it is correct before creating and applying the Rule. When there are issues with the Rule, or concern that the wrong result is showing up, troubleshoot the Rule by converting it into a Text Rule. Use meaningful text strings as the result of the test. By stepping through each record, you can verify what the result of that Rule was for each record.

1. Click the **Create a new rule** button at the bottom of the VDE panel, the Rule builder panel will pop up. To determine which button to use, allow the cursor to hover over any of the buttons on the VDE panel; a tool tip is displayed.

Create Rule				
	Rule Name	Text 💌		
	Description			
Default value =	uliName	I II		- + -
				<u></u>
			ОКС	ancel

Initially, the panel consists of four fields such as Name, Rule Type, Description, and Default value, and Plus and Minus buttons used to add or delete entries. The two buttons at the bottom of the panel provide the option to save the Rule, click **OK**, or to exit without saving, click **Cancel**.

2. Enter a **Rule Name**. It is recommended that you use a meaningful name that is easily recognized, as this rule may be reused in several sections of your application. Rule names are restricted to 7-bit ASCII, Characters A-Z, a-z, 0-9, the underscore, period and equal sign. The use of Upper and Lower case characters are recommended to avoid conflicts with reserved words. Rule names should be at least 3 characters in length, however, avoid using names greater than 25 characters in length.

- 3. Select the **Rule Type** from the Rule Types drop-down list. As changing the Rule type after the Rule is already defined may invalidate the Rule definition, always define the Rule type before adding entries and conditions.
- 4. Enter an optional **Description**. The description field performs no functions other than to provide the ability to enter some descriptive information about the rule or transform. The maximum number of characters is 50.
- 5. Enter or choose a **Default value**. The default value is the value used if none of the other entries are evaluated true. The drop-down list contains the tags or fields from the data file that are of the same type as the Rule type. For example, all tags or fields defined as a Text tag or field are listed in the drop down when the Rule type is *Text*, all tags or fields defined as a Graphic File tag or field are listed when the Rule type is *Graphic File*, and so on. When the Rule type is set to *Visibility*, the default value is set to ON. A text string can also be entered as the default value. Whenever a string is entered in the Rule panel, a keyboard icon appears next to that field.
- 6. Once the initial fields are defined in the Rule panel, entries to the Rule can be added as required. Click the **large add entry button** to the right of the Rule builder screen. Using this method, add as many entries as needed to meet the job's requirements. When adding a new entry, the Rule builder adds the boxes that need to be filled out to build the conditions.

Create Rule							
	Rule Name						
	Rule Type	Text	•				
	Description						
		-					
Default value =	FullName	- I				\Box	+ -
Value =		💌 📩 🛛 when any of th	e following is true		•		÷
Full	Name 💌	T([T] is equal to	•	FullName	<u> </u>	a o	÷
-							<u>×</u>
					ОК	Cance	

7. Choose an existing **Value** or enter a **text string** to use if the entry is evaluated as true.

8. Select one of these two available options when this Rule is true:

When any of the following is true	This is like saying Age is greater than 21 OR Smoking equals no OR blood pressure is low. In this case any one of these conditions being true is considered a pass and the condition is met.
When all of the following are true	This is similar to saying My age is greater than 21 AND I do not smoke AND by blood pressure is low. Here, to be true, all the conditions must be met.
	The difference is in the use of OR or AND.

9. Select the first value to use in the conditional statement or **Operand 1**. The drop-down list contains a list of all the tags or fields in the data file, select one. Text strings cannot be entered here.

10. Choose either an **alphabetic ([T])** or **numeric ([#]) operator** to use to compare the operands and return a true or false result. The drop-down list contains a list of available logical operators. The selections prefixed by [T] indicate a text comparison, while the selections prefixed with [#] indicate a numeric comparison. The following is a brief description of what these conditions mean:

[T] is equal to

This is true if the tag or field being tested contains the string entered. So, if the string is *ABcd*, the tag or field being tested must equal *ABcd*. It is case sensitive and *Abcd* will result in not being true. *ABcde* will also not be true as it contains additional characters.

[T] is equal to (ignore case)

This is true if the tag or field being tested contains the string entered, case is ignored. So, if the string is *ABcd*, the tag or field being tested must equal some case combination that equals *ABcd*. As case does not matter, *Abcd* or *abCD* will result in this condition being true. But *ABcde* will not be true, as it contains additional characters.

[T] is not equal to

This is true if the tag or field being tested does not equal the string entered. This is often used to test tags or fields that contain *Y* or *N* to indicate Yes or No, but can also be used to test more complex strings. This test is case sensitive.

[T] is not equal to (ignore case)

This is true if the tag or field being tested does not equal the string entered. This is often used to test tags or fields that contain *Y* or *N* to indicate Yes or No, but can also be used to test more complex strings. This test is not case sensitive.

[T] contains

This test is used to test for the existence of a series of consecutive characters in a string, tag or field. For example, if the tag or field contains the text Total Pay, this test is true when testing for *Total* or *al pa*, and so on.

[T] does not contain

This is the opposite of the above. Test the string to make sure it does not contain the character string specified.

[T] begins with

Tests to see if the beginning n number of characters in the string being tested match the string or n number of characters provided.

[T] ends with

Tests to see if the ending n number of characters in the string being tested match the ending string or n number of characters) provided.

[T] file exists

Tests to determine if a file exists. If the file exists, this test is true. Refer to Find a File with an Unknown File Extension.

```
[#] is equal to
```

Tests a numeric value and is true if the value being tested is equal to the value provided.

[#] is not equal to

Is the opposite of the above, the value being tested must not be equal to the value provided.

[#] is greater than

Is true when the value being tested is greater than the value being provided.

[#] is greater than or equal to

Is true when the value being tested is either equal to or greater than the value provided.

[#] is less than

Is true when the value tested is less than the value provided.

[#] is less than or equal to

Is true when the value being tested is either less or equal to the value provided.

Note: If either operand contains non-numeric characters, when building numeric comparisons, unpredictable results may occur.

- 11. Select or enter the value to be used as a comparison value **Operand 2**. The keyboard icon will appear next to the entry when a text string is entered.
- 12. Use the small plus button to add as many conditions for an entry as required.
- 13. Use the large plus button to add more entries as required.
- 14. To save the Rule, click **OK**.
- 15. Once the Rule is defined, it will appear as a selectable object in the VDE data object list.

LMOT SUBSET RETRIEVAL RULE GENERATION

An LMOT Subset Retrieval Rule is a standard VDE Rule used to evaluate an LMOT XML tag against another LMOT tag within the same LMOT group only, and to retrieve a subset of values for the evaluated tag.

The example below is the second customer data record excerpted from the XML data file found in Loading the XML Data File.

<RECORD>

This record has an LMOT group based on the <PHONE> tag. There are three occurrences of the <PHONE> tag in this

LMOT group. Each occurrence contains additional information about the phone, including type, location, area code and number. So, the tag <PHONE><AREACODE> has three different values depending on the occurrence within the selected LMOT group.

If you select an LMOT tag and place it on your page, you will get all values in the LMOT group, for that tag. For example, if you created a text frame, then selected the AREACODE tag, added the - character, then added the NUMBER tag, the text frame would look like this when printed:

310-555-2200 818-555-0022 713-555-2222

In order to select a subset of values to place on the page, you need to create a rule that will evaluate the LMOT group to find the occurrences you are looking for.

Note: When using multiple tags such as <AREACODE> and <NUMBER>, you can create a rule for each value. Another alternative is to generate a Data Transform that could be used to concatenate tags to create an LMOT object to reference in a rule.

The steps for generating the rule or data transform are the same as previously discussed.

The following graphic shows a rule used to select the word AREACODE and deliver it to the VDE panel as a single occurrence value, based on the XML data example.

Edit Rule		The second s					
	Rule Name	ToGetAREACODEforwork					
	Rule Type	Text					
	Description	pulls the AREACODE for work					
Default value =						•	4
Value =	<records><record>+</record></records>	when any of the following is tr	ue		•	• •	
<re< td=""><td>CORDS><record><t< td=""><td>II [T] is equal to (ignore case)</td><td>•</td><td>work</td><td>.</td><td>÷ •</td><td></td></t<></record></td></re<>	CORDS> <record><t< td=""><td>II [T] is equal to (ignore case)</td><td>•</td><td>work</td><td>.</td><td>÷ •</td><td></td></t<></record>	II [T] is equal to (ignore case)	•	work	.	÷ •	

By creating this rule for the area code, and another for the phone number, you have all the information you need in the data panel to place all the area codes and phone numbers with location= work into your document as a subset of the <PHONE> LMOT group.

Rule Modification or Duplication

Use the Modify a Rule button to build a new conditional Rule for the job. When an existing Rule is highlighted and the button is selected the Add or Modify Rule panel appears. The panel will contain all of the tags or fields used to initially define the Rule.

When the existing Rule is open in the Add or Modify a Rule panel, use that panel

to: Modify an existing Rule

By making changes to the on-screen entries and pressing **OK**.

Duplicate the Rule

By entering a new name in the Rule Name field and pressing **OK**.

Rule Testing

To test the completed Rule, scroll through the data records by using the up or down arrows in the record indicator window. When the *Display user data in Job* checkbox is enabled, the information in the InDesign workspace will change based on the result of the Rule and the contents of the data object to which it is assigned.

Note: For Creation of a Rule and examples, refer to Xerox® FreeFlow® Variable Information Suite Easy Start for ID Card Creation Using FreeFlow VI Design Express and Xerox® FreeFlow® Variable Information Suite Easy Start for Transactional Hotel Invoice Creation Using Xerox FreeFlow VI Design Express.

Rule Deletion

To delete a Rule, you must use the Delete Rule option. On the VDE panel, highlight the **Rule** to delete. Right-click the mouse to display a menu. Select the **Delete Rule** option to delete this Rule or click the **delete button**. The delete option will delete any Rule type.

Caution: Using the Delete Rule option will delete the Rule, and all references to the Rule, from the document. When the Rule is used in several locations or layers, they will all be affected.

Un-associate a Visibility Object from a Layer

To un-associate a visibility object from a layer, the association of the object to a particular layer is changed.

- 1. When a visibility object is right clicked, an additional menu option, Detach Visibility Object from Layer is available. All layers associated with that object are listed next to that entry.
- 2. Select the layer from which the visibility object is to be detached.
- 3. If the visibility object is a Rule, all associated layers can also be un-associated by deleting the Rule.

Note: This is also a useful way to see the layers to which a Rule is associated.

Find a File with an Unknown File Extension

The rule evaluation, file exists, is used to test for an existing file. If the file is found, the condition is evaluated as true. If the file cannot be found, the condition is false.

A use case for this evaluation type is one in which a tag or field may contain an image name, but no extension. In this case, EmployID contains a list of employee identification numbers, and over the years, employee photographs with the corresponding numbers; all of which have been saved with a variety of file extensions. Create your application and call in a fully qualified resource name with an extension by using a combination of Data Transforms one per extension type and a single Rule using the file exist evaluation.

For example, the asset folder has the following images:

- 64733.eps
- 65873.jpg
- 64221.tif
- 54987.pdf

The data file has a tag or field called EmployID the value in that tag or field for record one is 64733, record two is 65873, record three is 64221 and record four has the value 54987.

Because there are four extension types, you need to create four Data Transforms one for each extension type. Each data transform will concatenate the value of the EmployID tag or field with one of the four file extensions.

Create Data Transform						
	Data Transform Name	JPG_Extension				
	Data Transform Type Description	Graphic File Find the jpg extension	•			
Start String	EmployID			•	I	- • ·
No Action	•					÷ 🛨
Start String	Jipg			•		÷
No Action						÷ 🕁
0						

This transform will concatenate the value of the EmployID tag or field with the .jpg extension. Create three other Data transforms, one for .eps, one for .tif, and one for .pdf.

Next, create the rule that will use the file exists evaluation.

Edit Rule							
Rule Name PictureExists							
Rule Type Graphic File							
Description Select image with correct file extension							
Default value = None.jpg					Θ	+	-
Value = JPG_Extension 🔄 💽 when any of the following is true			•		0	•	
JPG_Extension	•				Ð	÷	
Value = EPS_Extension Value any of the following is true			¥		Ð	•	
EPS_Extension	•	FirstName	•	I(Ð	÷	
Value = TIF_Extension 💽 💽 when any of the following is true			•		Ð	•	
TIF_Extension TIF_Extension	•	FirstName	•	I(Ð	÷	
Value = PDF_Extension 💽 💽 when any of the following is true			•		Ð	•	
PDF_Extension	•	FirstName	•	I	Ð	÷	

The rule defines the following actions:

- If none of the entries or the value of the field Picture, plus a file extension are evaluated to be true, the image None.jpg file is to be used.
- Otherwise, if the value in the first transform, JPG_Extension exists in the asset folder, then that file is to be used.
- If the value in the first transform does not exist, drop down to the next test. The next test will test for the value in the 2nd transform, which if found, will be used. If not found, the next test will be performed, and so on.

As with all rules, the evaluation order is processed top to bottom. As soon as one rule entry is found to be true, the rule ends further processing. For this reason, care should be taken in the order you test, as the rule will return the value for the first hit that matches.

In the use case above the file exists was used to test if graphic file formats exist. This same logic could be applied to text files using the Text File Rule option.

Note: When using the file exists evaluation, the second operand is not required and is not available in the GUI.

Importing and Exporting Rules and Transforms

A rule or transform can be exported to a user defined file folder on your system, and that rule or transform can be imported into another VDE application. This function is enabled by clicking on either the **Export** or **Import** Up or Down arrow as shown below.

VI DESIGN EXPRESS	₩ •≡
Sample Data File:	
C:\Users\Harriet\Documer	nts\24_XEROX\VI Progra
Asset Folder:	
C:\Users\Harriet\Documer	nts\24_XEROX\ACTI 🛞 🚱
Show User Data	
Highlight Fields	묘
<u>★</u> 2 <u>a</u> <u>aaa</u>	۹ م
🗸 Data Fields	<u> </u>
T) FullName	Jenni Smith
II Fname	Jenni
II Lname	Smith
I Addr1	237 Webster Street
T Addr2	
II City	Webster
T State	NY
II Zip	14580
T) Dept	Marketing
T) EmployID	1-64733
ImageNo	64733.jpg
T) Telephone	5855558963 💌
* 00	N I I I I I I I

Unmatched data in imported rule or transform

While VDE will make every effort to report if the imported rule or transform contains unmatched data fields, tags, colors, and so on, the user is expected to understand the consequences of using generic rules and transforms, and will be expected to edit the rule or transform in the new application to make the rule or transform applicable to the new application.

Variable Color or Styles

This is not recommended for Variable Color or Styles, as VDE will be unable to validate if a variable color or style exists. If using variable color or styles, it is recommended that you test and validate your application before going into production.

Feature support

This feature is not supported in Transactional Data Base Mode.

IMPORTING A NEW DATA FILE AND ITS EFFECT ON RULES AND TRANSFORMS

When importing a new data file that has a different data structure, a dialog is displayed asking if you want to keep the existing Rules and Transforms. The dialog is displayed because the new data structure may invalidate some of the existing rules or data transforms for example tag or field name changes. You have the option to delete or make changes to the rules or transforms, or to fix tag or field names, and so on. Rules and Transforms that have mismatched tag or field names will be displayed in red. You need to delete or correct those rules or transforms before you will be allowed to export the document.

Rules

VDE Design Elements

This	chapter	contains:
Text		
Suppress Blank Variable Text lines		
Tables Containing Variable Fields		
Dynamic Character Styles		
Graphics		
Barcodes		
Barcode Fonts		
Variable Layers		
PDF Fillable Form Fields		

The elements that make up the design consist of both static (unchanging) and variable information.

Static information is inserted into the document using the InDesign tool set. Variable data is inserted into the document by selecting the tags or data fields from the Data Object List. The Data Object List can also include Rules (conditions) and data transforms that can be inserted into the document.

VDE variables include:

- Text strings
- Text files
- Variable text around an object
- Suppress Blank Variable Text Lines
- Variable Tables
- Distorted text
- Tabs
- Dynamic Character Styles
- Graphics
- Barcodes
- Text Pattern Swatches
- Variable Color
- Variable Layers

Text

 \mathcal{D}

In a variable document, text is broken down into static and variable text. These are labels used to describe how an area of text is affected by variable data driving the application.

STATIC TEXT

Static text is an area of text that contains no text variables. It is not data driven and is not affected by data in a data base field or XML tag. It is entered into the InDesign document using the standard InDesign tools and controls for adding text objects to the page. This includes all supported InDesign text attributes including special effects such as drop shadows, etc. This is different from variable text where only VIPP® supported text attributes are allowed.

Note: Including a single text variable inside of a static string or paragraph of text, will change that static text into variable text and, as such, restricts that variable to text attributes that VI Compose supports, such as font size, bold, italic, and so on.

VARIABLE TEXT

Variable text is content that varies according to information contained in the data files and Rules associated with the design. As variable text is governed by VIPP[®], only VIPP[®] supported text attributes are allowed.

To insert variable text into an InDesign document:

- Either click the **Text Box tool** to draw a new text box area, or click inside an existing text box, placing the cursor at the position where the variable text is entered.
- Highlight the **object** (of data type Text) to insert.
- Insert the selected object at the current cursor position. To do so, either double-click the **object** or click the **Insert Data Object** button. The object name will display in the text area. When objects are entered, either the field name or the field content is displayed in the workspace, depending upon the status of the Show User Data check box.
- If required, enter text before or after the inserted object, or insert another text object.

Refer to Buttons, Check Boxes, and Icons for information on how to show the actual text string instead of the field name. Selecting or deselecting the **Show User Data** checkbox will allow toggling between a view of the actual contents of the selected data fields or tags for the currently selected record, or the field name. Scroll through the data and see the content change by clicking the **up** or **down** arrow in the Current Record window. Additionally, highlights on the variable data can be toggled on and off by clicking the **Highlight Fields** checkbox.

VARIABLE TEXT FILES

To insert a variable text file into an InDesign document:

- Either click the **Text Box tool** to draw a new text box area, or click inside an existing text box, placing the cursor at the position where the variable text is entered.
- Highlight the **object** (of data type Text File) to insert.
- Insert the selected object at the current cursor position. To do so, either double-click the **object** or click the **Insert Data Object** button. The object name will display in the text area.

If the Show User Data is checked, the contents of the text file will appear, otherwise the file name of the text file will appear. As the records change, the text or file name will change assuming the referenced text file changes with each record. This can also be done conditionally using the Rule templates, refer to Rules.

TEXT FITTING AND WRAPPING OPTIONS

The InDesign Wrap Around Bounding Box text wrapping option is supported. Text wrapping can be applied to any shaped object containing variable data under the following conditions:

- Rectangular objects can wrap around other rectangular objects.
- Non-rectangular objects cannot wrap around objects of any shape.
- Non-rectangular objects cannot be wrapped by other non-rectangular objects.

Using variable text in an application creates a need to ensure that the inserted text fits within the text frame since the number of characters within the variable will vary. VDE text fitting options allow you to choose how the appearance of the finished text will be adjusted to fit within a given shape. Original font sizes are preserved in the application, however, the way they look in the final document will depend upon the selections made on the VDE Text Fitting Options panel.

Fit and Wrap text options are set in the VDE Text Fitting Options panel. The way text fits and wraps in an application depends upon the combination of the boxes that are checked on the panel.

VDE text fitting and wrapping options

The VDE text fitting and wrapping options described here are not the same as the In-Design Text Wrap feature. To access the InDesign Text Wrap panel, select the **text frame** in the document, then select **Window > Text Wrap**. The InDesign options are listed here:

No text wrap	supported
Wrap around bounding box	supported
Wrap around object shape	not supported
Jump object	not supported
Jump to next column	not supported
The invert box next to the icons	not supported

Document display differences between InDesign and VIPP®

Due to differences in wrapping algorithms between Adobe InDesign and VIPP[®], a document using the Text Wrapping Around an Object feature may display differently in Adobe InDesign than the VIPP[®] job generated from such a document when displayed or printed. Validate the rendering of the VIPP[®] job by viewing the VI Project Container (VPC) in FreeFlow VI Explorer or in the VDE by selecting **Export > VI Project Container (VPC) > Proof VI Project Container after export**, to ensure that the Text Wrapping meets your expectations.

Fitting and wrapping options and text frame size

When placing a text string in a text frame, make sure that the text frame size is suitable for the longest expected text string. You may choose to wrap the text or use any of the VDE Text fitting and wrapping options to better control strings. For example, you can fit the text string within the column width without wrapping or select a character that can be wrapped on if the text string exceeds the width of the text frame.

When the text placed into a text box is too long to fit into the vertical dimension of the box, or words are too long to fit into the width of the box, InDesign will move the overset text into an automatically linked text frame. To avoid placing variable text in unexpected areas of the design, adjust the text box to handle the longest expected data. Always run a test on the application to ensure that variable data fits into the design.

Automatic hyphens

VI Compose has no automatic hyphenation capability. In order to adjust the text to accommodate variable information, VDE options override the InDesign text options. Since, in most cases, the VDE override does not allow InDesign automatic hyphenation, VI Compose may render the entire word on one line, causing it to extend past the right edge of the bounding box. To ensure that what is displayed on the InDesign/VDE screen is more closely approximated in the printed version, turn off the InDesign automatic hyphenation feature. (**Type > Paragraph > Hyphenate**).

All examples in this section assume that the InDesign automatic hyphenation option is NOT selected.

Rectangular text boxes only

Text fitting of frames containing variable text can only be applied to rectangular text boxes, it cannot be applied to text on a path, text within a polygon, and so on.

Text fitting of frames containing variable text will not work in conjunction with the InDesign Text Wrap feature, refer to Variable Text Around an Object for more information. A frame containing fitted variable text cannot overlap a frame that has Text Wrap applied. Although the text will be fitted properly in the InDesign document, the exported VPC will not print as expected.

Suppressing variable blank lines

The option to Suppress Blank Variable Text Lines is described later in this document. It can be used to suppress the blank variable lines, common in a name and address block, or other text frames.

Text Fitting Options

Text fitting options adjust the text within the text box to fit the width of the text box. The text can be placed on a line by adjusting the spacing, or by stretching the text across the width of the text box.

To apply Text Fitting to a text string:

- 1. Place the text cursor inside the InDesign text frame.
- 2. Right-click to display the options available for this frame.
- 3. Select VDE Text Fitting Options.

VDE Text Fitting Options... VDE Text Distortion Options...

4. Check the Enable text fitting checkbox.

5. Select either:

- Fit in width
- Stretch in width

VI Design Express Text Fitting Options Image: Constraint of the second	OK Cancel
 Enable text wrapping Wrap on any characters Wrap on specific characters Wrap on dash Other Characters 	
Fit in box Line Spacing ★1.2 Suppress blank variable lines	

Fit in width

When using the Fit in width option, if a line of text is too long to fit in the text frame, the width of the characters is decreased to allow the text to fit on one line. The point size stays the same; only the width of each character changes. If the text is long enough to fit in the text frame, applying this option has no effect.

Stretch in width

The Stretch in width option is similar to Fit in width, except that it will also increase the character width to make the text fill the width of the frame.

Text Fitting	Text Fitting Options	Text Fitting Options
Options		
2	Text Fitting	Text Fitting
Text Fitting		

Left to right: No fitting options, Fit in width, Stretch in width

Fit in width and Stretch in width

- There can be multiple lines in the text frame. Each line is fitted individually to the frame. A CR, LF (Enter key) will end the current line.
- A line can contain multiple fonts and different font sizes. The fonts and font sizes will be preserved. The only thing that will change is the relative width of the characters (e.g., all character widths might be decreased to 70% or increased to 120% to fit the line of text).
- For Stretch in width, text displayed in InDesign will never have a horizontal scale value greater than 1000%. This is a built-in InDesign limitation. In the exported job, text frames that contain variable data will have a horizontal scale greater than 1000% if necessary, but text inside text frames with no variable data will not.
- For Stretch in width and Fit in width, any line of text that contains a tab character will be displayed as unfitted text in InDesign. In the exported job, text frames that contain variable data will be fitted as specified, but text

inside text frames with no variable data will not be. Users are advised not to include tab characters in text that is to be fitted.

- For Stretch in width and Fit in width, in any line of text that ends with one or more space characters, the space characters will be ignored when the fitted text is displayed in InDesign. In the exported job, text frames that contain variable data will include the trailing spaces, but text inside text frames with no variable data will not be. Users are advised not to include trailing spaces in text that is to be fitted.
- For Stretch in width and Fit in width, any line of text that is set to full justify will be displayed as unfitted text in InDesign. In the exported job, text frames that contain variable data will be fitted as specified, but text inside text frames with no variable data will not be. Users are advised not to include set the alignment to full justify text that is to be fitted.
- If the horizontal scale of text has been manually set to something other than 100% before enabling the Stretch in width or Fit in width text-fitting option, and the text fitting option is disabled, the horizontal scale will revert to 100%.
- For the Stretch in width option, the maximum a character width can be stretched in InDesign is 1000%, that is 10 times the normal width. This is an InDesign limitation that cannot be changed. VIPP® has no such restriction, so a character could be displayed wider in the resulting VIPP® document than it is in the InDesign document.
- If a tab character is present in a line subjected to either the Fit in width or Stretch in width option, that line will be ignored in InDesign, but not in VIPP[®] Pro. (That is because of the way InDesign handles the tab character, which is more like a tab stop on a typewriter, so it does not know how to define the width of the tab character. VIPP[®], on the other hand, treats a tab more or less like a space character for the purposes of text fitting.)

Specialty Imaging and Stretch in width

For GlossMark Text and Correlation Mark Text it is recommended that you apply the text fitting option Stretch in width. This will maintain the text effect at the current text frame width. While the visual appearance on the screen may look stretched, when printed the effect will print correctly. Do not use Fit in width as this will distort the effect. If you do not apply the Stretch in width option, the length of the GlossMark Text or Correlation Mark Text effect will grow and shrink based on the number of characters in the string being printed.

Do not apply any Text Fitting options to Micro Text, Fluorescent, or Infra Red Specialty Imaging effects.

Text Wrapping Options

Text wrapping options adjust the text within the text box to fit the width of the text box. The text can be placed on a line by adjusting the spacing, or by stretching the text across the width of the text box.

To apply text wrapping to a text string:

- 1. Place the text cursor inside the InDesign text frame.
- 2. Right-click to display the options available for this frame.
- 3. Select VDE Text Fitting Options.

VDE Text Fitting Options... VDE Text Distortion Options...

4. Check the Enable text wrapping checkbox.

5. Select either:

- Wrap on any characters
- Wrap on specific characters

Enable text fitting	ОК
Fit in width	Cancel
Stretch in width	Calicel
Enable text wrapping	
O Wrap on any characters	
 Wrap on specific characters 	
✓ Wrap on dash	
Other Characters	
Fit in box	
Line Spacing	

6. Fit in box can be applied with either wrapping option.

VDE text wrapping options adjust the text to wrap to more than one line as required, allowing the text to flow from the top to the bottom of the text box. The two basic options are Wrap on any characters or Wrap on specific characters.

When Text Wrapping is enabled, what gets displayed in InDesign is an approximation of what gets displayed in VIPP[®], and there is no guarantee that the lines will wrap on exactly the same words.

Note: After applying one of the text wrap-on-character options, changing the font or font size may result in an incorrect display in InDesign although the exported VPC should still render properly. Disabling the options, changing the font properties, and then re-enabling the text wrapping options, will prevent InDesign from displaying the document correctly.

Wrap on... characters

Use the Wrap on any characters or, Wrap on specific characters options to fine tune text wrapping.

If the text in the frame exceeds the width of the frame, it will wrap before the specified character. This can be useful for email addresses that may exceed the column width. The All Character option can be used to print a text string vertically down a page, providing the text frame width is set correctly.

When using Wrap on any characters, you may want to narrow the text frame to a single character width and apply center alignment. Depending on the font size, the text may not appear on the InDesign Screen, but will print as desired. It is recommended that you Export the file, using the VDE PDF Export option, then view the PDF file to proof this effect and adjust as necessary.

David.kirk@xerox. com	David.kirk @xerox.com	1
Left to right: No fit specific characters @ character), Wrap (using Center align	ting options, Wrap on (in this example the on any characters ment)	
		4
		In

Wrap on dash

Choose Wrap on dash to allow the text within an application to wrap at hard hyphens.

Other characters

Choose Other characters to enter user-specified characters upon which the text within an application will wrap.

Fit in box

Choose **Fit in box** to adjust the line spacing to fit from the top to the bottom of the text box. If a sufficiently large line spacing value has been chosen, the font size will be decreased to fit the text in the box, and the character width will increase or decrease as necessary. In general, the greater the line spacing value, the smaller the font size will be. As with Fit in width and Stretch in width, the text can consist of multiple fonts and font sizes.

Combined Text Fitting and Text Wrapping Options

The text within the design can include text boxes that use a combination of text fitting and text wrapping options. The combined functions include:

Fit in width and Wrap on any characters

This combination will wrap the text on any undefined character and fit it to the text box width if it is too long to fit. Roman or Latin fonts will be aligned left and have a ragged right margin.

Fit in width and Wrap on specific characters

This combination will wrap the text only on hard hyphens or user-defined characters, and fit the text to the text box width if it is too long to fit. Roman or Latin fonts will be aligned left and have a ragged right margin.

Stretch in width and Wrap on any characters

This combination will fill the entire width of the frame and wrap the text on any undefined character. Line spacing will be adjusted to fit the text box width by shrinking a text string that is too long to fit the width or stretching it if it is too short to fit the width. Roman or Latin fonts will be justified and have an even right margin.

Stretch in width and Wrap on specific characters

This combination will fill the entire width of the frame and wrap the text only on spaces, hard hyphens or userdefined characters. Line spacing will be adjusted to fit the text box width by shrinking text that is too long to fit the width or stretching it if it is too short to fit the width. Roman or Latin fonts will be justified and have an even right margin.

The Fit in box option can be applied with any of the combined fitting and wrapping options.

Changing font or font size

After doing a Fit in width with wrap, or Stretch in width with wrap, changing the font or font size may result in an incorrect display in InDesign although the exported VPC should still render properly. Disabling the text wrapping options, changing the font properties, and then re-enabling the text wrapping options, will prevent InDesign from displaying the document incorrectly.

Line spacing values

For Fit in width with wrap, or Stretch in width with wrap, with the Fit in box chosen, if the line spacing value is large enough that it causes the baseline of last line of text to be on the bottom edge of the text frame, so that the descenders appear below the frame, InDesign will not display the text stretching or fitting, only the wrapping. The exported VPC will still render the text correctly.

VARIABLE TEXT ON A PATH

Text along a path is a standard feature in InDesign, it allows you to place a string of text along a previously defined path. The VDE plug-in allows you to include variable text in that text string, allowing you to insert tags or fields from the data or XML file, or a text-based object from the Data Object list.



The two images above show examples of text on a path using an open (on left) and a closed (on right) path. The highlighted fields represent variable tags or fields from the variable XML or data file. In the examples above, for each new record, a different name would be inserted, based on the values in the data file.

Using Variable Text on a Path

- 1. First define the path or select an object already on the page that has a path defined. You can make the path visible by assigning a color and line thickness, refer to limitations section below, or leave the line width setting at 0 to use an invisible path.
- 2. Select the Type on a Path Tool from the Tools panel.
- 3. Define text attributes only those text attributes supported in VIPP® are supported font, color, size.
- 4. Click the **path**.
- 5. Start to type the string. To add a variable tag or field, move the cursor to the position you want to insert the variable and then double click the **tag**, **data field** or **object** in the VDE Data Object List.

6. If needed, select the **Type on a Path Options** panel to make adjustments. (Refer to Limitations below).

Effect:	Rainbow	• [Flip	OK
<u>A</u> lign:	Baseline	-	To <u>P</u> ath: Center	Cancel
<u>Spacing</u> :	• 0	•		Delete

Limitations

- Only font attributes supported by VIPP® should be used, these are:
 - Font size and width -Font color
 - Normal, Bold, Italic and Bold Italic type face as supported by the font
 - Left, Right and Center alignment
- If making the path visible, you must select a solid line, with a thickness between 1 and 9. A value of 0 will make the path invisible.
- Only Align, To Path and the Flip options are supported in the Type on a Path Options panel. If you select the Effect or Spacing options, they may display in the InDesign application on screen, but they will not be honored in the VIPP[®] application.

VARIABLE TEXT AROUND AN OBJECT

InDesign text wrapping is supported using static and/or variable text frames. Any graphics where text wrapping attributes are applied can also be static or variable.

To set variable text to flow around an object, select the **object** and apply the **Text Wrap option** as shown below.

		Invert
T		
0.125 in		0.0625 in
₽ ₽ 0 in	- E	0.125 in
Wrap Options:		
Wrap To: Bo	h Right & Left !	Sides 💌
Contour Options:		
Type:		-

Text before wrapping option is applied:

Jenni, the FreeFlow VI Design Express lets you quickly design variable applications driven by delimited data. The VI Design Express uses the power of the Variable Intelligent Production Printware language (VIPP) to drive production printers quickly and efficiently. The advantages of this workflow are many. There is no pre-composition step, the VI Design Express (a plug in to Adobe InDesign) exports to a VI Project Contante file and all the composition is done at the printer at run time. This coulds time consuming precomposition step. This also means that you do not need to chunk your data. It does not matter if you are printing 10 records or 100,000 records, the VI Design Express will take just minutes to create the VI Projects Container file. You can then submit the VI Project container file to your target production printer saving hours in wasted pre-composing time. To find out more talk to your Xerox analyst.

Text after text wrapping option is applied:

Jenni, the FreeFlow VI Design Express lets you quickly design variable applications driven by delimited data. The VI Design Express uses the power of the Variable Intelligent Production Printware language (VIPP) to drive production

printers quickly advantages of many. There is step, the VI (a plug-in to exports to a VI file. This file recources and



exports to a VI file. This file resources and all the composition is done at the printer at run time. This avoids time consuming pre-composition step. This also means that you do not need to chunk your data, it does not matter if you are printing 10 records or 100,000 records, the VI Design Express will take just minutes to create the VI Projects Container file. You can then submit the VI Project container file to your target production printer saving hours in wasted pre-composing time. To find out more talk to

Supported options

your Xerox analyst.

Only the Both Right and Left Side option is currently supported.

Supported text attributes

Only basic text attributes are supported for variable text around an object. Basic text attributes are:

- Font selection
- Font size and width
- Font color
- Normal, Bold, Italic, and Bold Italic type face as supported by the font selected
- Left, right or center alignment.

Variable text with in line graphics not supported

Variable text with an in line graphic. A graphic placed directly into the text frame, and not placed inside a graphic frame is unsupported by VDE. Use the Variable Text Around an Object option described above.

DISTORTED TEXT

The VDE Text Distortion Options dialog allows you to apply various effects to a string of text such as a drop shadow or distortion. This can be further enhanced by adjusting any of the four points of the text frame using the InDesign Direct Selection tool (White Arrow) to distort the text frame, allowing you to create the illusion of perspective to a string of text. When the text string is printed, the character size will automatically be adjusted to fit within the allowable frame height.

Pistorted Text	Dave	Ki	rk	
istorted Text	Davi		11	
istorted Text				
istorted lext	· · · · · · · · · · · ·			
	istorted lext			
	ave	c		

To apply VDE Text Distortion Options, place the text cursor in the target text frame and right-click. This will display a context menu that includes the selection VI Design Express Text Distortion Options.

Click this selection to display the VDE Text Distortion Options dialog.

Enable text distortion			ОК
Enable text fitting			Cancel
🖲 Fit in width			Cancer
${f c}$ Stretch in width			
	Enable mirror effect		
Rotation (Degrees):	0	Y	
Apply drop shadow	874 874		
X Offset:	♣ 0.0694 in		
Y Offset:	* 0.0694 in		
	CONTRACTOR OF A DECISION OF A DECISIONO OF A DEC		

To enable Text Distortion, check the Enable text distortion checkbox. Then apply options as required. At least one option must be selected to have any effect.

The available options are:

- Enable text fitting
- Enable mirror effect
- Rotation
- Apply drop shadow

Enable text fitting

Fit in width

When using the Fit in width option, if a line of text is too long to fit in the text frame, the width of the characters is decreased to allow the text to fit on one line. If the text already fits in the text frame this option has no effect.

Stretch in width

The Stretch in width option is similar to Fit in width, with the exception it has the added functionality to increase character width to make the text fill the width of the frame.

Enable mirror effect

If this option is checked, the text will be mirrored.

Rotation

Allows you to rotate the text 0 (default), 90, 180 or 270 degrees

Apply drop shadow

Allows you to add a drop shadow effect to the text string. The apply the drop shadow you need to define the horizontal (X) and vertical (Y) offsets can be negative and select the **drop shadow color** from the Drop Shadow Color drop-down list. This list will display all supported color selections that are part of the color swatch panel.

Click **OK** to apply the selected options.

Supported Text Attributes

The supported text attributes are:

- Single or multiple font sizes, font faces, or font family.
- Font fill only.
- Single color selection for the entire string.

All other font attributes are unsupported.

Distorted text display

The VDE GUI cannot display the actual text distortion on the screen. To view the text distortion, proof the application.

Features not supported

Specialty Imaging fonts and colors, and Xerox Specialty Inks options are not supported.

TABS

To use the Tab key on the keyboard, the tab settings must first be defined using the InDesign Tab settings menu. Select **Type > Tabs** to produce the tab settings panel.

Tab) 5											×
t	÷	ł	Ŧ	X:			Leade	r: 🗌		Align	On:	
0			_		1/2		1		1		ิด	
				<u>н Г</u>	<u>a a</u>	<u> </u>		Li	L ä	1.		

PARAGRAPH INDENT

Use the InDesign Paragraph Indent option to format paragraphs with an initial indent. The specified indent value must be the same for all paragraphs within a text frame. If a paragraph needs a different indent value, it must be placed in a separate text frame.

The Paragraph Style Options panel is accessed by selecting **Type > Paragraph Styles** or selecting **Paragraph Styles** from the InDesign fly-out. Define the paragraph style as you would any InDesign paragraph style.

3eneral	Style Name: Paragraph Style	1
Basic Character Formats	Location:	
Advanced Character Formats	Indents and Spacing	
Indents and Spacing		
Tabs	Alignment: Left	·
Paragraph Rules	Balance R	added Lines
Keep Options		
Hyphenation	IIgnore Op	otical Margin
Justification	Left Indent: 🛋 0 in	First Line Indent: 🛋 0 in
5pan Columns		
Drop Caps and Nested Styles	Right Indent: 🗘 0 in	La <u>s</u> t Line Indent: 🖨 0 in
GREP Style		
Bullets and Numbering	Space Before: 0 in	Space After: = 0 in
Character Color	Alian to Grid: None	.
OpenType Features		
Underline Options		
Strikethro <mark>u</mark> gh Options		
Export Tagging		
	×	

CREATE OUTLINES

Use the InDesign Create Outlines option to automatically convert text characters to in line anchored objects. The text characters must be static; however, Variable Color, Xerox Specialty Inks, and Text Patterned Ink can be applied to them.

The Create Outlines Options panel is accessed by selecting **Type > Create Outlines**, (or selecting **Create Outlines** from the InDesign fly-out).

VDE Design Elements

ype	Object	Table View V	Vinc
Font			+
Size			•
Char	acter	Ctrl+T	
Para	graph	Alt+Ctrl+T	8
Tabs		Shift+Ctrl+T	
Glyp	hs	Alt+Shift+F11	
Stor	y		
Char	acter Style	s Shift+F11	
Para	graph Style	es F11	
Crea	ite Outlines	shift+Ctrl+O	
Find	Font		
Char	nge Case		+
Туре	e on a Path		۲
Note	:S		
Trad	k Changes		+



Limitations to this feature are:

- Text in a Text Frame:
 - Create Outlines creates a fixed path around the characters currently displayed within a text frame and therefore cannot be applied to variable text.
 - Create Outlines is supported for text characters with text patterns, Xerox Specialty Inks, and variable color. Xerox Specialty Inks must be applied after a text character has been converted to an outline; text patterns and variable color may be applied either before or after a character is converted to an outline.
 - All characters within a text frame must have Create Outlines applied; a mix of non-outlined and outlined characters is not supported.
- Text on a Path:
 - Create Outlines is not supported for variable text or text with text patterns, Xerox Specialty Inks, or variable color for open or closed paths.

Note: Text used as plain text objects (not converted to outlines) can support all the above (and more) and can be static or variable text. For this reason, we recommend that you use text as an outline (using the Create outlines option) only when absolutely necessary for your design, and only as a single object on the page. Using text as plain text provides you greater flexibility using VDE.

Suppress Blank Variable Text lines

The Text Fitting panel includes an option to suppress variable blank lines in a text frame. This option is targeted for Name and Address blocks, where blank lines may occur if address tags or fields are empty. In the example below, a name and address text frame has been created.

Fname Lname	
Addr1	
Addr2	
City, State ZipCode	

The Addr2 tag or field is highlighted as this is an optional tag or field in any address block and often will be empty.

David Kirk	
718 Somerset Drive	
Rockville Circle, PA 20850	

When that happens, a blank line can be left in the name and address block. The Suppress blank variable lines option in the Text Fitting panel is designed to eliminate blank lines generated by empty variables.

VI Design Express Text Fitting Options	
Enable text fitting	OK
• Fit in width	UK
C Stretch in width	Cancel
Enable text wrapping	
🗖 Wrap on dash	
🔽 Fit in box	
Line Spacing 🔺 1.2	
Suppress blank variable lines	

Simply place the text cursor in the text frame and right-click and select the **Text Fitting** option. Check the **Suppress blank variable lines** option.

VDE Design Elements



Using this simple technique, VDE will evaluate the tags or fields making up the name and address block, and if all the tags or fields on a single line are empty, it will suppress that line from printing. As seen in the example above, this will allow both three- and four-line address blocks to print without any white space.

Note: Although intended for use with Name and Address blocks, the Suppress Blank variable lines option can be used in any text frame where an empty variable may result in an unwanted blank line. The variable needs to be empty for this to take effect. If the variable has space, or any other characters, present then it is not considered empty.
Tables Containing Variable Fields

Static tables have always been supported in Adobe InDesign and can be used as static elements in VDE. With VDE version 10.0 and above, text variables can be used inside tables.

Plan Cost	Plan Name	Local	Long Distance	Text Messages
S*0.00	Junior	Yes	N/A	Unlimited
\$30.00	Silver	Yes	Yes	500 msg
\$50.00	Gold	Yes	Yes	Unlimited
\$75.00	Family	Yes	Yes	Unlimited

In the above example, a table has been inserted in the InDesign document. The highlighted areas are variables driven from tags or fields in the XML or data file, or by a rule of transform. This allows you to generate variable tables where the data in the columns can change depending upon the variable data.

VDE can only support a single variable table in a frame. Basic frame functions are supported. Table and text rotation is not supported. If multiple tables are required in a document, each must be defined in its own frame. Variable tables are limited to a single solid line for cell borders. No Gap colors are supported. In addition, diagonal lines and baseline offsets are unsupported. Text can be placed in a frame above the table, but text cannot be wrapped around a table or under a table, it is recommended that you use multiple text frames to achieve this type of effect.

Note: When two cells sharing a side have different stroke colors and/or weights, only the one with the highest priority will be drawn. Set a high priority to a given cell stroke by checking the overprint box of the cell stroke you want to draw.

Dynamic Character Styles

VDE gives the user the ability to dynamically apply character styles to text. This allows different character styles to be applied to the same block of text, based on the evaluation of the Style Rule. For more information, refer to Rules.

Dynamic Character Styles are limited to the following attributes:

- Basic Character Formats
- Advanced Character Formats
- Character Color
- Underline Options

Dynamic character styles are applied through the use of Style Rules set up in the VDE Rule Panel. Refer to Rules for more information on defining a Rule. These steps must be completed to use dynamic character styles:

- Define the character styles using the InDesign Character Style Panel.
- In the VDE Rule panel, create a Style Rule utilizing the InDesign character styles defined previously.
- Use the Insert Object command to apply the Style Rule to the selected text.

BASIC CHARACTER FORMATS

General		Style Name: Character Style	1
Basic Character Formats		Location:	
Advanced Character Formats		Basic Character Formats	
Character Color			
OpenType Features		Eont Family:	•
Underline Options		Font Style:	
5trikethrough Options			
Export Tagging		<u>S</u> ize: <u></u>	Leading: 🛨 🔻
		Kerning:	
		Case:	Position:
		I Underline I I Strikethrough	Ligatures 🗖 No Break
	¥		
Preview			OK Cancel

- Font Family
- Font Style
- Size
- Leading
- Kerning
- Tracking
- Case
- Position
- Underline

- Ligatures
- No Break
- Strikethrough

Font Family, and Font Style must be set together in the style. Do not set up one without the other; otherwise, the font setting from the style will be unpredictable.

ADVANCED CHARACTER FORMATS

General	Style Name: Character Style 1
Basic Character Formats	Location:
Advanced Character Formats	Advanced Character Formats
Character Color	
OpenType Features	Horizontal Scale:
Underline Options	Vertical Scale:
Strikethrough Options	
Export Tagging	Baseline Shift:
	Skew:
	Language:
Preview	OK Cancel

- Horizontal Scale
- Vertical Scale
- Baseline Shift
- Skew
- Language

The Horizontal and Vertical Scales must be set together with the same value. If different values are set one of them will be ignored.

CHARACTER COLOR

ieneral	St	yle Name: Character Style 1				
asic Character Formats		Location:				
dvanced Character Formats	Character	Color				
haracter Color		2				
penType Features	2	[None]	X		-	
Inderline Options	L <u>L</u>	[Registration]	X	¢		
trikethrough Options	1 1	[Paper]				
xport Tagging		[Black]	X		2	
		C=100 M=0 Y=0 K=0			3	
		C=0 M=100 Y=0 K=0	0			
		C=0 M=0 Y=100 K=0	0		-	
	Stroke	Int: Weight: ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓	Overprint F Overprint S हि हि हि	ill troke		

Only the character Fill Color is currently supported. The character Stroke Color settings will be ignored.

General		Style Name: Character Styl	e 1		
Basic Character Formats		Location: Style Group 1			
Advanced Character Formats		Underline Options			
Character Color		Ontions			
OpenType Features					
Underline Options		I∕ Underline On			
Strikethrough Options		Weight: 🐥 👻		Type:	
Export Tagging		Offset:			
		Color:	•	Tint: 🛓	Ŧ
		Overprint Stroke			
		Gap Color:	<u> </u>	Gap Tint:	*
		🔽 Overprint Gap			
	¥				

UNDERLINE OPTIONS

- Only enabling or disabling Underline On is supported.
- The Type option supported is Solid.
- The Color option supported is Black.
- The Weight and Offset options supported are Auto.

USING DYNAMIC CHARACTER STYLES

Dynamic character styles are typically used to highlight differences in a tag or data field value. The following examples contain information that varies according to a defined character style, which is controlled by a Style Rule:

- To highlight a customer name or a coupon amount by applying different text attributes.
- To highlight values on a financial report, using black for positive and red for negative values.
- To highlight a customer selection using various fonts, font sizes or colors.

Note: When setting a character style with font settings, the Font Family and Font Style must always be set as a pair, one cannot be set without the other.

The Importance of a Default Character Style

It is recommended that you always define a default character style to avoid reverting to the InDesign Default text attributes if a Style Rule is evaluated to be false. The default character style can be set up as the dynamic style selected if none of the Style Rule tests are true. Also use the built-in option No Character Style to turn off any previously defined dynamic style.

Example

Please accept delivery of your **Ford** ... Please accept delivery of your **Honda** ... Please accept delivery of your MGB...

There is a Style Rule applied to the variable Car in the text strings shown above. When the data in the Car tag or field is equal to Ford, a style, with attributes set to 24-point Times Roman Bold Red, is applied. When the data in the Car tag or field is equal to Honda, a style, with attributes set to 24-point Times Roman Bold Green, is applied. However, there is no defined character style for a Car value equal to MGB, so no style is assigned. When no style is assigned, InDesign will use the default InDesign font attributes, in this example, Arial 18. To avoid this potential error, create a default style. In this case, defining a style with attributes set to 24-point Times Roman Bold Black, and applying it as the default style in the Style Rule, the text MGB will print using the default style's attributes, maintaining the look and feel of the text block.

MIXING STATIC AND DYNAMIC TEXT STYLES

Static and dynamic text styles can be mixed in a text frame, as long as they are not assigned to the same text string. For example:

The quick brown fox jumped over the lazy dog.

In the text above, the blue text is assigned a static style using Times Roman Bold Blue. The color variable is assigned a dynamic style based on the value of the color (Times Roman Bold Brown). Once the required styles and Style Rules are defined, this effect is applied by:

- Highlighting the text The quick and applying the Blue style using the InDesign Character Style menu
- Highlighting the Color variable and assigning the Style Rule that will control the dynamic text style
- Highlighting the rest of the text, starting with the word fox and assigning a style using the InDesign Character style panel.

Example

In the example below, the data file used contains XML tags or data fields called Gender, Name and Amount. The defined styles will cause the person's name to be printed in blue if the Gender tag or field is equal to Male, and in pink if Gender is equal to Female. The Amount will be printed in bold red if the value is negative, in black if positive.

The final printed version of the text block for two records may look like this:

Roxanne your account balance as of October 2009 is \$1,203.99. ... David your account balance as of October 2009 is **-\$200.00**. ...

To produce the final version of this example, follow the steps outlined below.

Step 1, Create Character Styles

These four character styles were created in InDesign:

- CS1, set to the color Blue, font Arial 14.
- CS2, set to the color Pink, font Arial 14.
- CS3, set to the color Red, font Arial 14, Bold.
- CS4, is used as a default style and is set to black, Arial 14.

Step 2, Create Character Style Rules

This example requires two Style Rules. One to control the dynamic style applied to the Name tag or field, based on a test of the tag or field Gender. The other tests the Amount tag or field and will use a Bold Red character Style (CS3) or the default black text style (CS4). The Style Rules, once defined, appear on the VDE Data Object list, under the Rules section.

The AmountStyleRule, shown below, is defined as follows:

Edit Rule			
	Rule Name	AmountStyleRule	
	Rule Type	Style	
	Description	Change charater style based on value in Amount	
Default value =	CS4	3	- + ·
Value =	CS3	when any of the following is true	• •
Am	ount 💌	工([#] is less than 🔹 🚺	÷ 🕀

RuleName	Is user defined, in this example the Rule is named AmountStyleRule.
Rule Type	In this example, the Rule type is set to Style
Default Value	Is the default style to use if all other entries are evaluated to false. This is set to CS4 .
Value	This has been set to the CS3 style.
	The logical test is set to When any of the following is true.
Amount	Is the tag or data field to be tested using these
	options: [#] is less than the comparison operator
	0 the number to compare "amount" to

Thus, the AmountStyleRule can be summarized as: If the tag or data field Amount is less than Zero, then use the style CS3 (Bold Red), otherwise use the style CS4 (the default Arial 20 Black).

The GenderStyleRule is shown below:

	Rule Name GenderStyleRule			
	Rule Type Style Change Text Style based on gender			
Default value =	CS2			- •
Value =	CS1 when any of the following is true		•	• •
Gen	r III [T] is not equal to (ignore case)	▼ Male	.	÷ •

The GenderStyleRule works in the same way as the AmountStyleRule. The Rule can be summarized as: Use the CS1 style when the tag or field, Gender, equals Male (Ignore case). If anything else, then apply the style CS2.

Step 3, Apply the Rules

Right-click the desired **Rule** in the data objects list, then choose **Insert Object:...** from the context menu to apply the Style Rule to the selected text.

VDE Design Elements



Graphics

In a variable document, graphic elements are either static or variable. Static graphic elements do not vary. Variable graphic elements are data driven and vary according to the information contained in the data files associated with the design.



Note: VDE supports the Rounded option for corners under the InDesign Corner Options panel. Select **Object** > **Corner Options...** to access the Corner Options panel.

STATIC GRAPHICS

As with Static text, a static graphic is one that is not data driven. A static graphic is inserted into the document using standard InDesign Graphic tools and controls. A static graphic can be of any graphic file format that InDesign supports.

Note: A static graphic, such as a logo, that is placed on a layer, where the layer can be called conditionally, is still considered a static graphic.

VARIABLE IMAGES

Variable images change according to information contained in the data files and Rules associated with the design.

Graphic file format

Variable image files must be a graphic format supported by VI Compose (.tif, .jpg, EPS or PS).

Scaling and rotation

Because scaling or rotation can affect print performance, it is recommended that all graphic files be created in the size and orientation that is used in the application.

Fitting options

It is recommended that the image, and the corresponding graphic frame used in the application, be created at the same size. (A 50x50 pixel image should be inserted into a 50x50 pixel graphic frame.) Although the use of the Fitting options is allowed, their use may result in additional processing time and a less efficient print file.

Basic Variable Image Insertion

The following steps outline the method used to insert a supported graphic file into a graphic frame when no adjustments must be made to resize the image to the frame.

- Create a graphic box using the InDesign tool or use an existing graphic box.
- Ensure that the appropriate graphic fitting option is selected when creating a new graphic box. Right-click the **frame**, choose **Fitting > Frame Fitting Options** from the pop-up menu, then choose one of these Fitting options (refer to Fitting an Image to a Frame for more detailed information):
 - None
 - Fit Content to Frame
 - Fit Content Proportionally
 - Fill Frame Proportionally

- Right-click the **frame**, then choose **Content > Graphic**, to define the frame as a graphic box.
- Adjust the size of the graphic frame to the same dimensions as the image to be inserted.
- Ensure that the object referenced contains a valid image file name, such as myfile.jpg. The file must be located in the current asset folder. The data type for that object in VDE must be set to Graphic File.
- Highlight the object containing the required image file reference, and either double-click the **object** or select the **Insert Data Object** button to insert the image into the document. If the Show User Data is not checked, the name of the variable image object (not the name of the image file) will appear. As the records change the image or file name will change, assuming the referenced image file changes with each record.

Remove an Image

To remove a variable image from a graphics frame, select the graphics frame associated with the variable graphic, and right-click the corresponding **graphic object** in the VDE list to select the menu command, **Detach Graphic Object from Frame**.

Fitting an Image to a Frame

When placing a variable graphic into a graphic frame, InDesign has many options to affect the look and feel of that graphic. For example, it can be sized to fit the frame or the frame could be sized to fit the graphic. However, VDE does not currently support all the InDesign menu options. Failure to use the correct method may result in the InDesign screen changing to reflect the option selected, but it will fail to generate the correct VIPP® Pro code during export. In fact, when scrolling through the records using the VDE record counter, it is likely that InDesign will revert to previous default settings.

Caution: At present, the only frame fitting options that are retained after a variable image is changed are the options applied via the Frame Fitting Options panel. (These can be applied before or after a variable graphics object is attached to the frame.) If a variable image is inserted into a frame and a Fitting option is chosen from the menu produced by right-clicking (as opposed to the Frame Fitting Options panel), the options will not be retained. Similarly, if, after an image is inserted, the white arrow tool is used to move or otherwise modify the image within the frame, those options will not be retained once the image is updated.

If images must be adjusted to fit into a frame, use this method:

1. Right-click the **graphic frame**, and highlight the **Fitting** option on the pop-up menu to produce the following:

Cut	Ctrl+X		
Сору	Ctrl+C		
Zoom	۲		
Transform	۲		
Select	•		
Lock Position	Ctrl+L		
Stroke Weigh	t 🕨		
Fitting	Þ	Fit Content to Frame	Alt+Ctrl+E
Effects Graphics	•	Fit Frame to Content Center Content	Alt+Ctrl+C Shift+Ctrl+E
Edit Original		Fit Content Proportionally	Alt+Shift+Ctrl+E
Interactive	•	Fill Frame Proportionally	Alt+Shift+Ctrl+C
Tag Frame		Frame Fitting Options	
Autotag			
Display Perfor	rmance 🕨		
InCopy			

2. Select **Frame Fitting Options...**, the other options will not produce the expected results when the job is exported to a VPC. The Frame Fitting Options window appears.

Content Fitting	
Eitting: None	
Align From:	
Crop Amount	
Top: 🔤 0 in	Left: ₽0 in
Bottom: 0 in	<u>R</u> ight: + 0 in

- 3. From the Fitting drop-down list, choose from one of the following options:
 - None
 - Fit Content to Frame
 - Fit Content Proportionally
 - Fill Frame Proportionally

Note: Make sure that the Crop values are all reset to zero (0).

4. When the selections are complete click **OK** to save or **Cancel** to exit the window without saving.

Barcodes

The general steps for inserting the barcode into the design are outlined here:

- Create a graphic box using the InDesign tool or use an existing graphic box in the design. The box should be the approximate size of the printed barcode and in the approximate location where the barcode should appear.
- Right-click the frame, then choose VDE Barcode Options.

Frame settings for Barcodes

When creating any barcode in VI Design Express always verify that the frame settings are set as below:

Content Fitting

is set to None

Crop Amount

values are set to **0** (zero)

Barcodes can only be used with the Frame Fitting Option set to None. For more information, refer to Fitting an Image to a Frame.

The following options are NOT supported:

- Fit Content to Frame
- Fit Content Proportionately
- Fill Frame Proportionally
- Choose the **Barcode Type** from the drop-down list. The list consists of these supported Barcode Types:
 - Aztec
 - Data Matrix
 - EAN-5
 - EAN-8
 - EAN-13
 - GS1 Databar
 - MaxiCode
 - PDF417
 - QR Code
 - UPC-A
 - UPC-E
 - USPS 4-State Customer Barcode (IMB)
 - Code 128
 - Code 39
 - EAN 128
 - EAN (8-digit)

- EAN (13-digit)
- Interleaved 2 of 5
- PostJPN
- PostNet
- UPC (Version A)
- Enter the correct parameters in the resulting fields on the panel. For specific information about any of the barcodes listed here, refer to the related barcode specifications available from customers or the internet.

Note: Because barcodes cannot be dynamically created within InDesign, a placeholder image is displayed on the screen. Because the size of the placeholder image cannot always match the exact size or position of

the printed barcode, the output has verified either by viewing the VPC file, or by printing a test on a VIPP® Pro-enabled printer.

When a **Barcode Type** is selected from the VDE Barcode Options panel, the panel is configured to provide the fields necessary for barcode insertion. The panels and fields are described below. For specific information about any of the barcodes listed here, refer to the related barcode command in the *Xerox*[®] *VIPP*[®] *Language Reference Manual*.

Ø

Note: For information on acceptable input on any of the following barcode panels, refer to the specification for the specific barcode. This information is not supplied as part of this documentation, but are accessed on- line by searching for the barcode specifications.

Warning: Make sure that the data selected for the barcode is valid for that barcode option based upon the specifications for the barcode. VI Design Express and VI Compose do not validate barcode data. Barcodes generated with incorrect data per the barcode will not scan properly.

AZTEC

VI De	sign Express Barcode Options
Barcode Type	OK
Input Data	
 Scale (%) Fit in width Error Level Minimum Number of Layers Color 	
L3	

Input Data

Enter data or select an existing tag or field or a Transform Rule used to concatenate multiple input strings into a larger single string from the drop-down list.

Scale (%)

Select a percentage by which to scale the size of the barcode, if necessary. The default is 100%. Enter a scaling factor if required, however, using scaling factors other than 100% cannot always produce barcodes that are scanned correctly due to out of specification sizes or proportions. When using large scale values, the resulting barcode size is larger than the graphic frame in which it was placed in the InDesign document, resulting in barcodes that overflow the boundaries of the frame.

Fit in width

Enter the width of the desired barcode. VDE will automatically scale the barcode to that width, Vertical and Horizontally.

Error level

The default is 23. Values range between 0 and 99. As the value increases data capacity and decoding error chances decrease.

Minimum Number of Layers

Values between 1 and 32 are accepted, the default is 23.

Color

Select a color for the barcode from the drop-down swatch menu. The default is black.

DATA MATRIX

DataMatrix ‡		
Input Data		
		i (i)
Encode data as:	ASCII	\$
💽 Scale (%)	÷100	
⊖ Fit in width	🗘 1 in	
Shape	Square	\$
Minimum Dimension of the Symbol	÷8	
Color	Black]	\$

Input Data

Enter data, or select an existing tag or field or a Transform Rule used to concatenate multiple input strings into a larger single string from the drop-down list.

Encode data as

```
Select ASCII, Base 256, C40, C40+, Text, or Text+.
```

Where:

C40	Is optimized for digits, uppercase letters, and space.
C40+	Is optimized for digits, uppercase letters, and space, with compression of digit sequences greater than 13 digits.
Text	Is optimized for digits, lowercase letters, and space.
Text+	Is optimized for digits, lowercase letters, and space, with compression of digit sequences greater than 13 digits.

Scale (%)

Select a percentage by which to scale the size of the barcode, if necessary. The default is 100%. Enter a scaling factor if required, however, using scaling factors other than 100% cannot always produce barcodes that are scanned correctly due to out of specification sizes or proportions. When using large scale values the resulting barcode size is larger than the graphic frame in which it was placed in the InDesign document, resulting in barcodes that overflow the boundaries of the frame.

Shape

Choose Square or Rectangle.

Minimum Dimension of the Symbol

Minimum size of the Data matrix symbol.

Color

Select a color for the barcode from the drop-down swatch menu. The default is black.

EAN-5

VI Design Express Barcode Options

AN-5	~	Car	ncel
Input Data			
		~ I(
100% ~			
— • • • • • • • • •			
🗌 Print human-readab	ole digits		
Print human-readab	Arial		
Print human-readab Font Family: Font Style:	Arial		
Print human-readab Font Family: Font Style: Font Size:	Arial Regular 12		
Print human-readat Font Family: Font Style: Font Size: Color	Arial		

Input Data

Enter data or select an existing tag or field or a Transform Rule used to concatenate multiple input strings into a larger single string from the drop-down list.

Vertical and Horizontal Scaling

Select a percentage by which to scale the size of the barcode, if necessary. The default is 100%. Enter a scaling factor if required, however, using scaling factors other than 100% cannot always produce barcodes that are scanned correctly due to out of specification sizes or proportions. When using large scale values, the resulting barcode size is larger than the graphic frame in which it was placed in the InDesign document, resulting in barcodes that overflow the boundaries of the frame.

Print human-readable digits

Enable this check box when human readable digits are required. The following options will be available:

Font Family

Select a font family, Arial, Courier New, or Times New Roman.

Font Style

Choose Regular or Bold.

Font Size

Select the font size to use in your application.

Color

Select a color for the barcode from the drop-down swatch menu. The default is black.

EAN-8

V	I Design Express Barcode Options		
arcode Type]		OK Cancel
Input Data			
Image: 100% Image: 100% Print human-readable digits	•	⊥	
Font Family: Arial	T		
Font Style: Regular			
Font Size: 12			
Color			
Black]			

Input Data

Enter data or select an existing tag or field or a Transform Rule used to concatenate multiple input strings into a larger single string from the drop-down list.

Vertical and Horizontal Scaling

Select a percentage by which to scale the size of the barcode, if necessary. The default is 100%. Enter a scaling factor if required, however, using scaling factors other than 100% cannot always produce barcodes that are scanned correctly due to out of specification sizes or proportions. When using large scale values, the resulting barcode size is larger than the graphic frame in which it was placed in the InDesign document, resulting in

barcodes that overflow the boundaries of the frame.

Print human-readable digits

Enable this check box when human readable digits are required. The following options are will be available:

Font Family

Select a font family, Arial, Courier New, or Times New Roman.

Font Style

Choose Regular or Bold.

Font Size

Select the font size to use in your application.

Color

Select a color for the barcode from the drop-down swatch menu. The default is black.

EAN-13

VI Design Express Barcode Options	
arcode Type	OK Cancel
Input Data	
▼ ↓ 100% ▼ 100% ▼ Print human-readable digits	
Font Family: Arial	
Font Style: Regular	
Color	
[Black] ▼	

VDE Design Elements

Input Data

Enter data or select an existing tag or field or a Transform Rule used to concatenate multiple input strings into a larger single string from the drop-down list.

Vertical and Horizontal Scaling

Select a percentage by which to scale the size of the barcode, if necessary. The default is 100%. Enter a scaling factor if required, however, using scaling factors other than 100% cannot always produce barcodes that are scanned correctly due to out of specification sizes or proportions. When using large scale values, the resulting barcode size is larger than the graphic frame in which it was placed in the InDesign document, resulting in barcodes that overflow the boundaries of the frame.

Print human-readable digits

Enable this check box when human readable digits are required. The following options are available:

Font Family

Select a font family, Arial, Courier New, or Times New Roman.

Font Style

Choose Regular or Bold.

Font Size

Select the font size to use in your application.

Color

Select a color for the barcode from the drop-down swatch menu. The default is black.

GS1 DATABAR

VI Design Express Barcode Options	
arcode Type	ОК
S1 Databar	Cancel
GS1 Databar Type	
Omnidirectional 🔻	
Input Data	
II V	
Segments Per Row	
2	
Font Family: Arial	
Font Style: Regular	
Font Size: 10 V	
Color	
Color [Black]	

GS1 Databar Type

Select one of the following GS1 Databar types from the drop-down list:

- Omnidirectional
- Truncated
- Stacked
- Stacked Omnidirectional
- Limited
- Expanded
- Expanded Stacked

Input Data

Enter data or select an existing tag or field or a Transform Rule used to concatenate multiple input strings into a larger single string from the drop-down list.

Segments Per Row

Enter data here to specify the number of segments encoded per row. For more information refer to the GS1

Databar ISO specification.

Vertical and Horizontal Scaling

Select a percentage by which to scale the size of the barcode, if necessary. The default is 100%. Enter a scaling factor if required, however, using scaling factors other than 100% cannot always produce barcodes that are scanned correctly due to out of specification sizes or proportions. When using large scale values, the resulting barcode size are larger than the graphic frame in which it was placed in the InDesign document, resulting in barcodes that overflow the boundaries of the frame.

Print human-readable digits

Enable this check box when human readable digits are required. The following options are available:

Font Family

Select a font family, Arial, Courier New, or Times New Roman.

Font Style

Choose Regular or Bold.

Font Size

Select the font size to use in your application.

Color

Select a color for the barcode from the drop-down swatch menu. The default is black.

MAXICODE

VI Design Express Barcode Options	
Barcode Type MaxiCode	OK Cancel
Input Data	
Mode 2 - Numeric postal codes	
Scale (%) Scale (%) 100	

Input Data

Enter data or select an existing tag or field or a Transform Rule used to concatenate multiple input strings into a larger single string from the drop-down list.

Mode

Select one of the following modes from the drop-down list:

2	Numeric postal codes
3	Alphanumeric postal codes
4	Standard error correction
5	Enhanced error correction
6	Barcode reader programming

Scale (%)

Select a percentage by which to scale the size of the barcode, if necessary. The default is 100%. Enter a scaling factor if required, however, using scaling factors other than 100% cannot always produce barcodes that are

scanned correctly due to out of specification sizes or proportions. When using large scale values, the resulting barcode size are larger than the graphic frame in which it was placed in the InDesign document, resulting in barcodes that overflow the boundaries of the frame.

Fit in width

Enter the width of the desired barcode. VDE will automatically scale the barcode to that width, Vertical and Horizontally.

Color

Select a color for the barcode from the drop-down swatch menu. The default is black.

PDF417

VI De	sign Express Barcode Optic	ons		
				OK Cancel
•		•	• •	
			*	
	3			
	1			
	Rows			
	Columns			
	Truncate the barcode			
0 - 1				
 Scale (%) 	100			
 Scale (%) Fit in width 	[♥ 100 ♥ 1 in			
 Scale (%) Fit in width Error Level 	 ↓ 1 in 2 	▼		
	VI De	VI Design Express Barcode Optio	VI Design Express Barcode Options	VI Design Express Barcode Options

Input Data:

Field 1

Select the Input Data type, Text Data, Byte Data, Byte Data in Hexadecimal, or Numeric Data.

Field 2

Enter data or select an existing tag or field or a Transform Rule used to concatenate multiple input strings into a larger single string from the drop-down list.

Use default dimensions

Enable this button to use default values.

Specify rows

Enable this button to enter the number of rows used by the barcode.

Specify columns

Enable this button to enter the number of columns used by the barcode.

Specify aspect ratio

Enable this button to specify both rows and columns used by the barcode.

Truncate the barcode

Enable this selection to generate a PDF417 2D barcode.

Scale(%)

Select a percentage by which to scale the size of the barcode, if necessary. The default is 100%. Enter a scaling factor if required, however, using scaling factors other than 100% cannot always produce barcodes that are scanned correctly due to out of specification sizes or proportions. When using large scale values, the resulting barcode size is larger than the graphic frame in which it was placed in the InDesign document, resulting in barcodes that overflow the boundaries of the frame.

Fit in width

Enter the width of the desired barcode. VDE are automatically scale the barcode to that width, Vertical and Horizontally.

Error Level

Choose a value between 0 and 8. Error correction levels determine the amount of damage and error correction the PDF417 barcode can endure without loss of data. A minimum level of 2 is recommended and the amount of data and the size of the barcode should be taken into account when selecting the appropriate error level. The larger the amount of data and size of the barcode, the higher this number should be.

Color

Select a color for the barcode from the drop-down swatch menu. The default is black.

QR CODE

VDE supports a subset of the full QR Code specification. The available options are shown below. VDE displays a place holder for the QR barcode on the document. When the document is printed on a VIPP[®] Pro-enabled device the place holder is replaced with an image of the QR code barcode. No encoder or special fonts are required.

URLs, SMS, GEO Co-ordinates, contact Info, text, and so on, are just some of the contents that can be included in a QR barcode. For more information on how to embed these options into a QR Code refer to the QR code specifications available on the web.

Note: VDE does not support Kanji, mixed data modes, any multi-byte character support. When this support is required, VI Design Pro, where support for this has been enabled are used.

The QR Code options are displayed on the VDE Barcode Options panel.

VI De	sign Express Barcode Options	
Barcode Type QR Code		OK Cancel
Input Data		
Byte Data	→ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
 Scale (%) 	€ 100	
O Fit in width	↓ 1 in	
QR Code Version Error Correction Level	Level M	
Mask Pattern	1	
Color	Enable shortcuts Black	

Input Data

Text Data

Select **Text Data for Alphanumeric Compaction** mode. This allows the use of an alphanumeric text string either input using the keyboard or as a data object selected from the Data Object List. The data must be comprised of only these 45 characters: 0-9, A-Z, %, \$, \$, +, -, /, :, and the space character.

Byte Data

Select **Byte data for Byte Compaction** mode to encode the 8-bit Latin character set. This is the default option, select it when unsure of which option to choose.

Byte Data in Hexadecimal

Data in a hexadecimal format may be used to pass data that contains control characters that would otherwise be converted or transformed.

Numeric Data

Select **Numeric Data for Numeric Compaction mode**. In Numeric Compaction mode only the characters 0–9 are valid.

Code	•	Cancel
nput Data		
Website Address (URL) 💌		
IDI		
FullName	μ. 	
	_	

Website Address (URL)

The input string is expected to be a website URL link which will be embedded in the QR Code barcode. When scanned with an appropriate QR Code reader and scanner, the barcode signals the application to open a web browser with the given website link. The Add URL tag is an option provided in case the QR Code reader application requires an initial URL tag for the website URL link embedded in the QR Code barcode. Either enter the URL, or the information can be contained in a tag, data field, rule, or data transform.

esign Express Barcode Options	
rcode Type	ОК
R Code	Cancel
Input Data	
Geo Coordinates	
Latitude	
FullName	II -
Longitude	
Longicuuc	

Geo Coordinates

This panel allows the user to create a QR Code with Geo-coordinate information embedded. The expected input parameters are Latitude and Longitude in decimal degrees, which will be embedded in the QR Code barcode.

When scanned with an appropriate QR Code reader/scanner, the barcode signals the application to open a mapping service with the given GPS coordinates.

Latitude and Longitude values can be typed in or can be variables selected from your data file (or Rules and Data Transforms).

Latitude	is a positive or negative decimal number
Longitude	is a positive or negative decimal number
	For example, given the following address:
	Xerox Corporation
	701 S. Aviation Blvd
	El Segundo, CA 90245
	The latitude and longitude values would be:
	Latitude: 33.9046405
	Longitude: -118.3787178

TIP

Use Google maps or other mapping software to obtain the correct latitude and longitude values in decimal degrees for the geographical location you want to identify.

Design Express Barcode Options			
Barcode Type			ОК
QR Code			Cancel
Input Data	vCard Version		
Contact Info	2.1	-	
Name Prefix		.	-
First Name			
Middle Name / Initial			
Last Name		•	-

Contact Info

This feature supports both VCard 2.1 and 3.0 specifications to create a QR Code barcode that contains contact information that, when being scanned with an appropriate QR Code reader and scanner, can be saved directly into a mobile devices Contact List.

The available data entry fields are listed here:

Name Prefix	Mr., Mrs., Ms., Dr., Capt., and so on.
First name	Required Field
Middle Name / Initial	Middle name or initial
Last Name	Required Field
Name Suffix	Jr., Sr., Ph.D., Esq., CPA, and so on.
Job Title	

Company / Organization	
Unit / Division / Department	
Website Address	Enter a fully qualified URL link. For example: https://www.xerox. com.
Address Line 1	
Address Line 2	
P.O. Box	
City / Locality	
State / Province / Region	
Postal / Zip Code	
Country	
Work Phone	
Home Phone	
Mobile / Cell Phone	
Fax	For international telephone numbers, the following format is recommended: + Country Code (Area Code) Local Number, for example: +1 (310) 555-1234
Email Address	

100
🔹 1 in
×
Level M 💌
Enable shortcuts [Black]

Scale (%)

Select a percentage by which to scale the size of the barcode, if necessary. The default is 100%. Enter a scaling factor if required, however, using scaling factors other than 100% cannot always produce barcodes that are scanned correctly due to out of specification sizes or proportions. When using large scale values, the resulting barcode size is larger than the graphic frame in which it was placed in the InDesign document, resulting in barcodes that overflow the boundaries of the frame 100% is the default scale value.

Note: VDE places a place holder image on the page; this is not affected by the Scale option. The only way to view the rendered QR Code barcode on the page is to export the application to a VI Project Container and print it to a VIPP[®] Pro-enabled printer.

Fit in width

Enter the width of the desired barcode. VDE will automatically scale the barcode to that width, Vertically and Horizontally.

QR Code Version

QR Code Version is optional. When the edit box is empty the QR Code Version is not used.

There is a correlation between the QR Code Version and the size of a barcode. When the edit box is empty the version will be automatically determined, that is the barcode will be made as small as possible based on the amount of data to encode and the error correction level. Xerox recommends leaving the edit box empty. A version can be specified to fix the size of a barcode, however, this should only be done when the size of the barcode is known and will always accommodate the data and error correction level.

Error Correction Level

Error Correction refers to the level of error checking performed by the QR Code encoding scheme. Refer to the QR Code ISO specification for additional information on Error Correction Level. Available Error Correction Levels are:

- Level L
- Level M
- Level Q
- Level H

There is a correlation between the error correction level and the capability of recovering data from a damaged barcode. Error correction level L provides the least amount of recovery capacity, and error correction level H, the most. There is also a correlation between the error correction level and the size of the barcode. Level H provides greater capability for recovering damaged data but it also generates a larger barcode. Xerox recommends M as the error correction level unless the printed barcodes are likely to be damaged.

Mask Pattern

The Mask Pattern refers to setting an array of 1–8 characters that will specify the QR Code masks used by the encoder to verify a readable barcode has been produced. If uncertain, leave the default option of 1 selected.

There are eight different mask patterns that can be used generate a barcode. Xerox recommends using mask pattern 1, although any one of the eight patterns have been found to produce good barcodes. If for some reason there is a problem with the readability of a barcode, enter more than one mask pattern and the more favorable of the mask patterns will be used to create the barcode.

Note: There is a correlation between the number of mask patterns and performance. The greater the number of mask patterns, the longer it takes to create a barcode.

Enable shortcuts

The enable shortcuts option should always be selected and checked unless the reliability of barcodes is an issue. When selected, this feature cuts back on the number of tests used to analyze the readability of a barcode.

Color

Select a color for the barcode from the drop-down swatch menu. The default is black.

USPS 4-STATE CUSTOMER BARCODE (IMB)

VI Design Express Barcode Options	
Barcode Type USPS 4-State Customer Barcode	OK Cancel
Tracking Data	
Routing Code	
Color [Black]	

Tracking Data

Enter data or select an existing Database field, XML tag, or a Transform Rule used to concatenate multiple input strings into a larger single string from the drop-down list.

Tracking Data is the 20 digit tracking data string comprised of the following sub-fields:

- 2 digit Barcode Identifier. The second digit must be 0 through 4.
- 3 digit Service type Identifier.
- 6 digit mailer Identifier.
- 9 digit Serial Number.

This string may have spaces to match the human readable form that may be required by some uses of the 4-state barcode and to improve readability.

This can be entered as text or by selecting a single data field from the Data Object List. Typically, a Data Transform is created to concatenate all the required data into a new data object selected from the Data Object List.

Routing Code

Enter data, or select an existing Database field, XML tag, or a Transform Rule used to concatenate multiple input strings into a larger single string from the drop-down list, or enter a string via the keyboard.

Routing code is the delivery point ZIP code. It can be in any of the 4 forms accepted by the USPS:

()	An empty or null string for no ZIP code.
(12345)	A 5 digit ZIP code
(12345-6789)	A 9 digit ZIP+4 code
(12345-6789 01)	An eleven digit ZIP+4 + 2 digit DPC

This string may have spaces, to match the human readable form that may be required by some uses of the 4-state barcode, or dashes (-) to improve readability.

If Routing Code data is not available in a single data object, a new data transform can be created to concatenate the data into a new data object that may be selected from the Data Object List.

Color

Select a color for the barcode from the drop-down swatch menu. The default is black.

UPC-A

larcode Type	
	OK Cancel
Input Data	
▼ 1) 100% ▼ 110% ▼ Print human-readable digits	
Font Family: Arial	
Font Style: Regular	
Color	

This option does not require the installation of a printer font on the target device. Using the data provided, VIPP[®] will draw the barcode on the fly.

Input Data

Enter data or select an existing Database field, XML tag, or a Transform Rule used to concatenate multiple input strings into a larger single string from the drop-down list or enter a string via the keyboard. The string passed the UPC-A barcode must contain 11 numeric characters.

Vertical and Horizontal Scaling

Select a percentage by which to scale the size of the barcode, if necessary. The default is 100%. Enter a scaling factor if required, however, using scaling factors other than 100% cannot always produce barcodes that are scanned correctly due to out of specification sizes or proportions. When using large scale values, the resulting barcode size are larger than the graphic frame in which it was placed in the InDesign document, resulting in barcodes that overflow the boundaries of the frame.

Print human-readable digits

Enable this checkbox to print human-readable digits below the barcode. When enabled, you are able to set the following values for the human-readable digits:

Font Family

Select a font from the drop-down list of available fonts.

Font Style

Choose the font style: Regular or Bold.

Font Size

Choose the size to print the digits.

Color

Select a color for the barcode from the drop-down swatch menu. The default is black.

UPC-E

VI Design Express Barcode Options	
Barcode Type	OK Cancel
Input Data	
Print human-readable digits	
Font Family: Arial Font Style: Regular Font Size: 10	
Color [Black]	

This option does not require the installation of a printer font on the target device. Using the data provided, VIPP[®] will draw the barcode on the fly.

Input Data

Enter data or select an existing Database field, XML tag, or a Transform Rule used to concatenate multiple input strings into a larger single string from the drop-down list or enter a string via the keyboard. The string passed the UPC-A barcode contains 7 numeric characters.

Vertical and Horizontal Scaling

Select a percentage by which to scale the size of the barcode, if necessary. The default is 100%. Enter a scaling factor if required, however, using scaling factors other than 100% cannot always produce barcodes that are scanned correctly due to out of specification sizes or proportions. When using large scale values, the resulting barcode size is larger than the graphic frame in which it was placed in the InDesign document, resulting in barcodes that overflow the boundaries of the frame.

Print human-readable digits

Enable this checkbox to print human-readable digits below the barcode. When enabled, you are able to set the following values for the human-readable digits:

Font Family

Select a font from the drop-down list of available fonts.

Font Style

Choose the font style: Regular or Bold.

Font Size

Choose the size to print the digits.

Color

Select a color for the barcode from the drop-down swatch menu. The default is black.

Barcode Fonts

There is a printer font installed on the printer for these standard barcodes to print:

- Code 128
- Code 39
- EAN 128
- EAN (8-digit)
- EAN (13-digit)
- Interleaved 2 of 5
- PostJPN
- PostNet
- UPC (Version A)

The VDE Barcode Options panel for each of the standard barcodes contains a combo box in which a font name can be manually entered or selected from a list of existing fonts.

When you manually enter any font name, whether a regular or barcode font, it is important to remember that the name of the font is not always the same as the name of the font file. For example, the font file name for the True Type font, Arial Bold, is arialbd.ttf, and the MB034 printer font file name is MB034.fnt.

When you enter a barcode font name in the combo box, use the font name found in the first few lines of the font header. The font name is generally in this format: /Fontname xxxxx. To locate the font name, you can edit the font file with a file editor.

Once entered, VDE creates a font call for the font and expects that it will be installed on the target print device. Therefore, if you are using the printer font named MB034, ensure that MB034.fnt is installed on the printer.

Rendering barcode fonts

To render barcode fonts such as Code 128, Code 39, EAN, 2of5, PostNet, and UPA on the printer, all 2-D barcodes available in VDE are drawn by the rendering engine and require no printer fonts. A printer font needs to be installed to the print device. The same applies when exporting to PDF using the VDE PDF option. The barcode printer fonts need to be installed to the Adobe Normalizer fonts folder, found in one of these locations:

- On a Mac: /Applications/Xerox/VIPP/VPP/normalizer/v2vnormproc/fonts
- On a 64-bit PC: C:\Program Files (x86)\Xerox\VIPP\VDE\normalizer\fonts

Refer to Barcodes for download instructions.

Barcode fonts available for download

VIPP® barcode printer fonts are available for download. For more information, refer to Specialty Imaging and Barcode Font download.
CODE 128

esign Express Ba	rcode Options			
arcode Type				ОК
Code 128		•		Cancel
Input Data				
FullName			T	
Font Name				
MB021	*			
Font Size				
1 2	IT ÷ 100%	▼ T ÷ 100% ▼		
Do not apply	compression			
🗖 Do not apply	compression			

Input Data

Enter data or select an existing Database field, XML tag, or a Transform Rule used to concatenate multiple input strings into a larger single string from the drop-down list, or enter a string using the keyboard. The string passed to the CODE128 barcode contains alphanumeric characters. For additional information, refer to the barcode documentation.

Font Name

Enter a font name, or select an existing font from the drop-down list. For more information, refer to the previous Note on Barcode Fonts.

Font Size

Choose a font size.

Vertical and Horizontal Scaling

Select a percentage by which to scale the size of the barcode, if necessary. The default is 100%. Enter a scaling factor if required, however, using scaling factors other than 100% may not always produce barcodes that are scanned correctly due to out of specification sizes or proportions. When using large scale values, the resulting barcode size is larger than the graphic frame in which it was placed in the InDesign document, resulting in barcodes that overflow the boundaries of the frame.

VDE Design Elements

Do not apply compression

Check when compression is not desired.

CODE 39

1 Design Express Barcode Options		
Barcode Type	ОК	
Code 39	Cance	1
Input Data		
FullName	T I	
Font Name		
MB001		
Font Size		
±12 !T ± 100% ▼ T ± 100% ▼		

Input Data

Enter data or select an existing Database field, XML tag, or a Transform Rule used to concatenate multiple input strings into a larger single string from the drop-down list, or enter a string using the keyboard. The string passed to the CODE39 barcode contains alphanumeric characters only.

Font Name

Enter a font name or select an existing font from the drop-down list. For more information, refer to the previous Note on Barcode Fonts.

Font Size

Choose a font size.

Vertical and Horizontal Scaling

Select a percentage by which to scale the size of the barcode, if necessary. The default is 100%. Enter a scaling factor if required, however, using scaling factors other than 100% cannot always produce barcodes that can be scanned correctly due to out of specification sizes or proportions. When using large scale values, the resulting barcode size is larger than the graphic frame in which it is placed in the InDesign document, resulting in barcodes that overflow the boundaries of the frame.

EAN 128

Design Express Barcode Options	
arcode Type	ОК
EAN 128	Cancel
Input Data	
FullName	II.
Font Name	
MB021	
Font Size	
±12 IT ± 100% ▼ T ± 100% ▼	

Input Data

Enter data or select an existing Database field, XML tag, or a Transform Rule used to concatenate multiple input strings into a larger single string from the drop-down list, or enter a string using the keyboard. The string passed to the EAN128 barcode can contain alphanumeric characters. For additional information, refer to the barcode documentation.

Font Name

Enter a font name or select an existing font from the drop-down list. For more information, refer the previous Note on Barcode Fonts.

Font Size

Choose a font size.

Vertical and Horizontal Scaling

Select a percentage by which to scale the size of the barcode, if necessary. The default is 100%. Enter a scaling factor if required, however, using scaling factors other than 100% may not always produce barcodes that can be scanned correctly due to out of specification sizes or proportions. When using large scale values, the resulting barcode size is larger than the graphic frame in which it was placed in the InDesign document, resulting in barcodes that overflow the boundaries of the frame.

EAN (8-DIGIT)

Design Express Barc	ode Options			
Barcode Type				ОК
EAN (8-digit)				Cancel
Input Data				
FullName			- I	
Font Name				
MB040V	-			
Font Size				
12	IT 🌲 100%	 ▼ <u>⊥</u> 100% 		

Input Data

Enter data or select an existing Database field, XML tag, or a Transform Rule used to concatenate multiple input strings into a larger single string from the drop-down list, or enter a string using the keyboard. The string passed to the EAN8 barcode can contain 7 alphanumeric characters only. The seven characters are created by concatenating a 4-character left part and a 3-character right part string together. For additional information, refer to the barcode documentation.

Font Name

Enter a font name or select an existing font from the drop-down list. For more information, refer the previous Note on Barcode Fonts.

Font Size

Choose a font size.

Vertical and Horizontal Scaling

Select a percentage by which to scale the size of the barcode, if necessary. The default is 100%. Enter a scaling factor if required, however, using scaling factors other than 100% cannot always produce barcodes that can be scanned correctly due to out of specification sizes or proportions. When using large scale values, the resulting barcode size may be larger than the graphic frame in which it was placed in the InDesign document, resulting in

barcodes that overflow the boundaries of the frame.

EAN (13-DIGIT)

Design Express Barcode Option	15	
Barcode Type		ОК
EAN (13-digit)		Cancel
Input Data		
FullName		- I(
Font Name		
MB040V	•	
Font Size		
12 IT	100% ▼ I × 100% ▼	

Input Data

Enter data or select an existing Database field, XML tag, or a Transform Rule used to concatenate multiple input strings into a larger single string from the drop-down list, or enter a string using the keyboard. The string passed to the EAN13 barcode can contain 12 alphanumeric characters. The twelve characters are created by concatenating the following strings:

- Character
- 1 = the number system used
- 2 thru 7 = the left part string
- 8 thru 12 = the right part string

For additional information, refer to the barcode documentation.

Font Name

Enter a font name or select an existing font from the drop-down list. For more information, refer the previous Note on Barcode Fonts.

Choose a font size.

Vertical and Horizontal Scaling

Select a percentage by which to scale the size of the barcode, if necessary. The default is 100%. Enter a scaling factor if required, however, using scaling factors other than 100% cannot always produce barcodes that can be scanned correctly due to out of specification sizes or proportions. When using large scale values, the resulting barcode size may be larger than the graphic frame in which it was placed in the InDesign document, resulting in barcodes that overflow the boundaries of the frame.

INTERLEAVED 2 OF 5

terleaved 2 of 5				OK
				Cancel
Input Data				
FullName			- I	
Font Name				
MB027V	•			
Font Size				
<u>▲</u> 12	!T € 100%	▼ 100% ▼		

Input Data

Enter data or select an existing Database field, XML tag, or a Transform Rule used to concatenate multiple input strings into a larger single string from the drop-down list, or enter a string using the keyboard. The string passed to the 2OF5 barcode must contain numeric characters, 0 through 9 only.

Font Name

Enter a font name, or select an existing font from the drop-down list. See the previous Note on Barcode Fonts for more information.

Choose a font size.

Vertical and Horizontal Scaling

Select a percentage by which to scale the size of the barcode, if necessary. The default is 100%. Enter a scaling factor if required, however, using scaling factors other than 100% cannot always produce barcodes that can be scanned correctly due to out of specification sizes or proportions. When using large scale values, the resulting barcode size may be larger than the graphic frame in which it was placed in the InDesign document, resulting in barcodes that overflow the boundaries of the frame.

POSTJPN

Design Express Barcode Opti	ons Constantino de la constantino de la cons		
Barcode Type PostJPN	_		OK Cancel
Input Data			
FullName		- II	
Font Name	T		
Font Size			
±12 IT	÷ 100% ▼ I ÷ 100% ▼		

Input Data

Enter data, or select an existing Database field, XML tag, or a Transform Rule used to concatenate multiple input strings into a larger single string from the drop-down list, or enter a string using the keyboard. The string passed to the POSTNET barcode must contain 5, 7, or 9 numeric characters. Lengths of 10 and 12 are also supported when a dash character is inserted in the 6th position. This supports Zip, Zip + 4 or Zip+4+DPBC.

Font Name

Enter a font name, or select an existing font from the drop-down list. See the previous Note on Barcode Fonts for more information.

Choose a font size.

Vertical and Horizontal Scaling

Select a percentage by which to scale the size of the barcode, if necessary. The default is 100%. Enter a scaling factor, if necessary. However, using scaling factors other than 100% can produce barcodes that cannot be scanned correctly due to out of specification sizes or proportions. When using large scale values, the resulting barcode size can be larger than the graphic frame in which it was placed in the InDesign document, resulting in barcodes that overflow the boundaries of the frame.

POSTNET

				Cancel
Input Data				
FullName			- I	
Font Name				
MB043	-			
Font Size				
÷12 IT	÷100% • I ÷100	1%		
Do not transform data				

Input Data

Enter data, or select an existing Database field, XML tag, or a Transform Rule used to concatenate multiple input strings into a larger single string from the drop-down list, or enter a string via the keyboard. The string passed to the POSTNET barcode must contain 5, 9, or 11 numeric characters. Lengths of 10 and 12 are also supported when a dash character is inserted in the 6th position. This supports Zip, Zip + 4 or Zip+4+DPBC.

Font Name

Enter a font name, or select an existing font from the drop-down list. See the previous Note on Barcode Fonts for more information.

Choose a font size.

Vertical and Horizontal Scaling

Select a percentage by which to scale the size of the barcode, if necessary. The default is 100%. Enter a scaling factor if required, however, using scaling factors other than 100% may not always produce barcodes that can be scanned correctly due to out of specification sizes or proportions. When using large scale values, the resulting barcode size may be larger than the graphic frame in which it was placed in the InDesign document, resulting in barcodes that overflow the boundaries of the frame.

Do not transform data

Click this box when you do not want to transform your barcode data.

UPC (VERSION A)

rcode Type PC (Version A) PC (Version A) Input Data FullName Font Name MB011V	OK Cancel
PC (Version A)	Cancel
Input Data FullName T(Font Name MB011V	
FullName T(Font Name MB011V	
Font Name MB011V	
MB011V	
Font Size	
÷12 !T ÷ 100% • I ÷ 100% •	

Input Data

Enter data, or select an existing Database field, XML tag, or a Transform Rule used to concatenate multiple input strings into a larger single string from the drop-down list, or enter a string using the keyboard. The string passed to the UPCA barcode must contain 11 numeric characters only. The eleven characters are created by concatenating the following strings:

- Character
- 1 = the number system used
- 2 through 6 = specifies the vendor number

• 7 through 11 = specifies the product number

Font Name

Enter a font name or select an existing font from the drop-down list. For more information, see the previous Note on Barcode Fonts.

Font Size

Choose a font size.

Vertical and Horizontal Scaling

Select a percentage by which to scale the size of the barcode, if necessary. The default is 100%. Enter a scaling factor if required, however, using scaling factors other than 100% cannot always produce barcodes that can be scanned correctly due to out of specification sizes or proportions. When using large scale values, the resulting barcode size may be larger than the graphic frame in which it was placed in the InDesign document, resulting in barcodes that overflow the boundaries of the frame.

OMR

The general steps for inserting the OMR into the design are outlined here:

1. To create a graphic box, use the InDesign[™] tool, or use an existing graphic box in the design. Ensure that the box is the approximate size of the printed OMR and in the approximate location where the OMR is to appear.

2. Right-click the frame, then choose VDE OMR Options.

VI Design Express OMR Options

• Bars	🔿 Data	amatrix						C	ОК
Front	\bigcirc Bac	k						C	
Max number o	f sheets i	n envelope			08				
Fold after num	ber of sh	eets			0				
Annexes code	Selection				Fixed		· (i)		
Annexes cod	le								
Annex 1 A	nnex 2	Annex 3	Annex 4	Annex	:5 /	Annex 6			

The following fields are available:

• Bars: Select **Bars** radio button for OMR bars.

.

- Datamatrix: Select Datamatrix radio button for OMR Datamatrix.
- Front: Select **Front** to place the OMR code on the front page.
- Back: Select **Back** to place the OMR code on the back page.
- Max number of sheets in envelope: Select one of the following options.

1—255	Feed envelope after that number of pages
0	No feed for the next pages

• Fold after number of sheets: Select one of the following options.

1—255	Intermediate fold after that number of pages
0	No intermediate fold for the next pages

• Annexes code: Summing powers of 2 of each selected Annexe checkboxes make integer. Each of the Annexe checkboxes represents a bar intended to trigger the insertion of an Annexe sheet from the corresponding inserter tray.

3. Select fields as needed, then click **OK**.

The OMR Configuration tab is set for the OMR code. For more information, refer to Setting VDE Preference Options.

Note: A placeholder image is displayed on the screen because OMR cannot be dynamically created within InDesign. The size of the placeholder image can differ from the exact size or position of the printed OMR. To verify the output, view the VPC file, or print a test page on a VIPP® Pro-enabled printer.

Variable Layers

VDE rules can be used to turn variable layers on or off. Variable layers are used at the page level, where elements can be turned on, viewable or off, non-viewable, based on the result of the variable layer rule. Elements can be static objects or variable objects.

Note: The more layers used in an application the more complex the job can become during the export function and the creation of the VPC file. This translates into more time required to create the VPC file. The time needed is dependent on the processing power of the Mac or PC used.

Excessive use of layers, that contain variable elements, on a page can affect performance. Reducing the number of layers called, actually used for each page can improve the performance of the VDE export process. For example, while 10 or more layers may be possible for a page, if only three of the ten layers are called, using conditional processing, performance is significantly improved.

An option specifying the minimum and maximum amount of layers called on any page in the application is required during the export phase. Providing the correct minimum and maximum value in this panel can greatly reduce the processing time required to process the variable layers while building the VPC file.

The visibility of a layer is controlled by creating a visibility object, either a Visibility Rule or a visibility field from the data file assigned to that layer.

When a Rule is created, it is added to the list of data objects displayed on the VDE panel. The Rules type is set to visibility in the Rule builder panel before applying the Rule to a layer. A setting of ON will make the layer visible while a setting of OFF will hide the layer.

For more information, refer to Rules.

PDF Fillable Form Fields

An InDesign document containing PDF fillable form fields can be used in a VI workflow where the PDF form generated from VDE contains unique data for each record. The data extracted from such a PDF form can be used for other variable print workflows. VDE supports variable data for the following interactive objects: Reset Button, Submit Button, Check Box, Combo Box, List Box, Radio Button, Text Field, and Signature Field.

When you create an InDesign document, PDF form fields are created initially using the InDesign Buttons and Forms GUI panel. To add variable data and VI-specific options, and to access the VDE PDF Form Field Options dialog box, right-click a selected form field.

Note: Events and Actions from the Buttons and Forms dialog box are not supported by VDE. To choose an available action for the specific form field, from the VDE PDF Form Field Options dialog box, select the options. The Appearance States for push buttons, radio buttons, and check boxes are not supported, but the highlighted or selected appearance state is used to provide graphic attributes for the form fields in the generated VIPP[®] job.

The VDE GUI panel displays the following options, based on the type of fillable form field selected:

Button:

Action: Specifies the behavior of the button. The Reset action reverts all form fields to initial values. The Submit action sends the extracted data to either a web server or a recipient using email. The Print action sends the form for printing directly from the form button click.

URL: Address to the web server or the email recipient.

URL Type: Website or Email.

File Format: Specifies the file format generated. Options are Form Data Format (FDF), Printable Data Format (PDF), XML Form Data Format (XFDF), or HTML Data format (HTMLDF).

Button Label: Entered text is shown on the button.

Button Label Color: Color of text for button label.

Border Style: Border style outlining the button.

Button Label Font: List of available font styles for the label.

Button Label Size: Font size of the button label.

Check Box:

Tick Mark: Symbol shown for check box when selected. The desired symbol is selected in the Caption Map table. Mark Color: Color of the tick mark shown inside the check box.

Border Style: Border style outlining the check box.

Selected by default variable: Variable specifies the initial state of the check box. The value of the selected variable must return either 1 or 0, where 1 indicates that the check box is selected and 0 indicates that the check box is not selected.

Combo Box:

Use VDE list items: If selected, the list items are specified using Export Value and Display Value. The Export Value is the value exported when you select the Display Value. The Display Value appears in the exported PDF. To add an Export Value and Display Value pair, select the **Plus** icon (+). To remove an existing Export Value and Display Value pair, select the **Minus** (-) icon. The VDE list supersedes the list items in the InDesign Buttons and Forms dialog box.

Variable Default Selection: This option sets the initial variable for the Combo Box.

List Items Color: Color of the list items text.

Border style: Border style outlining the Combo Box.

Text Alignment: Alignment of text shown in Combo Box.

Font: List of available font styles for the list items text.

Combo box text field is editable: If selected, this option allows user to enter a text value instead of a selecting a value from the predefined list.

List Box:

Use VDE list items: If selected, list items are specified using Export Value and Display Value. The Export Value is the value exported when the Display Value is selected. The Display Value is displayed in the exported PDF. To add an Export Value and Display Value pair, select the **Plus** icon (+). To remove an existing Export Value and Display Value pair, select the **Minus** (-) icon. The VDE list supersedes the list items in the InDesign Buttons and Forms dialog box.

Variable Default Selection: This option sets the initial variable for the List Box.

List Items Color: Color of the list items text.

Border style: Border style outlining the List Box.

Text Alignment: Alignment of text shown in the List Box.

Font: List of available font styles for the list items text.

Radio Button:

Selection Mark: Symbol shown for radio button, when selected. To select a symbol, access the Caption Map table, then select a symbol.

Mark Color: Color of selection mark shown inside the radio button.

Border Style: Border style outlining the radio button.

Selected by default variable: Variable specifies the selection state of the radio buttons in a group. The value of the selected variable must return either 1 or 0, where 1 indicates that the radio button is selected, and 0 indicates that the radio button is not selected. Only one of the radio buttons in a group can have a variable with a value of 1, the selected state. If more than one radio button in the group has the selection state set to 1, the VIPP[®] code generated for the job selects only one of the radio buttons.

Text Field:

Initial Text: Initial text shown in field. Text Color: Menu for a list of text colors. Border style: Border style outlining the text field. Text Alignment: Alignment of text shown in text field. Text Split: If greater than 1, restricts number of characters entered. Font: List of available font styles for the text.

Signature Field:

Border style: Border style outlining the signature field.

Graphic Attributes for PDF Form Fields

The following InDesign graphic attributes are supported for the PDF fillable form fields:

- Border Stroke Width, Border Stroke Color and Fill/Background Color.
- For the Reset and Submit buttons, highlight or select one of the three graphic attributes in the Buttons and Forms GUI dialog box. For Appearance States, select Normal, Rollover, or Click. Set the required width and colors for the selected button state.

• For the Check Boxes and Radio Buttons, highlight or select one of the six graphic attributes in the Buttons and Forms GUI dialog box. For Appearance States, select Normal On, Normal Off, Rollover On, Rollover Off, Click On, or Click Off. Set the required width and colors for the selected check box state.

When exporting the document to VPC or PDF, the highlighted or selected Appearance States settings are used in the VIPP® job to select its associated graphic attributes and apply them to the form field.

Note: Rollover and Click state interactive behaviors are not supported in VDE and are not reflected in the PDF generated from the VIPP[®] job.

VDE Text Pattern Swatches

This chapter contains:

Creating a Text Pattern Swatch	.198
Using SI Effects in a Text Pattern Swatch	.201

The VDE Text Pattern Swatch option enables the user to define a swatch color that contains a repeating text pattern. Static or variable text can be selected and color can be assigned to both the text and background of the Text Pattern Swatch. Once a Text Pattern Swatch has been defined, the user can select it as the fill color to an object or path.



The image above shows two VDE Patterned Swatch objects. The top object uses a patterned swatch defined with cyan text rotated at 15 degrees with a yellow background. The bottom object is painted using a Text Pattern swatch defined with cyan text rotated at 45 degrees with no background or transparent color.

In addition to using standard fonts supported by VDE, Xerox Specialty Imaging fonts and colors can also be used to create unique effects. For example, you can create a text pattern swatch using micro text.



Creating a Text Pattern Swatch

Color swatches are created using the Swatch Panel menu to access the New VDE Text Pattern Swatch... menu. Until the swatches are created, there are no selectable VDE Text Pattern Swatches available to fill objects. A Normal VDE Text Pattern swatch is one that does not contain any references to Xerox Specialty Imaging.



To define a VDE Text Pattern Swatch, select **New VDE Text Pattern Swatch...** to open the Swatch Options panel.

New VDE Text Pattern Swatch		
Name: S	SI_TP_	ОК
Text Data:	ullName 💽 .	I Cancel
Font Family:	Arial	-
Font Style:	larrow	-
Font Size:	12 pt 💌	
Horizontal Adjustr	nent: 🛨 O in	
Vertical Adjustm	nent: 🛨 O in	
Rotation (Degre	ees): 🔹 0	
Text Color:	[Black]	-
	Apply Clear Dry Ink	
Background Color:	[None]	-

Select the appropriate options in this panel to create a VDE Text Pattern Swatch. Depending on the selections made, some options can be greyed out. Each option is described as follows:

Name

The user-defined name of the VDE Text Pattern. Ensure that the name does not exceed 32 characters and does not contain any special characters. VDE adds the syntax *SI_TP_* to the beginning of the user-defined name. This syntax is used internally to distinguish between normal swatch and text pattern swatches.

Text Data

The text to be used in the repeating pattern. The text can be static text or variable text, or a combination of both. When combining static and variable text, it is necessary to create a Text Transform field concatenating the static and variable text, and to refer to this field when selecting text for this entry.

Font Family

The name of the font family to be used.

Horizontal Adjustment

A horizontal adjustment in points for each repeating line of text.

Vertical Adjustment

A vertical adjustment in points for each repeating line of text.

Rotation Degrees

The text rotation value.

Text Color

For normal patterned ink effects this option is the text color, selected from the swatches defined. When using Specialty Imaging fonts, this option is greyed out, and the background color option shows the available Specialty Imaging color options.

Background Color

For normal patterned ink effects, this option is the background color, selected from the swatches defined. The option [None] results in a transparent background. When using Specialty Imaging fonts, this option shows the available Specialty Imaging color option.

In the earlier example, a VDE Text Pattern Swatch was designed and called PlainColorBackground. The data field FirstName is selected as the repeating text object. Arial 12pt Regular is the target font selection.

Horizontal and vertical adjustments of 0.0625 inches are selected and the text rotation angle is set to 15 degrees. The text color is set to cyan (CMYK), and the background color is set to yellow (CMYK).

Click **OK** to add the new swatch color to the Swatch Panel. At this point, the swatch becomes available and can be used to fill an object on the page, just like any other swatch color.

To apply this text pattern swatch to an object, first create or highlight the object, then apply the swatch color as normal.

Text patterns displayed on the InDesign screen are representations of applied text patterns. Print the application to see the actual effect. Using the options listed, the text patterned swatch fills an object, as follows.

wen Koren Karen Karen Karen Karen Karen Karen Karen Karen Karen Kar wan Karen Karen Karen Karen Karen Katen Katen Katen Katen Katen Kat Karen Karen Karen Karen T ve Karen Karen Karen Karen Karen w Karen Karen Karen Karen Karen win Karen Karen Karen K

The following example illustrates different swatch option selections. Notably, the Text Data is set to a static text string Do Not Copy and Background Color is set to [None]. When this swatch color is applied to a frame and

placed over an object, the results are similar to the following image:



The object was placed over a purple box to show the transparent effect of the VDE Text Pattern. The text Static No Backfil is a separate text frame placed over the object that was filled with the text pattern. Do not insert text, images, or other objects as part of the VDE Text Pattern frame. Otherwise, unpredictable results can occur.

Using SI Effects in a Text Pattern Swatch

Xerox Specialty Imaging effects can be combined with VDE Text Patterns. There are six Specialty Imaging options to select from. Descriptions of these effects and sample Swatch Option definitions are found in these sections:

- Artistic Black VDE Text Pattern Swatch
- Fluorescent VDE Text Pattern Swatch
- Infrared VDE Text Pattern Swatch
- Micro Text VDE Text Pattern Swatch
- GlossMark and Correlation Mark Text VDE Text Pattern Swatch

ARTISTIC BLACK VDE TEXT PATTERN SWATCH

An Artistic Black VDE Text Pattern provides a high gloss and matte text pattern. The repeating text pattern can be observed by tilting the page at an angle.



There are two available options for Artistic black:

- A high gloss background with a matte text pattern
- A matte background with a high gloss text pattern

Before the VDE Text Pattern swatch can be created, add either the SI_ARTBLACK_A or SI_ARTBLACK_B swatch. These swatches are found in the VDE Specialty Imaging swatch file. For more information on how to add swatches to the Swatch panel, refer to Creating a Text Pattern Swatch. After the swatch is added, the swatch can be used to define the background color in the VDE Text Pattern Swatch option panel.

New VDE Text Pattern Swatch	
Name: SI_TP_ ArtBlackA	ОК
Text Data: Fname 🗾 🎞	Cancel
Font Family: Arial	
Font Style: Regular	
Font Size: 🐳 24 pt	
Horizontal Adjustment: 🖨 0 in	
Vertical Adjustment: 🖨 0 in	
Rotation (Degrees): 🖨 15	
Text Color: 🛛 [None]	
Apply Clear Dry Ink	
Background Color: 🛛 [None]	

In this example, the user-defined name is ArtBlackA, the Text Data is the data field *FirstName*. The font used is Arial Regular at 24 points. No optional horizontal or vertical adjustments were assigned. However, a 15–degree text rotation was selected. To define a VDE Text Pattern swatch using a Specialty Imaging effect, for Text Color select **None**. Set the Background Color to **SI_ARTBLACK_A**, or **SI_ARTBLACK_B**.

After you define the settings, to populate the swatch panel with this new color, click **OK**.

Note: Text patterns displayed on the InDesign Screen are representations of applied text patterns. To see the actual effect, print the application. Do not insert text, images, or other objects as part of the VDE Text Pattern frame, because unpredictable results can occur.

FLUORESCENT VDE TEXT PATTERN SWATCH

Fluorescent VDE Text Pattern effects create a text fill effect using the Xerox Specialty Imaging Fluorescent effect. For more information on the Specialty Imaging Fluorescent effect review Using Specialty Imaging Effects.

This effect will fill an object with a Fluorescent color. When a UV light source is used, the repeating text pattern will become visible.



Before the VDE Text Pattern Swatch can be created, add a Fluorescent color from the Xerox Specialty Imaging Swatch file. Refer to Using a Specialty Imaging color swatch for more information.

The Swatch Options are basically the same as the Artistic Back text swatch options detailed previously. Select any font VDE supports and assign values for vertical and horizontal adjustments if needed. Leave the text color set to None and the Background color will be set to the Fluorescent swatch color you previously loaded.

Once the settings are defined, click **OK** to add this swatch to the swatch list. The new swatch can now be used to fill an object.

Rotating any Specialty Imaging effect may cause artifacts such as white lines or noise in the effect. If this happens try adjusting the rotation value +/- 5 degrees.

Note: Text patterns displayed on the InDesign Screen are representations of applied text patterns. The application must be printed to see the actual effect. Do not insert text, images or other objects as part of the VDE Text Pattern frame or unpredictable results may occur.

INFRARED VDE TEXT PATTERN SWATCH

Infrared VDE Text Pattern effects create a text fill using the Xerox Specialty Imaging Infrared effect. For more information on the Specialty Imaging Infrared effect review Using Specialty Imaging Effects.

This effect will fill an object with an Infrared color. When an IR light source is used, the repeating text pattern will become visible.



Before the VDE Text Pattern Swatch can be created, add an Infrared color from the Xerox Specialty Imaging Swatch file. Refer to Using a Specialty Imaging Color Swatch and to Designing Documents With Infrared Color for more information.

The Swatch Options are basically the same as the Fluorescent text swatch options. You select any font VDE supports and assign values for vertical and horizontal adjustments if needed. You must leave the text color set to [None] and the Background color should be set to the Infrared swatch color you previously loaded.

Once the settings are defined, click **OK** to add this swatch to the swatch list. The new swatch can now be used to fill an object.

Rotating any Specialty Imaging effect may cause artifacts such as white lines or noise in the effect. If this happens, try adjusting the rotation value +/- 5 degrees.

Note: Text patterns displayed on the InDesign Screen are representations of applied text patterns. The application must be printed to see the actual effect. Do not insert text, images or other objects as part of the VDE Text Pattern frame or unpredictable results may occur.

MICRO TEXT VDE TEXT PATTERN SWATCH

Micro Text VDE Text Pattern effects create a text fill effect using the Xerox Specialty Imaging Micro Text font. For more information on the Specialty Imaging Micro Fonts, refer to Using Specialty Imaging Effects.

This effect fills an object with Micro Text, which has a text size below 1pt. This effect can be used to fill any type of object and is particularly effective when used as a text fill pattern.



Before the VDE Text Pattern Swatch can be created, add a Micro Text color from the Xerox Specialty Imaging Swatch file. For more information, refer to Using a Specialty Imaging Color Swatch and to Designing Documents With Microtext Fonts. There are seven colors to select from, SI_MI_BLACK, SI_MI_RED, SI_MI_BLUE, SI_MI_ GREEN, SI_MI_CYAN, SI_MI_MAGENTA and SI_MI_YELLOW.

When defining a Micro Text VDE Text Pattern, select one of the eight Specialty Imaging MicroText fonts.

New VDE Text Pattern Swatch	
Name: SI_TP_ Micro	ОК
Text Data: FirstName	Cancel
Font Family: SI_micro	
Font Style: f6-Bold	
Font Size: 👘 1 pt 👻	
Horizontal Adjustment: 🖨 0.0625 in	
Vertical Adjustment: 🖨 0.0625 in	
Rotation (Degrees): +4	
Text Color: SI_MI_RED	
Apply Clear Dry Ink	
Background Color: [/[None]	

Selecting a Micro Text font limits the Text Color selection to one of the seven supported colors for Micro Text. The Background Color option is greyed out.

The Font Size option is greyed out for Micro Text, as no user option is available.

Rotation and vertical and horizontal adjustments can be set as required.

After the settings are defined, to add this swatch to the swatch list, click **OK**. The new swatch can now be used to fill an object.

Additionally, the new swatch can be used as a text fill. For example, type a text string, use InDesign font settings to

widen the text characters, then use the Micro Text VDE Text Pattern to fill the text characters.

Note: Text patterns displayed on the InDesign Screen are representations of applied text patterns. Print the application to see the actual effect. Do not insert text, images, or other objects as part of the VDE Text Pattern frame. Otherwise, unpredictable results can occur.

XEROX® GLOSSMARK® TECHNOLOGY AND CORRELATION MARK TEXT VDE TEXT PATTERN SWATCH Xerox® GlossMark® Technology Text and Correlation Mark Text VDE Text Pattern effects create a text fill effect using the Xerox Specialty Imaging GlossMark or Correlation Mark Text font. For more information on the Specialty Imaging GlossMark or Correlation Mark Fonts review Using Specialty Imaging Effects.

This effect will fill an object with GlossMark or Correlation Mark Text. This can be used to fill an object on the page.



Before the VDE Text Pattern Swatch can be created, add a GlossMark or Correlation Mark Text color from the Xerox Specialty Imaging Swatch file. Refer to Using a Specialty Imaging color swatch, to Designing documents with GlossMark Text, and to Designing documents with Correlation Mark for more information. Select one of the GlossMark or Correlation Mark text fonts from the font list. The *Text Size* parameter is grayed out as this is set by the selected font.

Set the Font Family option to one of the available Specialty Imaging GlossMark or Correlation Mark text fonts. In the example below SI_NeueClassic-Bold-GL-24 has been selected.

New VDE Text Pattern Swatch	
Name: SI_TP_ Gloss_0	ОК
Text Data: FirstName 🗾 🎞	Cancel
Font Family: SI_NeueClassic-GL	
Font Style: Bold-24	
Font Size: 🔶 24 pt 🚽	
Horizontal Adjustment: 🖨 0.125 in	
Vertical Adjustment: 🖨 0.1875 in	
Rotation (Degrees): 🖨 10	
Text Color: 🛛 [None]	
Apply Clear Dry Ink	
Background Color: SI_GL_Maroon	

The Background Color option will display available SI colors based on the font type such as GlossMark or Correlation. The user must have previously loaded the colors into the swatch panel from the VIPP[®] Swatch file, as described in Creating a Text Pattern Swatch.

Set rotation and vertical and horizontal adjustments as required.

Once the settings are defined, click **OK** to add this swatch to the swatch list. The new swatch can now be used to fill an object.

Note: Text patterns displayed on the InDesign Screen are representations of applied text patterns. The application must be printed to see the actual effect. Do not insert text, images or other objects as part of the VDE Text Pattern frame or unpredictable results may occur.

Xerox Specialty Inks

This chapter contains:

Static and Variable Text	209
Static and Variable Images	211
Objects	213
Paths	214
The Completed Page Layout	215

Use the Xerox Specialty Inks feature to design VIPP[®] based variable data applications targeted to print on VIPP[®]enabled Xerox print devices that support the Xerox Specialty Inks capability.

VDE implementation allows the application of Xerox Specialty Inks to:

- static and variable text either the text outline, text fill or both
- static or variable images
- paths drawn over an object.

The VDE feature allows application of Xerox Specialty Inks using a mouse click. Images do not have to be edited, and Spot Colors or Overprint do not have to be defined, prior to using Xerox Specialty Inks.

When using Xerox Specialty Inks on variable objects, such as text and images, the area of Xerox Specialty Inks will adjust based on the variable text or image size.

Xerox Specialty Inks on unsupported devices

When an application, in which Xerox Specialty Inks is applied using VDE, is sent to a device that does not support Xerox Specialty Inks, gray shading may appear over the areas where the Xerox Specialty Inks was applied. To print the application on a device that does not support Xerox Specialty Inks, first remove that feature from the application.

Proofing and Xerox Specialty Inks in PDFs

When proofing from VDE, the PDF will display the Xerox Specialty Inks adornment. When using the VDE PDF option to generate a production PDF file, the PDF will print with Xerox Specialty Inks on a device that is enabled with CDI. When the PDF is printed at a printer that is not enabled with CDI, gray shading may appear over the areas where Xerox Specialty Inks was applied. If you must print the application on a device that is not Xerox Specialty Inks enabled, you should edit the application to disable the Xerox Specialty Inks effects.

Xerox Specialty Inks

Xerox Specialty Inks is an option on Xerox DC1000/800 devices, supported by FFPS, EFI and DFE's. When designing applications using Xerox Specialty Inks with prior versions of the VI Design Express (and VIPP® Pro Publisher) caching was turned off. This was done because caching with Xerox Specialty Inks is not currently supported by FFPS. The VI Design Express has been modified to test the DFE it is running on, and only turn caching off if running on an FFPS. This allows caching to be used on EFI. Clear, Gold and Silver caveats

Xerox Specialty Inks are applied either as a Clear overprint, which allows the original text color or image to show through, or, in the case of Gold or Silver, as a solid color.

Set the underlying text color for either outline, fill or both to [none] or [Paper] Swatch color when using Gold or Silver as the text outline, text fill or both. If this is not set, the underlying text color will overprint the Xerox Specialty Inks selection.

It is not recommended to use Gold or Silver to fill an image as it will paint over the image.

The following image displays a page layout in Adobe InDesign, with variable data applied using VDE. The document includes static and variable text, static and variable images as well as a round object.



These sections describe how to apply Xerox Specialty Inks to elements in the page layout shown:

- Static and Variable Text
- Static and Variable Images
- Objects
- Paths

Static and Variable Text

The requirement for this page layout is to apply Xerox Specialty Inks to the static text and to the variable text, which is the amount discounted and the first name *David* as shown in the image. These variable text elements change from record to record.

Xerox Specialty Inks can be applied to all the text, to a line in the text, or to a word or a character in the text. The process to apply Xerox Specialty Inks to static or variable text is the same. When you apply the specialty inks to variable text, select the whole variable.

To highlight the text to apply Xerox Specialty Inks, use the Text Tool. You can select an individual character, word, line, or the entire text string. To view the menu, right-click the mouse, then select **VDE Specialty Dry Inks Options**.

VDE Barcode Options
VDE Specialty Dry Inks Options
VDE PIF Options
VDE Chart Options

The context-sensitive VI Design Express Specialty Dry Inks Options screen appears:

Document Specialty Dry Ink: OK Clear Cancel Apply Specialty Dry Ink to: Text fill Text outline The Specialty Dry Inks options can only be used on Xerox printers supporting the Specialty Dry Inks feature. Text fill Text outline The Specialty Dry Inks options can only be used on Xerox printers supporting the Specialty Dry Inks feature. Text Specialty Dry Inks options can only be used on Xerox printers supporting the Specialty Dry Inks feature. The Specialty Dry Inks feature. 	

Select the Specialty Dry Ink option that is installed on the target device.

Cle	ear	
~	Clear	1
	Gold	
	Silver	

Select the required option. In most cases, the text is filled with Specialty Dry Ink to create the maximum effect on the printer. You can apply Specialty Dry Ink to the text, to the text outline only, or both. Select the appropriate check boxes for your job.

Note: When you use the Clear option, the clear toner paints over the underlying color to provide a shiny coat to the text outline, text fill, or both, depending on the option that you select. For the Gold or Silver option,

set the underlying text outline, fill, or both, depending on the option that you select for Paper or None. Failure to set the underlying text outline, fill, or both results in the text color knocking out the Gold or Silver color selected.

When the *Highlighted Fields* option is selected in the VDE panel, text that has Xerox Specialty Inks applied is adorned with a pink box as shown in the following example.

Ender Burley Burley Burley Burley Burley



- A pink box with no outline indicates that a text fill has been applied.
- A pink box with no fill indicates that a text outline has been applied.
- A pink box with fill and outline indicates that both text fill and outline have been

applied. This process can be repeated for all text on the page that needs Xerox Specialty

Inks applied.

TEXT LIMITATIONS

When you apply Xerox Specialty Inks to static or variable text, the text frame cannot contain graphical elements. Graphical elements include hairlines, lines, and shapes that are inserted or linked in the text frame. For the text, you cannot use Tint, Gradient, or Mixed Ink swatches.

Static and Variable Images

To apply Xerox Specialty Inks to images, use the Selection tool or arrows. To view the menu, right-click the mouse, then select **VDE Specialty Dry Inks Options**.

VDE Barcode Options
VDE Specialty Dry Inks Options
VDE PIF Options
VDE Chart Options

The context-sensitive VI Design Express Specialty Dry Inks Options screen appears.

ocument Specialty Dry Ink:	ОК
iold 🔍	Cancel
Apply Specialty Dry Ink to:	
Path fill	
Image	
he Specialty Dry Inks options can only be used on	

Select the Specialty Dry Ink color that is installed on the target device.

Clear		
~	Clear	
	Gold	
	Silver	

To apply Specialty Dry Ink over the image, select the check box for **Image**. If the image is variable it is possible that the image size changes from record to record. The Xerox Specialty Inks area that VDE assigns changes, based on the image size.

The Path fill option fills the entire graphic frame. Although Path fill is an available option, it is not used typically. A pink shading is applied over the image to signify that Xerox Specialty Ink has been applied to the area.



Note: To control the size of variable images in your application, refer to Fitting an Image to a Frame.

Objects

Xerox Specialty Inks can be applied to objects, such as circles, squares, and so on, and to hand-drawn paths.

Objects are handled in a similar manner to images. In the original page layout, Xerox Specialty Ink is applied to the red circle to bring attention to the discount percentage amount.

Use the selection tool to select the circle object. To view the context-sensitive VI Design Express Specialty Dry Inks Options screen, right-click, then select the VDE Specialty Dry Inks option.

Design Express Specialty Dry Inks Options	
Document Specialty Dry Ink:	ОК
Gold	Cancel
Apply Specialty Dry Ink to:	
Path fill	
🗆 Image	
The Specialty Dry Inks options can only be used on Xerox printers supporting the Specialty Dry Inks feature.	

Select the Specialty Dry Ink color that is installed on the target device.

Clear		
~	Clear	
	Gold	1
	Silver	

To fill the circle object with Xerox Specialty Ink, select the check box for **Path fill**. The object is filled with a light pink adornment to indicate that the area has Xerox Specialty Inks applied.



Paths

Paths are hand-drawn shapes, created typically using a tool such as the Pencil tool. This method to apply Xerox Specialty Inks can be used when there is no simple shape to use or you want to highlight only a certain area of an image.

In the original document layout, Xerox Specialty Ink is applied to the computer in the blue banner image on the page. The Pencil tool is used to draw a path that is then filled with VDE Xerox Specialty Inks. The image shows the path created by using the Pencil tool. The computer image has been traced with the Pencil tool to create an area that is filled with Xerox Specialty Inks.



Select the Specialty Dry Ink color that is installed on the target device.

VI Design Express Specialty Dry Inks Options	
Document Specialty Dry Ink:	ОК
Gold	Cancel
Apply Specialty Dry Ink to:	
🗆 Path fill	
🗔 Image	
The Specialty Dry Inks options can only be used on Xerox printers supporting the Specialty Dry Inks feature.	2
✓ Clear	1
Gold	1
Silver	

Select the object. To view the VDE Specialty Dry Inks Options screen, right-click. Select the **Path fill** option. The computer image is adorned with the Xerox Specialty Ink coating and the adornment Xerox Specialty Inks: Fill appears.

Specialty Inks and text color

Xerox Specialty Inks can be applied to the text color of a Text Pattern swatch. For more information, refer to Creating a Text Pattern Swatch.

Specialty Inks and underlying detail in a design

When you use Clear as the color option, the original color of the text, path, or image is visible under a layer of Clear toner. When you use Gold or Silver as the color, any underlying detail is lost and replaced with the Gold or Silver color.

For text, the underlying text outline, text fill, or both, or whichever option is selected, for the swatch color, select **none** or **Paper**.

The Completed Page Layout

The following image shows the completed page layout in Adobe® CreativeCloud InDesign and includes the Xerox Specialty Inks adornments over the static and variable elements on the page.



Xerox Specialty Inks
Variable Color

This chapter contains:

Applying a Variable Color to a Frame Stroke or Frame Fill	
Applying a Variable Color to a Monochrome Image	221

Variable color can be applied to a frame fill, frame stroke or to a monochrome image using the Color rule or by applying a variable color field to the frame or monochrome image. When using variable color, the variable color name must be available in the InDesign Swatch panel.

Note: Specialty Imaging colors are not available to the Variable Color rule.

Applying a Variable Color to a Frame Stroke or Frame Fill

Ensure that the colors you want to use are part of the Color Swatch

panel. Select the **Create a new rule** icon.

♦ VI DESIGN EXPRESS	>> •≡
Sample Data File:	
C:\Users\Harriet\Documen	nts\24_XEROX\VI Progra
Asset Folder:	
C:\Users\Harriet\Documen	ts\24_XEROX\ACTI 🛞 🔞
Show User Data	
Highlight Fields	Ŀ
2 a, aaa	0
✓ Data Fields	<u> </u>
<u>T</u> (FullName	Jenni Smith
<u>I</u> Fname	Jenni
I Lname	Smith
T) Addr1	237 Webster Street
T) Addr2	
<u>T</u> (City	Webster
<u>T</u> (State	NY
<u>I</u> Zip	14580
T) Dept	Marketing
<u>T</u> (EmployID	1-64733
ImageNo	64733.jpg
TI Telephone	5855558963
* 00	JUN 8

Enter a name for your rule.

Select the rule type as **Color**.

Rule Name	MyColorFill	
Rule Type	Color	•
Description	Text Text File Graphic File	n
	Style Visibility	
=0 Y=0 K=0	Color	

Select an optional default color or leave as none. The default color is the option that is selected if none of the

conditional statements in the rule are evaluated as true.

Next, to specify the conditional statements for this rule, select the color that to be used when the condition is evaluated to be true. Specify the fields being tested, the type of evaluation, for example, is equal to, not equal to, and so on, then the value you are testing for. To add additional statements, select the large plus + button.

Edit Rule		
Rule Name MyColorFil		
Rule Type Color		
Description Sets variable color based on FirstName		
Default value = 🖉 [None]		+ ±
Value = C=100 M=0 Y=0 K=0 vhen any of the following is true		•
FirstName 💌 🥂 [T] is not equal to (ignore case) 💌 David	- -	÷
Value = C=15 M=100 Y=10 v when any of the following is true	• •	÷
FirstName 💌 🋒 [T] is equal to (ignore case) 💌 Michael		÷
	OK Cance	

In this example, the color rule called *MyColorRule* has a default color of *None*. The color *MyBlue* is selected if the field *FirstName*, regardless of case, is equal to *David*. The color *MyGreen* is selected if the field *FirstName*, regardless of case, is equal to *Carlo* and the color *MyRed* is selected if the field *FirstName*, regardless of case, is equal to *Jane*.

When you have finished building the color rule, to save, select **OK**. The rule *MyColorRule* is added to the VDE Object list in the Rules section.

The method to apply the rule is the same method that is used to apply a variable color from a data base field. As with a color rule, it is important to verify that the swatch panel does include a color name as defined in the data base field. If a color name used in a data field or rule is not present in the swatch panel, the default color *White* is used.

The variable color rule or data field can be applied to either the frame stroke or frame fill, based on the setting controlled by the Variable Color toggle button.

♦ VI DESIGN E	XPRESS			++	∗≣
Sample Data F	ile:				
C:\Users\Harri	et\Docume	ents\24_XE	ROX\VI	Progra	Q,
Asset Folder:					
C:\Users\Harri	et\Docume	ents\24_XE	ROXIAC		B
Show User	r Data			7	
Highlight F	ields				귭
▲ 2 ▼2	<u>a aaa</u>	Γ			Q
Data Field	5				
Data Trans	sforms				
*	0	0 TI		5 8	
	-			and the second second	

The circled area in the example shows the toggle button that controls the selection of the frame fill or frame stroke. In the image, the filled box is on top, which indicates that the selected option is Frame Fill. When the toggle button is set to Frame Stroke, the outline box is on top. To toggle back and forth, use this toggle button.

To apply a variable color to a Frame Fill

- Select the frame to apply the color rule and a variable color field.
- Set the toggle button to Frame Fill
- Double click the color rule and a variable color field to

apply To apply a variable color to a Frame Stroke

- Select the frame to apply the color rule and a variable color field.
- Set the Frame Stroke Size.
- Set the toggle button to Frame Stroke.
- Double click the color rule to apply, or select the rule, then right-click and select the Insert Object:

rulename. Scroll through your records to verify the operation and verify your logic.

To disable the rule, select the frame, then using the InDesign Fill/stroke options, set the fill or stroke to **None**. Alternatively, to delete the rule, select the rule, then right-click and select **Delete Rule**.

Applying a Variable Color to a Monochrome Image

Variable color can be applied to monochrome images. This is ignored when used on color images. Use the variable color to assign a color to a monochrome image, such as a logo or mascot image.

- Ensure that the colors you want to use are part of the Color Swatch panel.
- Create a variable rule and a variable color field, as previously shown.
- Select the image to which you want to apply the variable color rule. To make this selection, use the Direct Selection Tool white arrow.
- Apply the **variable color rule**, as previously shown.

Variable Color

VDE Business Charts

This chapter contains:

Business Chart Options	224
VI Design Express Chart Options	225

VI Design Express can generate pie, line, and bar charts driven by variable data. Chart attributes such as 2-D or 3-D, fill pie or half pie, legends, etc., are available to control the look of the business chart.

Business Charts are accessed by right-clicking on a graphic frame in your design and selecting the VDE Chart Options panel.

Note: For additional details, refer to Xerox[®] FreeFlow[®] Variable Information Suite Easy Start for Transactional Hotel Invoice Creation Using Xerox FreeFlow VI Design Express that contains instructions and sample charts on www.xerox.com.

Business Chart Options

VI Design Express Chart options are used to generate data-driven business charts in your document. Pie, line, and bar charts are supported. Several options are available to enhance the appearance of the chart, including 3-D options and custom color selections.

Examples of Business Charts:



The steps to create a pie, line, and bar chart follow the same process:

- 1. If you plan to use custom colors for your chart, before you create the chart, define those colors in the Swatches panel, so that the colors are available for selection.
- 2. Create a graphic frame at the location on the page where the business chart will appear. The size of the graphic frame is used as the size of the business chart, including scale, labels, and legends, if used.
- 3. With the graphic frame active, right-click then select **VDE Chart options** The VI Design Express Chart Options dialog box opens.
- 4. Select the chart type, then select the chart options for that type of chart.
- 5. Select the data elements that are used to drive the chart. If necessary, before step 1, create data transforms or rules that contain the correct data. The data fields, rules, or data transforms selected can contain numeric data only.
- 6. Preview the chart using the **Preview** option in the Chart Options dialog.
- 7. Make adjustments to the options as necessary.

VI Design Express Chart Options

To create a business chart, draw a graphic frame on your document. Make the graphic frame the size you want the chart, including labels and so on, to appear in your document.

With the graphic frame active, right-click the graphic frame, then select VDE Chart Options.



The VI Design Express Chart Options dialog opens.

The Chart Type option is used to select the chart type. Use this **Chart Type** menu to select either **Bar Chart**, **Line Chart**, or **Pie Chart**.



SELECTING INPUT DATA



The VI Design Express Chart Options panel lists all the available data fields, rules, and data transforms in the Variable Data area. Only select data fields, rules, and data transforms that contain numeric data. If you choose a field that contains non-numeric data, an error appears when you select **Preview**. To clear the error, remove the field from the Input Data list.

To select fields, highlight the fields you want in the Variable Data list. If the fields you need are consecutive, hold the **Shift** key while you make the selection. Alternatively, use the **Ctrl** key when selecting a field. Selected fields are highlighted.

After you make the selection, click the arrow.



This action transfers those selected fields from the Variable Data list to the Input Data list.

To remove a field from the Input Data list, highlight the field, then select **X**. You can use the **Shift** key or **Ctrl** key to make multiple selections.

To change the order the fields appear in the Input Data list, select the field or fields you want to move, then select the up or down arrow.



After you have selected the data fields to be used in the chart, you can change the label and assign a swatch color to each chart segment. If you choose not to assign a color, VI Design Express assigns a default color.

<u>T</u> Apple	
Label:	Apple
Color:	C=75 M=5 Y=100 💌
<u>I</u> Orange	
Label:	Orange
Color:	C=15 M=26 Y=100 💌
I Lemon	
Label:	Lemon
Color:	C=0 M=0 Y=100 K=0 V

Note: If the Color option is grayed out, the VI Design Express default colors are used. To activate manual color selection, select the **Specify Colors for input data** check box in the Chart Options panel. After you select this check box, you can use the Color menu to select a color from the swatches list.

BAR AND LINE CHART OPTIONS

The Chart Options section of the VI Design Express Chart Options dialog is used to assign specific chart options.

Some options can appear grayed out because another option needs to be selected to enable those options. For example, the 3D Angle dialog is grayed out until **3D** is selected. After **3D** is selected, you can use the 3D Angle dialog to increase or decrease the 3D viewing angle of the chart elements.

The options shown are the standard Chart Options available for Bar and Line charts. A slightly different selection of options are available for the pie chart.

	☑ 3D	Ľ	0.3	
	Show bar bo	orders		
	Specify colo	rs for input da	ata	
Background Color:	None]			
Chart Direction:	Bottom-up			
Chart Scale:	Left			
Show Labels:	By X-axis			
	Show input	data values		
Font:	Arial		Regular	

The following table describes each option in more detail.

3D	Select this option to create a 3D chart. The viewing angle of the 3D chart can be adjusted by the control to the right of the option. If this option is not selected, a 2D chart is generated.
3D Angle	Value between 0.1 and 1. Specifies the 3D angle of the bar or line segments if the 3D check box is selected. Use the up or down arrows to adjust the angle setting or type in a value.
Show Bar/Line borders	Select this option if you want to draw a line around each data segment of the chart. The default is not selected.
Specify colors for input data	Select this check box to enable the assignment of swatch colors to each chart segment. This option enables you to select the Color option for each chart element in the Input Data section of the dialog.
Background Color	This option assigns a background color for the chart.
Chart Direction	Use this menu to select the chart direction.
Chart Scale	Use this option to select the placement of the scale. If no scale is required, set this option to Off .
Show Labels	Options are:

	Off
	Labels are not printed.
	By X-axis
	Labels print on the X Axis.
	At Data Point
	Labels print at each data point of a line chart.
	At End of Bar
	Labels print at end of each bar in a bar chart.
	As Legend
	Labels print as a legend.
Show input data values	This option shows data values. You can select a font and font attributes. This option is grayed out when Show Label is set to At End of Bar or At Data Point .
Font	Type face used for chart labels and values.

PIE CHART OPTIONS

The Pie chart options differ slightly from the Bar or Line chart options. The options that differ are noted in the following list:

Pie Chart Options		
	<mark>⊲</mark> 3D	0.3
	Show pie slice borders	
	Specify colors for input	t data
Half Pie:	Off	
	Exploded Pie Chart	
Show Labels:	Around Pie with Percenta	iges 🛛 👻
Font:	Arial	▼ Regular ▼
	🛊 12 pt 🔻	

3D	Select this option to create a 3D pie chart. The viewing angle of the 3D pie chart can be adjusted by the control to the right of the option. If this option is not selected, a 2D chart is generated.
3D Angle	Value between 0.1 and 1. Specifies the 3D angle of segments if the 3D check box is selected. Use the up or down arrows to adjust the angle setting or type in a value.
Show Bar/Line borders	Select this option if you want to draw a line around each data segment of the chart. The default is not selected.
Specify colors for input data	Select this box to enable the assignment of swatch colors to each chart segment. When you select this option, you can select the Color option for each chart element in the Input Data section of the dialog.
Half Pie	Three options are available:
	Off This option generates a full circle pie chart. Top Half This option generates a full circle pie chart.

	Bottom Half
	This option generates a half pie chart, bottom half of the circle.
Exploded Pie Chart	Select this box to explode the pie chart.
Show Labels	Four options are available:
	Off
	No labels are visible.
	Around Pie
	Labels print outside of the pie chart.
	Around Pie with Percentages
	Labels with Percentage values print outside the pie chart.
	As Legend
	This option prints a legend to the right of the pie chart.
Font	Type face used for chart labels and values.

PREVIEW

To preview a display of the chart, select **Preview** at the bottom of the dialog. It can take a minute to render the first preview. After the first preview is rendered, the following previews render much faster. It is recommended that you select the **Automatic preview** check box, which regenerates the preview when most of the chart options are changed.

The preview displays how the chart and labels will appear on the graphic frame on your page. If labels or legends fall outside the white image area that represents the graphic frame, adjust the margins until all labels and legends are within the white square.

Select **Record** to scroll from record to record, to display a preview for each record.

MARGINS

The Margins panel is used to position the chart in the graphic frame so that the chart and any labels or legends remain within the width and height of the graphic frame created to hold the chart.

When adjusting margins, use the **Preview** option to review the changes you have made.



To select the preview option click **Preview**. It can take a minute to render the first preview. After the first preview is rendered, the following previews render much faster. It is recommended that you select the **Automatic preview** check box, which regenerates the preview when most options are changed.

The preview image shows how the chart and labels will appear on the graphic frame on your page. If labels or legends fall outside the white image area that represents the graphic frame, adjust the margins until all labels and legends are within the white square.

To view margin guidelines in the preview panel, select the **Show guides** check box.

When you are satisfied with your chart and the chart options selected, to create the business graphic in your design, click **OK**. Otherwise, to abort the creation of the business graphic, select **Cancel**.

ADVANCED VIPP® DDG PARAMETERS

While the available VI Design Express Chart Options described satisfy most business chart needs, there are some advanced options you can select to fine-tune your chart.

To access the advanced options, activate the VIPP® DDG Parameters by selecting the **Show advanced VIPP DDG parameters** check box in the Interface option under the FreeFlow VI Design Express Preferences menu.

To access the FreeFlow VI Design Express Preferences dialog, choose the **Preferences for VDE panel** menu shown here:

			-
	-	-	-
			-

≎ VI Design Express	44 ×
Sample Data File:	
C:\Users\U5970513\Desktop\JANE\	DDGtest.bt 🔂 🔁
Asset Folder:	
	⊗ ₿

From the menu, select Preferences....

≎ VI Design Express	License
Sample Data File:	Preferences
Asset Folder:	VI Compose Printer License Modify PDFs with Embedded EPS
☐ Show User Data ☑ Highlight Fields	About FreeFlow VI Design Express
€1 <u>a</u> aaa	User Guide

The FreeFlow VI Design Express Preferences panel opens. Select **Show advanced VIPP DDG parameters**.

Interface	Export Settings	Font Export Options
Maximum sam	ple data records: [\$ 500
		The maximum number of records to be shown in the VI Design Express panel.
Maximum X	ML data file size:	€ 128
		The maximum size in KB of the XML file. The range is between 64 KB and 5120 KB.
Defau	It field delimiter:	O None
		⊖ Tab
		⊖ Space
		• Other ,
D-G-Ib-I		
Default d	ecimal delimiter:	
		Show advanced VIPP DDG parameters

This action adds the following button to the Chart Option panels at the top-right corner.

DDG Parameters

The DDG parameters shown are applicable to the chart type selected. Changing the chart type results in different options being displayed.

DDG Parameters	Chart Options
Edge Stroke 🖨 0.2	
Size of Legend Spots 🖨 1	
Legend Offset (Horizontal) 🖨 1.2	
Legend Offset (Vertical) 🖨 0	
Space between Bars 🖨 0.4	

The DDG Parameters button toggles to display chart options. Click this toggle button to return to the Chart Options panels.

Chart Options

The VIPP® DDG parameters are described as follows:

Edge Stroke	If element borders are shown, this parameter adjusts the thickness: 0.1–2
Size of Legend Spots	Increase or decrease legend spots, if selected: 0.5–2
Legend Offset (Horizontal)	Adjusts the legend offset: -4–2
Legend Offset (Vertical)	Adjusts the legend offset: -2-2
Space between Bars	Adjusts the space between bars, for bar charts only: 0– 1
Draw Line from Origin	Adds a line element from the origin to the first data point for line charts only: True or False
Burst Amplitude	If a pie chart is exploded, this parameter increases or decreases the amplitude, for pie charts only: 0.1– 1

PIF Options

This chapter contains:

The VDE PIF option inserts a PDF Interactive Feature object into your application. Any PDF Interactive feature placed in the document will not be rendered when printing the application to a VIPP®-enabled print device i.e. hard copy. If you generate PDF output by exporting to VI Design Express PDF, or by processing a .vpc file using VI eCompose, then, when viewing the PDF file using Adobe Acrobat or Reader, these PDF Interactive Features become clickable objects on the page.

The following PDF Interactive objects are supported:

Note This will place a yellow PDF Note Icon

on the page. When clicked, the note will expand to display the note title and content.

URI This will embed a web address into a selectable area of the page. When the mouse hovers over this area the mouse pointer will change and a tool tip will appear with the web address. If the user clicks this area and the user has internet access a browser window will open with the specified web address.

Using VDE PIF Options

Note: It is recommended that you apply a Note PDF Interactive feature to an existing text frame or a graphic frame, or create a new empty text or graphic frame. The advantages of using a text frame or graphic frame that contains text or an image, is that your document has an identifiable object that the user can click to enable the PDF Interactive feature when viewing the PDF output.

Use the information in these sections to walk through the process to apply and delete PIF options:

- Add a Note
- Add a URI
- Delete a VDE PIF option

ADD A NOTE

1. With the frame selected, right-click the frame, then select **VDE PIF Options**.



2. When the VDE PIF Options dialog opens, select the **Enable VDE PIF options** check box.

Enable VDE PIF options	ОК
Туре	Cancel
21 v	
Address	
[

3. From the PIF Type menu, select **Note**. The dialog changes to allow you to enter the note title and note content.

IF Ty	/pe		Cancel
lote			
Titl	e		
M	y Ttile Here		
Cor	ntents		
C	No Applicable Variable Data Objects	-	
۰	This would be where the contents of the VDE PIF note would be. The VDE PIF note is displayed when the user clicks on the yellow note icon.	<u> </u>	

- 4. Enter the note title. The title can be a field or tag from the data file or can be user-defined text.
- 5. Enter the content of the note.
 - Select the top radio button to select a field from the data panel
 - Select the bottom radio button to enter a user-defined text string as shown in the graphic.

6. To complete the VDE PIF option for the note, click **OK**. The VDE PIF Note looks similar to the following:



When the document is exported, the VDE PIF note becomes part of the document. If the document is printed using .vpc output, the VDE PIF Note is not visible. If you export using the VI Design Express PDF output option, or generate PDF from the .vpc file using the FreeFlow VI eCompose (VIPP® to PDF) server, the VDE PIF Note is indicated on the PDF page by a yellow PDF Note icon.



When you click the yellow note icon, the note opens and displays the contents of the note.

ADD A URI

It is recommended that you apply a URI PDF Interactive feature to an existing text frame or a graphic frame, or create a new empty text or graphic frame. The advantages of using a text frame or graphic frame that contains text or an image is that your document has an identifiable object that the user can click to enable the PDF Interactive feature when viewing the PDF output.

1. With the frame selected, right-click the frame, then select **VDE PIF Options**.

 Cut	Ctrl+X	
Сору	Ctrl+C	
Paste	Ctrl+V	
Paste in Place Alt+Shift+	+Ctrl+V	
Zoom		•
Text Frame Options Fill with Placeholder Text	Ctrl+B	
Edit in Story Editor	Ctrl+Y	
Transform		
Transform Again		+
Select		•
Lock	Ctrl+L	
Hide	Ctrl+3	
Stroke Weight		+
Fitting		•
Effects		+
Captions		+
Interactive		•
Tag Frame		+
Autotag		
Display Performance		•
InCopy		+
VDE Barcode Options		
VDE Clear Dry Ink Option:	s	
VDE PIF Options		

2. When the VDE PIF Options dialog opens, select the **Enable VDE PIF options** check box.

DE PIF Options	
Enable VDE PIF options	ОК
PIF Type	Cancel
URI	
Address	

3. From the PIF Type menu, select URI.

Type	Cancel
u 💌	
Address	
www.xerox.com	1 1

The dialog changes to allow you to enter the URI information. You can either type the Web address or you can select a field from the menu. Ensure that the field contains a valid URI.

4. Click OK.

When the document is exported, the VDE PIF URI becomes part of the document. If the document is printed using .vpc output, the VDE PIF URI is not visible. If you export using the VI Design Express PDF output option, or generate a PDF from the .vpc file using the FreeFlow VI eCompose (VIPP® to PDF) server, the VDE PIF URI appears on the PDF page as a tool tip.

David Kirk

Click the content of the frame, which activates the web link in your browser. A browser opens and attempts to load the web address.

DELETE A VDE PIF OPTION

To delete a defined VDE PIF object, follow these steps:

1. With the frame selected, right-click the frame, then select **VDE PIF Options**.

0	-C Cut Copy	CAI+X CAI+C
	Zoom	
This is Xerox	Text Frame Options Fill with Placeholder Edit in Story Editor	Ctrl+B Text Ctrl+Y
	Transform Transform Again Arrange Select	
	Lock Hide Stroke Weight	Ctrl+L Ctrl+3
	Fitting Content	
	Effects Captions Interactive	
	Tag Frame Autotag	
	Display Performance	
	InCopy	
	VDE Barcode Option VDE Clear Dry Ink O	s ptions
	VDE PIF Options	

2. When the VDE PIF Options dialog opens, deselect the **Enable VDE PIF options** check box.

Eachle VDE DIE antiens	
F Туре	Cancel
RI	
Address	

3. To delete the VDE PIF object from your application, select **OK**.

Advanced Functions

This chapter contains:

Activating an Advanced Function	244
Setting Up the BOOKMARK Advanced Function	246
Adding a New Advanced Function	248
Exporting and Importing an Advanced Function	251
Tagging an Advanced Function to a Frame	253
Saving Advanced Functions	257
VIPP® Job Submission to FreeFlow Core and getting status back from FreeFlow Core	262
Submit Job to FreeFlow VI eCompose	268

To insert VIPP® functions that are not available directly and cannot be shown in the InDesign interface, use Advanced Functions. Advanced Functions add VIPP® code directly into the application during the Export process when generating the VPC. Advanced Functions can be used to set a VIPP® BOOKMARK.

The BOOKMARK Advanced Function is available.

Use the BOOKMARK advanced function when the application (VPC file) will be processed using the Xerox FreeFlow VI eCompose server (VIeC). The VIeC server will ingest a VIPP® based VPC file and generate a PDF file as output. If a BOOKMARK is present in the job, the server can optionally split the PDF into separate child PDF files based on a unique identifier in the job, such as an account number or name. The Advanced Function BOOKMARK is used to insert this option and the required parameters into the VPC file during export from VDE. Only one BOOKMARK advanced function is allowed per job.

Activating an Advanced Function

To activate an advanced function, do the following:

1. Select the Advanced Functions icon, which is the cog wheel at the bottom left of the VDE panel.



2. When the Advanced Functions panel appears, to add a VIPP® BOOKMARKK, select **BOOKMARK**.



Setting Up the BOOKMARK Advanced Function

To set a BOOKMARK advanced function, select **BOOKMARK**.

vanced Functions		
Advanced Functions	BOOKMARK	
BOOKMARK	Enable this bookmark	
PDF Bookmark	Input String	
	FullName 🔽	
	Create child PDF files	
	✓ Include bookmark in child PDF files	
	Extended Input String	
	-Include extended input:	
	O In main PDF only	
	In main PDF and VIPO index file	
	C In main PDF, VIPO index file and child PDF files	
	Use activation rule Use activation rule No Applicable Rules Apply on "true" OK Cancel	

Provide the required and optional information for the VIPP® BOOKMARK feature:

- Enable this bookmark: To enable the BOOKMARK option, select the Enable this bookmark check box.
- **Input String**: To ensure that the selected field is unique, Xerox recommends that you use a Transform function to concatenate two or more variable fields. Use the concatenated fields for the Input String.
- **Create Child PDF files**: To generate child PDFs, select this check box. The field is selected by default. You can select fields from the data object list, or enter the string manually. If you do not select the **Create Child PDF files** check box, FreeFlow VI eCompose software does not split the generated PDF.
- Include bookmark in child PDF files: To include the bookmark in the child PDF, select this check box.
- **Extended Input String**: The bookmark allows 256 characters for the input string data that passes to the VIeC Server. If you need more characters for the input string, select this check box. For more information, refer to the BOOKMARK command in the *Xerox*[®] *VIPP*[®] *Language Reference Manual*.
- Include extended input: To describe how to apply the extended bookmark, select one of the three options:

- In main PDF only
- In main PDF and VIeC index file (default)
- In main PDF, VIeC index file and child PDF files
- Use activation Rule: To enable the BOOKMARK function based on the result of a previously defined VDE Text Rule, select the Use activation Rule check box.

Note: The applicable rules are included in the Activation Rules list. The BOOKMARK function is activated for a given record only when the evaluation result of the selected activation rule is set to **TRUE**.

Adding a New Advanced Function

1. In the Advanced Function screen, click the plus (+) icon at the bottom-left corner of the screen.



2. A new dialog box appears. In the Function Name field, type the name, then click OK.



3. To enable the Advanced Function file, select the check box for **Enable Advanced Function**.

4. Enter the VIPP® code in the VIPP Command Statements text area.



5. To insert data fields, data transforms, or rules, right-click the text area, then from the context menu, choose the appropriate data to be inserted in the VIPP[®] code.



6. After you complete the function codes, click **OK**.

Exporting and Importing an Advanced Function

- 1. To export an advanced function, access the **Advanced Functions** window, then select the advanced function that you want to export.
- 2. At the bottom of the screen, click the export icon.
- 3. For an export name, enter the file name in that location that contains the .dat extension.



4. For the import function, access the **Advanced Functions** window. At the bottom of the screen, click the import icon. A dialog box opens.

5. In the dialog box, select the APT.dat file that you want to import.



The imported advanced function appears in the list. If the imported advanced function has the same name as an existing function, the software renames the function to <<advancedfunc(1)>>
Tagging an Advanced Function to a Frame

- 1. To tag an advanced function to a frame, in the Advanced Functions screen, click the advanced function that you want to add to a frame.
- 2. In the list, select **Execute this command > Insert in a frame**, then click **OK**.



3. Select the frame where you want to enable the advanced function options.

4. Right-click the frame, then select **VDE Advanced Function Options**.



- 5. From the list, for the AF Name, select the APT Advanced Function that you want to associate to the document frame.
- 6. In the VDE Advanced Function Options dialog box, click Insert code before or Insert code after. Click OK.

VDE Advanced	I Function Options				
AF Name	ShowName		\square	ОК	\supset
				leset	\supset
O In	sert code before				
🔿 In	isert code after				

PLACING THE VIPP[®] CODE WITHIN THE JOB STRUCTURE

The following are the Custom Actions that determine where to place the VIPP[®] code within the job structure to create Advanced Functions in the Custom Actions execution context.

At Start Of Job

When you use **At Start Of Job** option, the VIPP[®] command is placed in the JDT file of the VI Project Container and is executed at the start of job.

For example:

(Page #) 1 4 SETPAGENUMBER

At Start Of Document

When you use the **At Start Of Document** option, the VIPP[®] command is placed inside the DBM file of the VI Project Container and is executed at the start of the document.

For example:

/NTMR 14 SETFONT

100 100 MOVETO

(Text to Display) SHL

At End Of Document

At End Of Document option is similar to At Start Of Document option. When you use the At End Of Document option, the VIPP[®] command is placed inside the DBM file of the VI Project Container and is executed at the end of the document.

At Start Of Each Page

When you use the **At Start Of Each Page** option, the VIPP[®] code is placed inside { } BEGINPAGE, where BEGINPAGE defines actions to be performed at the beginning of each page.

Place the BEGINPAGE procedure before any marking commands, including the MOVETO command on the current page. If you place the BEGINPAGE command after a marking command, the BEGINPAGE command is not executed for the current page and is discarded by the PAGEBRK command at the end of the page.

For example:

```
IF CPCOUNT 2 eq {
```

```
/NCRB 0 SETFONT
```

}

ELSE {

```
/NCRB 20 SETFONT
```

}

ENDIF

Before End Of Each Page

When you use the **Before End Of Each Page** option, the VIPP® code is placed inside {} ENDPAGE.

ENDPAGE is used to define actions that the system performs at the end of each page, for example:

{

/NHE 20 SETFONT

11 15 MOVETO

(This is a sample text) SH

} ENDPAGE

After End Of Each Page

When you use the **After End Of Each Page** option, the VIPP[®] code is placed inside { } / P ENDPAGE.

Saving Advanced Functions

When you generate the VPC or PDF, Advanced Functions allow you to enter the VIPP® commands directly into the application during the export process. After you close InDesign, these advanced functions cannot be retained unless you explicitly export and import the VPC or PDF. The purpose of this feature is to save the advanced function globally for a specific device.

In the Advanced Functions panel, to save the advanced function permanently, select **Save Advanced Function**. You can disable this check box upon launch. After you enter the VIPP[®] code in the VIPP[®] Command Statements text area, the Save Advanced Function check box enables.



When you relaunch the application or create a document, the Advanced Function panel is populated with the saved advanced functions, as shown in the following figure:

Advanced Functions Advanced Functions (i) Advanced Functions $(\mathbf{\hat{l}})$ Introduction Advanced functions provide the capability to extend the VIPP functional application with actions that cannot be created within InDesign. You she functions if you are familiar with the VIPP language, as no validation wil the VI Design Express plug-in. BOOKMARK Т PDF Bookmark DrawB The advanced functions are: User-defined Function BOOKMARK: This allows you to create a VIPP BOOKMARK. A VIPP BOOKMARK is only processed when the VPC file is sent to the FreeFlow VI eCompose. A VIPP BOOKMARK can be used to create child PDF files based on a unique identifier in the application, such as an account number or name. Refer to the VIPP Command Reference manual for further doubted. PrintDate User-defined Function details. User-defined: This allows you to enter VIPP Commands into your application. The VIPP code will be executed at the insertion point of the advanced function. Warning: Incorrect usage may prevent the document from successfully printing. + -Cancel OK

DELETING SAVED ADVANCED FUNCTIONS

To delete saved advanced functions, click the delete - button, as shown in the following figure:

Advanced Functions Introductor BOOMMAR BOOMMAR ACF Restmark Dr mil Lear-schinal Function	PrintDate Enable this function VIPP Command Statements //WE 15 SETFONT (Printed on di ST_HH:ST_MA:ST_SJ, VS)	The store is a second standard in the second store is a second store of the second store is a second store of the second store is a second store of the second store o
Stan-defined Ainclan		
	Execute this command: At start of job	v aniv en "mue"
• •	• No Applicable Rules	OK Cancel

A prompt appears to confirm that you want to delete advanced functions from the saved path.



SETTING THE PATH FOR SAVING ADVANCED FUNCTIONS

By default, the Advanced Function feature saves files to the C:\Users\UserName\documents \AdvancedFunction path. An Advanced Function folder is created in the C:\Users\UserName \documents\ path. Each advanced function is saved to this path as separate .DAT files. The selected path appears in the FreeFlow VI Design Express Preferences dialog.

FreeFlow VI Design Express Preferences	
Interface Export Settings Font Ex	port Options OMR Configuration
Maximum sample data records:	\$ 500
	The maximum number of records to be shown in the VI Design Express panel.
Maximum XML data file size:	0 128
	The maximum size in KB of the XML file. The range is between 64 KB and 5120 KB.
Default field delimiter:	O None
	🔾 Tab
	⊖ Space
	• Other ,
Default decimal delimiter:	Period (.) ~
	Show advanced VIPP DDG parameters
Select Advanced Functions Save Folder Path:	C:\Users\sarbeena.s/documents/AdvancedFunction/
	Browse)
(Restore All Defaults)	

To change the path to the required location, click **Browse...**.

A file open dialog box appears, where you can select the folder path. Click **Select Folder**. The selected path appears in the path text field. After you click **OK**, a prompt appears to confirm that you want to copy the existing saved advanced function to the new path shown, as shown in the following figure:

FreeFlow VI Design Exp	press Preferences				
	Interface	Export Settings Fo	nt Export Options	OMR Configuration	
			ize: 🗘 128		
	Adobe InDesign		The second second	- STEATES WILLS THE	bebwen
	Would previoe C:\Us	d you like to Copy existi ous path to newly chose ers\sarbeena.s/docume	g Advanced Functi n path? nts/AdvancedFund	on from the following ton/ OK Cancel	C C
			Show adv		
			ath: C:\VDE_Adv	anced\	

If you click OK, all the previously saved advanced functions are copied to the selected path. Any future advanced functions from InDesign are saved to this path.

CREATING A VPC FILE COMPATIBLE WITH XEROX $^{\circ}$ FREEFLOW $^{\circ}$ CORE FOR SPLITTING BASED ON RECORDS

A VPC file created from Xerox[®] FreeFlow[®] VI Design Express can be used by Xerox[®] FreeFlow[®] Core where a workflow contains a split node. The split node will be able to split the contents based on Variable Data Records.

The FreeFlow Core workflow must be configured where the Job Options File setting is PDFX3 2003.joboptions or PDFX3 2003 JPN.joboptions. This will convert the VPC file from VI Design Express to a PDF/VT file that can be processed by the split node.

To enable the file creation from FreeFlow VI Design Express, use the Advanced Functions and perform the following:

- 1. Add a new Advanced function using the section Adding a New Advanced Function.
- 2. Enter the VIPP® code STARTOFSET in the VIPP® Command Statements text area.
- 3. Select Execute this command option to At start of document.
- 4. Select **OK** to close the Advanced Function dialog.
- 5. Submit the job to Xerox[®] FreeFlow[®] Core. For more information, refer to the VIPP[®] Job Submission to FreeFlow Core and getting status back from FreeFlow Core.

VIPP® Job Submission to FreeFlow Core and getting status back from FreeFlow Core

PREREQUISITES TO SUBMIT JOB TO FREEFLOW CORE

To submit VPC files to FreeFlow Core, the FreeFlow Core must have a valid Variable Data license installed. If you do not have a valid license, you need to contact your Xerox Sales representative to obtain a license file. Store the license file in a safe location on your system.

Enabling FreeFlow Core Job Submission during Installation

To submit the jobs from VDE to FreeFlow Core, you need to select the option for FreeFlow Core job submission during installation. After Installation, you need to restart the computer to run the service automatically.

Opening Port in FreeFlow Core Machine

Inbound and Outbound rules should be created for port 7751 in the machine where FreeFlow Core is installed, refer to Setting Inbound and Outbound Rules.

Opening Port in VDE Machine

If Firewall is On, Inbound and Outbound rules should be created for listener port. If it is off, no need to create inbound and outbound rules for listener port. Refer to Setting Inbound and Outbound Rules.

Default listener port is 8010. User can change the listener port in VPPconfig. file, if VDE does not show job status after job submission in FreeFlow Core Job Status Dialog. Inbound and Outbound rules should be created for the new port and a service restart is required

Configure FreeFlow Core IP Address in Preferences Dialog

Go to the VDE menu bar and select **Preferences**, then select the **FreeFlow Core** tab. In DNS Name or IP Address option, enter the DNS name or IP address of the machine in which FreeFlow Core is installed.

FREEFLOW VI DESIGN EXPRESS JOB STATUS SERVICE PORT CONFIGURATION

FreeFlow VI Design Express uses 4006 as default port to host the service.

To configure the port, perform the following steps:

- Change the **VDEServicePort** value in C:\ProgramData\Xerox\VIPP\VPP\VPPconfig.ini file.
- Change the connector port value in server.xml file. In Windows, server.xml is located in C:\Program Files (x86)\Xerox\VIPP\VDE\apache-tomcat-9.0.71\conf\server.xml.In macOs, server.xml is located in /Applications/Xerox/VIPP/VPP/apache-tomcat-9.0.71/conf/server.xml.
- Restart the computer or service to run the service using new port.

Job Status for Polling Interval

This option updates the job status and also delete the jobs which are deleted in Xerox[®] FreeFlow Core. Default value is 10 minutes which can be modified to get the job status according to the given time interval.

FREEFLOW CORE TAB IN PREFERENCES PANEL

FreeFlow Core tab defines the configuration of the FreeFlow Core job submission and job status. FreeFlow Core tab has three settings.

DNS Name or IP Address

FreeFlow VI Design Express Preferences

DNS Name or IP Address of the machine in which FreeFlow Core is installed should be entered in this option.

Job status for Polling Interval

This option sets the default interval for polling deleted jobs at FreeFlow Core. Default value is 10 min. Allowable range is 1-60 min.

SUBMIT JOB TO FREEFLOW CORE

Click the **Submit to PDF Server** button next to the **Select PDF Server**: menu in the VDE panel. The Submit to FreeFlow Core dialog appears. To determine which button to use, allow the cursor to hover over any of the buttons on the VDE panel. A tool tip is displayed.

Except PDF Creation Settings, other panels can be configured similar to Create VI Project Container panel.

Advanced Functions

Project Settings	Deniver Soltinger		
Print Settings Multi-Up	Project Settings	Devices Norma	
flattening	VIDesignExpress	Untitled-1	
neola and Hinishing Specialty Imaging Printing	Production Data File		
PDF Creation Settings			
	Record Buffer Size	(<u>Clear</u>	Browse
	Ignore Missing Resources		
	Include assets in project		
resets			
None			
Settings [None]	□ Include job ticket		
	Include CIP3/4 file		
	Proof VI Project Container after Export		
	□ Include SI screen fonts in VPC		
	Do not use "Foot Export Ontions"		
	Matthe DDEs in Asset Folder with Embadded EDC		
+ Apply Settings	Li Pioury Pors in Asset Forder with Embedded EPS		

FREEFLOW CORE SUBMISSION SETTINGS

The FreeFlow Core Submission Settings panel consist of these options:

Submit to FreeFlow Core

Project Settings	DDE Creation Settings		
Print Settings	Tor creator scangs		
Multi-Up	FreeFlow Core Submission Se	ttings	
Flattening			
Media and Finishing	Joh Nama:	Untitled-1	
Specialty Imaging Printing	JOD Name.	onded 1	
PDF Creation Settings	Workflow Destination:		
Presets			
None			
Settings			
[None]			
+ - Apply Settings			
			OK Cancel

Job Name

Name of the job which sent to FreeFlow Core. This job name is shown in VDE and FreeFlow Core UI. The default job name is the InDesign file name.

Workflow Destination

Lists the workflows from the FreeFlow Core to which the job will be sent. Click **OK** button to submit vpc file to the selected FreeFlow Core workflow destination.

FREEFLOW CORE JOB STATUS

Click the **PDF Server Status** button next to the **Select PDF Server:** menu in the VDE panel, the FreeFlow Core Job Status dialog appears. To determine which button to use, allow the cursor to hover over any of the buttons on the VDE panel. A tool tip is displayed.

FreeFlow Co	ore Job Statu	5			1. S.
		All Jobs Ad	tive Jobs Completed Jobs	Failed Jobs Cancell	ed Jobs
	Job ID	Job Name	Status In WorkFlow	WorkFlow Name	Printer Destination
D	232	TestJob2	Failed	testprint	
•	231	TestJob1	Completed	join	
	efresh			C	OK Delete
				C	

Note: The jobs submitted from VDE to FreeFlow Core is shown in FreeFlow Core Job Status dialog box.

Refresh

To update the status of jobs in all the tabs in FreeFlow Core Job Status, click this button

Auto Refresh

VDE updates the job status in all the tabs for every 1 min by default. Auto refresh interval can be configured in **Preferences > FreeFlow Core**.

Delete

To delete the selected jobs from VDE UI, click this button. The selected jobs will not be deleted in FreeFlow Core.

SETTING INBOUND AND OUTBOUND RULES

Open **Windows Defender Firewall with Advanced Security**. If the Domain Profile Windows Firewall is On, you need to set the inbound and outbound rules for the listener port.

File Action View Helm			
a at an Iz an			
		-	
Indows Firewall with Advanced Sec	Windows Hirewall with Advanced Security on Local Computer		Actions
Outbound Rules Outbound Rules Connection Security Rules Monitoring	Windows Frewall with Advanced Security provides network security for Windows computers.	^	Windows Firewall with Adva
	Overview		Restore Default Policy
	Domain Profile is Active		Diagnose / Repair
	I Windows Firewall is on		View
	O Inbound connections that do not match a rule are blocked.		G Refrech
	Outbound connections that do not match a rule are allowed.		
	Private Profile		Properties
	🥩 Windows Firewall is on.		Help
	S Inbound connections that do not match a rule are blocked.		
	Outbound connections that do not match a rule are allowed.		
	Public Profile		
	B Windows Firewall is on.		
	S Inbound connections that do not match a rule are blocked.		
	Outbound connections that do not match a rule are allowed.		
	Windows Firewall Properties		
	Getting Started		
	Authenticate communications between computers		
	Create connection security rules to specify how and when connections between computers are authenticated and protected by using intomet Protocol security (IPsec).		
	Conneting Congress Dalam	v	
2	N		1

Creating an Inbound Port Rule

- 1. Open the Group Policy Management Console in Windows Defender Firewall with Advanced Security.
- 2. In the navigation pane, click Inbound Rules.
- 3. Click Action, and then click New Rule.
- 4. On the Rule Type page of the New Inbound Rule Wizard, click Port > Next.
- On the Protocol and Ports page, select TCP and Specific local ports option. Enter the port (Listener port at VI Design Express installed machine or 7751 port at FreeFlow Core installed machine) and then click Next.
- 6. On the Action page, select **Allow the connection**, and then click **Next**.
- 7. On the Profile page, select All and then click Next.
- 8. On the Name page, type a name and description for your rule, and then click **Finish**.

Creating an Outbound Port Rule

- 1. Open the Group Policy Management Console to Windows Defender Firewall with Advanced Security.
- 2. In the navigation pane, click **Outbound Rules**.
- 3. Click Action, and then click New Rule.
- 4. On the Rule Type page of the New Inbound Rule Wizard, click Port > Next.
- 5. On the Protocol and Ports page, select TCP and Specific local ports option. Enter port (Listener port at VI Design Express installed machine or 7751 port at FreeFlow Core installed machine) and then click **Next**.
- 6. On the Action page, select **Allow the connection**, and then click **Next**.
- 7. On the Profile page, select **All** and then click **Next**.
- 8. On the Name page, type a name and description for your rule, and then click **Finish**.

Submit Job to FreeFlow VI eCompose

PREREQUISITES TO SUBMIT JOB TO FREEFLOW VI ECOMPOSE

Configure FreeFlow VI eCompose User Root in Preferences Dialog

Go to the VDE menu bar and select **Preferences**, then select the **FreeFlow VI eCompose** tab. In Select PDF Server option, enter or browse the root directory of VI eCompose users on the VI eCompose server.

FREEFLOW VI ECOMPOSE TAB

FreeFlow VI eCompose tab defines the configuration of the FreeFlow VI eCompose job submission and job status.

FreeFlow VI eCompose tab has below setting.



In Select PDF Server option, enter or browse the root directory of VI eCompose users on the VI eCompose server.

Note: Ensure that the login user name has user account in the VI eCompose server. For more details, contact the VI eCompose administrator.

SUBMIT TO FREEFLOW VI ECOMPOSE



Click the **Submit to PDF Server** button next to the **Select PDF Server**: menu in the VDE panel. The Submit to FreeFlow VI eCompose dialog appears. To determine which button to use, allow the cursor to hover over any of the buttons on the VDE panel. A tool tip is displayed.

Except PDF Creation Settings, other panels can be configured to Create VI Project Container panel.

FREEFLOW VI ECOMPOSE SUBMISSION SETTINGS

The FreeFlow VI eCompose Submission Settings panel is part of PDF Creation Settings tab and consists of following options:

Advanced Functions

Submit to FreeFlow VI eCompose

Project Settings		
Print Settings	PDF Creation Settings	
Multi-Up		
Flattening		
Media and Finishing		
Specialty Imaging Printing		
PDF Creation Settings		
Presets None		
	FreeFlow VI eCompose Submission Settings	
Settinos		
[None]	Uran Manuari anianunari a	
	oser warnet rajeswarite	
	Job Name: Untitled-1	
	Job Profile: <default> <</default>	
A REAL PROPERTY AND A REAL		
Apply Settings		
		Cancel

User Name

User name field is default field.

It is derived from the OS login user name.

Job Name

Name of the job which is sent to FreeFlow VI eCompose. This job name will be shown in VDE and FreeFlow VI eCompose user interface. By default, job name is the InDesign file name.

Job Profile

Lists the job profiles from the FreeFlow VI eCompose to which the job can be

sent. To submit vpc file to the FreeFlow VI eCompose server, click **OK**.

FREEFLOW VI ECOMPOSE JOB STATUS

Click the **PDF Server Status** button next to the **Select Server Destination for PDF Creation** menu in the VDE panel. The FreeFlow VI eCompose Job Status dialog appears. To determine which button to use, allow the cursor to hover over any of the buttons on the VDE panel. A tool tip is displayed.

FreeF	low VI eCompose Job Status					
	Job Name	Job Status		Pages Distilled	Pages Split	Files Generated
٥	MN_Test_vpc_2022_12_08_19_40_48_144	Splitting	0	1200 pages	135 pages	135 files
	MN_Test_vpc_2022_12_08_16_21_44_020	Complete	0	1200 pages distilled	1200 pages split	1200 files generated
	VDE_Test_vpc_2022_12_07_19_46_41_817	Complete	0	1200 pages distilled	1200 pages split	1200 files generated
	Brazil_Test_vpc_2022_12_02_11_39_22_261	Cancelled	0	1200 pages distilled	363 pages split	363 files generated
	MN_Lang_Test_vpc_2022_12_01_23_53_36_194	Failed	0	0 pages distilled	0 pages split	0 files generated
	Win_Samp_1_vpc_2022_12_01_23_49_57_704	Failed	0	0 pages distilled	0 pages split	0 files generated
	Win_Samp_vpc_2022_12_01_23_47_50_255	Failed	0	O pages distilled	ð pages split	0 files generated
	Refresh Cancel Selected Job					ОК

The jobs submitted from VDE to FreeFlow VI eCompose will be shown in FreeFlow VI eCompose Job Status dialog.

Refresh

Click this button to update the status of jobs in FreeFlow VI eCompose Job Status.

Cancel Selected Job

Click this button to cancel the selected job from submitting to the FreeFlow VI eCompose server.

Advanced Functions

Data Transforms

This chapter contains:

Create Data Transform Panel	274
User Input Masks	281
Arithmetic Expressions	282
Creating an Arithmetic Expression Data Transform	283

Data Transforms allow the application of data transformations and formatting options to text in the document. For example, Title Case transforms can be applied to Name and Address data to ensure that the first letter is always capitalized; or, currency symbols and delimiters can be added to a numeric value, while also controlling the number of decimal places shown.

Data Transforms can contain one or more entries. Each entry contains a start string and one or more actions. Each action has an action selector list, and controls for additional information as required by the selected action. The list of actions contains seven actions, and *No Action*. VDE evaluates each entry individually first start string to first action, result of first action to second action, and so on, then the resulting strings from all the entries are concatenated.

There is a maximum number of Data Transforms that can be defined in a document. This limit depends upon the length of each data transform definition, the number of data file fields, and on the length of each field name. Xerox recommends that you:

- keep the names of the data transforms short
- minimize the number of "actions" in each data transform.

Create Data Transform Panel

Create Data Transform							
	Data Transform Name						
	Data Transform Type Tex	t	•				
	Description						
Start String	FulName				- II	- +) <u>A</u>
No Action	- -				_	- t	
	-						
							<u>_</u>
Repeat data transform							-
Count: 🛨 2	Separator: 🖲 Space	C Tab	C New line	C Other			
					ОК	Cancel	
					-		_

The Create Data Transform panel consists of these fields and their corresponding options:

- Data Transform Name: Enter a name for the data transform.
- **Description**: To describe the purpose of the data transform for future reference, enter information in this field.
- Data Transform Type: Select an option:
 - Text
 - Text File
 - Graphic File
- Start String: The data file populates the data field names.
- Actions: Actions options determine how VDE handles the data in the start string.
- **No Action**: When you select this option, no action is applied to the field. Often, the No Action option is used to concatenate two or more data fields. For example, when building a complex string to use in a Barcode option, you can concatenate the first name, space character, the last name, and so on.
 - Title case: When this option is applied to a field that contains text data, VDE capitalizes the first character of every word after a space, and changes the remaining words to lowercase. One use of the Title case transform ensures that fields, such as a name and address, are printed using the correct capitalization.
 - **Upper case**: When this option is applied to a field that contains text data, VDE capitalizes all characters in the text string.
 - Lower case: When this option is applied to a field that contains text data, VDE changes all characters to lowercase in the text string.
 - Substring by position: This option allows a string split. Specify a start position and the number of characters needed. For example, in the string 18002759376, the country code or exchange number can be extracted using the Substring by position option. If you specify a start position of 1 for a length of 1, the character 1 is extracted. If you specify a start position of 2 and a length of 3, the area code is extracted.

Create Data Transform Data Transform Name	
Data Transform Type Text Description	
Start String FullName	- + A
Substring by Position V Start 🐳 1 Length 🐳 1	÷ 🔁

Substring by index: This option is useful when the data to extract information from has a delimiter. For example, if the telephone number 1-800-275-9376 is the string, the – character can be used as a delimiter. If you select the – character as the delimiter, and select index 1, character 1 is extracted. If you use the same delimiter and select an index value of 4, the characters 9376 are extracted.

Create Data Transform	
Data Transform Name	
Data Transform Type Text	
Description	
Start String FullName 🔽 🎞	- + -
Substring by Index Delimiter - Index 1	- +

Character Count: This option returns the number of characters present in the given text string. You can
use the Character Count feature after Trim Spaces, which trims the unwanted space character and returns
only the required character count.

Create Data Transform	_		
Data Tra	nsform Name		
Data Tr	ansform Type	ext ~	
	Description	haracter Count	
Start String	FullName	n (~)	● +
Character Count			⊖ ↔

 Trim Spaces: This option deletes unwanted leading and trailing spaces from a text string. You can use the Trim Spaces feature to delete duplicate space characters inside a text string. This feature can be useful if the data contains unwanted space characters.

Create Data Transform	
Data Transform Name	
Data Transform Type Text	
Description	
Start String FullName II	- + -
Trim Spaces Trim leading and trailing spaces	- +

Record Counter: This option allows the entry of a starting value followed by the selection of an increment value. The starting value must be numeric and between -999999999 and 999999999, including 0. The increment value can be a positive or negative number between -9999 and +9999, and can include 0. Use the Record Counter feature to create ticket numbers, and so on. The counter increments for every record change, not for every instance of that record printed. For example, the record counter counts the number of times the job changes from one record to another. If a single record is repeated many times, the counter is not incremented. The Record Counter option creates a counter data transform. The value in the counter can

increase or decrease by a given amount for each record processed. It is important to note that the counter increments on a per record basis. You can use this mechanism for serial numbers, ticket numbers, and so on.

Create Data Transform	
Data Transform Name	
Data Transform Type Text	
Description	
Start String FullName 🗹 🎞	- + -
Record Counter 💌 Base 0 💌 📄 Increment 🐳 1 🗖 Keep leading zeros	÷ 🛨

When you use the Record Counter option, you can use the following parameters.

Start String

This parameter has a different function than in other transform expressions. Start String is used to prefix the incremental value with a string. For example, an incremental value can be prefixed with the text string, TicketNumber. This field can be a value contained in a field or can be left blank.

Base

This value is the starting numeric value and can be any numeric

value. 🧷 Note: Use integers only for both Base and Increment

values.

Increment

The increment value is the value that is added to the base value each time a new record is processed. For example, if the incremental value is set to 1, the result of this data transform increases by 1 every time a new record is processed. If the Increment value is set to 10, the value increments by 10. Negative numbers can be used to lower the resulting value. In the example, the Start String field is empty, the Base value is set to 0, and the Increment value is set to 1. These values result in a field that increments by 1 for each record processed. Because the Start String field is empty, no prefix string is added to the value.

Data Trans	form Name TicketNumber		
Data Tran	sform Type Text	•	
	Description Repeat counter inc	rements every instance	
Start String			- +

To edit the data transform, in the Start String field, add a string, such as Ticket:

4	F		0	0	L	a	Δ	8	af
	T) BigPlus	420							T
1	Increment_at_Rec	Ticket: 000001							
(Increment_at_Record	000001)						
		50							
	1 AddtwoNumbers	\$1.00							
V	Data Transforms								
	MyColorFill	[None]							
	C GenderStyleRule	CS2							
	T AmountStyleRule	CS4							
	MyPageVisibilityRule	On							
\bigtriangledown	Rules								

Note: Do not use Export function Record Range to reprint a subset of a data file where a record counter is used. Unpredictable results can occur, unless the job is edited, and Record Counter Base is reset to reflect an accurate value for the starting record used in the Record Range Export option. For example, in a 10-record job with a base value of 1, using the record range to reprint records 5 through 10, unless the job is edited and the starting base value is reset to 5, the record counter is incorrect for the records reprinted.

Keep leading zeros

To retain leading zeros, select the check box. To suppress leading zeroes, clear the check box.

Repeat Counter

This feature is similar to Record Counter, but Repeat Counter increments for each instance of the record being printed. For example, if the record is repeated five times, the counter value increments five times. To reset the counter to the initial value when a new record is encountered, select the **Reset** check box. To continue the increment through new records, clear the **Reset** check box. For example, you can use the counter if you want to print 100 raffle tickets with a sequential number, but have only one data record. To repeat the record 100 times, print the raffle tickets using the Repeat Counter and the Record Repeat options.

Numeric Format

When Numeric Format is applied to a field that contains numeric strings, VDE formats the numbers within the field. A mask is created using characters, some of which have special functions on the keyboard, which controls how the numeric string is printed. For example, when a mask is applied to the numeric string 18002759376, it can be printed as a telephone number: 1-800-275-9376, as a currency string: \$180,027,593.76, or as a numeric value: 180,027.59376 or 180,027, dropping the decimal digits. For more information about the format feature, refer to User Input Masks.

⁷ Note: The decimal and thousands delimiters used in the United States and Europe are different from each other. Ensure that you select the correct delimiter for your location.

From the list, select a delimiter option:

- US format
- US format without decimal delimiters
- EU format
- EU format without decimal delimiters
- No format punctuation

When you select a decimal option, and the numeric string has no decimal numbers in it, VDE adds .00 to the

numeric string.

Create Data Transform	
Data Transform Name Data Transform Type Text Description	
Start String FullName	. + 🗉
Numeric Format 🔽 @@@@@@# US format	÷ 🕁

Hex Data to Text

Hex Data to Text is a transform option that transforms a string of hex data values to a string of regular text. Typically, this option is used to pass variable data to some barcode functions.

An example is a transform that converts the string 4142434445 to the text string ABCDE.

Note: No validation is performed on the input string, so the user is responsible for ensuring that the strings are valid, because the conversion occurs at run time at the print device. InDesign cannot display hex code values below 0x20 or above 0x7e correctly.

Addition

The Addition expression takes two numeric values, either a field that contains numeric data or a user-defined numeric value, then adds them together. The resulting numeric value is the result of the expression. You can use the resulting value as the input value to a follow-on expression in a compound data transform. For more information, refer to Arithmetic Expressions and Creating an Arithmetic Expression Data Transform.

Note: Arithmetic expressions are limited to 25 integer and 15 decimal digits.

Subtraction

The Subtraction expression takes two numeric values, either a field that contains numeric data or a user-defined numeric value, then subtracts the second value from the first. The resulting numeric value is the result of the expression. You can use the resulting value as the input value to a follow-on expression in a compound data transform. For more information, refer to Arithmetic Expressions and Creating an Arithmetic Expression Data Transform.

Note: Arithmetic expressions are limited to 25 integer and 15 decimal digits.

Multiplication

The Multiplication expression takes two numeric values, either a field that contains numeric data or a userdefined numeric value, then multiplies the first value by the second value. The resulting numeric value is the result of the expression. You can use the resulting value as the input value to a follow-on expression in a compound data transform. For more information, refer to Arithmetic Expressions and Creating an Arithmetic Expression Data Transform.

Note: Arithmetic expressions are limited to 25 integer and 15 decimal digits.

Division

The Division expression takes two numeric values, either a field that contains numeric data or a user-defined numeric value, then divides the first value by the second value. The resulting numeric value is the result of the expression. You can use the resulting value as the input value to a follow-on expression in a compound data

transform. For more information, refer to Arithmetic Expressions and Creating an Arithmetic Expression Data Transform.



Note: Arithmetic expressions are limited to 25 integer and 15 decimal digits.

Remainder

The Remainder (Modulo) expression uses two numeric operand values. Ensure that both values are integers. Both operands contain either a field that contains numeric data, or a user-defined numeric value. The value of the first operand is divided by the value of the second operand. The remaining integer is the remainder of the expression. For example, if 10 is divided by 3, the resulting remainder is 1. That is, 3 goes into 10 three times, which totals 9. Subtract 9 from 10, and the remainder is 1. Ensure that both values for remainder are integers only. The second operand cannot be zero. For more information, refer to Arithmetic Expressions and Creating an Arithmetic Expression Data Transform.

 st Note: Arithmetic expressions are limited to 25 integer and 15 decimal digits.

Summation

The Summation expression is an option intended for use in a Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data application. The intended use is to calculate the total sum of all the values in a multi-occurrence data object. It is applicable to a column of values that belong to a multi-occurrence data object in a Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data document. For example, you can use the Summation option in a telephone billing statement to show the total cost of the values entered in a column that contains the cost-per-call values. Using Summation outside of the Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data application is not recommended because the action returns the single value identified in the Start String option.

Note: Arithmetic expressions are limited to 25 integer and 15 decimal digits.

Rounding

The Rounding expression applies a rounding algorithm to a numeric value, either a field that contains numeric data or a user-defined numeric value. Rounding is based on the value set by the slider for the rounding action.

Treate Data Transform		
Data Transform Name		
Data Transform Type Text		
Description		
Start String FullName	- I	- +
Rounding 6 5 4 3 2 1 . 1 2 3 4 5 6 654321.12		- +

The Rounding expression uses the rounding-half-up method. For example, when 123.456 is set to round at the second decimal digit, the result is 123.46.



Repeat Data Transform

The Repeat Data Transform option is used to repeat the evaluation of the data transform a specified number of times. For example, if the result of the data transform, before enabling this option, was the text string Dave Kirk, then by applying the Repeat Data Transform function with a repeat value of 3 and a delimiter of ~, the resulting string looks like this: Dave Kirk ~ Dave Kirk ~ Dave Kirk. The delimiter is not added to the end of the string.

You can use the Repeat Data Transform option with any standard font and apply the option to the Specialty Imaging Micro text, where it is recommended to repeat a text string always. Ensure that the repeat value is between 2 and 10,000.

Count values and printer performance

Avoid using high repeat data transform count values, because this can affect printer performance.

Support

This option is not supported with Specialty Imaging, GlossMark, or Correlation Mark fonts.

Repeat data transform



Although it is possible to use a transform with a Repeat Data Transform function as input to another data transform, it is not recommended, due to large repetitive actions that can be created. When you select the check box for the **Repeat data transform**, enter the number of times the data repeats, then select or define the separator type.

User Input Masks

When the Format option is selected, a user-defined mask is required. A mask controls how the data prints on the page and appears on the screen. In general, any character can be used as a masking character, however, some characters have a special function. Two of these characters are described as follows:

@	The @ character is a placeholder for a numeric character, 0–9. When you create a mask, it is important to insert enough @ characters to account for the longest numeric string that is printed. If you enter more characters than necessary, it is better than not having enough. The @ masking character tells VDE that if a numeric value is present at this position in the string, to print it, otherwise print nothing.
#	The # character is a position character for required numeric characters, 0–9. If a numeric value is not present for that position, a zero is substituted.

Using the combination of both characters enables powerful formatting capability. The following are some examples of user-defined masks and the result of those masks on the numeric text string 76893485.

MASK	RESULT	NOTE
@@,@@@,@@@, @@@	76,893,485	Although there are placeholder characters, they are ignored when no numeric data is available, and nothing prints.
##,###,###,###	00,076,893,485	Because the # character is a required character placeholder, a zero is inserted when no other value is present.
@@,@@@,@@@,@@#	76,893,485	Although this example is similar to the first example, if no numeric data is available, a zero prints in the space.
@@,@@@,@@@. @@@	76,893.485	A period was inserted, which adds a decimal delimiter. Here there are three decimal places.
@@,@@@,@@#.##	76,893.48	This mask limits the decimal places to two characters.
\$@@,@@@,@@#.##	\$76,893.48	This mask has limits similar to the one above, but the \$ character was added for currency.

The following table contains some other common numeric string formatting masks, this time for the telephone number 8002759376:

MASK	RESULT
@@@-@@@@@	800-275-9376
(@@@) @@@-@@@@	(800) 275-9376
1 (800) @@@-@@@@	1 (800) 275-9376
@@-@@-@@-@@	80-02-75-93-76

Arithmetic Expressions

Arithmetic Data Transform objects can be created and used in documents.

Arithmetic expressions are set up and applied in the Data Transform panel. A Data Transform can consist of a single expression or a compound expression. A compound expression can be created by adding multiple arithmetic expressions to a single data transform. This includes the Numeric Format expression that can be used to format the resulting numeric value, for example, adding a currency sign to the string.

Note: The presentation of the arithmetic expression result can differ between the InDesign display and the printer rendering. For example, an expression that takes 999 from 1,000 can result in a display of 1 in InDesign, but can appear as 0001 when the application is printed. To avoid the leading zeros, use the Format option to apply a data transform. This action controls the display or suppression of leading zeros as the last data transform in a compound data transform.

In a compound data transform, the resulting value of the first expression is fed into the second expression automatically. The results of the second expression are fed into the third, and so on. The following is an example of the operations in a compound expression that first adds two numbers, then multiples the sum by a fixed amount:

expression1: sum of two numbers (2+3=5)

expression2: result of expression1 multiplied by 5 (5x5=25)

Creating an Arithmetic Expression Data Transform

Creating an arithmetic expression data transform, works in the same way as other data transforms work.

The following list provides the steps to create a data transform that adds the field Qty1, which is a value of 23, to TotQty1, a value of 100. When the data transform is created, select it to use the resulting value in the document.

Create Data Transform	
Data Transform Name AddtwoNumbers	
Data Transform Type Text	
Description	
Start String Qty1	- 🛨 🖻
Addition TotQty1	÷ 🕁

CREATING A DATA TRANSFORM NAMED ADD TWO NUMBERS

To create a Data Transform named AddtwoNumbers:

- 1. In the Data Transform Name field, enter AddTwoNumbers to assign that name to the data transform.
- 2. For arithmetic expressions, set the Data Transform Type to Text.
- 3. Set the Start String, which is the starting value. In this example, the start string is Qty1. The start string can be a field that contains numeric data, or a manually entered value. When you use a field name, ensure that all records in the database file have a numeric value in that field name. If any records do not contain a numeric value, unpredictable results can occur.
- 4. Select an action to apply. For this example, select Addition.
- 5. Select a numeric value to add. This example uses the field <code>TotQty1</code>. The added numeric value can be a field that contains numeric data, or a manually entered value. When using a field name, ensure that all records in the data base file have a numeric value in that field name. If any records do not contain a numeric value, unpredictable results can occur.
- 6. To complete the data transform, select **OK**. In this example, the field *AddtwoNumbers* appears on the Data Object list. To use this data transform, create a text frame in the document, then insert the data transform *AddtwoNumbers*. This places the current value in the data object into the text frame on the document.

To refine the data transform further, add a **Numeric Format** option. This option can be used to control the format of the resulting number, for example, by adding a currency symbol and two decimal places. To add additional expressions, click the small plus + button.

Edit Data Transform	
Data Transform Name AddtwoNumbers	
Data Transform Type Text	
Description Add two numbers and format	
Start String Qty1	- 🕁 🖻
Addition TotQty1 I	÷ +
Numeric Format 💌 \$@@,@@#.## US format	• •

To create complex expressions, click the small plus + button to add expressions to the data transform. The

Remainder

-

103

		Data Transform Na		
Data Transform Type		/pe Text		
		Descript	ion Example of complex transform	
Start S	tring 20	09		- +
Addition	•	1000		÷ ±
Subtraction	•	Qty1	▼ I	÷ +
Multiplication	•	3		÷ +

expressions are executed from top to bottom. The following is a screen is an example of a complex expression:

The data transform called *ComplexExpression* takes as its first input the user-defined value 2009, then adds the value 1000. This action results in a new value of 3009.

-

The resulting value is used as the input to the next expression. Therefore, the next expression begins with the value 3009, then subtracts the value in the field Qty1. The field Qty1 for record one has a value of 23. So, 3009 minus 23 equals 2986.

The resulting value of 2986 is the input into the next expression. The next expression multiplies the input value 2986 by 3. The result is 8958.

The resulting value of 8958 is the input into the next expression, which divides the resulting value by 2. The result is 4479.

The resulting value of 4479 is the input into the next expression. The next expression provides a remainder value when 4479 is divided by 103. The remainder is the portion of the dividend (4479) that is not evenly divisible by the divisor (103), it is the integer left over. In this example, the remainder is 50.

The result of the compound expression is 50, which is shown in the field list for the data transform called *ComplexExpression*.

T ComplexExpression 50

Using the plus + button with data transforms and arithmetic expressions

Do not use the large plus + button in the data transform entries when using arithmetic expressions. If you use the large plus + button, an additional string is generated, and the two strings are concatenated as follows:



- t

Create Data Transform		
Data Transform Name BigPlus		
Data Transform Type Text	×	
Description Example us	ing Multiple Entries	
Start String 2		4
Addition		
Start String 10		
Addition 10	. T	
Addition 10	. t	

The first entry adds 2 and 2, which results in a value of 4. The next entry is new because the large plus + button was used. The result of this entry 10 + 10 is 20. The results of the two entries are concatenated to create a new string, 420, as follows. Entries can be useful to make each value independent of each other, otherwise the use of entries is not recommended.

Data Transforms

Export and Printing

This chapter contains:

Export Options	.289
Create VI Project Container: Project Settings	.291
Create VI Print Package: Print Package Settings	.294
Create VI Design Express PDF: PDF Settings	.297
Export and Print Panels	.301
Printing the VPP, VPC, or PDF file	.330

The Export function is used by VDE to create a file for printing. VDE can export the job as a VI Design Express PDF file or can export to a VI Project Container (.vpc) or VIPP® Print Package (.vpp) format. The .vpc and .vpp formats take advantage of the efficiencies of *Dynamic Document Construction (DDC)* and are the recommended output formats for production printing, using the powerful VI Compose software at the print device to RIP the document.

Note: When exporting to the .vpc or .vpp output formats, it is a requirement that you are running VI Compose on the target Xerox print device. These formats will not print if VI Compose is not present and licensed. When unlicensed, VI Compose will print jobs in demo mode (57 Pages for EFI and 200 Pages for FFPS, 10 Pages for anything else).When the VDE export option is selected no finishing or feeding options are passed to the PDF; the feeding and finishing options are disabled in the export dialog. If these options are required, you must select either the VI Project Container (.vpc) or the VI Print Package (.vpp) menu option.

The advantages the DDC model brings to production printing are listed here. VI Compose software needs to be installed on the target print device.

- No data chunking (unless your print device cannot support large files)
- No waiting for documents to pre-compose on the work station (for production runs can take hours)
- Changes can be made up to the last minute (including the destination printer)

The advantages of the Export to VI Design Express PDF option are listed here. (VI Compose does not need to be installed at the target print device.)

- Flexibility (Print to any printer)
- PDF Proofing and Adobe Job Option capabilities

The Export function is used to collect the information necessary to print the application and package it in such a way that it can easily be sent to the printer. To support both production print devices and office printers, VDE provides three package mechanisms:

VI Project Container (.vpc)

This is designed to support production printers. A VI Project Container is a compressed container file that contains the resources and data required to print the application. Supported VI production printers have a built-in mechanism to extract the resources and data contained in the VI Project Container file and print the application. A . vpc file can also be used to print to VIPP[®]-enabled office printers, but you must use the VIPP[®] Manage utility to send the .vpc file to the target printer.

VI Print Package (.vpp)

This is designed to support office printers. A VI Print Package is a print file designed to be submitted directly to a VIPP®-enabled office printer. During the Export operation, a target printer can be selected and the .vpp file is automatically submitted to the printer. The print file contains all the resources and data needed to print the application. A VI Print Package can also be submitted to a VIPP®-enabled production printer; however, for production devices, the VI Project Container would be the preferred export option. When the VI Print Package is intended for use on a production printer, be sure that the "Save assets on printer" option is NOT checked.

VI Design Express PDF (.pdf)

This is designed to support printers not running VI Compose, or to print or proof smaller jobs. The PDF file is generated at the workstation. The workstation should not be used for other purposes while the PDF file is being rendered. When ready, it can be printed to any printer that supports PDF printing. PDF generation consumes more time than VPC file generation because the document is rendered page by page. By generating a PDF file you have more flexibility to print to devices that do not run VI Compose, or to use the PDF for other, non-printing, purposes. During the export process you can change the Adobe Job Options file used to set the PDF file generation options. (Refer to Create VI Design Express PDF: PDF Settings.)

Once a package method is selected, a dialog for that package method will be displayed. The dialog will display a collection of panels. As you select each panel, you will enter information about the job properties. Once the information has been entered, click the **OK** button to start the VDE Export operation. Depending on the complexity of the application, this step takes anywhere from one to fifteen minutes to generate the .vpc or .vpp packages that are then sent to the printer for immediate printing, or one minute to several hours to generate the PDF file if using that option, depending on the complexity of the document and the number of records to compose.

During this process VDE collects all the job information, required resources, data file, etc., and creates either a VI Project Container (.vpc) or a VI Print Package (.vpp) file or will start to compose the PDF file, depending on the Export selection you made. When you select the VI Project Container option, you must submit the .vpc file to the target print device, using lpr, hot folders, or other print methods. When you select the VI Print Package, the .vpp file is automatically submitted to the target print device (when selected), or manually submitted to the printer. If you chose to create the PDF file, use any standard method to print the PDF to your target device.
Export Options

Exporting the VDE application requires the user to set applicable options that will be used to create the final output. The process for all three output formats is similar. Any differences will be noted.

Use the InDesign File > Export option to select one of three Save as types:

- Selecting the VI Project Container option results in a .vpc file being generated.
- Selecting the VI Print Package results in a .vpp file being generated.
- Selecting the VI Design Express PDF option results in a .pdf file being generated.

Note: Do not select the InDesign Export to PDF option, this will not process VDE rules or data transforms and will not generate the correct PDF output. Always select Export, then select the VDE PDF option for correct PDF output.

Save in:	VI Design Ex	press User's Guide	-	G 🖈 📴 🖽-			
-	Name A			Date modified	-	Туре	
3	NonTranslate	edGraphics	lot	5/22/2012 12:12 PM	F	File folder	
ecent Places	TranslatedGr	aphics		7/18/2012 11:58 AM	F	File folder	
	V11 Example	:S		7/18/2012 1:49 PM	F	File folder	
	VDE Graphic	Updates		7/18/2012 1:51 PM	F	File folder	
Desktop	VDE v9 Sour	ce		7/11/2012 11:47 AM	F	=ile folder	
	🔁 VIDesignExp	ress Installation		7/16/2012 10:31 AM	1	Adobe Acrobat Document	
	T VIDesignExp	ress		7/5/2012 1:21 PM		Adobe Acrobat Document	t i
100							
Network							
Network	1						
Network	<u>.</u>						
Network	▲ File name:	VIDesignExpress.pdf					Save

Enter the file name usually the same as the InDesign project document name and press **Save**. Select either the VI Project Container (VPC), VI Print Package (VPP) or VI Design Express PDF (PDF) as the Save as Type option.

The majority of the user input for the Create VI Project Container, Create VI Print Package, and Create VI Design Express PDF panels will be the same. Input differences vary only on the Project Settings, Print Package and VI Design Express PDF Settings screens described below. Those differences are found on the first panel displayed, and are specific to the Save as type option selected (VI Project Container, VI Print Package or VI Design Express PDF). Review the appropriate section:

- Create VI Project Container: Project Settings
- Create VI Print Package: Print Package Settings
- Create VI Design Express PDF: PDF Settings

The other tab panels are common to all save formats. The information in the panels can be entered in any order, although it is suggested that you go through them in the order they are presented. Once information has been entered in a panel, it is persistent unless changed by the user. The Presets option is a short cut that, when selected and applied, will populate the tabs with pre-set values. Currently this is limited to booklet and calendar imposition settings. More pre-set options will be added in future releases.

All of the Save as types provide access to these options:

- Create VI Project Container: Project Settings
- Create VI Print Package: Print Package Settings
- Print settings
- Multi-Up
- Flattening
- Media and Finishing
- Export Presets
 - Note: While you can edit a .vpc file using tools such as VI Design Pro, it is recommended that you do not attempt to edit a .vpp file. This is a special format and any changes made in error can create unpredictable results up to the job failing to print.

Create VI Project Container: Project Settings

The Create VI Project Container panel is shown when the VI Project Container (VPC) Save as Type is selected.

	Create VI Project Container		
Project Settings Print Settings	Project Settings		
Multi-Up Flattening Media and Finishing	Project Folder	Project Name	
	Production Data File		
	Record Buffer Size [8192	Clear Browse	3
	Ignore Missing Resources Include assets in project		
Presets None	Asset Folder		7
Settings [None]	Include job ticket	Browse	
	☐ Include CIP3/4 file	Browse	
		Browse	
	Include SI screen fonts in VPC		
+ – Apply Settings	Modify PDFs in Asset Folder with Embedded EPS		
		OK Cancel	

The following user input is required:

Project Folder and Project Name

These are user definable fields. The default project folder is VIDesignExpress, the name of which may be changed as required. Folder and project names can only consist of dash, underscore, period, and alphanumeric characters, and cannot exceed 32 characters in length.

The Project Folder name is important as it defines or creates if not already there a folder on the FFPS or other target print device under the xgfc folder. The Project Name creates a folder inside the Project Folder. This is where all the resources from the asset folder are stored. The FFPS only stores files when the FFPS filter (VPCF) option is set to Deploy and Print, or to Deploy Only. When Print and Forget is selected as the filter option, no resources are stored on the printer. For more information about configuring the VPCF filter option on the FFPS, consult the printer documentation or ask a Xerox representative.

Production Data File

Use ONLY when the data file for the production job is different from the data file used in the design process. The record layout, and case sensitive field names in the new data file, MUST be identical to the original data

file's record layout and case sensitive field names. Clicking the **Clear** option removes the currently assigned data file. This may affect rules and data transforms that may need to be reset with a new data file.

Record Buffer Size

The Record Buffer Size option is used to set the VIPP® Pro command SETBUFSIZE parameter in the exported VI Container file. This sets the line buffer setting in VI Compose. For more information review the SETBUFSIZE command in the *Xerox*® *VIPP*® *Language Reference Manual*.

The default value is 32767. The allowable range is 255 – 65534.

Xerox recommends use of the default value. Only increase this value if you get the VI Compose error range check error on readline.

Ignore Missing Resources

When this option is selected, VDE inserts VIPP[®] code that allows the application to ignore missing resources. This means that when a resource is called, but is not present, no action is taken to find the missing resource, the job will continue to print, but that resource will not be used in the document. Care should be taken when selecting this option. This option is unchecked by default so that the job will abort when a resource is not found.

Include assets in project

Use the check box to select the assets in the project. Always check this box the first time the job is run. With the box checked, VDE will add all the resources in the asset folder to the .vpc file it builds for printing. The only reason to uncheck this box is when the job is rerun and all the resources are already installed on the printer. In this case unchecking the box results in copying only the data file to the .vpc file without all of the variable images, text files, etc. This results in a much smaller .vpc file.

Asset Folder

Is defaulted to the asset folder selected when starting the design phase. However, it is possible to use a new production asset folder in a different location. All the assets, images, text files and so on used in the job must be in the asset folder entered here.

Include job ticket

Enable this checkbox to include a job ticket in the project. Typically, this option is left unchecked.

Include CIP3/4 file

Enable this checkbox to include a CIP3/4 file in the project. Typically, this option is left unchecked.

Proof VI Project Container after Export

When this option is checked, VDE will render a PDF for proofing purposes. Limited to the first 150 pages of the application. The PDF will open in your default PDF viewing application.

Include SI screen fonts in VPC

Enable this checkbox to include the Specialty Imaging screen fonts in the .vpc. This is only needed when the .vpc file will be edited by non-Xerox VI tools. Because all VI Tools have the SI fonts already installed, this option is typically left un-checked.

Modify PDFs files in Asset Folder with Embedded EPS

Enable this option to use PDF files as variable VIPP® resources on non-Adobe PDF Print Engines (APPE). This option is not necessary when printing to an APPE supported engine or to a VI eCompose server. It is not possible to send PDF files directly to a non-Adobe PDF Print Engine. In order to print those files to a

PostScript engine they must contain EPS information, which consists of the EPS equivalents of each page and other information. The information is embedded in the actual PDF file, either during export, or during batch processing.

Selecting this option begins the process to add EPS information to each PDF resource during the export process. Therefore, using this option takes time. To avoid the additional time, batch process the PDF files prior to export. Refer to Batch Process PDF files as resources for more information.

Because this process will modify the original PDF file it is important to make backup copies of the original files.

Create VI Print Package: Print Package Settings

The Create VI Print Package panel is displayed when you choose to export to a VI Print Package (VPP) file.

	Create VI Print Package
Print Package Settings	
Print Settings	Print Package Settings
Multi-Up	
Flattening	└── Send VI Print Package to printer ·····
Media and Finishing	Send VI Print Package to printer
	New Arcitelie Verrey BertScript Brinter
	Delete VI Print Package after sending to printer
	Production Data File
Durate	Clear Browse
None	8192
Cottings	
[None]	Accest Folder
[none]	Asset Folder
	Clear Browse
	Save assets on printer
	Project Folder Project Name
	VIDesignExpress
	Ignore Missing Resources
	Dreef VI Driet Dackage after event
+ - Apply Settings	Modify PDFs in Asset Folder with Embedded EPS
	OK Cancel

The following user input is required:

Send VI Print Package to printer

Check this box when you want to automatically send the .vpp file to a printer. The drop-down will list all of the Xerox PostScript printers that can be used from your computer.

Delete VI Print Package after sending to printer

Check this box when you want to delete the .vpp file after it has been sent to the printer. When not checked, the .vpp file will remain in the folder you saved it to. It is recommended that you delete .vpp files after printing to avoid saving large files to your file system.

Note: This option is ignored if you select the Proof VI Print Package after export option. The file is saved to the save location should you want to manually submit the file for printing after proofing.

Production Data File

Use ONLY when the data file for the production job is different from the data file used in the design process.

The record layout and case sensitive field names in the new data file MUST be identical to the original data file's record layout and case sensitive field names. Clicking the **Clear** option will remove the currently assigned data file, this may affect rules and transforms that may need to be reset with a new data file.

Record Buffer Size

Use to set the VIPP[®] Pro command SETBUFSIZE parameter in the exported VI Print Package file. This sets the line buffer setting in VI Compose. For more information review the SETBUFSIZE command in the *Xerox*[®] *VIPP*[®] *Language Reference Manual*.

The default value is 32767. The allowable range is 255–65534.

Xerox recommends use of the default value. Only increase this value if you get the VI Compose error range check error on readline.

Include assets in VI Print Package

Use the check box to include the job assets in the Print Package. Always check this box the first time the job is run. With the box checked, VDE will add all the resources in the asset folder to the .vpp file it builds for printing. When you save the resources on the printer (see Save assets on printer) you may un-check this option next time you run the job. By un-checking this option, only the data file will be included in the .vpp file, making it much smaller. However, this does require all needed resources already be available on the printer.

 $^{\circ}$ Note: When you plan to proof the .vpp file, you must check the Include assets in VI Package check box.

Asset Folder

The folder that appears as the default is the asset folder selected when starting the design phase. However, it is possible to use a new "production" asset folder in a different location. All the assets (images, text files, etc.) used in the job must be in the asset folder entered here.

Save assets on printer

Check this box to save assets to the printer's hard drive. To use this option, your printer must have a hard drive installed. Assets will be stored to the printer's hard drive using the Project Folder details supplied below.

Project Folder and Project Name

These are user definable fields. The default project folder is VIDesignExpress, the name of which may be changed as required. Folder and project names can only consist of dash, underscore, period, and alphanumeric characters, and cannot exceed 32 characters in length.

The Project Folder name is important as it defines or creates, if it is not already there a folder on the target print under the xgfc folder. The Project Name creates a folder inside the Project Folder. This is where all the resources from the asset folder will be stored.

Ignore Missing Resources

When this option is selected, VDE inserts VIPP[®] code that allows the application to ignore missing resources. This means when a resource is called, but is not present, and no action is taken to find the missing resource, the job will continue to print. However, that resource will not be used in the document. Care should be taken when selecting this option. Because this option is unchecked by default, the job will abort when a resource is not found.

Proof VI Print Package after export

When this option is checked, VDE will render a PDF for proofing purposes limited to the first 150 pages of the application. The PDF will open in your default PDF viewing application. This option is not available when the PDF emitter option is selected.

Modify PDFs files in Asset Folder with Embedded EPS

Enable this option to use PDF files as variable VIPP® resources on non-Adobe PDF Print Engines (APPE). This option is not necessary when printing to an APPE supported engine or to a VI eCompose server. It is not possible to send PDF files directly to a non-Adobe PDF Print Engine. In order to print those files to a PostScript engine they must contain EPS information, which consists of the EPS equivalents of each page and other information. The information is embedded in the actual PDF file, either during export, or during batch processing.

Selecting this option begins the process to add EPS information to each PDF resource during the export process. Therefore, using this option takes time. To avoid the additional time, batch process the PDF files prior to export. Refer to Batch Process PDF files as resources for more information.

Because this process will modify the original PDF file it is important to make backup copies of the original files.

EPS and password protected PDF files

Conversion to EPS, or embedding with EPS is not supported for PDF files protected by password or other security measures. Attempts to do so will fail, and is the expected behavior. How the failure is presented to the user varies according to the operating system and the service pack level of that operating system.

EPS and file size

Embedding EPS into the PDF files will increase the original file size. Ensure that you have enough storage space on your file system.

Transparency limitations

When printing to a PostScript engine you need to be aware of transparency limitations. For example, a variable image with transparency laid over a background will knock out what is below the image.

Advanced PDF options

Advanced PDF options such as transparency, are lost when generating the EPS image file, but are still retained in the PDF file. When printing the PDF to the PS interpreter, VIPP[®] will use the embedded EPS language.

Do not use this option with the FFPS Adobe Print Engine (APPE)

When you design applications targeting the FFPS APPE that use PDF resources, it is not necessary to use this option. APPE can directly ingest the PDF resources in a VIPP[®] application.

Create VI Design Express PDF: PDF Settings

The Create VI Design Express panel is displayed when you choose to export to a VDE PDF file.



- Note: Caveats when exporting to a PDF output file:
- Unpredictable results will occur if using Xerox Specialty Imaging and exporting to PDF. Xerox Special Imaging effects are unsupported when using PDF.
- Plex changes within a job are not supported, unless printing to an FFPS APPE engine supporting PDF/VT.
- Feeding and Finishing options selected within a job may not be supported, unless printing to an FFPS APPE engine supporting PDF/VT.

	Create VI Design Express PDF	
PDF Settings Print Settings Multi-Up Flattening Media and Finishing	PDF Settings Project Folder VIDesignExpress Production Data File	Project Name VDEExample
	Use Production Data file for submission PDF Quality Ligh Record Buffer Size 8192	Clear Browse
Presets None	Ignore Missing Resources Include assets in project Asset Folder	Browse
	Include SI screen fonts in VPC Do not use "Font Export Options" Modify PDFs in Asset Folder with Embedded EPS Generate PDF log file Open PDF after completion	
+ – Apply Settings	☐ Include media and finishing options	
	I	OK Cancel

The following user input is required:

Project Folder and Project Name

These are user definable fields. The default project folder is VIDesignExpress, the name of which may be changed as required. Folder and project names can only consist of dash, underscore, period, and alphanumeric characters, and cannot exceed 32 characters in length.

The Project Folder name is important as it defines or creates, if not already there a folder on the FFPS or other target print device under the xgfc folder. The Project Name creates a folder inside the Project Folder. This is

where all the resources from the asset folder are stored. The FFPS only stores files when the FFPS filter (VPCF) option is set to Deploy and Print, or to Deploy Only. When Print and Forget is selected as the filter option, no resources are stored on the printer. For more information about configuring the VPCF filter option on the FFPS, consult the printer documentation or ask a Xerox representative.

Production Data File

Use ONLY when the data file for the production job is different from the data file used in the design process. The record layout and case sensitive field names in the new data file MUST be identical to the original data file's record layout and case sensitive field names. Clicking the **Clear** option removes the currently assigned data file. This may affect rules and data transforms that may need to be reset with a new data file.

Use Production Data file for submission

Click this box to use the production data file to create the PDF.

PDF Quality

PDF Quality settings are used to specify an Adobe Job Options file that defines the options used when generating the PDF file. Adobe job options include settings for images, colors and fonts, as well as resolution and compatibility.

Select one of the PDF Quality settings from the drop-down list, or select the Custom option to browse to other available Adobe Job Options, including Adobe Job Options files you create using Adobe Acrobat. Options include:

High	Uses High_Quality_USletter.joboptions
Medium	Uses Medium_Quality_USletter.joboptions
Low	Uses Low_Quality_USletter.joboptions
Custom	Allows user-selection.

Custom job options file

This option is available when you select Custom as the PDF Quality. When you have created your own joboptions file, browse for and select that file.

Record Buffer Size

The Record Buffer Size option is used to set the VIPP® Pro command SETBUFSIZE parameter in the exported VI Container file. This option sets the line buffer size in VI Compose. For more information review the SETBUFSIZE command in the *Xerox*® *VIPP*® *Language Reference Manual*.

The default value is 32767. The allowable range is 255–65534.

Xerox recommends use of the default value. Only increase this value if you get the VI Compose error range check error on readline.

Ignore Missing Resources

When this option is selected, VDE inserts VIPP[®] code that allows the application to ignore missing resources. This means that when a resource is called, but is not present, no action is taken to find the missing resource, the job will continue to print, but that resource will not be used in the document. Care should be taken when selecting this option. Because this option is unchecked by default, the job will abort when a resource is not found.

Include assets in project

Use the check box to select the assets in the project. Always check this box the first time the job is run. With the box checked, VDE will add all the resources in the asset folder to the .vpc file it builds for printing. The only reason to uncheck this box is when the job is rerun and all the resources are already installed on the printer. In this case unchecking the box results in copying only the data file to the .vpc file without all of the variable images, text files, etc. This results in a much smaller .vpc file.

Asset Folder

Is defaulted to the asset folder selected when starting the design phase. However, it is possible to use a new production asset folder in a different location. All the assets such as images, text files, and so on used in the job must be in the asset folder entered here.

Include SI screen fonts in VPC

Enable this checkbox to include the Specialty Imaging screen fonts in the .vpc. This is only needed when the .vpc file will be edited by non-Xerox VI tools. Because all VI Tools have the SI fonts already installed, this option is typically left un-checked.

Do not use Font Export Options

Refer to Export Using the Font Substitution Table for font export information.

Modify PDFs in Asset Folder with Embedded EPS

Enable this option to use PDF files as variable VIPP® resources on non-Adobe PDF Print Engines (APPE). This option is not necessary when printing to an APPE supported engine or to a VI eCompose server.

It is not possible to send PDF files directly to a non-Adobe PDF Print Engine. In order to print those files to a PostScript engine they must contain EPS information, which consists of the EPS equivalents of each page and other information. The information is embedded in the actual PDF file, either during export, or during batch processing.

Selecting this option begins the process to add EPS information to each PDF resource during the export process. Therefore, using this option takes time. To avoid the additional time, batch process the PDF files prior to export. Refer to Batch Process PDF Files as Resources for more information.

Because this process will modify the original PDF file it is important to make backup copies of the original files.

EPS and password protected PDF files

Conversion to EPS, or embedding with EPS is not supported for PDF files protected by password or other security measures. Attempts to do so will fail, and is the expected behavior. How the failure is presented to the user varies according to the operating system and the service pack level of that operating system.

EPS and file size

Embedding EPS into the PDF files will increase the original file size. Ensure that you have enough storage space on your file system.

Transparency limitations

When printing to a PostScript engine you need to be aware of transparency limitations. For example, a variable image with transparency laid over a background will knock out what is below the image.

Advanced PDF options

Advanced PDF options such as transparency, are lost when generating the EPS image file, but are still retained in the PDF file. When printing the PDF to the PS interpreter, VIPP[®] will use the embedded EPS language.

Do not use this option with the FFPS Adobe Print Engine (APPE)

When you design applications targeting the FFPS APPE that use PDF resources, it is not necessary to use this option. APPE can directly ingest the PDF resources in a VIPP[®] application.

Generate PDF log file

Use this option when you want a record of the PDF creation process.

Open PDF after completion

Enable this option when you want to open the PDF automatically.

Include media and finishing options

For use only with supported versions of FreeFlow Print Server devices using Adobe PDF Print Engine (FFPS APPE/ PDF/VT devices). Enable this option when you want to include media and finishing options in the PDF. Selecting this option will increase the size of the resulting PDF. The size increase can be significant and depends on several factors, such as the number of media changes, the number of options defined for the job, and the total number of pages.

Create a PDF/VT_1 Compliant PDF

Select this option for PDF/VT_1 compliant PDF creation. There are two Job options available to select (PDFX3 2003 Joboptions and PDFX3 2003 JPN Joboptions). The Additional Profile Options are available when you select Include media and finishing options and Create PDF/VT_1 compliant PDF to create PDF/VT_1 compliant PDF files to include Media and Finishing options.

Note: Not all printer devices honor PDF files that contain Media and Finishing requests or that are compliant with the PDF/VT-1 standard. Only the digital front end (DFE) systems that are supported honor the feeding and finishing requests.

Export and Print Panels

The Export and Print panels shown in this section can be found on the panel for each print package options such as PDF, VPC, and VPP.

PRINT SETTINGS

The Print Settings panel consists of these options:

Project Settings			
Print Settings	Print Settings		
Multi-Up			
Layer Settings		Width	Height
Media and Finishing	InDesign Document Page Size:	595 pt	842 pt
	Sheet Size	Width	Height
	A4 (210 x 297 mm)	595 pt	842 pt
	Settings		
	Print on Both Sides	Rotation	
	Off	0°	T
	Print Quality		
	[Printer Default]		
Presets	Suppress Blank Pages		A
None	T Enable page clipping	Use first page as	background
Settings	Enable Record Range		
[None]	Starting Record	Ending Record	
	1		
	🖵 🗆 Enable Repeat		-
	Repeat Count	Collate Mode	
	1	Record	T
		- Control And	
	Insert slin sheet		
	Slip Sheet Text		
	and another text		
	Type Color Weight		
+ - Apply Settings			

InDesign Document Page Size

This is the document size defined at the start of the design. This is typically the size of the finished piece after printing and finishing. For example, a postcard might have a document size of width 432 mm (6 in.) and a height of 288 mm (4 in.). VDE handles page sizes up to the largest Adobe InDesign page size 200 inches by 200 inches.

Sheet Size

Describes the sheet of paper that is used on the printer. Select the printer sheet size by selecting one of the preloaded paper sizes from the Printer Paper Size drop-down to automatically populate the Width and Height settings. When Custom is selected from the drop-down list, the Width and Height boxes to the right of the Sheet Size box need to be filled in using the currently used units. The minimum specified sheet size is 36 points by 36 points. This sheet size is too small to print on a printer unless the printer imposition option is used. Production printers may not support a sheet size less than 504 points (7 inches), unless the sheet setting is overridden to an acceptable sheet size for printer imposition.

Variable data documents can use a range of different paper sizes within the same job. To do so, select the **[Use InDesign Document Page Sizes]** option from the Sheet Size drop-down list in the Print Setting tab. Options such as Duplex, Simplex, SlipSheet, and Media type selections will affect how VDE will display the layout. Common sense needs to be applied in the design of a document. For example, you cannot change a page size between pages one and two, when printing duplex. If this situation occurs, the printer will insert a blank page on the back side of page 1 and force the page size change to the new front of the next sheet.

Print Quality

Print Quality is used to place the printer into a particular print mode. Support for Print Quality is more often found on office devices than on production devices. When a device does not support Print Quality, any setting other than Printer Default will be ignored.

Select one of these five options from the drop-down list.

Printer Default

This is the default setting. When you select this setting, no attempt to change any Print Quality settings will be made and the printer default will be used. (Recommended.)

High-Resolution / Photo

High-quality mode for fine lines and detail. Recommended for vibrant, saturated color prints, and for photos.

Enhanced

General purpose mode for crisp, bright color prints.

Standard

Ideal for black text and for high-speed color prints.

Fast Color

Fastest full-color mode. Useful for previewing work.

Note: Most production printers will ignore any setting made through this menu selection. Print and Image quality on production device is controlled through the DFE supplied with the printer. Office devices may support Print Quality settings. Check your printer specifications and driver settings for more details.

Print on Both Sides

Controls plex. For more information refer to Duplex Options.

Rotation

Used to rotate the InDesign image 0, 90, 180, or 270 degrees counter clock-wise, on the final printed sheet.

Suppress Blank Pages

Enable this option to suppress pages that are completely empty i.e. no printable objects or markings on the page.

Use first page as Background

Enable this option to set the first page as background for all other pages like sheet masters.

Enable page clipping

This option should be left blank by default as this is the setting that most applications would use. For applications where items may extend over page boundaries and strange effects are seen, you may want to check page clipping to resolve this issue. However, this will disable bleed values outside a page area.

Duplex Options

The settings specified here are used to set the duplex option used in the application.

All options found in the Print on Both Sides drop-down list are described below. The duplex printing options automatically compensate for an odd number of pages, forcing a new document set to print as described here.

Off

No Duplex option will be applied to the job.

Duplex

Normal Duplex options will be applied to the job. When the document has an odd number of pages the back of the last page is left blank. The next record will print on a new front side.

Tumble Duplex

Head to Toe Duplex options will be applied. When the document has an odd number of pages the back of the last page is left blank. The next record will print on a new front side.

Duplex (Continuous)

Duplex options will be applied to the job. When the document has an odd number of pages and the last page falls on a front side, the first page of the next record will print on the backside of the sheet. No new front side is forced.

Tumble Duplex (Continuous)

Head to Toe Duplex options will be applied to the job. When the document has an odd number of pages and the last page falls on a front side, the first page of the next record will print on the backside of the sheet. No new front side is forced.

Note: Jobs will print using the printer default location. When printing a duplex one-up job use the Multi-up tab and set the Across and Down options to 1. This will center the page to the middle of the selected sheet size, and will provide better registration front and back. When printing variable data from the same record on the front and back of the job, also select the ZSORT option found on the Multi-up tab.

Enable Record Range

Record Range is used to specify a record range or subset of a larger data file for printing. VDE will use the data file targeted for printing as the target data file to extract the subset for printing.

Note: If using the VDE PDF option, use Record Range to limit the records processed for proofing purposes. By setting the range you will reduce the time you have to wait for the PDF file to be created.

Enable Record Range	
Starting Record	Ending Record
1	

A copy of the selected file is made by VDE, then the subset based on the values entered is extracted and passed to the .vpc or .vpp file for printing. The original data file is not changed.

Record Range allows specification of a starting Record number and an Ending Record number. All records within that range are selected for printing. No records outside of that range are selected for printing.

A typical use of Record Range is to reprint a range of records from a larger data file. Also use it to split a large data file into several smaller sections for printing on multiple printers.

When enabling the Record Range:

- Starting Record is the first record to print. The default value is 1. Any number greater than zero is valid. However, when the number is greater than the total number of records in the data file, no records are selected.
- Ending Record can be left blank. When blank, all records to the end of the file will be selected. When a value is entered it must be greater than or equal to the starting record value.

For example, using a data file consisting of ten records with the Starting Record value of 1 and an Ending Record value of 1 specified, the resulting file prints the first record only. When the ending value is 10, then records 1 through 10 will be printed. To print a range of records from record 5 to the end of the file, select 5 as the Starting Record and leave the Ending Record option empty.

Note: Do not use the Export function Record Range to reprint a subset of a data file where a record counter is used. Unpredictable results may occur unless the job is edited and the Record Counter base setting is reset

to reflect an accurate value for the starting record used in the Record Range Export option. For example, in a ten record job with a base value of 1 and using the Record Range to reprint records 5 through 10, unless the job is edited and the Starting Record value is reset to 5, the record counter is incorrect for the records reprinted.

Enable Repeat

Use the Enable Repeat option to specify the number of times to repeat each record, before moving to the next record. This can enable applications such as Business Cards where you may want to repeat the data Name, address, and so on in a single record X number of times before moving to the next customer record. Other settings in Enable Repeat are Collate Mode, and Insert Slip Sheet.

	Int		Collate Mode	
1			▼ Record	
Insert s	lip sheet			
Slin Sheet	Text			
	TUAL			
Trans	Color	Weight		
туре				

Repeat Count

The Repeat Count window allows entry of a numeric value between 1 and 9,999, which is applied to all records in the data file. Or, select a field name from the data file that is applied to that specific record. When a field is selected, every record in the data file must have a valid entry in this field. The field selected must contain a numeric value between 1 and 9,999.

Each record is processed the number of times specified in the Repeat Count box. This can be a fixed number entered by the user, or a data field, data transform or rule that contains, or is evaluated to, a valid numeric value.

Note: The data field, data transform or rule must contain or get evaluated to a valid numeric value from 1 to 64,000, any other value is unsupported and unpredictable results can occur.

Some limitations apply when using Repeat with other options available in the VDE plug-in, as listed below.

- Supported:
 - Repeat using a fixed numeric value
 - Repeat using a selected data field containing a valid numeric value
 - Repeat using a Data Transform that when evaluated will be a valid numeric value
 - Repeat using a Data Transform or Rule that references another Data Transform or Rule*
 - Repeat using a fixed numeric value + Zsort
 - Repeat using a selected data field containing a valid numeric value + Zsort
- Un-Supported
 - Repeat using a Data Transform combined with the use of Zsort
 - Repeat using a Data Transform or Rule that references a Repeat Counter Data Transform
 - Repeat using a Data Transform or Rule that references another Data Transform or Rule that uses the Repeat Counter Data Transform

Collate Mode

Use Collate Mode to choose between three collate options:

- Record: The default option (and the prior behavior in earlier versions of VDE). This option enables Repeat at the record level (the output of each record is repeated).
- Page: Each individual page is repeated. This option is not available in Multi-up mode or when a data field is selected as the "Repeat Count". This option is not available when Duplex is selected.
- Job: The entire job is repeated. (The output for all records.) This option is not available when a data field is selected as the "Repeat Count".

Insert Slip Sheet

To generate an optional Slip Sheet between each customer record, select the Slip Sheet option and set the appropriate slip sheet parameters. This will insert a Slip Sheet between each customer record, which allows individual customer records to be quickly identified.

Note: When using Repeat with Zsort, where the Repeat Count is a data field, data transform or rule, you may select the Slip Sheet option, but no media options such as Type, Color or Weight will be available. The Slip Sheet will use the currently selected media.

For example:

- In a Business Card application, to print 500 business cards for each client data record, enter a numeric value of 500. VDE will create a .vpp or .vpc file that, when printed on the printer, will repeat each record the specified number of times before forcing a new front sheet and moving to the next record. When the Slip Sheet option is selected, a slip sheet is inserted between each record set.
- In a Business Card application, to print different amounts of business cards per customer, select a field name from the pull-down list. Using this option, each record is processed the number of times specified in the field. Every record could have a different numeric value, producing a different number of business cards per customer record. As each record is processed VDE will ensure that the new record starts on a new front side sheet. When the Slip Sheet option is selected a slip sheet is inserted between each record set.

A short text string can be added to the slip sheet. This text string cannot contain any variable data or fields from the data file. Specifying the Type, Color, and Weight para meters for the Slip Sheet allows for the use of a different color stock to make the slip sheet more visible.

Note: The value entered into the Repeat Count field must be a valid numeric value from 1–64,000. If a data field is selected, that too must contain a valid numeric value. If a Data Transform or Rule is selected, that too must evaluate to a valid numeric value. If this is not the case, unpredictable results will occur. Your job may even abort with a PostScript error message such as PostScript RangeCheck in get or other message. The user must verify that the data, data transforms and rules they intend to use will result in a valid numeric value.

MULTI-UP

The Multi-Up panel consists of these options:

Drink and a second		\searrow	
None		I v	
Pages per Sheet			
Across	1		
Down	1		
	Auto		
Gutters			
Horizontal	0 in		
Vertical	0 in		
Filling Order			
Right-Down			
	sition		
Rotate Pages 180 C	legrees		
Enable Z-Sort			
Sheets per Stack		Enable grouping	
50		N/A I pages per group	
Pad last stack			
🗌 Insert slip sheet			

Note: When using the Multi-up option and printing contents of the same record to a duplex sheet front and back, you will also need to apply a Z-sort option in order to keep the front side and back side printing order. Refer to Z-sort Options: for details.

Enable Multi-Up

When this check box is enabled, Multi-Up settings can be entered and used.

Print crop marks

When selected, this will insert 1/4-inch crop marks. Adjustments to the default crop marks can be made through the VDE Preferences Menu.

Pages per Sheet

Used to control Multi-Up on a page. The options allow specification of the number of iterations of the job that

Export and Printing

are printed across and down the page.

Auto

Use this option to automatically work out the best imposition options for the job based on sheet size, bleed, page rotation, and gutters.

Gutters

When used, this sets the horizontal and vertical gutters. The values for Gutters can be negative or positive, the acceptable range is -0.5 to 6 inches and -36 points to 432 points.

Filling Order

Used to designate the order in which InDesign pages are printed on printer sheets. The options and the resulting actions are:

This Option:	means first fill from:	then fill from:		
Right Down	left to right	top to bottom	1	2
			3	4
Left Down	right to left	top to bottom	2	1
			4	3
Right Up	left to right	bottom to top	3	4
			1	2
Left Up	right to left	bottom to top	4	3
			2	1

This Option:	means first fill from:	then fill from:		
Down Right	top to bottom	left to right	1	3
			2	4
Up Right	bottom to top	left to right	2	4
			1	3
Down Left	top to bottom	right to left	3	1
			4	2
Up Left	bottom to top	right to left	4	2
			3	1

Apply booklet imposition

Check this box to automatically apply booklet imposition to the job.

Rotate Pages 180 degrees

The Rotate Pages 180 degrees option allows you to select logical pages, the individual document to rotate on the physical sheet, the larger printed sheet. The logical pages selected will be rotated 180 degrees. In the example shown below, this option has been used to apply a head-to head imposition.

rint crop marks			
None		•	
ages per Sheet			7
Across	2		0
Down	3		
	Auto		
utters			7
Horizontal	0 in		
Vertical	0 in	3	
illing Order			9
Right-Down 👻			
		-	

To rotate logical pages 180 degrees, check the Rotate Pages 180 degrees check-box, then enter the logical page numbers you want to rotate. A comma or space character must be used to separate the logical page numbers.

Visual Imposition

A visual representation of the page imposition appears at the top right of the panel when Multi-Up is selected. When a green box appears over the page, the Multi-Up combination will fit on the printed sheet, when a red box appears the pages will not fit on the printed sheet. It is possible to have both indicators in the same window.



Z-sort Options

The Z-sort option supports documents containing any number of pages. All documents in the print job must consist of the same number of pages.

Z-sort provides both the ability to define the filling order on a multi-up sheet, and the through the stack printing capability. The stack printing capability is often referred to as Y-sort.

Enable Z-Sort

Use this option for one side or two side Multi-Up printing, similar to postcards. ZSORT provides the ability to print simplex or duplex Multi-Up documents. ZSORT can maintain the front and back record alignment when variable data needs to be placed on both the front and back sides of a Multi-Up document. ZSORT also provides the capability to print these documents in a north/south imposition order or in stacks, which can be taken to a cutter and cut and stacked, maintaining record order through the stack. This is often used to maintain zip code or postal code order. In addition, a slipsheet can be created and inserted between the stacks of output to aid in identifying the stack boundaries. When printing multi-up with ZSORT through the stack, each document must contain the same number of pages.

Sheets per Stack

This is an optional setting and is used to set the stack size. Typically, you need to set this option if you are printing multi-up on a large sheet and you need data from a single record to be printed on the front and back of the same document; or, you need to maintain record order printing through the stack north-south imposition. If printing a document that requires data from the same record on the front and back of a document, setting the stack size to 1 will accomplish this. You may need to increase this value if your document set is more than 2 pages. If printing through the stack to maintain record order, often used when serialization or postal code order needs to be maintained, you should set your stack size to a number smaller than the maximum number of

sheets your offline cutter can cut in a single pass, this would typically be between 250 and 500 sheets. VDE would then print stacks based on the value you entered, maintaining record order through the stack. Do not set the stack size to a value greater than 500 as you may exceed the memory on your device. For Office Printers, you may need to keep the stack size under 50.

Pad last stack

Used to pad out the Multi-Up with blank records to account for an odd number of pages in the document.

Insert slip sheet

Enable the checkbox to add a slip sheet.

Slip Sheet Text

Enter a string of text to print on the slipsheet.

Type/Color/Weight

Use to define the paper used for the slipsheet.

Enable grouping

Used to select a number of consecutive logical pages to be placed on the same sheet in sequence instead of the usual through the stack order. The number and order of the logical pages in the group depends upon the Filling Order and the total number of logical pages placed on the same sheet.

Note: The Z-sort option cannot be used with Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data VDE applications, as a transactional document is likely to contain a different amount of pages for each customer record set processed, based on the number of transactions processed per customer.

FLATTENING

The Flattening panel consists of these options:

lumber of lay	ers per page with variable visibility —		
	Min 1	Max 1	
	Min [1	Max 1	

Number of layers per page with variable visibility:

Min

The minimum number of different variable layers called via a visibility object that will be present on any page in the document when the job is rendered. For example, in a job with 50 individual layers for State, where only one State would actually be called at a time via visibility objects. The correct value to enter is 1. For the same job, but with an additional variable layer based on some other visibility object, the correct value is 2. This value is based on the entire document and should be the minimum number of visibility-controlled layers on any page in the document. The minimum value is 1.

Max

The maximum number of different visibility-controlled layers on any page in the document. When two visibilitycontrolled layers are used on page one, and only one is used on the other pages in the document, the correct setting for this value is 2.

PAGE BOXES

The Page Boxes panel consist of these options.

Page Boxes				
Offsets from the edg	es in points			
	Тор	Bottom	Left	Right
Crop Box				
Bleed Box				
Trim Box				
Art Box				

Page boxes panel enables the creation of optional page boundary boxes in a PDF output created. This option does not alter the PDF contents other than by adding the additional bounding boxes in the page. Applications rendering or processing the PDF downstream in the workflow may decide to process or ignore them. When the output of the VIPP® job is not a PDF file the command is ignored and has no effect.

We can enter the values for each page boundary boxes by enabling the appropriate check boxes against them.

Page Boxes				
Offsets from the edg	es in points			
	Тор	Bottom	Left	Right
Crop Box	50	50	50	50
Bleed Box				
Trim Box				
Art Box				

The values must range from 0 to the width for left/right or the height for top/bottom of the sheet size.

PDF RESOURCES CROPPING

This feature offers various cropping options like crop box, bleed box, trim box, and art box, which can be applied to the PDF placed in the InDesign document.

ld Br St 54.8% ~	Create VI Project Container		itock _ dP ×
File Edit Layout Type Obje ■DCO X1 ○ 42p7.5 W1 ○ □DCO Y1 ○ 25p4.5 H1 ○ ** ■Untitled-1 @ 55% × × × × ×	Project Settings Print Settings Multi-Up Layer Settings Media and Finishing	Layer Settings Number of layers per page with variable visibility Min 1 Max 1	4 ° =
© H = 0 Ch H = 0 Li Li L	Enable PDF optional contents Laver 1	 Pages Layers Links 	
T. / Ø. Ø. ⊠. □. % ₩.			E Stroke
Contraction Contr	Presets None ~		 Swatches CC Libraries
	[None]	Page Boxes Offsets from the edges in Picas	
■ ■ 2 3 ■ □ , 2 3		Top Bottom Left Right Crop Box Bleed Box Trim Box Art Box Art Box	
6	+ - Apply Settings	PDF Resources Cropping Crop Box Crop Box Trim Box Bleed Box Art Box Media Box OK Cancel	

MEDIA AND FINISHING

Media and Finishing is an optional selection that can be made during the export of the document. It allows you to define different media characteristics, plex options, and finishing options for each sheet, allowing you to create a document containing mixed plex, mixed substrates, and booklets. When you only use a single media selection and plex selection in the job, then it is not necessary to use this feature. However, when you plan to switch duplex on and off, change media within the job, or print a booklet, then you need to use the Media Selection feature.

Note: If using the VDE PDF output button, media and finishing options will not be passed to the PDF.

The Media and Finishing panel consists of these options:

Sheet 1	Media:	DefaultMedia	
(Page 1)	Plex:	Simplex	 •
	Finishing:	[None]	▼
		🗌 New set	
N			
63			

Enable media and finishing selection

Check this box to enable the feature.

Media

Use the drop-down menu to select a Media definition for the job.

Plex

Select the plex for the job from this drop-down list. These options are defined on the Print Settings tab.

Define Media

Click this button to open the Define Media panel.

The Define Media panel consists of these options:

Export and Printing

Define Media						
Media Name	Туре	Color	Weight	Front Coating	Back Coating	
DefaultMedia	None	▼ None	None	▼ None	▼ None	
						T
					ОК	Cancel

Media Name

A user-defined descriptive name for the media type being defined. Before assigning media characteristics to a sheet in the document, first define and name each media substrate planned for use in the document. The Media Name is mandatory, all other attributes are optional. This is a label used to identify the media and associated attributes. This is the name that can be associated with a sheet in the document. The media name is limited to 24 characters (A-Z, 0-9) and is case sensitive, do not use the space character. For the following attributes, you must select a value from the associated drop-down list. The list contains common entries available on the FFPS, including a custom option for some attributes. In addition, there is an Inherited and a None selection. Inherited means the attribute will inherit the previous value. When no value has been set, it will inherit the system default. The None option sets an empty attribute, no value is assigned to that attribute.

Туре

Choose a media type from the drop-down list, or enter a unique value, to set the media type. The Type attribute is limited to 30 characters (A-Z, 0-9) and is case sensitive. Do not use the space character. This is an optional attribute and can be left blank.

Color

Choose a color from the drop-down list, or enter a unique value, to set the media color. The Color attribute is limited to 30 characters (A-Z, 0-9) and is case sensitive. Do not use the space character. This is an optional attribute and can be left blank.

Weight

Enter the weight of the media being defined to set the media weight. You may enter a valid number. Refer to the FFPS or printer guide for valid weight ranges. This is an optional attribute and can be left blank.

Front Coating

To set the front coating option for the media, select the coating found on the front side of the media used. This is an optional attribute and can be left blank.

Back Coating

To set the back coating option for the media, select the coating found on the back side of the media used. This is an optional attribute and can be left blank.

The Define Finishing panel consists of these options:

Define Finishing			
Name	Actions	Options	
Untitled	Staple Default options		• • ×
	[None]		
			OK Cancel

Name

A user-defined descriptive name for the finishing option being defined.

Actions

Choose an action from a drop-down list of available finishing actions. Actions include:

- Staple
- Punch
- Fold
- Make Booklet
- Bind
- Offset
- Output Bin
- External Finisher

Export and Printing

Options

Use default options, or define your own options for each available action. When you choose to define options rather than using the default, VDE will display the options available per each action.

Default options

Uncheck this box to use user-defined options.

Note: When finishing options that are not supported by the target device are defined or used, unpredictable results can occur. Please check with your printer what in-line finishing options are available.

Creating a Media Definition

Follow these steps to create a media name (definition).

1. Select the **Media and Finishing** tab from the Create VPC panel displayed during the VDE Export action.

	Create VI	Print Package			
Print Package Settings Print Settings Multi-Up Flattening	Media and Finishing	election			
Media and Finishing	Sheet 1 (Page 1)	Media: Plex: Finishing:	DefaultMedia Simplex [None] New set	v v v	*
Presets None					
Settings [None]					
+ – Apply Settings	Define Media Define Finishing				×
				OK Car	ncel

Define Media						
Media Name	Туре	Color	Weight	Front Coating	Back Coating	
DefaultMedia	None	▼ None	▼ None	▼ None	▼ None	• • •
						<u>-</u>
					ОК	Cancel

2. Select the **Define Media** option by clicking the **Define Media** ... button. This will display a Define Media Panel.

3. Complete one media definition for each media or substrate that you plan to use in the document. To add additional media definitions, click the + sign.

Once defined, the media can be assigned to a page using the Enable Media selection options found on the Media Selection tab.

Assigning Media Names to a sheet

When you export the job, the media selection panel will display the number of sheets that will be needed to print one record of the job. The number of total sheets needed depends on these options, set during the export process:

Print Settings - Print on Both Sides

This option defines if simplex, duplex or tumble duplex can be used. When printing in simplex mode, one sheet will equal one page of the document, so, a 10 page document equals 10 sheets. When using duplex or tumble duplex, one sheet equals two pages front and back side.

Multi-Up - Enable Multi-Up

This option can enable you to print multiple logical pages on a single sheet. For example, a job set to use 1 across, 2 down Multi-Up setting (2-Up), two pages from the job will print on a single page. Therefore, a ten page document will print on 5 sheets. When duplex is also selected, you need a total of three sheets.

These steps will guide you through the assignment process:

1. The Media Selection screen displays the number of sheets needed to print a single customer record. Each sheet is labeled, starting with Sheet 1. Listed underneath the Sheet label are the page numbers that will be printed on that physical sheet front and back, when duplex selected. When you switch duplex on and off, the number of sheets needed to print the customer record will change accordingly.

- 2. To set the media attributes, click the **Media** drop-down for the corresponding sheet. The drop-down will list all the media definitions you made earlier.
- 3. When the Print Settings Print on Both Sides option is set to Off or no duplex, the plex option will be grayed out. When the Print on Both sides option is set to Duplex or Tumble Duplex, continuous Duplex/Tumble duplex is not supported because it is impossible to change media halfway through a sheet, you are able to select Simplex or turn duplex off or Duplex or turn on duplex. When duplex is turned on, it will use the Duplex option selected in the Print on Both Sides option.

Media Selection for a Booklet

When printing booklets, different media settings for the various sheets in the booklet may be required. Use the Define Media option in the Export Panel, to define a media library for use when booklets are printed. For example, create two media definitions, the default media definition and a custom definition called Cover that has a heavier weight setting for use in booklet applications.

Define Media									
Media Name	Туре	Color	Weight		Front Coating		Back Coating		
DefaultMedia	None	None	▼ None	-	None		None	•	- + F
Cover	None	None	230.0	-	None	-	None	-	e 🕁
									Ŧ
						Г	OK	Cance	1
						L	UK	Cance	

During the export of the booklet, media from this media library can be assigned to each sheet in the document.

rojeci settings							
rint Settings	Media and Finishing	Media and Finishing					
fulti-Up		12 - 22 - 22 - 22 - 22 - 22 - 22 - 22 -					
lattening Aodia and Finishing	I Enable media and finishing	selection					
reura and Emisining	Sheet 1	Media: DefaultMedia	*				
	(Pages 1 - 4)	Plex: Duplex	*				
		Finishing: [None]	Ŧ				
		r New set					
	Sheet 2	Media: DefaultMedia (Inherited)	¥				
	(Pages 5 - 8)	Plex: Duplex (Inherited)	*				
		Finishing: [None] (Inherited)	*				
		new set					
	Sheet 3	Media: DefaultMedia (Inherited)	-				
	(Pages 9 - 11)	Plex: Duplex (Inherited)	*				
		Finishing: [[None] (Inherited)	*				
resets		n New set					
vone							

In the screen shot above, the media Cover has been assigned to the first sheet, this is a heavier cover stock for the outside cover of the booklet. The rest of the sheets in the booklet will be printed using the lighter weight Default media. Sheet 3 will inherit the previous media settings if no other setting has been set.

VDE will show the logical pages that appear on each physical sheet. This booklet is made up of nine logical pages, imposed 2-up on a larger sheet size. Because the number of pages in the booklet is nine, the front and back of the last page has been padded by VDE, which is why the visual imposition of Sheet 1 only displays Pages 1, 2.

Creating a Finishing definition

Built-in finishing is defined as a finishing option supported on the device itself. This could be any of the following: Staple, Punch, Fold, Make Booklet, Bind and Offset. Not all devices support all finishing options. Verify the finishing support on the target print device before setting it in a job. In most cases, the finishing options selected will be ignored if not supported on the device, but unpredictable results may also occur.

In-Line finishing is defined as any external third-party finishing option that is attached to the target device. A Square Fold Booklet Maker is an example of an in-line external finisher. VDE can direct output to a tray and jog that tray at the end of a document set to trigger the finishing device to take the appropriate programmed action.

Finishing is first defined using the Define Finishing panel, then it can be selected using the Media and Finishing panel in the VPC Export panel.

For more information on control of finishing devices, please contact your local Xerox representative.

Define Finishing Options

A library of finishing definitions can be created when exporting the document, much like Media definitions. Once the library is defined, definitions can be assigned on a sheet by sheet basis.

To add or modify finishing definitions, select the **Define Finishing** ... button located at the bottom of the Media and Finishing panel. This will display the Define Finishing panel. Use this panel to assign user-defined names to sets of finishing options.

Define Finishing			
Name	Actions	Options	
Untitled	Staple 💌		9 4 🚽
	Default options		
	[None]		
			<u></u>
			OK Cancel

Follow these steps to create a finishing definition:

- 1. Choose a user-defined name to describe the finishing option. In the example below, MyStaple is the userdefined name.
- Select the (Finishing) Action required. In the above example, Staple has been selected. Uncheck Default options to specify your own options, instead of using the stapler's default options.

Name	Actions	Options	
MyStaple	T Staple	Staples: One Staple	Location: Top Left 💽 🗢 📥
	[None]		

3. Select from the available Options for that Action. Here the action of Staple has two options: One Staple or Two Staples.

4. Select the available locations for the staple, based on the action Staple and the option selected.

This completes the building of a single Finishing definition called MyStaple. When MyStaple is selected and applied to a sheet or set of sheets, it will dual staple on the left of the page.

To add additional Finishing definitions, click the + sign and go back to step 1 above. These are sample finishing definitions:

Define Finishing	Contraction of the second s	the second s		
Name	Actions	Options		
MyStaple	T Staple	Staples: Two Staples	▼ Location: Left ▼	- + -
	Default options			
	[None]			
MyFold	Fold 🔽	Fold Type: Z Fold	▼ Front Side: Outside ▼	÷ +
	Default options	🗖 Trim	Finished Width: 5.4213 in	
	[None]			
MyMakeBooklet	Make Booklet	Saddle Stitch	🔽 Square Fold and Trim	÷ +
	Default options	Strength: Normal	Finished Width: 5.4213 in	
	[None]			
MyJogTray	Offset 💌			÷ +
	Output Bin	Tray: TopTray	Select a tray from the list, or enter a tray name defined on the target printer.	
				7
			OK Canc	cel

MyStaple is set to dual staple on the left, MyFold is set to ZFold, MyMakeBooklet is set to Saddle Stitch, Square fold and trim. MyJogTray is set to deliver sheets to TopTray and offset.

Setting Finishing Options

When the finishing definitions are created, they can be associated at the sheet level using the Media and Finishing selection panel. Finishing uses a similar methodology as the Media selection.

Export and Printing

Enable media and finishing	selection		
Sheet 1	Media:	DefaultMedia	•
ages 1 - 4)	Plex:	Duplex	-
	Finishing:	MyStaple	•
		☑ New set	
neet 2	Media:	DefaultMedia (Inherited)	•
ages 5 - 8)	Plex:	Duplex (Inherited)	-
	Finishing:	MyStaple (Inherited)	-
		New set	
neet 3	Media:	DefaultMedia (Inherited)	•
ages 9 - 11)	Plex:	Duplex (Inherited)	•
	Finishing:	MyStaple (Inherited)	•
		□ New set	

A drop-down list of finishing definitions has been added to each sheet in the Media and Finishing list. This allows you to apply finishing options to either a sheet or a group of sheets.

Any finishing option selected will stay in effect until turned off or replaced by another finishing option. A finishing option can be turned off by selecting [None] from the pull-down menu.

Check **New Set** to apply the selected finishing to a specific set of consecutive sheets. A set starts on any sheet having the New Set box checked and ends on the sheet preceding the next sheet with New Set checked or on the last sheet.

Once the finishing options are selected for each sheet, continue to set other options. Once all settings are complete, select **OK** to generate the .vpc or .vpp file.

Note: Due to the variety of possible paper feeds (short edge, long edge), different devices and configurations, etc., it is recommended that you test your application to verify the correct finishing has been

applied and adjust as required. For example, you may need to adjust the Staple location from left to right or top or bottom to produce the expected results.

Limitations

Note: Currently the only way to validate finishing options is to print the application at the print device. You may also open the .vpc file using VI Design Pro, and review the VIPP® code.

• Continuous Duplex or Continuous Tumble Duplex options are not supported. This is because a job with an odd number of pages will start printing the first page of the next record on the back of the last sheet. If the first
page needs to be a different media type, it would not be possible to select this, as you cannot change media half way through a sheet.

- There is a maximum of 30 characters per user defined field and no space characters are allowed.
- SETMEDIA does not support Media Name only Type, Color and Weight. The media name is internal to VDE to maintain a separate media definition table and refer to a name in the media setting for a given job. However, the VIPP® code will use only Type, Color and Weight. Therefore, the number of media definitions for a given site is limited.

EXPORT PRESETS

The Export Preset option allows you to select a set of pre-defined settings that can be applied to the document for Export. Two export presets are available, Booklet and Calendar. You can also save your current settings during the export operation and create your own custom Export Preset. When one of the Export Presets including any of the custom Export Presets you create is selected and applied, VDE will automatically apply the export settings contained in the Export Preset.



Note: When using the Preset option, it is important that you have previously selected a suitable sheet size for the printed document.

Default Export Presets

Booklet

is used to re-order the pages for output in booklet format. It will take in the InDesign document, designed in page order 1,2,3,4,5,6 to n and re-order the pages in the output file to print in booklet format it does not alter the original InDesign document. For example, it could be used to re-order USLetter pages to print on a 11 x 17 sheet 2-up, you need to specify the 11 x 17 sheet size in a previous tab setting.

Calendar

is used to re-order pages of an InDesign document, designed in page order 1,2,3,4,5,6 ton and re-order as a portrait calendar. For example, it could be used to re-order A4 calendar pages to print on a A3 sheet 2-up, you need to specify the A3 sheet size in a previous tab setting.

CUSTOM EXPORT PRESETS

A Custom Export Preset can be created by saving the current export settings.

Presets		
None		-
Settings		
[None]		
+ -	Apply Settings	

Create a Custom Export Preset

To create a custom Export Preset

1. Select the options you want to save for this Export Preset.

2. Select the plus button on the Preset panel.



The Add an Export Preset panel will be displayed. This displays the current Export settings.

dd an Export Preset		
Please select a name for the p	reset with the values listed	below.
Preset Name	Job123	
Include assets in project: False Asset Folder: Include SI screen fonts in VPC: Sheet Size: US Letter (8.5 x 11 Width: 8.5 in Height: 11 in Print on Both Sides: Off Rotation: 0° Suppress Blank Pages: True Enable page clipping: False Enable Record Range: False Starting Record: 1 Ending Record: Enable Repeat: False Repeat Count: 1	False in)	
	ОК	Cancel

- 3. Enter a name for your Export Preset. In the example above, the job name was used Job123.
- 4. Click the **OK** button to save your custom Export Preset.

Use a Custom Export Preset

To use a custom Export Preset

None		
~	None	
	Booklet	
	Calendar	
	Job123	

Use the Export Presets pull-down menu to select any of the two default presets or any of the custom Export Presets listed in the Preset panel.

Job123		•
Settings		
Include assets ir Asset Folder:	n project: false	
Include SI scree	n fonts in VPC: false	ы
Sheet Size: US L Width: 8.5 in Height: 11 in Print on Both Sid Rotation: 0° Suppress Blank I	etter (8.5 x 11 in) les: Off Pages: true	•

The Preset panel lists the Export Preset settings. If acceptable, click the **Apply Settings** option to apply those settings to the various Export settings that are available.

Removing an Existing Export Prefix

To remove an existing Export Prefix select the prefix to remove by selecting it from the Export Preset pull-down list.

None		
~	None	
	Booklet	
	Calendar	
	Job123	

Only custom Export Preset options can be removed. You cannot remove the default presets (Booklet or Calendar).

With the Custom Preset selected press the minus key. A pop-up window will ask if you are sure you want to remove this Preset. Select **OK** to remove the custom Preset.

You can add a custom Export Preset and you can delete a custom Export Preset, there is no option to edit a custom Export Preset. To change any settings in an existing custom Export Preset, simply delete the preset and re-save the new custom Export Preset.

Printing the VPP, VPC, or PDF file

Once the Export function has gathered all the required files, it will generate either a VI Project Container file (.vpc) or a VI Print Package file (.vpp). Which one it creates is based on the selection you made in the Export Save as type panel.

If you selected the VPC or VPP option, the file will be generated within minutes. If you selected the VDE PDF option, the PDF can take several hours to compose into a print ready PDF file. When the PDF file is ready, you may use any standard print method to print the PDF file.

VI PRINT PACKAGE (.VPP)

The VI Print Package is optimized to support Xerox Office devices such as the Xerox 9203 ColorQube.

The .vpp file will contain everything needed to print the application to a VIPP[®]-enabled Xerox Office printer. Either save the .vpp file to your system and manually forward the file to the printer, or select a target printer from the Create VI Print Package panel.

If your printer is not listed in the drop-down list, you need to work with your system administrator to verify that the printer is available for your use.

When you select a printer, VDE will automatically forward the .vpp file to that printer. When you do not select a printer manually submit the .vpp file for printing. The .vpp file will be saved in the location specified.

When you check the Delete VI Print Package check box, VDE will delete the .vpp file. This is recommended to avoid filling the disk with print files.

Prerequisites to Support Xerox Office Printers

In order to print the application, the target printer must have a valid VI Compose license installed. Without a license the job will abort after 10 pages.

If you do not have a valid license, you need to contact your Xerox Sales representative to obtain a license file. Store the license file in a safe location on your system.

To install the license file, you need to select the **VI Compose Printer License** option from the VDE panel menu.

This will display the VIC Printer License dialog. This dialog is used to print the License Request form (required to order the printer license), or, when you already have a valid license, to install the license to the printer.

To print the license request form make sure the printer shown in the Select a Printer to License list is the printer you need to license. If you have a different printer showing, the license request form will contain invalid information and Xerox will not be able to issue a license for that device.

Click the **Print License Request Form** button. This prints the license request form. Supply this form to your Xerox Sales representative or Analyst.

Once the License Request form has been processed, you should receive a Xerox VI Compose license file for that printer. Store the license file to a safe location on your system.

Browse to the license file location and select the correct **license file**. Click the **Load License** button. This will create a print file that will automatically be sent to the printer, and will install the license file on the printer.

When the license-installer print file stores the license on the printer's hard drive the printer is also VI enabled. This action should only need to happen once, however, if the printer shuts down or the file is erased from the printer

repeat the step above to re-install the license file on the printer.

VI PROJECT CONTAINER (.VPC)

The VI Project Container (.vpc) is optimized to support Xerox Production devices such as the FFPS and EFI.

The .vpc file will contain everything needed to print the application to a VIPP®-enabled Xerox production printer. The .vpc file is created by VDE and stored in the file system at the location you specify. That saved location could be an FFPS hot folder from which the .vpc file will be automatically submitted to a printer queue. Or, manually submit the .vpc file for printing. Procedures may already be in place for the submission of files to the print system. Use those procedures to submit the VPC file to the print device.

Below is just one example of using lpr to submit a VPC file to the FFPS:

Windows operating system:

lpr -S ServerName -P PrintQueueName -o l Myjob.vpc

For the Mac operating system:

lpr -P PrintQueueName -1 Myjob.vpc

lpr -P PrintQueueName -oraw Myjob.vpc

Where:

lpr	is the lpr command.
-S ServerName	is the Server Name or IP address of the target printer.
-P PrintQueueName	is the target queue on the print device.
-o l	the lower case O and L are used to indicate a binary file submission. This preferred syntax tells the Windows system to treat the data stream as raw bytes rather than the default text file.
-l and -oraw (Mac)	the lower case L and oraw are used to indicate a binary file submission. They specify that the print file is already formatted and should be sent without filtering.
Myjob.vpc	is the VI container file. The full path to the container file may have to be specified.

Setting the VPCF Filter option on FFPS

For information on setting up print queues and VPCF filters, review the printer or VIPP® documentation or contact a local Xerox Representative.

To print a VPC file directly to the FFPS:

- Create a new queue or select an existing queue to which the VPC will be submitted.
- Edit the **queue properties** and select the **VI Project Container Filter (VPCF) filter** option. Select the **Setup** ... button to launch the VPCF GUI with the available filter options. The VPCF option selected depends upon the job requirements.

VPCF options

The project and folder names created by the options below are directly linked to the Project Folder name and Project Name defined during the export phase.

Print the .vpc file	
Deploy Only	This option will deploy or expand the files in a VPC file to the printer's file system. It will create a project and folder under the /usr/xgfc directory, based on the project and job names identified during the export function of InDesign. It will not print the submission file. This option is typically used to pre-install job resources.
Deploy and Print	This option will deploy or expand the files in the .vpc file to the printer's file system. It will create a project and folder under the /usr/xgfc directory, based on the project and job names identified during the export function of InDesign. It will then print the application using the job submission file included in a VPC file. When completed, the job resources will remain on the print controller under the project/job name specified by the InDesign export function. This option is typically used to print jobs that might be run multiple times. Keep the resources on the device to run the job with a new data set without having to re-install image resources, etc. assuming the same resources are required.
Print and Forget	This option will deploy (expand) the files in a VPC file to the printer's file system. It will use a temporary directory. It will print the job using the print submission file. When a job has completed, it will remove all files related to that job. This option is typically used for jobs that are run once.

To print the .vpc file, once the configuration is complete, use the lpr function to send the .vpc file to the queue on the FFPS controller or use some other job submission client.

Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data

This chapter contains:

Page Layouts	
Sample Test Files	
Transactional Workflow	
InDesign Screen View and Actual Application Preview	
Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data Formats	
Built-in Variables	
Built-in Rules and Data Transforms	
Designing a Transactional Document	

VI Design Express has the capability to create simple to moderately complex transactional documents driven by prefixed delimited transactional data files. For more complex transactional applications, VI Design Express can be used to create the base of the transactional application and the VI Design Pro tool or Xerox Professional Services can be engaged to add the complexity as required.

Transactional documents deliver critical content to the end customer. Examples of transactional documents include Phone Bills, Credit Card Statements, Invoices, Inventory Reports, etc. Transactional documents that include cross selling advertising are called Trans Promo documents and can be used to add value to the transactional documents you create. Using VI Design Express and prefixed delimited transactional data, you can create these types of applications quickly and easily.

A typical transactional document using prefixed delimited transactional data shares these design characteristics:

- There may be many individual prefixed data records per customer. That collection of records is referred to as a *Customer Record Set*. A typical print run for transactional documents may contain hundreds or thousands of customer record sets. Data for some specialty transactional documents, such as a Hotel Invoice, may contain data for only a single customer record set.
- The amount of data transactions per customer record set will determine the amount of pages generated for each customer. This only becomes known at print time. Some customers may have few transactions while others may have many transactions. A transactional document is typically designed to handle this by using a transaction continuation page for the overflow transactions. FreeFlow VI Design Express will handle this overflow condition automatically.
- A transactional document will contain a combination of records with Single Occurrence Fields (SOF), for example, records containing Name, Account Number, Address information, and one or more records with Multiple Occurrence Fields (MOF). The MOF contain the transactions. For example, local or international call details or credit card purchases. It is possible for there to be no transactions in a customer set if no transactions were recorded for that period.
- Typically, the first page of a transactional document contains the Single Occurrence Fields, often including a Payment Slip or an Amount to be Paid section. Depending on the application and the design it may also contain some Multiple Occurrence Fields i.e. Transactions.

Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data

• When designing a transactional document, it may be reasonable to expect the number of transactions to exceed the space defined on any one page. While FreeFlow VI Design Express will automatically duplicate the last page containing MOF records, it is common for the designer to create a specific page layout for continuation pages that may not contain all of the SOF information found on the first page. This continuation page would then automatically be repeated until all MOF records were processed.

Page Layouts

A transactional document can be a single page or many pages, based on the type of application and the number of transactions in the data file. Each customer record set can generate one or more pages based on the number of transactions for that individual customer.

When the data is processed, the application will use the various page layouts as needed. The application resets to the beginning page layout on a new front side of a page when a new customer record set is identified. The various page layouts that may be needed to handle a single customer record set all the information that will be printed for a single customer are described here:

- Single Occurrence Field Master Page
- Multiple Occurrence Field Transaction Page
- Transaction Continuation Page
- Other Pages

SINGLE OCCURRENCE FIELD MASTER PAGE

A Single Occurrence Field Master Page is the first page of the transactional application, in some cases it may be the only page required. It will typically contain the name and address information and other customer details that appear once in the document. We refer to this type of data record as a Single Occurrence Field or SOF record. Some SOF fields may be used more than once in the document, but the SOF data record only appears once in the customer record set.

A Single Occurrence Field Master Page, if space is available, can also contain the start or all of the transactions for an individual customer record set. If the amount of transactions in an individual customer record set is likely to exceed the space allocated on this page, an additional transaction continuation page may need to be added to the design. This is described in Transaction Continuation Page.

MULTIPLE OCCURRENCE FIELD TRANSACTION PAGE

The Multiple Occurrence Field Transaction Page (MOF page) is a page that will contain transactions. It may also contain promotional messages or other information, but its main job is to display transactions. Transactions are the prefixed records containing Multiple Occurrence Field records (MOF's). For example, a Telephone Billing statement will contain transactions for each call made. The more calls made, the more MOF records for that customer record set.

The frame you create, and the table properties, dictate how many transactions each MOF page can accommodate. If there is a possibility that the number of transactions will exceed the space allocated on this page, the last MOF page in the design will be duplicated until all transactions are processed for that customer record set.

TRANSACTION CONTINUATION PAGE

This is an optional page, as VI Design Express will automatically duplicate the last page containing MOF records until all MOF records are processed. However, if you want to create a different page layout for the MOF record continuation page, then you need to create a Transaction Continuation page. While this adds a page to your InDesign layout, this page will only print if MOF records being printed overflow.

OTHER PAGES

Other pages can be added to the document. These pages may contain targeted advertising, images, terms and conditions, or other information to be printed in the transactional document. It should be noted that both the Multiple Occurrence Transactional Page and Transaction Continuation Page can also contain promotional material, although it will only be printed when there are enough transactions in the record set to trigger the printing of those pages - all driven by the prefixed delimited transactional data.

Because VI Design Express will duplicate the last page containing MOF records automatically, this does impose a strict rule that you cannot insert a non-MOF page for example, a full page image in the middle of the transaction (MOF) pages. A non-MOF page can be inserted before any MOF pages and can be inserted after the last MOF page, but it cannot be inserted between MOF pages. A MOF page can have static or variable images and text placed on the page, however, be aware that, as stated above, these images or text will only appear if that page gets printed.

Note: If a Customer Record Set has no transactional record, the first page designed to contain transactions may be printed or not depending on the Suppress Blank Pages check box in the Print Setting panel of the Export GUI. By default, that box is unchecked and the transaction page will print with an empty MOF table. If you do not want to print a page with an empty MOF table check Suppress Blank Pages when exporting the job.

Sample Test Files

Sample transactional test files are available on the FreeFlow Variable Information page at www.xerox.com. Select the Support & Drivers page, then select the Support and Drivers label. Enter **VIPP** in the search field and select **FreeFlow Variable Information Suite** from the results. Select the **Software** tab. Scroll through the available downloads until you locate Sample_Transactional_Files.zip.

The zip file contains two transactional sample files and step-by-step guides on how to create the two applications.

Note: The .indd files supplied in the zip file were created using Adobe InDesign Creative Cloud 2014. However, using the supplied step-by-step guides you should be able to recreate both applications using later versions of Creative Cloud. The instructions are in English only. Videos supplied in the zip file have no audio, you can add your own talk track in your own language as required.

Transactional Workflow

A transactional workflow is very different from a promotional document workflow such as postcards or booklets. Promotional documents are generally designed for a single print run to support some marketing objective, such as a discount sale, and so on. These jobs can be designed in VI Design Express and exported as a VI Project Container (vpc file). The vpc file can be sent directly to a VIPP[®]-enabled printer in which the vpc is extracted, the resources installed on the device, the job run and then optionally, all files can be deleted. A VI Project Container workflow works well for these types of applications.

Transactional documents are typically run multiple times, often on a schedule. They can be run hourly, daily, weekly, monthly or on demand. What dictates when the application is run is when a new data file is available. A workflow in which you have to run the application through the VI Design Express design tool to generate the .vpc file for printing is not recommended, in part because the data file could be very large. Instead, you should use the Just Send the Data workflow VIPP[®] is known for.

JUST SEND THE DATA

Just Send the Data is a workflow in which all you need to start the VIPP® job is a new prefixed delimited transactional data file that will be sent to a queue set up to run this type of VIPP® job. There are prerequisites to use this workflow:

- The resources used in the application must be installed on the printer or VI eCompose platform file system prior to running the job.
- The queue on the printer is configured to append the VIPP[®] start commands via an init file assigned to the queue, or the VIPP[®] start commands are prepended to the data file before submission to the printer queue. For more details refer to your Xerox analyst.

What this means is that you would design the application using VI Design Express and export it to a VI Project Container file as usual. In the design and testing phase you would use a small subset of a typical prefixed delimited transactional data file.

Once the job is exported to a VI Project Container (.vpc) file you can send the .vpc file to the target VIPP®-enabled print device to validate the design on the printer.

When sending the vpc file to a queue that has the VPCF filter enabled and set to Deploy and Print, the filter will extract all the VIPP[®] resources in the VI Projects Container file and install them on the printer's file system at the location specified in the project file. These resources will remain in place on the printer until manually removed or replaced. If targeting a different printer for production you will need to repeat these steps on that device.

Note: The action of sending the .vpc file to the printer will deploy the resources needed to print the job to the printer file system. The .vpc file also includes a sample init file that will also be installed to the projects folder. If just sending the data, the queue used should point to this init file, or the data file should have the start commands shown in the init file prepended to the data file before submitting to the queue. For more information regarding init files, VIPP[®] Start Commands, and printer queue properties, refer to your local Xerox analyst.

Once you have finished the design and validated that it is working as desired, to run the application in a production mode, you no longer need to process the data through VI Design Express. At this point you are ready to implement the Just Send the Data workflow.

When the application is scheduled to run, submit the data file directly to the queue used in the steps above. If the queue is correctly configured to use the init file, or the VIPP® start commands are prepended to the prefixed

delimited transactional data, the job will start to run.

TEST ENVIRONMENT

A transactional document is more complex than any promotional document. A strategy needs to be established for the creation and testing of such an application before going into production.

It is recommended that you design your transactional document using a subset of your transactional data. Typically, a data file containing ten customer record sets of transactional data should provide you maximum coverage of the possible conditions that you need to test for and verify the correct operation.

While the SOF data is placed in your document much like any other type of promotional document you have designed in VI Design Express, transactional fields (MOF Data) is very different.

For each type of transaction, you need to test minimums, maximums, and average transactional loads by creating prefixed data for:

- At least one customer record set that has one or more of every possible transaction type.
- At least one customer record set that contains enough transactional records to print a single transactional page.
- At least one customer record set that contains enough transactional records to print a Master Transactional page and one Transactional Continuation page to verify the overflow to a continuation page where applicable for the application.
- At least one customer record set that contains enough transactional records to print a Multiple Occurrence Transaction Page and multiple transaction continuation pages to verify the transaction overflow across multiple continuation pages - where applicable for the application.
- At least one customer record that contains zero transactional records. You need to verify that your application can handle situations in which a customer made no calls or purchases.
- Several customer records that contain a combination of all of the above.

Test and validate that your application performs as expected using your test data. Once you have validated and tested your application, and providing your live data matches the layout and prefix of your test data, you should be able to Just Send the Data to the target print device for hard copy output or the FreeFlow VI eCompose for PDF output.

InDesign Screen View and Actual Application Preview

VI Design Express does not process the transactional records during the design of the document, the layout shown in the InDesign screen preview will not match the printed document. This is because the InDesign layout is a conceptual design view of the SOF and the MOF data. While the SOF data is accurately displayed in the GUI, only the first instance of a MOF prefix is displayed in the GUI.

To see how your document will look when all transactional records are processed, you can preview it using the Export option VI Design Express PDF to generate a viewable PDF. The more records in your test file, the longer it will take to generate the PDF file for proofing. This is why it is recommended you limit your test file to between 10 and 20 customer record sets.

The first time you preview the document you will have to set the Export options. Once the options are set, they will be remembered the next time you preview the document.

Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data Formats

Terms used to describe a prefixed delimited transactional data file are shown below:

- Header Record
- Field Descriptor
- Prefix
- Customer Record Set
- Root Prefix
- SOF
- MOF
- First Multi-occurrence Prefix
- Prefix/Field
- Delimiter Character

HEADER RECORD

The header record in the prefixed data file is optional, it is ignored if present. If present in the data file, the checkbox Data File Contains header line must be checked in order for the data to be displayed correctly in the VI Design Express Data Panel. The header record may be a single field name, such as INPUT, or it may contain several field names separated by the separator character.

The Header record is optional because many data files created by queries or data processing applications may automatically add the header record. Since VI Design Express does not need it, it will ignore this record, if present, provided you have checked the Data File Contains header line. Failure to check this option, if the header record is present, will cause unpredictable behaviors.

FIELD DESCRIPTOR

A Field Descriptor starts with a unique prefix. Field Descriptors are optional, but it is recommended that the database administrator supply the Field Descriptor information for each prefix used in the test data file. The field descriptor is used to make the data fields in the VI Design Express data panel more identifiable by assigning a short description for each field of a given prefix. The Field Descriptor entries are stripped out before processing the job.

The production data need not have the Field Descriptor entries, if it does, they will be ignored.

The field descriptor syntax is:

\$\$FD\$\$,DataPrefix,FieldlDescription,Field2Description,FieldnDescription

Where:

\$\$FD\$\$	is the Field Descriptor prefix, which must begin and end with \$\$ (default is \$\$FD\$\$). The characters between the beginning \$\$ and ending \$\$ are user definable, but must be the same for each Field Descriptor.
DataPrefix	is the actual prefix used for the data record for which you are creating the Field Descriptor.

FieldxDescription

is a short description of each field in that prefixed record. All characters used must be printable 7-bit ASCII characters.

Note: It is recommended that the field descriptor prefix is fewer than 10 characters and the field description is fewer than 20 characters.

PREFIX

The Prefix is the first field of each record in the data file. It is used to identify each record in the customer set. A Prefix can be up to 32 characters, but it is recommended that the prefix be kept between 2 to 5 characters. The prefix name cannot contain any of the following PS token delimiters:

- Parentheses: ()
- Square brackets: []
- Curly brackets: { }
- Angle brackets: < >
- forward & backward slashes: / \
- Asterisk: *
- Single quote: '
- Double quote: "
- Space Character

Note: In order to avoid confusion, it is recommended that you do not use a VIPP[®] reserved word or VIPP[®] command as prefix.

CUSTOMER RECORD SET

Customer Record Set is used to describe all data records that make up a single customer data set. A transactional data file can contain one single customer record set, but more often will contain hundreds or thousands of individual customer record sets.

ROOT PREFIX

The Root Prefix is the first data prefix in the data file. It is not the Header record or the Field Descriptor.

The Root Prefix is a special prefix used by VI Design Express to designate the start of a new customer record set in the data file. This could be considered similar to Skip-to-channel-1 used on the old mainframe transactional printers. When the data is processed and a Root Prefix is found, a new Front Master Page is automatically set as the new first page for that customer record set.

SOF

SOF stands for Single Occurrence Field. These SOF fields are normally contained in the non-transactional records in a customer record set. They contain information such as Name, address, account numbers, payment history, and so on.

MOF

MOF stands for Multiple Occurrence Field. MOF fields are fields contained in the transactional records in the customer record set. These contain the details of the transaction, such as Date, Time, Quantity, and Description of the transaction.

FIRST MULTI-OCCURRENCE PREFIX

The First Multi-occurrence field is identified by VI Design Express in the Data File Properties panel when importing the data file into the design tool. Any record in the customer record set after the first multi-occurrence prefix is considered a transactional (MOF) record. SOF and MOF records cannot be intermingled in a customer record set, all SOF records must appear before the MOF records. Typically, you would not change this option, but if VI Design Express selects the incorrect first MOF record, you can use this option to set that.

PREFIX/FIELD

Where:

The term Prefix is used to describe the first field of each record in the prefixed transactional data file. Field is used to describe the fields (after the prefix field) in that record. The prefix and fields are displayed in the VI Design Express data panel using the following syntax:

Prefixname Fn Field Content

Where:Prefixnameis the prefix name used in the data record._FnField Contentis the content of that field.

If a Field Descriptor is included as part of the data file (recommended) then the fields will be displayed using this syntax:

Prefixname Fn (Field Descriptor) Field Content

Prefixname	is the prefix name used in the data record.
_Fn	is the field number (_F1, _F2, F3 Fn).
Field Descriptor	is the description of the field, for example, Amount Due.
Field Content	is the content of that field.

D[®]

Note: Use of the Field Descriptor makes the design of the document and the selection of the appropriate fields from each record much easier.

DELIMITER CHARACTER

This is the delimiter character used in the data file to delimit prefix and fields.

EXAMPLES OF PREFIXED DELIMITED TRANSACTIONAL DATA FILES

Two examples of Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data Files follow. Both data formats are valid for VI Design Express.

Note: Refer to Xerox® FreeFlow® Variable Information Suite Easy Start for Transactional Hotel Invoice Creation Using Xerox FreeFlow VI Design Express on how to do this on www.xerox.com.

Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data file (With Field Descriptor)

Below is an example of a prefixed delimited transactional data file one Customer Record Set. The example is color coded to show each of the elements of a customer record set as described above.

\$\$FD\$\$:Name:HotelName:HotelAddr1:HotelCity:HotelState:HotelZip:HotelPhone:Hotelemail \$\$FD\$\$:Guest:Name:Addr1:Addr2:City:State:Zip:Country:Phone:Email \$\$FD\$\$:Room:RoomNo:Rate:GuestNationality:ArrivalDate:DepartDate:...:CheckInTime:CheckOutTime \$\$FD\$\$:Book:BookName:BookReference:HotelConf \$\$FD\$\$:Payment:AmountDue:AmountPaid:CardType:CardNo:ApprovalCode \$\$FD\$\$:Transfer:Date:Description:Notes:Charge \$\$FD\$\$:RoomCh:Date:Description:Notes:Charge \$\$FD\$\$:Taxes:Date:Description:Notes:Charge \$\$FD\$\$:Internet:Date:Description:Notes:Charge \$\$FD\$\$:Intake:Date:Description:Notes:Charge \$\$FD\$\$:Laundry:Date:Description:Notes:Charge Name:Xerox Hotel:555 S. Aviation Blvd:El Segundo:CA:90245:310-555-4783:XeroxHotel@xerox.com Guest:David Kirk:123 Artesia Blvd:Apt 401:Redondo Beach:CA:...:david.kirk@somewhere.com Room: 315:180.00: USA: 09/05/2015:...: Mary Davidson: RO: "03:19PM": "11:25AM": 855844790:112906 Book:Xerox Travel:OXTJWD:193GH398-Z Payment: \$ 2,346.56: \$ 2,346.56: AMEX: ******* 1234: DF8725 Transfer:09/05/2015:Transfer Pickup:Airport Pickup:\$ 40.00 RoomCh:09/05/2015:Room Charge::\$ 180.00 Taxes:09/05/2015:Luxury Tax Room 10%::\$ 18.00 Internet:09/05/2015:Internet Charge:Day Rate - Room:\$ 10.00 Intake:09/05/2015:Seagull Restaurant SGB0231::\$ 32.45 RoomCh:09/06/2015:Room Charge::\$ 180.00 Taxes:09/06/2015:Luxury Tax Room 10%::\$ 18.00 Internet:09/06/2015:Internet Charge:Weekly Rate:\$ 30.00 Intake:09/06/2015:Seagull Restaurant SGB0231::\$ 32.45 Intake:09/06/2015:Anchor Bar BF384::\$ 15.56 RoomCh:09/07/2015:Room Charge::\$ 180.00 Taxes:09/07/2015:Luxury Tax Room 10%::\$ 18.00 Intake:09/07/2015:Seagull Restaurant SGB0231::\$ 23.55 Intake:09/07/2015:Anchor Bar BF384::\$ 10.23 RoomCh:09/08/2015:Room Charge::\$ 180.00 Taxes:09/08/2015:Luxury Tax Room 10%::\$ 18.00

In the data file shown above:

The magenta text represents the optional Header Line. In this example it has one field name called INPUT.

The **cyan text** shows the optional Field Descriptor records. The Field Descriptor prefix in the example above is \$\$FD \$\$, the data prefix is assigned based on the name of the customer record or prefix that will be described. A short description of each field follows each field descriptor prefix. All parts of the field descriptor are separated by the delimiter character, in the example above, the : character is used as the delimiter character.

The **green text** is the Root Prefix. When processing the job, every time the Root Prefix is found, a new front page is created and a new customer record set starts.

The **red text** shows the Single Occurrence (SOF) records. These contain the non-transactional data such as name and address information.

The **dark green text** is the first multiple-occurrence (MOF) prefix. All records after this, up to the next Root Prefix, are considered MOF records.

The gray text shows the transactional records (MOF's).

Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data file (Without a Field Descriptor)

Below is another example of a prefixed transactional data file. This example shows three customer record sets. This example has no Header line or Field Descriptor entries.

In this example:

- H0 is the Root Prefix, it is also a SOF record.
- H1 is an additional SOF record.
- H2 is another SOF record.
- T0 is the First MOF record.
- T1 is an additional MOF record.

H0, David, David L Kirk, 36 Beech Road, Bushbury, Wolverhampton, West Midlands, ST10 9YF H1,M2,5249 500 3658,0893 1272 7544 5087,04 March 2015,31MAR15,31 March 2015,30JAN - 28FEB,JAN15-FEB15,005352,-005000. H2,005045,004999,001000,000670,001030,013096,00500,01500,00428,01267,01695,000126,..,Evolvcom 700F T0,01JAN,9:00a,Humberside,2201 990 0003,24Hr,10,90 T0,02JAN,3:40p,West Aedale,0022 760 3303,24Hr,6,50 T1,01FEB,10:13a, Frankfurt,+49 621 41 12 15,24Hr,23,320 T1,02FEB,1:40p,Madrid,+34 515 14 13 12,24Hr,6,99 T1,03FEB,11:04a,Paris,+33 121 31 41 51,24Hr,10,150 HO, Helen, Helen E Tavener, 23 Teasel Road, Fordhouses, Wolverhampton, West Midlands, ST10 8QA H1,F1,7987 225 8232,7292 8840 2612 4303,...,20 March 2015,19JAN - 20FEB,JAN15-FEB15,004357,-004357 H2,004354,002999,000000,000478,000837,008668,00200,00900,00153,00724,00877,000126,...,Evolvcom 400F T0,01JAN,9:00a,Humberside,2201 990 0003,24Hr,21,180 T0,02JAN,9:00a,Humberside,2201 990 0003,24Hr,10,90 T0,05JAN,5:00p,0xley,2201 990 0003,24Hr,8,70 T1,01FEB,10:13a,Frankfurt,+49 621 41 12 15,24Hr,23,320 T1,02FEB,1:40p,Madrid,+34 515 14 13 12,24Hr,6,99 T1,08FEB,11:04a, Paris,+33 121 31 41 51,24Hr,10,150 T1,09FEB,7:32p,Rome,+39 131 21 51 14,24Hr,16,210 T1, 10FEB, 10:27p, Zurich, +41 131 21 71 18, 24Hr, 12, 180 HO, Ricky, Ricky Guy, 611 Stafford Road, Pendeford, Wolverhampton, West Midlands, ST11 333 H1,M2,2381 763 8097,7914 3657 8821 1967,...,25JAN - 26FEB,JAN15-FEB15,004895,-004895 H2,004595,003999,000000,000572,000921,010087,00300,01200,00234,00912,01146,000126,...,Evolvcom 500H T0,01JAN,5:00p,0xley,2201 990 0003,24Hr,8,70 T0,02JAN,9:00a,Humberside,2201 990 0003,24Hr,10,90

Built-in Variables

VI Design Express provides some built-in variables to assist in the document design. A variable is like a field. The values contained in the variable change based on the current state of the data being processed. These built-in variables can be used to place data on the page or as an operand to build a rule condition.

Because VI Design Express will only display the first instance of each page created in the design, some variables will only contain a limited value. For example, when displayed in VI Design Express, the page count variable will always display 1, as VI Design Express will never display multiple transaction continuation pages. When the job is composed on the printer or exported to PDF for viewing in VI Design Express, the built-in variable will contain the correct values. For example, the variable VPPpageCount will be incremented for each page printed in a customer record set.

The following are the VI Design Express built-in variables:

- VPPpageCount (also shown in the Data Panel as VDE_PageNumber)
- VPPpageTotal (also shown in the Data Panel as VDE_PageTotal)
- VPPpreviousValue
- VPPnextValue
- VPPfirstValue
- VPPlastValue
- VPPspaceLeftInFrame
- VPPprefixName
- VPPruntimeProductName

VPPPAGECOUNT (ALSO SHOWN IN THE DATA PANEL AS VDE_PAGENUMBER)

VPPpageCount is the page number of the page in the final composed document for a given customer record set. In VDE this will always appear as 1, however, when the document is composed on the printer the page number will show the correct current page number.

VPPPAGETOTAL (ALSO SHOWN IN THE DATA PANEL AS VDE_PAGETOTAL)

VPPPageTotal is the total number of pages of the final composed document for a given customer record set. In VDE this will always appear as 1, however, when the document is composed on the printer the page number shown is the total page number.

VPPPREVIOUSVALUE

VPPpreviousValue can be used in the right operand of a false/true Rule to compare the value of a MOF field with its value in the previous record.

VPPNEXTVALUE

VPPnextValue can be used in the right operand of a false/true Rule to compare the value of a MOF field with its value in the next record.

VPPFIRSTVALUE

VPPfirstValue can be used in the right operand of a false/true Rule to detect the very first transaction being processed for a given customer record set. The left operand can be any MOF field or VPPprefixName.

VPPLASTVALUE

VPPlastValue can be used in the right operand of a false/true Rule to detect the very last transaction being processed for a given customer record set. The left operand can be any MOF field or VPPprefixName.

VPPSPACELEFTINFRAME

VPPspaceLeftInFrame is a built-in variable that contains the amount of vertical height measured in points left between the current transaction and the end of the frame.

VPPPREFIXNAME

VPPprefixName is a built-in variable that contains the prefix name of the current MOF record being processed.

VPPRUNTIMEPRODUCTNAME

VPPruntimeProductName is a built-in variable that identifies the platform on which the job will be rendered. The most common values are:

Normalizer (VDE)	when exporting a PDF from VI Design Express
Normalizer (VIeC)	when producing a PDF with VI eCompose
Normalizer (VDP)	when exporting a PDF from VI Design Pro
FreeFlow VI Designer	when viewing the job in VI Design Pro
FreeFlow VI Explorer	when viewing the job in VI Explorer
Normalizer (FFPS)	when printing the job on FreeFlow Print Server/APPE

This variable can be used in rules and Data Transforms to vary the layout depending on the platform on which the job is rendered. For example, you may set up a visibility rule to disable the background form when the job is printed on pre-printed paper but keep it when a PDF is produced.

Note: If you are not sure of the value for a specific platform, use a Data Transform to insert VPPruntimeProductName in a text frame and print the job on the target device. The value of the variable will be printed on the page. In the VI Design Express GUI the value assigned to the variable is **Normalizer** (VDE).

Built-in Rules and Data Transforms

VI Design Express provides four built-in true/false rules to help with the document design. For more information about the use of rules, refer to Rules. A true/false rule result is either true or false. This type of rule can be used in other rules or picked from rule lists in various option panels.

The following are the VI Design Express built-in rules:

- VDE_BetweenGroup
- VDE_NewGroup
- VDE_NewGroupOrFrame
- VDE_NewRecordSet

Ŧ	Ru	Rules (4)		
	I	VDE_BetweenGroup	false	
	I	VDE_NewGroup	true	
	<u>r</u> (VDE_NewGroupOrFrame	true	
	I	VDE_NewRecordSet	true	

VI Design Express provides two built-in Data Transforms to help with the document design. The use of Data Transforms is discussed in Data Transforms. The following are the VI Design Express built-in Data Transforms:

- VDE_PageNumber also known as VPPpageCount built-in variable
- VDE_PageTotal also known as VPPpageTotal built-in variable

•	Da	ta Transforms (2)	
	<u>T)</u>	VDE_PageNumber	1
	T)	VDE_PageTotal	1

The built-in rules and data transforms are read only so you cannot edit them. If needed, you can reinstall rules and data transforms by importing them using the import rule/data transform option shown in the following graphic.

						44 X
≎ VI De	sign Express					*≣
Sample	Data File:					
C:\Use	rs\us970513.XRXN/	A\Desktop\Ho	tel\Hote	Invoi	ce.csv	B
Asset Fo	older:					
						83
Sho	w User Data					
T Hini	hliaht Fields					D.
V 1	<u>a</u> <u>aaa</u>					
🕶 D	ata Fields (62)					-
*	Prefix Name (7)	i.				
•	Prefix Guest (9)	1				
*	Prefix Room (14))				
•	Prefix Book (3)					
*	Prefix Payment ((5)				550
	Prefix Transfer (4	ŧ)	1			
+	Prefix RoomCh (4	4)				
*	Prefix Taxes (4)		2			-
\$		0.0	T	्याः	de.	â .:
				a series	tores-	

For Windows, if the VDE is installed on the C: drive, the file VDE PrefixedDataRules.dat is located here:

On a 32-bit PC: C:\Program Files\Xerox\VIPP\VDE\PredefinedRules

On a 64-bit PC:C:\Program Files (x86) \Xerox\VIPP\VDE\PredefinedRules

BUILT-IN RULES

VDE_BetweenGroup

This rule is true when a MOF prefix is different from the previous one except at the beginning of a new frame. You might use this rule in the Row Options panel to insert an extra row for instance, a blank row in your table between MOF groups.

VDE_NewGroup

This rule is true when a MOF prefix is different from the previous one. You might use this rule to reset a summation data transform covering a MOF group a group of consecutive records with the same prefix.

VDE_NewGroupOrFrame

This rule is true when a MOF prefix is different from the previous one or at the beginning of a new frame. You might use this rule in the Row Options panel to insert the group title in your table between MOF prefix groups and repeat it at the top of subsequent frames if the MOF group spans several pages.

VDE_NewRecordSet

This rule is true when the prefix indicating the very first transaction of a new customer record set is detected. You might use this rule to reset a summation data transform on the change of a customer record set.

BUILT-IN DATA TRANSFORMS

VDE_PageNumber

The page number of the page in the final composed document for a given customer record set. In VDE this will always appear as 1, however, when the document is composed on the printer the page number will show the correct current page number.

VDE_PageTotal

The total number of pages of the final composed document for a given customer record set. In VDE this will always appear as 1, however, when the document is composed on the printer the page number shown is the total page number.

Designing a Transactional Document

Transactional documents can be split into two categories:

- **Mixed Transactional** A mixed transactional document will list all the transactions for a customer record set one after the other. If there are multiple transaction prefixes, it will not matter. An example of a mixed transactional document is a credit card billing statement or a hotel invoice, in which the transactions will be presented (printed) as they were recorded in the data file.
- **Presorted Transactional** A presorted transactional document is one in which the transactions in the data file have been presorted into prefix groups. The transactions will still be printed in the order they are presented in the data file, but in the application design you may want to separate transaction groups into what would appear as separate tables. An example of such an application is a telephone billing statement, in which local, long distance and international calls are identified by separate prefixes and will be printed into what will appear as separate tables or areas on the document.

The process to create any Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data document is similar, the presorted document may require additional rules to control the layout of the transactional data.

The basic steps are:

- Review the data file and understand the field names, the data they contain, and where they will be used on the document. If you do not have this information, find someone that can explain this, as without this information you will not be able to design a transactional document. If possible, ask the data administrator to include field descriptor records at the beginning of the data file.
- Create your first page layout.
- Import your Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data, making the necessary options to import the data file correctly.
- Design your first page. Typically, most of the SOF data will be printed on this first page.
- If MOF (Transactional) records are to be printed on this page draw a text frame on the page in which those transactions are to be printed.
- If you want VI Design Express to duplicate this page for transaction overflow then you can go straight to the transaction design section. If you want to create a new page layout for any transactional overflow, you need to add a new page for Transaction Continuation pages.

Once you have placed the SOF fields on your page and you are ready to design the transactional part of your document:

- Create a Text Frame in which you want the transactions to be placed. The frame should be wide enough and long enough to accommodate the transactions you want to print on that page.
- Insert the Transaction table into that text frame. To do this:
 - Place the cursor in the first column of the text frame.
 - Select the first MOF prefix in the data panel.
 - Right-click and select **Create Transactional Data Table**.

This will add all the prefixes and prefix fields into a table in the text frame.

- Adjust the table columns to fit the data.
- Adjust the table properties as required for your design.

- Add VI Design Express rules and data transforms to control elements you may want in your transactional table, such as:
 - Headers or footers
 - Spacing Lines
 - Text that may only appear based on a condition, such as a total field
 - Other
- Preview your document often during the design to see how it will look when processing all the MOF records.
- When the design is complete, export it to a .vpc file and send that file to the printer for validation.
- Verify that all page breaks are as expected and that every page prints as expected.
- Run production.

CREATING A TRANSACTIONAL DOCUMENT

Preparation

Your Data Administrator should work closely with the application designer to describe the data file that has been previously extracted and made available to the design team. It is recommended that your data administrator become familiar with the Field Descriptor section of this document and include field descriptors in the data file for your use during the document design.

The extracted data file should be between 10 and 20 customer record sets for your design. The data file should contain data to test and verify that all the conditions and logic in the document. During the design phase it is not recommended to use the production data file that could contain thousands of records.

It is critical that the prefix names, number of fields in each prefix and the delimiter character used in the test file are the same as will be used in the production data file.

The data file must be a Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data file.

- **Prefixed** meaning the first field of each record is a prefix. The prefix is a special field that identifies the type of information that will be contained within that prefix record. The prefix is used by VI Design Express to determine how that data will be displayed on the page.
- **Delimited** meaning the data file is delimited. Fields that make up each record have a delimiter character between each field. In the case of the data file shown below, the : i.e colon character is used as the field delimiter.
- **Transactional** meaning this data file contains transactional (MOF) data records. There can be many transactions in a single customer record set. The transactions can be of the same prefix name or different prefix names. Depending upon the application being developed, the prefix names may be presorted into groups such as in a telephone billing application with all local calls grouped followed by International calls, or mixed such as in a credit card or invoice type application in which transactions will appear based on the date of the transaction.

The format of the prefixed delimited transactional data file can vary slightly as some parts of a Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data file are optional, as described in Examples of Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data Files.

Note: Refer to Xerox[®] FreeFlow[®] Variable Information Suite Easy Start for Transactional Hotel Invoice Creation Using Xerox FreeFlow VI Design Express on how to do this on www.xerox.com. A Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data file may have the following parts shown as optional or mandatory:

- Header Line or none below A list of field names often seen in promotional delimited data files. The header line, and the field names it contains, are not of any use for VI Design Express; it is the prefix that is important for each record. Often a header line with a field name of Input is used, but this is optional and ignored when processing the data, however, if a header line is present, you must check the **Data file contains header line** check box in order for the Data File panel to display the data correctly. The Header Line is optional.
- A Field Descriptor section (Refer 1 below). This is highly recommended as it helps the designer understand the purpose of each field in any given prefix. Without understanding this information it is very difficult to design an application without intimate knowledge of the data file and each field purpose. The field descriptor uses the default \$\$FD\$\$ prefix. The Field Descriptor is informational only, and is ignored when processing the data. The field descriptor is optional but highly recommended.
- Single Occurrence Records Refer 2 below. These are prefix records that appear just once in the customer record set. In the data file example below there are five such records in each customer set. In this example these records contain information about the Hotel, the guest, the room, the booking agent, and the payment history. While this information may be printed more than once in the document, the record for it only exists once in the customer record set. This is why the record is described as a Single Occurrence Record. These are mandatory records in a transactional document.
- Multiple Occurrence Records Refer 3 below. This is the meat of the transactional document. These are the actual transactions. Sometimes the transactions are presorted by prefix, other times they may appear in random order based on when the transaction was made and what type of transaction it was. In this Hotel Invoice application, several different prefixes are used based on the type of transaction, room charge, Tax, restaurant charge, and so on. Because there are multiple transactions, these records are known as multiple occurrence records. There are multiples of these records in a single customer record set. These are mandatory in a transactional document, although not every customer record set will contain transactions. For example, if you did not use your credit card this month, there are no transactions to report.

Mixed Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data File Description

The image shown below shows a typical prefixed delimited transactional data file. It contains the optional Field Descriptor section, however, it does not have a header line.

Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data

\$FD\$S:Nam.e:Hotel name:Hotel addres!i:Hotel .:it}':Hotel st:ffi!:Hotel ZIP:Hlru!! tel.:Hotd email \$\$FIDSS:Gut:st:Ncame:Adilie5'5 1:Addre.s.s 2:Ci:ty:Stale:Zlr£ountry:ToL:Email \$\$FIDSS:Roorn:Numbcr-:R:ffil: atroaality-Arril,al:Inroic:eprinted,Dq,mure:Cashier:Paak. co&:Chock-In,Ohl!d:-Out:Invoice ID:Inmic, No :\$\$FDSS:Book:Agency:Omfu:rnalfon:I-rotel amf. \$\$FIDSS:Pa:,ment:In,oice: d:Caid.-Gird Nr.:Cod \$\$FDSS:Traru;for:Date:Description:Gomml!n't!!:ArniJUlll . \$\$FDSS:Roornch:Date:Description:Coomnents:Amo:1ml \$\$FDSS:fues:Dllle:Dl?scnptoon:Comrne□t5:Amo11n1 \$\$FDSS:Inteniet:Date:IJesaiption,Corruru!nts:A:mount \$\$FDSS:Intske:DBle: scriptic;n:Comme1m: ant \$\$fDSS:Laundry:D.lle:Desa:iption:Cl>JTIJJlen ts:Am o:unl Neamia'::lu!rox Ho:tel:IB S. Aviation Blvd:EI SI!gUildo:CA:90rl45:3 I0-555-4781:lu!rm;Hotel ,om Guest:Dartd Kirk:123 Art£51a llh•d:AJn 40 I:Retfundo: llearh:CA:90ll71!:U5A:4M-555-81132:duidkirl@sorn0'i"here.com Book:Xerox 'lhvcl:OXTJWD:l'HGH39&-Z Payment:\$ 2,,346..51:hS 2,3465':AMEX:•••••1234:DB8725 Transfer:00/05/2015:'FransfN P'icbrp:Airport P'icbrp:\$ 40.00 Roomeh:09105f2015:Rooon ChargJ!::S 1S0.00• Tal:1!S:.09/'lliil.OIS:Lm:nry Tux Room Will,::\$ 11:.00 InterneU19/0512DI.Sdntemet Chargl?:Day !late - RoomOh:\$ 10.0D Intake:09/'0.512015-.5ea;gull Restaurant SGII0:231c:S 32.45 RoomCh:09f06l1O15:11!ooon Charg)!::S 1S0.00 Taies:09,ro5i2015:Lw:nry Tux Room W%::\$ 18..00 Intcrn!!1:Ollf06,12015':Intemet Charge:W1!1?11y Rat :.S 30.00 Intake:09{06/'2015-.5eagull R1!Stauran1 SGIIDH1 :: \$ 31..45 Intake:09/'06!2015-.Ancbor Bar BBI!4::S 15.56 ll.oomeh:09f07f1015:11!ooon ChargJ!::S 1S0.00 Taies:09/'0'li2015:1w:nry Tax Room 10\11,::\$ 18..00 Intab::1J9f07f20I5-.5eagull Restaurant SGIIDH1 ::\$ 23.5.5 Intake:IJ9/'07f2015-.Anchor 1hr BH.1!4::S 102.3-RoomCh:09/0SflOIS:Rooon Charge::S 1S0.00 Tal:1!S:.09,00il.OIS:Lm:nry Tax Room IO\11,:,\$ 18.00 Intake: 19f08/2015-5ea, gull Restaurant SGIIDHLS 35.45 Intake:1J9!08i'201S-.Anch r Bar BF3-!!4::S 37 56 RoomCh:09f09.'2015:Rooon Charge::S tso.oo, Tues.:.09!0Sli2015:Lw: ry Tux Room 10\11,::\$ 18.00 Intake:09f09!2015-.5ea;gull R1!Stanrant .!.GIIDH1::\$ 18..45 Intake:09/'09/2015-.Anchor Bar BF3-M::S 1056 Roomeh.-09flQf2015:!l!ooon Charge:: 1S0.00 'faJ:es:09flOf201S:Lw:nryTID-Room 10\11,::\$ 18..00 Intab::09f10,2015-.Ancbor Bar BF3!1!4::S 6.25 Intake:09f10,2015-.5ea,gull R1!'Stauran1 SGIIOH1 ::\$ 41.05 Romn.Ch-09fl If/O 15:!!!ooon Charge::S ISO.IJO Toies:09111f2015:L.w:nry TID. Room 10\11,::\$ 18.00 Laundry:09fl 1f2015:Laun.dry::\$0.00 Intake:.09!1 U20I5-.5ea,gull Restanran1 SGIIDH1 :: \$:10..25 Roo.mCh:09fl.2flO15:Room Charge::\$ 1S0.00 Tuies:09'12'2015:Lw:nry Tu Room IO\II,::\$ 18..00 Intake:09!12'201S-.5ea;gull Restauraml SG60H1 :: \$ 37.54 Intake:09!f2/2015-.Anch r 1hr BF3-!!4::S 162.1 Roomeh:09f13f2015:!1!ooon Charge::S 1S0.00 'fa.II!S:.09fB/2015:Lw:nryTux ltoom IO\ll,::\$ 18.00 Intake:09'1312015-.5ea,gull Restauran1 .!.GmJHI::\$ 45...00 Intab::09{13/2015-.Ancbor Bar BF3!1!4::S 22.00 1'ra.nsfor:09/14'1015:1'ran3fer:Airport Drop Off:S 40.00 N-ame:lu!rox Ho:tel:555.S. Av:ialii:m Bl1,d:EI Segimdo:CA:90045:310-555-47M:XeroxHotel@X rox.c,om Guesl:Kl!'lein Atkin:23 High Slrrf!t::Horley-..54rrrey,RH6411L:E:ngland:Oll75-7369923:Atki111:!3@somE:whlm'.net11937 "Roorn:729-.255..00:E□gland:09!0112015:09!03J20J5:!J9{03/"2015:Se11Srnith:CQ,iJ 1:OIP;).r:-07:IOAM""044.5M9335:2823'98" Bo k:Xerm Trave!J:ZS.V.'91D:171!AD391-D Paymrnt:\$ 995.74:\$ 995.74: VISA :'.. •• 1234 ::ZZ4562 Roomeh:09i'Olf2015:Rooon Charge::S 255.00• Tal:1!S:09,01f1.O1S:Lw:nry Tux Room 10\11,::\$ 25 90 Inter11eU19/D1/2D15dntemet Chargl?:W1!1?:kly RB.le:\$ 30.00

Field Descriptor Section

\$\$FD\$\$:Name:Hotel name:Hotel address:Hotel city:Hotel state:Hotel ZIP:Hotel tel.:Hotel email \$\$FD\$\$:Guest:Name:Address 1:Address 2:City:State:ZIP:Country:Tel.:Email \$\$FD\$\$:Room:NUmber:Rate:Nationality:Arrival:Invoice printed:...:Check-In:Check-Out:Invoice ID:Invoice No \$\$FD\$\$:Book:Agency:Conf.:Hotel conf. \$\$FD\$\$:Payment:Invoice:Paid:Card:Card Nr.:Code \$\$FD\$\$:Transfer:Date:Description:Comments:Amount \$\$FD\$\$:RoomCh:Date:Description:Comments:Amount \$\$FD\$\$:Taxes:Date:Description:Comments:Amount \$\$FD\$\$:Internet:Date:Description:Comments:Amount \$\$FD\$\$:Internet:Date:Description:Comments:Amount \$\$FD\$\$:Internet:Date:Description:Comments:Amount \$\$FD\$\$:Intake:Date:Description:Comments:Amount \$\$FD\$\$:Intake:Date:Description:Comments:Amount \$\$FD\$\$:Intake:Date:Description:Comments:Amount \$\$FD\$\$:Intake:Date:Description:Comments:Amount \$\$FD\$\$:Laundry:Date:Description:Comments:Amount \$\$FD\$\$:Laundry:Date:Description:Comments:Amount

The Field Descriptor section shown uses the default \$\$FD\$\$ prefix name. You can create your own prefix, it must begin and end with \$\$. It can be up to 32 characters in length, but keeping it between 2 and 3 characters is recommended.

The field descriptor is used to describe each field in any particular prefix to make it easier to identify the data you are looking for to place on the page. For example, the line below:

\$\$FD\$\$:Name:Hotel name:Hotel address:Hotel city:Hotel state:Hotel ZIP:Hotel tel.:
Hotel email

\$\$FD\$\$	is an indicator that this is a Field Descriptor
Name	is the Prefix name for this record
Field 1	is the Hotel Name
Field 2	is the Hotel Address
Field 3	is the Hotel Address City
Field 4	is the Hotel Address State
Field 5	is the Hotel Address Zip
Field 6	is the Hotel Telephone Number
Field 7	is the Hotel E-mail Address

provides the following information:

The data shown in sections 2 and 3 in the graphic above, represents one complete Customer Record set. The next customer record set start in sections 4 and 5 and typically continues like that to the end of the data file.

Importing the Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data File

When importing the prefixed delimited transactional data file, check the **Data file contains prefixed multipleoccurrence fields** check box shown below in yellow highlight. This indicates to VI Design Express that the data file is to be treated as a Transactional data file.

a File Properties	North Contraction of the local division of t	1	H
Data File Encoding:	Western European (Windows-1252)	•	ОК
First Line of the Data File:		[Cancel
\$\$FD\$\$:Name:Hotel name:Hotel addres	s:Hotel city:Hotel state:Hotel ZIP:Hotel tel.:Hotel email		
Data Field Delimiter:			
O None			
🔿 Tab			
○ Space			
⊙ Other	:		
Decimal Delimiter:	Period (.)	•	
Strip leading and trailing quotes			
Strip leading and trailing spaces for f	ield data		
✓ Data file contains prefixed multiple-o	ccurrence fields		
Check this checkbox only if your data file contains Please refer to VDE user documentation for more of	transactional data, i.e. multiple values within a single record field. Jetails.		
Data file contains header line			
Data file contains header line Root Prefix:	Name		

If the data file contains a Header Line, check the **Data file contains header line** box shown in the pink highlight above; if the data file does not contain a header file, leave this unchecked. If unsure ask your data base administrator.

If you have quoted fields in the data, check the **Strip leading and trailing quotes** option. Leading and trailing quotes are often inserted around a field in the data to protect fields that have the delimiter character in the field content. It stops that character from being interpreted as a delimiter character. If this is used, you must select the option to strip the leading and trailing quotes.

Review the other available options, when all required options are selected, select **OK** to import the data file into VI Design Express.

This will populate the VI Design Express Data Panel as shown below.

		* ×
¢٧	I Des	ign Express 🛛 📲
Sar	nple D	Data File:
C	\Usen	s\ \Desktop\Prefixed Data Demo\Hotel Inv
Ass	et Fol	der:
		⊗ ⊗
$\mathbf{\nabla}$	Show	/ User Data
\checkmark	High	ight Fields 🛛 🖓
	1	<u></u>
	_	
•	Da	ta Fields (60)
		Prefix Name (7)
	•	Prefix Guest (9)
	•	Prefix Room (12)
	•	Prefix Book (3)
	•	Prefix Payment (5)
	•	Prefix Transfer (4)
	•	Prefix RoomCh (4)
	•	Prefix Taxes (4)
	•	Prefix Internet (4)
	•	Prefix Intake (4)
	•	Prefix Laundry (4)
▶	Ru	les (2)
►	Da	ta Transforms (8)
ż		00 T J 2 =

Note: The Data Panel looks slightly different than the normal Delimited or XML data panel you may be used to. This is because transactional data files can contain a lot of data and to display many prefix records in a small space, each prefix is collapsed by default. Also, some prefixes are highlighted. The unhighlighted prefixes in the Data Panel shown above, are Single Occurrence Field records. These are prefixes that appear once in a single customer set. Typically, they would contain customer information such as name and address information, or account information, and so on. The highlighted prefixes are Multiple Occurrence Field records. While there may be several fields with the same prefix in each customer record set, they will only appear once in the Data Panel.

Warning: It is critical that the test data file you use for your design include at least one of every prefix used in the first 100 records of the data file. Failure to provide this will result in VI Design Express missing prefixes and not being able to print those prefix fields in your application.

You can expand any prefix to see the fields it contains. The number of fields within any prefix is shown in parenthesis at the end of the prefix name.

Because there are no meaningful field names in a Prefixed Delimited Transactional data file, as these would change from prefix to prefix, the following syntax is used by VI Design Express to name a field:

Prefix Name Fn

Where:

Prefix Name

_Fn

is the name of the prefix. The prefix name is the name used in the first field of each record in the data file.

is the field position of a field within that prefix. _F1 is the first field after the prefix.

The Data Panel shown below shows the Prefix Name record expanded to show the seven available data fields of the Name prefix. So, if you needed to place the name of the hotel, you would select the field *Name_F1.Name_F6* would provide the phone number, etc. These are the field names you would use to place data objects on the page.

	44 X
0 VI Design Express	•]
Sample Data File:	
C:\Users\ \Desktop\Prefoed D	ata Demo'Hotel Invoice'Ho
Asset Folden	
	8 18
Show User Data	
Highlight Fields	Q.
✓ Data Fields (60)	
✓ Prefix Name (7)	
TY Name_F1 (Hotal name)	Xerox Hotel
TI Name_F2 (Hotel address)) 555 S. Aviation Blvd
T) Name_F3 (Hotel city)	El Segundo.
TI Name_F4 (Hotel state)	CA
3) Name_F5 (Hotel 21P)	90245
TI Name_F6 (Hotel tel.)	310-555-4783
(Hotal email)	XaroxHotel@xarox.com
Prefix Guest (9)	
Prefix Room (12)	1
 Prefix Book (3) 	1
 Prefix Payment (5) 	
Prefix Transfer (4)	1
Prefix RoomCh (4)	

Sample Mixed Transactional Document

The following is a sample transactional Hotel Invoice application using the data file shown above.

Xerox Hotel Ser El Segundo, Calitornia	rvices a]
v.ii j.1 -i.,k l1[\u⊨all Bl•-dl ,',pl:'IOI 11;,dwi&Ba,h CA!IOO'ïI.I		Invoice-Arnoun-	S 2.]46.56	
T-4245S5-8 2 E d,wld,kitk@.Son}E'Wllett,(J,1i	i11	Final [nvmc.o, III'i"Oi:e Da-t:e	LI 2911,s 00/14110 IS	
B QJN-d By, :« <ox: tum<br="">Omf. OXW D ffol<el coor,="" l9:if.3"h398-2<="" td=""><td>lriboo G11 ; 11.<l(im' :i,;<br="">ll,lto/Cod.! ISIUJO N2IicmIlit_ US.I, Mrh'll, 512 15 D pol'l.\l , 09/H/2 IS l111vo .P nle,:!! 09/J 1!)JS</l(im'></td><td>%11, r, Ary [. P:,,:by RO Cl,eck-In Time, [.]J,!!ifl? Ch d:-011t IIIitt:'; Ll.25. Invo,;,eNo; Ll21!!! Imral,:,e[,Da. 8-SSI!</td><td>lol!Jdsor, 'M AM li6 U'i0O</td><td></td></el></ox:>	lriboo G11 ; 11. <l(im' :i,;<br="">ll,lto/Cod.! ISIUJO N2IicmIlit_ US.I, Mrh'll, 512 15 D pol'l.\l , 09/H/2 IS l111vo .P nle,:!! 09/J 1!)JS</l(im'>	%11, r, Ary [. P:,,:by RO Cl,eck-In Time, [.]J,!!ifl? Ch d:-011t IIIitt:'; Ll.25. Invo,;,eNo; Ll21!!! Imral,:,e[,Da. 8-SSI!	lol!Jdsor, 'M AM li6 U'i0O	
Tr.,,,,1,:,-			1620	
Room T 1&2 Internet 40 Int:>k:1, Laundry I ::0	41¼fil:i		1020	:e Amou:n:t: S 2,1-4-6.5.S
Cab! De:!:i:.l'ipt	ion Comme	nts	Amtillll'llt J	11 1}(,
IIEItTI5iXI15 Tra P1CkL 0fi.{(f51;1015 Roam Ch.ngi 09'05.1015 LII L-vT"1;,-I 09•051:1015 JI(<hrjetc< td=""> D!JIJISIW15 SS!lgUII Rfk</hrjetc<>	4J, Airport Pick i, R.oom10 D e Day Rate - s1aurarl SGB0231	kup - RoomCh	s: ,m.00 \$10000 \$,000 s: m00 !j: 32A:5	<u>Am<il.llitt)< u=""> S 11!_00 \$ I5 /:i S :WII.l</il.llitt)<></u>
09•1JI;,,',01.:;. Roofl!C. rg D!!.ill6fID15 ILixi.y Tax R 0!)}06/2015 InwrratCl - 091(16,•2(115 S0i11,Jull R0s ⁻ 09.1(16,•1015 A111::tm Eklr	e oom 1II -ovg'' Wockly Ra 1mJTTJrt ½80231 ' BF384	ita	t 180.00 ij 11300 s jQOO S 3245 S 15.56	f, 180.00 S 1!HIIJ \$ 18-Ati S 10 56 \$ 180 00
D!!•II112015 Roomcnarya OOJ071XIIS. Lu,,;,ay T.a:,c 09•0712015 Se.iIJUII R0 D9.•TI1/W15 Ant::oor Bar	4 :A.ocun I 0 :rururnt 1⁄280231 BF38,I		f, 18[].(!iJ \$ 18.00 SH.55 \$ 1□.2.3	S , e00 {. 6.25 S <ii 0:s<br="">t 18000 S , e. 00</ii>
09!1)812015 R.oof!IC I-!	113		t 180.00	S Jo_00
Xerox M⊡tel Servk:>ea El5«-gimib, CIIItoo-m=l U dStill 0fAm (a ;,,,,,,x rm:Hol:El@:ceno;,coru	T +1-31(15,55-4783 P-t1-iH-0-5-ï5- CX.erorl-!0MEJ&g1.1r o.x .c	I ce-r,se- orn WW	• <i>Na.C19i1- 1:l6</i> W".DLHotelcom	S 30.26 1, 180.00 \$ 18'00 S 3754
	•12			S I 21 : T , .ao_oo
	09/i:i/2015- LLKU'l' TI!!< Roar OW13.'I\15 SosIIJIJ !,m@ D9,'13f.2015 And"lar Bar Ilf3f	m HI ≩fI'I SG80231 84		\$ 18.00 \$ 4500 \$ 2200
	(1{1114!2015 Tron'='9r To-""11	,!,,iľ (XⅡ1	Drop (ltf	S 4(j00 • S 2,.3,4G.'Se
	XeroxHohlIS, lees ElS991,.Jlo.ca11r"" Unitoed StI>af An,e:rk-o '' – orl:lotel e m;.:om	т +I-J10IIi-J,ï'& I'+1-31D-S.S5-I&'i2 ЕХ IBISE-gtii1 . ।	rin"'m	I.ice= N"o. C2'9'73'-S967.3 -•-Ca[Hote1£um

The invoice can be a single page invoice or a multiple page invoice as shown above depending upon the length of stay, and the number of charges made by the hotel guest. The layout for the first and subsequent pages can be different. In the above example the Guest Information shown on the first page, contained within the outline box and the business graphic or bar chart, is not shown on the subsequent pages. A page number is displayed at the bottom of each page listing x of y pages.

The picture below is of the top half of page 1 showing the field names of each field placed in the document.

iuest_F2 iuest_F3 iuest_F4 iuest_F5 Guest_F6			Invoice Ar F1	nount: Payment_
Guest_F8 Guest_F9			Final Invoic	e: Payment_F2
Booked By: Book_F1 Conf: Book_F2 Hotel Conf: Book_F3	Inhouse Guest: Room No: Rate/Code: Nationality: Arrival: Departure: Invoice Printed:	Room_F1 \$Room_F2 Room_F3 Room_F4 Room_F6 Room_F5	Cashier: Package Code: Check-In Time: Check-Out Time: Invoice No: Invoice ID:	Room_F7 Room_F8 Room_F9 Room_F10 Room_F11 Room_F12

The picture below is of the same record, but showing the actual values of those field names.
David Kirk 23 Artesia Blvd pt 401 .edondo Beach 2A 90278			Invoice Ar	nount:	\$ 2,346.56
F 424-555-8832 E david.kirk@somewhere.com			Final Invoice: \$ 2,34 Invoice Date:		\$ 2,346.56
Booked By: Xerox Travel Conf: OXTJWD Hotel Conf: 193GH398-Z	Inhouse Guest: Room No: Rate/Code: Nationality: Arrival: Departure: Invoice Printed:	315 \$180.00 USA 09/05/2015 09/14/2015 09/13/2015	Cashier: Package Code: Check-In Time: Check-Out Time: Invoice No: Invoice ID:	Mary Da RO 03:19PM 11:25AM 85584479 112906	vidson 1 90
Hotel Conf: 193GH398-Z	Invoice Printed:	09/13/2015	Invoice ID:	112906	

It is recommended that you use the "Show User Data" check box in the VI Design Express Data Panel to toggle between field names and field contents during your design. Showing field names will allow you to track the data fields you are selecting. Showing the field contents will allow you to view the actual field content (text and graphics) in your document, and to adjust size or spacing as required.

Name and Address Block

To create the name and address block you will need to select the following fields from the Guest prefix.

- Guest_F1
- Guest_F2
- Guest_F3
- Guest_F4
- Guest_F5
- Guest_F6
- Guest_F8

• Guest_F9

Placing any field element from a Single Occurrence record works as described earlier in this document, with the exception that you need to expand the prefix to get access to the fields within. Create a text box, with appropriate text attributes, and then double click on the field to insert.

1. Click on the chevron arrow for the Guest prefix to expand that prefix and make the fields within that prefix become available for selection.

		* ×
VI Design Exp	ress	*
Sample Data File:		
C:\VIPPdev\InD	Design plug-in\Test cases\F	Prefixed data\HotelInvoicet.t 🗃
Asset Folder:		
		⊗ (S,
Show User Da	ata	
Highlight Field	ls	L.
≜ 1 a	555	
👻 Data Fields	(60)	^
Prefix N	Name (7)	
🔶 Prefix G	Guest (9)	
<u>T</u>) Gu	est_F1 (Name)	David Kirk
<u>T</u> (Gu	est_F2 (Address 1)	123 Artesia Blvd
<u>T</u> (Gu	est_F3 (Address 2)	Apt 401
<u>T</u> (Gu	uest_F4 (City)	Redondo Beach
<u>T</u>) Gu	est_F5 (State)	CA
<u>T</u>) Gu	est_F6 (ZIP)	90278
<u>T</u>) Gu	est_F7 (Country)	USA
<u>T</u>) Gu	uest_F8 (Tel.)	424-555-8832
<u>T</u>) Gu	est_F9 (Email)	david.kirk@somewhere.com
Prefix F	Room (12)	
Prefix E	300k (3)	

- 2. Draw a text frame at the location you want the Name and Address information to be placed. Select the appropriate font attributes to be used.
- 3. Select the appropriate field from the Data Panel to create the complete name and address information. This is done by placing the cursor in the text box and then double clicking on the appropriate field in the data panel.
- 4. Once you have completed the Name and Address block, you may want to apply VI Design Express text fitting attributes, such as Fit in width and Suppress blank variable lines. These options ensure the names or address lines fit within the width of the text box and will suppress blank lines, for example, not all addresses will have an apartment or suite number.

Remember you can use the Show User Data and the Highlight Fields check box in the Data Panel to switch between field names and field contents and to toggle highlighting fields.

Page Numbering

Page numbering such as 1/2 or Page 1 of 2, and so on, can be created using the built-in data transforms listed in the data panel. The two transforms VDE_PageNumber and VDE_PageTotal are displayed in the Data Transform section at the bottom of the VI Design Data panel.

3				48 X
ov	I Des	ign Express		-11
San	npie C	Data File:		
C	User	s'i (Desk	top/Hotel/HotelInvoio	e.av 🔗
Ass	et Fol	den		
				⊗ IB
	Show	v User Data		
	High	light Fields		Q1
•	1	L #		
		Prefix Name (7)		1
	*	Prefix Guest (9)		
		Prefix Room (12)		
	*	Prefix Book (3)		
	*	Prefix Payment (5)		
	*	Prefix Transfer (4)		
		Prefix RoomCh (4)		
		Prefix Taxes (4)		
	•	Prefix Internet (4)		
	+	Prefix Intake (4)		
1		Prefix Laundry (4)		
	Ru	iles (5)		
+	De	ta Transforms (8)		
	II	TotalTransfer	40	
	II	TotalRoom	180	
	II	TotalTaxes	18	
	II	TotalInternet	10	
	I	TotaUntake	32.45	
	II	TotalLaundry	30	
	II	VDE_PageNumber	1	
	II	VDE_PageTotal	1	
0		0	OTI	A = 1

To use these two Data Transforms

- 1. Create a text frame at the bottom center of the page.
- 2. Set the appropriate font attributes.
- 3. Enter the text Page.
- 4. Select the first Data transform **VDE_PageNumber** and insert in the text frame.
- 5. Add a "/" character as a separator to print between the two page numbers.

- 6. Select the second data transform **VDE_PageTotal** and insert in the text frame.
- 7. Repeat this for the continuation page if added.

Note: While designing the application these two data transforms will display 1 for both VDE_PageNumber and VDE_PageTotal. When you export the document to a .vpc of VI Design Express PDF, the correct page number and total pages in the customer set will be inserted. At this point it is recommended that you save your document.

Placing the Transactions into your document

Before you place transactions on your page you need to consider these factors:

- Do you want to add transactions to page 1, or do you want to start your transactions on page 2? You may want to add payment coupons or advertising on page 1 for some types of applications.
- How many transactions do you want to display on page 1 or page 2, etc.? This will be based on the size of the text frame you generate and the size of each table line, based on the font and table attributes used.
- When the number of transactions in a customer set exceeds the space you have allocated, do you want VI Design Express to duplicate the current page or do you want to create a new page with a different page design for the overflow transactions? If you create a new page, VI Design Express will use that page for the overflow transactions until all transactions for that customer set have been processed.
- If you create a new page layout for the transaction overflow or Transaction Continuation page, you will need to duplicate the actions below on the Transaction Continuation page, or modify them to fit the new page layout you design.

To place transactions the Multiple Occurrence Fields into your document:

- 1. Create a text frame. The size such as height and width of the text frame, along with text and table attributes, will determine how many transaction lines can be printed in that text frame.
- 2. With the Text cursor flashing in the text frame, right-click on the first Multiple Occurrence Transaction in this Hotel Invoice it is the Transfer record.
- 3. Select Create Transactional Data Table.

This will automatically create a table in the text frame. The table will have a column for each field in each prefix. The table will insert as many rows as there are prefixes. In the case of the Hotel Invoice, it will insert six rows, one for each MOF record as shown, highlighted, in the Data Panel. This single action places all your MOF records into the table.

- 4. In the unlikely event you do not want a prefix to print, you can simply delete the prefix row. You can also delete columns if you do not want the data in those fields to print.
- 5. You can apply different text attributes to the various fields as needed, and adjust the column widths to fit the data contained in each column. For MOF records with less fields, you can regain the space of unused columns by applying Merge Cells, but always on a single row.

You should toggle the Show User Data check box to switch between displaying the Prefix_field name and the actual data contained in the Prefix_fields.

Not all transactional records in the data file show up in the Design

As mentioned earlier, the view of your design in the InDesign Window will not look like the document after it has processed all the MOF records. This is because during the design phase VI Design Express is not processing data

records, it is just placing the record prefixes on the page design. Only the first instance of any MOF record will be shown in the GUI design tool. So, although you will have multiple records with the same prefix, only the first one will be displayed.

In order to view how the document will appear when sent to a printer, you can proof the document using the VI Design Express Export function and export to VI Design Express PDF. This will generate a PDF that can be viewed and/or printed.

This action will process all transactions in the data file and create a PDF that is representative of how the document will look when printed to a printer. The time taken to generate the PDF depends on the number of Customer Record Sets in your test data file, and is a reason to limit the size of your test data file to between 10 and 20 customer record sets.

Proof Print your Application to PDF

To proof your application to a PDF file for viewing, refer to the section Proofing and Printing your Transactional Document.

Adding additional controls to your Transaction Table

At this point the transactions have been dumped into your page design as they appear in the data file. In order to enhance the document presentation, some additional work is required to add business charts, additional row spacing, headers, footers, add labels and so on.

Note: When you add additional controls to your Transaction Master page to enhance the document presentation, you will probably want to make the same or similar changes to the Transaction Continuation page. Rather than duplicating the controls in the table of the continuation page, you can copy the table from page 1 into the continuation page and adjust the attributes to fit the design of that page.

Business Graphics

A business graphic or Data Driven Graphic allows data to be shown as a Pie, Line, or Bar chart. In the Hotel Invoice application a bar chart will be created to show the totals for each of the six transaction types used in the application. The totals of each transaction type is not available in the data as a prefix field, however, a data transform can be created to sum each transaction prefix.

The data transform will sum all transactions of a certain prefix type in a single customer record set, and will reset to zero at the beginning of the next customer record set. For this test case you will need to create six data transforms, one for each MOF prefix.

Also, before creating the business graphic, you may need to create six colors in the swatches panel. One color for each prefix name. Creating additional color swatches is a normal function of Adobe InDesign and is not described here.

Tip: Create and save one Data Transform, then make changes to that data transform, changing it for the next prefix, and save it using a new name. This will save repeating most of the data transform settings.

Create the Data Transform to Sum the Transfer Costs

To create the data transform to sum the Transfer costs:

1. Select the **Create a new data transform** icon at the bottom of the VDE data panel.

- 2. Enter a meaningful name for the data transform, for example, SumTransfer.
- 3. The data Transfer Type should be left as Text.
- 4. Select **Transfer** from the Multi-occurrence Prefix drop-down box.
- 5. Provide a description for this Data Transform, so someone else maintaining this application will know the purpose of the data transform.
- 6. Select the field **Transfer_F4** as the start string from the drop-down box. Transfer_F4 contains the cost of any transfer charge on the invoice for the current customer record set.
- 7. Select the Data Transform action, in this case you want to use the Summation action to sum all Transfer charges for this customer.
- 8. Select the **Reset on true** checkbox. This will reset the summation back to zero when the rule you select is evaluated to be true.
- 9. You want the summation to reset at the start of a new customer record set. There is a built-in rule that will be set to true when it identifies the start of a new customer record set. This built-in rule is called VDE_NewRecordSet. Select **VDE_NewRecordSet** from the drop-down box.
- 10. Select **OK** to save the Data Transform.

The data transform you created should look similar to the data transform shown below.

	(Create Data Transform			
Data Transform Name Data Transform Type Description	TotalTransfer Text Sum up transfer		Multi-occurren	ce Prefix Transfer	¥
Start String Transfer_F	4			.II	- + *
Summation 🔹 🗹 Reset	on "true"	VDE_NewRecordSet	•		- •
🗌 Repeat data transform					
Count: 👻 2 Separ	ator: 💿 Space 🛛 🔿	Tab 🔘 New line	e 🔘 Other		
				ОК	Cancel

This is the first of six data transforms you will need to create for the summation of all six transaction types to be used in the business graphic.

Generate the Other Five Data Transforms

To generate the other five data transforms, repeat the following actions using the values shown in the table below:

- 1. Highlight the data transform you just created in the VDE Data Panel.
- 2. Right-click and select Edit Data Transform.
- 3. Change the name of the data transform refer below.
- 4. Change the Multi-occurrence Prefix to the next transaction prefix refer below.
- 5. Change the description to reflect the transaction name.
- 6. Change the Start String to the next Prefix Name and field refer below.
- 7. Select **OK** to save the new Data Transform.

NAME OF DATA TRANSFORM	MULTI-OCCURRENCE PREFIX NAME	START STRING
SumRoom	RoomCh	RoomCh_F4
SumTaxes	Taxes	Taxes_F4
SumInternet	Internet	Internet_F4
SumIntake	Intake	Intake_F4
SumLaundry	Laundry	Laundry_F4

This creates six data transforms. Each data transform holds the total value for each MOF prefix, the Transfer costs, Room cost, Room Tax, Internet charges, Intake Restaurant, Bar and Gift Shop expenses and Laundry Services. With these values now available, you can generate the business graphic.

The business graphic will be a bar chart placed on the first page between the SOF data and the beginning of the MOF data.

Instructions for creating a business graphic are provided in VDE Business Charts. Follow the instructions to create a bar chart. Use the six data transforms as the input data fields. Assign the colors using the six colors you created earlier.



During the design phase VI Design Express does not process the data, so it places a place holder graphic in the location of the business graphic. During the creation of the graphic you were able to preview its look and feel. You

can also choose to Export your document to a VI Design Express PDF to view the final result. The PDF generation will process the records in your data file and render the pages as they will print.



The VI Design Express Chart Options used to create the business graphic are displayed below. For more information on business graphics, refer to the section VDE Business Charts.

VI Design Express Chart Optic	ns			
Chart Type:	Bar Chart			
Variable Data	Input Data	Bar Chart Options		DDG Parameters
1) Room_F1 1) Room_F2 1) Room_F3 1) Room_F4 1) Room_F5 1) Room_F6 1) Room_F7 1) Room_F8	① SumTransfer Label: Transfer Color: □ SumRoom Label: Room Color: RoomCharge ① SumTaxes Label: Taxes Color: Taxes Color: Taxes	Background Color: Chart Direction: Chart Scale: Show Labels: Font:	□ 3D □ □ Show bar borders ☑ Specify colors for input dat ☑ [None] □ Left-to-right Off By X-axis ☑ Show input data values Antal	+ 0.3
IX Room_F9 IX Room_F10 IX Room_F11 IX Room_F12 IX Book_F1 IX Book_F2 IX Book_F3 IX Payment_F1 IX Payment_F2	I SumInternet Label: Internet Color: Internet I SumIntake Label: Intake Color: Intake I SumLaundry Label: Laundry Color: Laundry	Timater 40 Timater 40 Novem 19 Indemet 10 Indemet 10 Indemet 32.45 Laundy 30	tulai ▼	Margins \$\$5% \$ \$\$2% \$ \$\$2% \$ \$\$8% \$ \$\$5%
	<u>X 7 £</u>	Preview Automatic preview	Record: 🐳 1	K Reset

This completes adding the business graphic. You can select any of the available business charts and options when generating your business chart graphic.

Additional Row Spacing

There may be times when you want to add some additional row spacing capabilities to your application. In the case of the Hotel Invoice, you may want to add space between the dates that you stayed at the hotel, so that all charges for a single day can be clearly identified.

Add a Row at the Top of the Table

To do this you must add a row at the top of the table. To insert a row do this:

- 1. Place the cursor in the top left cell of the current table.
- 2. Right-Click and select Insert.
- 3. Select Row, then select **Above** to create a new row above the current location.
- 4. Adjust the row properties as needed. For the Hotel Invoice we want the row to be about half the height of the other rows.
- 5. Insert the cursor into the new cell and highlight the complete row. Merge the cells into one column using the InDesign Table option Merge Cells, found under the Table menu item.

At this point you have created a small row above the MOF rows, however, if you were to export the document, you would end up with this small row being inserted between each prefix.

To fix this you need to create a rule that will only display this row when the Prefix_F1 field, the date field for all MOF prefixes is not equal to the previous value, meaning it has changed and when the current record is not the first record in a new frame you do not want the space added at the top of a new frame.

Create a New Rule

Create a new rule called NewDay that looks like this:

		Create Rule				
	Rule Name Rule Type Description	NewDay Text v true is new day detected except on new frame		Multi-occurrence Prefix	11	
Default value =	false	V 🗎				- + *
Value =	true	when all of the following are	true		•	-+
*_F	1	▼ ឮ [T] is not equal to (ignore case)	•	VPPpreviousValue	VPP VAR	• •
VPP	newFrame	VPP [T] is equal to		false	• è	
						~
				0	к	Cancel

- 1. Set the Rule Name to **NewDay**.
- 2. Set the Rule Type to **Text**.
- 3. Set the Multi-occurrence Prefix that will be considered for this rule, to All.
- 4. Enter a meaningful description, true if a new day detected.
- 5. The Default value should be set to false, by typing in the text false.
- 6. The Value should be set to true, by typing in the text true.
- 7. Change the test to **when all of the following is true**. This means both conditions shown below must be true for the NewDay rule to be considered true. Any action using this rule will only be triggered when the NewDay rule is evaluated to true.

- 8. Set the test conditions:
 - The first condition tests if *_F1, which represents any date field, is not equal to the previous value. So for this test to be true the value in the current prefix F1 field, the date, must not be equal to the last date that was looked at and stored in the built-in variable VPPpreviousValue.
 - The built-in variable VPPnewFrame must be equal to false. Meaning this current transaction did not exceed the previous transactional fame, thus, did not force an overflow condition into a new frame. This variable will be true only for the first transaction placed in a new frame, as soon as the second transaction is placed in the frame, this variable gets set to false.

Once you have created the rule that will be true only when the data field has changed and the transaction is not at the top of a new frame, you need to apply that rule to the new row created above. To do this you will use VDE Table Options.

VDE Table Options

VDE Table options are used to assign actions to a row. An action can be the result of a rule, built-in or user defined. When the rule is evaluated to true, that Table Row Option action will be applied.

To access the VI Design Express Table Row Options panel, place the text cursor in the left cell of the table row. If the row height is small, you may need to set the font size attribute to a smaller font and reduce the row Text/Cells Insets in order to get the text cursor to be positioned in the row cell.

With the cursor flashing in the table row select **VDE Table Row Options** (the last entry in the drop down menu).

Paste	Ctrl+V
Font	•
Size	•
Clear All Overrides	
Find/Change	Ctrl+F
Spelling	•
Anchored Object	•
Change Case	•
Show Hidden Characters	Ctrl+Alt+I
Insert Variable	•
Insert Special Character	•
Insert White Space	•
Insert Break Character	•
Insert	•
Delete	•
Select	•
Edit Footer	
Tag Text	•
Autotag	Ctrl+Alt+Shift+F7
Interactive	,
Edit in Story Editor	Ctrl+Y
InCopy	•
New Note	
VDE Table Options	
VDE Table Row Options	

This will display the VI Design Express Row Options panel. The panel is displayed below.

VI Design Express Row C	Options
□ Never show this row	ОК
Show this row only for prefix	Cancel
Transfer Iv	
$oldsymbol{rac{d}{d}}$ Show this row only when rule is 'true'	
NewDay	
Show this row only when previous prefix is different	
Show this row only when next prefix is different	
Show this row only when space left in frame is greater than	
t 0 pt	
Omit this row when all variable data objects are blank	
Use variable row height	

The VI Design Express Row Options panel allows you to specify the eight different row options described below:

Never Show this row

If you apply this option to a row, it will not be part of the printed document. That row and any information in it will not exist as far as the processed document is concerned. You may use this to temporarily hide a row in your table. You may also create a dummy row colored with some light gray for instance, so it can be easily identified to prevent adjacent MOF rows to inherit their horizontal common borders which is an automatic behavior in In Design. This is because, although adjacent in the design, these rows may not appear adjacent in the final composed document and automatic border inheritance is not desired.

Show this row only for prefix

When you select this option, you need to select a prefix name from the drop-down box. The drop-down box lists all MOF prefixes in your data file. This option is used to show a row for a certain prefix only. For instance, if your data file is presorted and you want to sum up each prefix group, the row showing the summation for a given group should show only for that prefix and only at the end of the group, so **Show this row only when the next prefix is different** will need to be checked as well.

Show this row only when rule is true

When selecting this row option, you must also select one of the available built-in or user defined rules listed in the drop-down box. For example, you may use this option in the Hotel Invoice application with the user defined rule NewDay, that tests a change in date field and that the current transaction is not the first transaction in a new frame. If evaluated to be true, the spacing row you created will show in the final document. If evaluated to be false, that row will not show.

Show this row only when previous prefix is different

This action will only show the row selected if the previous prefix was different. You can use this option to show a row with a text label when transitioning from one group to another. For instance, when processing phone calls you may place a conditional label or a rule, saying Local calls or International calls, in a row that will only show when you transition between the two groups.

Show this row only when next prefix is different

This action will only show the row selected if the next prefix is different. For instance, if your data file is presorted and you want to sum up each prefix group, the row showing the summation for a given group should show only at the end of the group, or only when the next prefix is different. In addition, the action **Show only for that prefix** will need to be checked as well.

Show this row only when space left in a frame is greater than

When using this row option, you need to specify the amount of vertical space left in the frame in points. The valid range is 0 to 1000 points. If the space left is evaluated to be greater than specified, the row will show in the current frame. If not, it will be discarded. You may use this option to place some thank-you text in the space left after the last transaction. To do that, place the text in an extra footer row and apply this option for the height of this row. If there is enough space between the last transaction and the end of the frame, the text will show. If not, it will be ignored.

Omit this row when all variable data objects are blank

When this option is checked, a row containing MOF fields or rules and Data Transforms using MOF fields will not show if all these variable objects are blank. For instance, you may want to place conditional text or a rule before or after some transactions. For all the others the rule will deliver an empty string. In that case, if you do not want to show an empty row, select that option.

Use variable row height

When composing the final document, VDE considers all rows as having a fixed height by default. If the contents of a given cell does not fit in the cell width, the font size will automatically be scaled down in order for the text to fit. If the contents of a cell has the potential to be very long, this behavior may not be appropriate as it may cause the text to be printed with a very small font size. When this option is checked, the row height will adjust automatically in order for the text to fit entirely in the cell using the selected font size. Only use this option on purpose, because it triggers additional processing at composition time and may impact performance.

Note: When this box is not checked, it is recommended to set the Cell/Row Height option for the row to **Exactly** so that the InDesign display matches the final composed document:

Ce	Il Options
[Text Strokes and Fills Rows and Columns Diagonal Lines
	Row Height: Exactly 🔹 15.6 pt
	Maximum: 🗧 600 pt
	Column Width: 🔹

Applying a VDE Row Option to your application

You created an extra row at the top of the table for the Hotel Invoice application. You adjusted the row height to be approximately half the row height of the other rows. The intent is to use this row as a row spacer, to separate transactions in the table when the transaction data changes. For the Hotel Invoice this will make it easier for the hotel guest to identify what charges were made on what day.

You created a rule to test the date field for each transaction, and when the value changed from the previous transaction the rule is true. You also added an additional control so that this rule would only be true while the transaction was not the first transaction in a new frame containing the MOF table. You did this to avoid the spacing row being used as the first row in a new frame.

To apply this action to the spacing row you inserted into the table, you need to set the VI Design Express Row Option to use the Show this row only when the rule is true.

1. Make sure the text cursor is placed in the spacing row you created.

2. Click on that option in the VI Design Express Row Options panel and select the **NewDay** rule you created earlier.

Note: If you set this option on the first page containing MOF records, and you created an additional page layout for a transaction continuation page, then you may also want to apply these rules and Row options to the transactional continuation page. At this point you should save your document.

Table Headers and/or Footers

Headers and Footers can be part of a MOF table. Headers may contain the column headings while footers may contain totals or other information normally seen at the end of a table. Refer to VDE Table Options for a description of the Table Row Options that can be applied to both headers and footers.

Headers

Inserting a header into a table is a standard InDesign function. Use the Table Options panel to insert one or more header rows. You can edit the table attributes and text styles as required.

Once the header is set in the VI Design Express Prefix (MOF) table, it will repeat every time the MOF transactions exceed the current table frame and moves to a new frame.



Note: While headers may be a good idea, you may also set the control of your header information with the Table Row Options and rules using the VPPnewFrame built-in variable. Also, in most cases for simple transitional documents, it is often easier to create a static header using a simple text frame outside of the actual MOF frame and table.

Footers

A footer will show text at the end of a table. It is useful for printing totals, etc. In the Hotel Invoice example you want to include a row that shows the Invoice Total at the end of the invoices transactions.

Creating a Footer row is also an InDesign standard table function. Select the Table Options to insert one or more footer rows into your MOF table. You will need to do this to your master page and transaction continuation page if used.

Set the table and font attributes for the footer rows. In most cases, so the footer information stands out, you will increase the row height, center the text in the row, or adjust space between the text and the top of the row and use a bold font or add color.

In the Hotel Invoice you want the text Total to appear in the second cell of the footer and the Invoice Total amount in the last cell of the footer. In the data file the invoice total is the field 1 under the SOF prefix Payment. So select **Payment_F1** to place the Invoice total in that cell.

Save your document.

Proofing and Printing your Transactional Document

Once you have completed your document and probably several times during the design of your document you will want to proof your document. You will need to do this to see how your MOF transactions will print when the document is processed on the printer. During the design phase, InDesign will only show the first instance of any MOF prefix in your design, and rules and built-in variables will not hold real values based on your multiple transactional records because during the design phase you are not processing data records. Only if you proof or print your document will the full data set with all available records be processed.

Proof your Document to a PDF file for Viewing

To proof your document to a PDF file for viewing:

- 1. Save your application if you have not done so already.
- 2. Select the **File** option from the InDesign Menu bar.
- 3. Select **Export** from the drop down.
- 4. Select the destination location for the proof PDF.
- 5. In the Export Panel select **VI Design Express PDF** as the Save as type.
- 6. Enter a file name for the PDF such as Hotel_Invoice_Draft.
- 7. Select Save.
- 8. For the Hotel Invoice no changes are required to the Export options. Make sure the **Open PDF after completion** check box is selected, otherwise you will have to manually find and open the proof PDF file.
- 9. If you need to make other changes to the Export Options, refer to Export and Printing. Other options may include specifying the target sheet size, imposition options, simplex or duplex options, etc. to be selected for the final output. These options are all described in Export and Printing.
- 10. Select OK.
- 11. VI Design Express will start to process the document using the test data file used in the design. Once completed it will display a message to say the PDF was completed. To view the PDF, click **OK**.

Print your Document to a VIPP®-enabled Print Device for Hard Copy Output

To print your document to a VIPP®-enabled print device for Hard Copy Output:

- 1. Save your application, if you have not done so already.
- 2. Select the **File** option from the InDesign Menu bar.
- 3. Select **Export** from the drop down.
- 4. Select the destination location VI Project Container file. This could be a FFPS hot folder or other location.
- 5. In the Export Panel select VI Project Container (VPC) as the Save as type.
- 6. Enter a file name for the VPC such as Hotel_Invoice_Draft.
- 7. Select Save.
- 8. For the Hotel Invoice no changes are required to the Export options.
- 9. If you need to make other changes to the Export Options, refer to Export and Printing. Other options may include specifying the printed sheet size, imposition options, simplex or duplex options, etc. to be selected for the hard copy output on the printer. These options are all described in Export and Printing.
- 10. Select OK.
- 11. At this point, VI Design Express will not process the data, instead it will generate a VI Project Container file. The VI project Container file will contain everything needed to print the applications, including resources and the data file provided the correct Export options are selected.

- 12. If you saved the VPC file to a FFPS hot folder, the job will already be processing in the queue associated with the FFPS hot folder. When the job processes it is reading the VIPP[®] templates created by VI Design Express when you exported your application against the data file and resources in the VPC file that have been transferred to the target printers file system.
- 13. The action of printing the VPC file will install the jobs resources and VIPP® template files onto the printer correct VPCF filter options are required on the printer, see your Xerox analyst for additional details. If you want to rerun the job, or run the job using a new data file that must match the test data file as far as format, you can Just Send the Data file to the printer, you do not need to run the new data file through VI Design Express. Your Xerox analyst, or Xerox Professional Services, may be engaged to demonstrate and set up your Just Send the Data workflow.

CREATING A PRESORTED PREFIXED DELIMITED TRANSACTIONAL DATA DOCUMENT

Presorted Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data is a data format in which the transactions for each customer record set are presorted into transactional groups. The data for a telephone billing statement is a good example of presorted data. In this data file all local calls will be grouped before all international calls for each customer record set.

Note: Refer to Easy Start Guide (go Cell phone Bill) on how to do this on www.xerox.com.

Below is a sample of a presorted prefixed transactional delimited data file.

```
HO,Kerry,Kerry L Walton, 36 Beech Road,Bushbury,Wolverhampton,West Midlands,ST10 9YF
T0,01FEB,9:00a,Humberside,2201 990 0003,24Hr,21,180
T0,25JAN,9:00a,Humberside,2201 990 0003,24Hr,10,90
T0,25JAN,3:40p,West Aedale,0022 760 3303,24Hr,6,50
T0,28JAN,1:00p,Wednesfield,2201 990 0003,24Hr,12,110
T0,29JAN,5:00p,0xley,2201 990 0003,24Hr,8,70
T0.01FEB,9:00a,Humberside,2201 990 0003,24Hr,21,180
T0,05FEB,3:40p,West Aedale,0022 760 3303,24Hr,16,140
T0,09FEB,9:00a,Pendeford,2201 990 0003,24Hr,13,110
T0,10FEB,11:00a,Humberside,2201 990 0003,24Hr,13,110
T0,10FEB,11:00a,Humberside,2201 990 0003,24Hr,24,210
T0,15FEB,7:05p,Humberside,2201 990 0003,24Hr,32,280
T0,20FEB,2:00p,Fallings Park,220 1990 0003,24Hr,17,150
T1,27JAN,10:13a,Frankfurt,+49 621 41 12 15,24Hr,63,320
T1,03FEB,1:40p,Madrid,+34 515 14 13 12,24Hr,6,99
T1 12FEB 11:04a Paris 132 131 31 41 51 24Hr,6,99
T1,12FEB,11:04a,Paris,+33 121 31 41 51,24Hr,10,150
T1,27JAN,10:13a,Frankfurt,+49 621 41 12 15,24Hr,23,320
T1,03FEB,1:40p,Madrid,+34 515 14 13 12,24Hr,6,99
T1,12FEB,11:04a,Paris,+33 121 31 41 51,24Hr,10,150
H0,Helen,Helen E Tavener,23 Teasel Road,Fordhouses,Wolverhampton,West Midlands,ST10 8QA
T0,01FEB,9:00a,Humberside,2201 990 0003,24Hr,21,180
T0,25JAN,9:00a,Humberside,2201 990 0003,24Hr,10,90
T0,25JAN,3:40p,West Aedale,0022 760 3303,24Hr,6,50
T0,28JAN,1:00p,Wednesfield,2201 990 0003,24Hr,12,110
T0,29JAN,5:00p,Oxley,2201 990 0003,24Hr,8,70
T0,01FEB,9:00a,Humberside,2201 990 0003,24Hr,21,180
T0,05FEB,3:40p,West Aedale,0022 760 3303,24Hr,16,140
T0,09FEB,9:00a,Pendeford,2201 990 0003,24Hr,13,110
T0,10FEB,11:00a,Humberside,2201 990 0003,24Hr,24,210
```

This data file has:

- No Field Descriptor fields. It is recommended that you ask the creator of the test data file to add the field descriptor records as they will aid you in the design.
- No Header line record.

- A single SOF record with the prefix H0. H0 contains name and address information. H0 is also the Root Prefix. Every time the H0 prefix is processed, VI Design Express will interpret that as the start of a new customer record set and print that next customer's record set data on the front side of a new sheet.
- Two types of MOF or transactional prefix records.
 - T0 contains Localcall detail.
 - T1 contains the Internationalcall detail.

Designing a Prefixed Delimited Transactional Application Using Presorted Data

The following section will show how to create a presorted prefix delimited transactional application. The document shown below has a simplified layout for a telephone bill to demonstrate the transactional design elements. It is missing elements, such as the payment slip and graphic elements, these can be added using standard InDesign capabilities.

Below is the first page from a customer's record set. The page contains SOF data from the H0 prefix, such as the customer name and address information, and a Page X of Y, showing this bill has three pages. For this customer, the Local Call transactions, T0 SOF records exceed the space allocated on the page for transactions (MOF) records.

Helen E T 23 Teasel Fordhouse Wolverhar West Midl ST10 8QA	avener Road es npton ands					
Page 1/3						
Local ca	alls					
01FEB	9:00a	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	21	180
25JAN	9:00a	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	10	90
25JAN	3:40p	West Aedale	0022 760 3303	24Hr	6	50
28JAN	1:00p	Wednesfield	2201 990 0003	24Hr	12	110
29JAN	5:00p	Oxley	2201 990 0003	24Hr	8	70
01FEB	9:00a	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	21	180
05FEB	3:40p	West Aedale	0022 760 3303	24Hr	16	140
09FEB	9:00a	Pendeford	2201 990 0003	24Hr	13	110
10FEB	11:00a	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	24	210
15FEB	7:05p	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	32	280
20FEB	2:00p	Fallings Park	220 1990 0003	24Hr	17	150
29JAN	5:00p	Oxley	2201 990 0003	24Hr	8	70
01FEB	9:00a	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	21	180
05FEB	3:40p	West Aedale	0022 760 3303	24Hr	16	140
09FEB	9:00a	Pendeford	2201 990 0003	24Hr	13	110
10FEB	11:00a	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	24	210
15FEB	7:05p	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	32	280
20FEB	2:00p	Fallings Park	220 1990 0003	24Hr	17	150
01FEB	9:00a	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	21	180
05FEB	3:40p	West Aedale	0022 760 3303	24Hr	16	140
09FEB	9:00a	Pendeford	2201 990 0003	24Hr	13	110
10FEB	11:00a	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	24	210
15FEB	7:05p	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	32	280
20FEB	2:00p	Fallings Park	220 1990 0003	24Hr	17	150
29JAN	5:00p	Oxley	2201 990 0003	24Hr	8	70
01FEB	9:00a	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	21	180
05FEB	3:40p	West Aedale	0022 760 3303	24Hr	16	140
09FEB	9:00a	Pendeford	2201 990 0003	24Hr	13	110
10FEB	11:00a	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	24	210
15FEB	7:05p	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	32	280
20FEB	2:00p	Fallings Park	220 1990 0003	24Hr	17	150
25JAN	3:40p	West Aedale	0022 760 3303	24Hr	6	50

Prefixed Delimited Transactional Data

The design for this document does not include a Transactional Continuation page, so the transactions overflowing from page 1 will start to print on page 2, which will be a duplication of the last page containing MOF data, in this case page 1.

Helen E T 23 Tease Fordhous Wolverha West Mid ST10 8Q/	avener I Road es mpton lands A					
Page 2/3						
Local c	alls (cont	.)	251	43	25 - 37	
28JAN	1:00p	Wednesfield	2201 990 0003	24Hr	12	110
29JAN	5:00p	Oxley	2201 990 0003	24Hr	8	70
01FEB	9:00a	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	21	180
05FEB	3:40p	West Aedale	0022 760 3303	24Hr	16	140
09FEB	9:00a	Pendeford	2201 990 0003	24Hr	13	110
10FEB	11:00a	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	24	210
15FEB	7:05p	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	32	280
20FEB	2:00p	Fallings Park	220 1990 0003	24Hr	17	150
25JAN	9:00a	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	10	90
25JAN	3:40p	West Aedale	0022 760 3303	24Hr	6	50
28JAN	1:00p	Wednesfield	2201 990 0003	24Hr	12	110
29JAN	5:00p	Oxley	2201 990 0003	24Hr	8	70
01FEB	9:00a	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	21	180
05FEB	3:40p	West Aedale	0022 760 3303	24Hr	16	140
09FEB	9:00a	Pendeford	2201 990 0003	24Hr	13	110
10FEB	11:00a	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	24	210
15FEB	7:05p	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	32	280
20FEB	2:00p	Fallings Park	220 1990 0003	24Hr	17	150
28JAN	1:00p	Wednesfield	2201 990 0003	24Hr	12	110
29JAN	5:00p	Oxley	2201 990 0003	24Hr	8	70
01FEB	9:00a	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	21	180
05FEB	3:40p	West Aedale	0022 760 3303	24Hr	16	140
09FEB	9:00a	Pendeford	2201 990 0003	24Hr	13	110
10FEB	11:00a	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	24	210
15FEB	7:05p	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	32	280
20FEB	2:00p	Fallings Park	220 1990 0003	24Hr	17	150
25JAN	3:40p	West Aedale	0022 760 3303	24Hr	6	50
28JAN	1:00p	Wednesfield	2201 990 0003	24Hr	12	110
29JAN	5:00p	Oxley	2201 990 0003	24Hr	8	70
01FEB	9:00a	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	21	180
05FEB	3:40p	West Aedale	0022 760 3303	24Hr	16	140
09FEB	9:00a	Pendeford	2201 990 0003	24Hr	13	110

The local call details continue to print on page 2. The text (cont.) has been added to the label Local Calls to indicate that this is a continuation of the local calls. The local calls exceed this page also, so this page is duplicated again as page 3 in the document set.

The local call details continue to print on page 2. The text (cont.) has been added to the label Local Calls to indicate

that this is a continuation of the local calls. The local calls exceed this page also, so this page is duplicated again as page 3 in the document set.

There is space added between the local calls and international calls. The label for International calls is added as well as the T1 transaction group.

7:05p			2411	24	210
	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	32	280
2-00p	Fallings Park	220 1990 0003	24Hr	17	150
2.000	Total local calls		2		10160
anal call		ik.	8	10 01	1
10:13a	Frankfurt	+49 621 41 12 15	24Hr	23	320
1:40p	Madrid	+34 515 14 13 12	24Hr	6	99
11:04a	Paris	+33 121 31 41 51	24Hr	10	150
7:32p	Rome	+39 131 21 51 14	24Hr	16	210
10:27p	Zurich	+41 131 21 71 18	24Hr	12	180
10:13a	Frankfurt	+49 621 41 12 15	24Hr	23	320
1:40p	Madrid	+34 515 14 13 12	24Hr	6	99
11:04a	Paris	+33 121 31 41 51	24Hr	10	150
7:32p	Rome	+39 131 21 51 14	24Hr	16	210
10:27p	Zurich	+41 131 21 71 18	24Hr	12	180
	Total international calls				1918
	Tatal		-		
	onal call 10:13a 1:40p 11:04a 7:32p 10:27p 10:13a 1:40p 11:04a 7:32p 10:27p	Total local calls 10:13a Frankfurt 11:40p Madrid 11:04a Paris 7:32p Rome 10:13a Frankfurt 10:27p Zurich 10:13a Frankfurt 10:13a Frankfurt 10:27p Zurich 10:13a Frankfurt 11:04a Paris 7:32p Rome 10:27p Zurich 10:27p Zurich 10:27p Zurich 7:32p Rome 10:27p Zurich	Total local calls onal calls 10:13a Frankfurt +49 621 41 12 15 1:40p Madrid +34 515 14 13 12 11:04a Paris +33 121 31 41 51 7:32p Rome +39 131 21 51 14 10:13a Frankfurt +49 621 41 12 15 10:027p Zurich +41 131 21 71 18 10:13a Frankfurt +49 621 41 12 15 1:40p Madrid +34 515 14 13 12 11:04a Paris +33 121 31 41 51 7:32p Rome +39 131 21 51 14 10:27p Zurich +34 515 14 13 12 11:04a Paris +33 121 31 41 51 7:32p Rome +39 131 21 51 14 10:27p Zurich +41 131 21 71 18 10:27p Zurich +41 131 21 71 18 10:27p Zurich +41 131 21 71 18	Total local calls Image: Constraint of the system of the sys	Total local calls Image: Constraint of the system of the sys

Page 3 has enough room for all the T1 transactions, so a total for international calls is added and below that a grand total for the telephone bill is added.

To create this application using the data file shown above follow the steps below.

Note: All files referenced here are also available at www.xerox.com, refer to Sample Test Files at the beginning of this chapter.

Open InDesign and create a new page

The design decision has been made not to create a transaction continuation page, so only one page is required to create this application.

If transactions overflow the page, the page will be duplicated, as needed, until all transactions for that customer record set have been processed. A new customer record set will initiate a new front page.

Import the Data file

When importing the prefixed delimited transactional data file, check the "Data file contains prefixed multipleoccurrence fields" check box (highlighted in yellow). This indicates to VI Design Express that the data file be treated as a Transactional data file.

	Data File Properties	
Data File Encoding:	Western European (Windows-1252)	ок
First Line of the Data File:		Cancel
H0,Kerry,Kerry L Walton,36 Beech Road,Bushbury,Wolv	erhampton,West Midlands,ST10 9YF	
Data Field Delimiter:		
○ None		
⊖ Таb		
○ Space		
(Other	,	
Decimal Delimiter:	Period (.)	
Strip leading and trailing quotes		
Strip leading and trailing spaces for field data		
Z Data file contains prefixed multiple-occurrence field		
Check this checkbox only if your data file contains transactional data, is user documentation for more details.	. multiple values within a single record field. Please refer to VDE	
🔲 Data file contains header line		
Root Prefix:	HO	

This data file does not contain a "Header Line". So, the "Data file contains header line" (also highlighted in yellow) MUST NOT be checked. If it is, uncheck this option. If your data file does have a header line, then check this option. If unsure, ask your data base administrator.

The Root Prefix has been identified as the prefix H0.

The First Multi-Occurrence Prefix should be set to T0 (if not already shown as T0).

If you have quoted fields in the data, check the **Strip leading and trailing quotes** option. Leading and trailing quotes are often inserted around a field in the data to protect fields that have the delimiter character in the field content. It stops that character from being interpreted as a delimiter character. If this is used, you must select the option to strip the leading and trailing quotes.

Review the other available options, when all required options are selected, select **OK** to import the data file into VI Design Express.

¢٧	/I De	sign Express				*=
San	nple I	Data File:				
C	\User	rs\us970513.XRXN	A \Desktop\	PhoneBill	phonebil	demo. 🔁
Ass	et Fo	lder:				
~	Shov	v User Data				
\checkmark	High	light Fields				몃
\$	1	<u>a</u> <u>a</u>		[Q
•	Da	ata Fields (21)				-
		Prefix H0 (7)				
23	•	Prefix T0 (7)				
10		Prefix T1 (7)				
•	Ru	ules (6)				
•	Da	ata Transforms (5)				
		3////3				

The VDE Data Panel will look similar to the image above.

For this data file there are three Prefixes H0, T1, and T2.

- H0 is the SOF record containing customer name and address information.
- T0 is the first MOF record containing Local call detail transactions.
- T1 is another MOF record. This prefix contains the International call detail transactions.

When each prefix is expanded, you can see the field contents and field values for each prefix.

VI Design Express	*
iample Data File:	
C:\Users\us970513.XRXNA\Deskto	op\PhoneBill\phonebilldemo.
sset Folder:	
	× K
Show User Data	_
Highlight Fields	Ľ
1 <u>a</u> <u>aaa</u>	
r Data Fields (21)	
♥ Prefox H0 (7)	
<u>T</u> (H0_F1	Kerry
<u>T</u> H0_F2	Kerry L Walton
<u>T</u> (H0_F3	36 Beech Road
<u></u> H0_F4	Bushbury
<u></u>	Wolverhampton
<u>T</u> (H0_F6	West Midlands
<u>T</u> (H0_F7	ST10 9YF
 Prefix T0 (7) 	
II T0_F1	01FEB
TF2	9:00a
I T0_F3	Humberside
11 T0_F4	2201 990 0003
II T0_F5	24Hr
11 T0_F6	21
II T0_F7	180
Prefix T1 (7)	
<u>I</u> T1_F1	273AN
T1_F2	10:13a
II T1_F3	Frankfurt
<u>I</u> T1_F4	+49 621 41 12 15
II T1_F5	24Hr
T1_F6	23
II T1_F7	320
r Rules (6)	
CallTitle	International calls
Continuation	
VDE_BetweenGroup	false
VDE_NewGroup	true
VDE_NewGroupOrFrame	true
¢ 0	0 1 1 2 2 1

The next step is to add the text frames necessary to contain the SOF Data, which contains the name and address data.

Name and Address Block

Draw a text frame approximately 3.5 inches by 1 ¾ inches in the top left part of the page. Set the font attributes as required (for example, Arial 11pt).

Select and place the fields for the name and address box.

You will need to select the following fields from the "H0" prefix.

- H0_F2
- H0_F3
- H0_F4
- H0_F5
- H0_F6
- H0_F7

Page Number Text

- To place the "Page 1 of X" type information type the word Page at the bottom of the text frame.
- Insert the built-in variable VDE_PageNumber after "Page".
- Add a "/" character, followed by a space and the built-in variable

VDE_PageTotal. The text frame should look similar to the image below.

H0_F2	1
(H0_F3	
H0_F4	
H0_F5	
H0_F6	
H0_F7	
PageWDE_PageNumberWDE_PageTotal	

When the Show User Data option is checked in the VDE data panel, it will look similar to the image below, depending upon the customer record set you are viewing:

Kerry L Walton	
36 Beech Road	
Bushbury	
Wolverhampton	
West Midlands	
ST10 9YF	
Page 11/1	

Placing TO and T1 Transactions

The next step is to place the MOF fields from the data file. The data has two MOF records, the T0 MOF record, and the T1 MOF record. MOF records are placed on the page by drawing a text frame and then inserting the transactions into a table VI Design Express builds when **Create Transactional Data Table** is selected.

Draw a text frame for the transactions. It should start approximately $\frac{1}{2}$ inch below the Name and Address text frame, and reach nearly to the bottom of the page. It should be about 7 $\frac{1}{2}$ inches wide enough to fit the transactions you will be adding.

1. With the Text cursor flashing in the text frame, right-click on the first Multiple Occurrence Transaction in the telephone bill data this is the TO prefix record.

2. Select Create Transactional Data Table.

This will automatically create a table in the text frame. The table will have a column for each field in each prefix. The table will insert as many rows as there are prefixes. In the case of the telephone bill application it will insert two rows, one for the T0 and one for the T1 MOF records.

3. You should select the VDE Panel option **Show User Data**, to view the values in the transactional

table. At this point your application will look something like this:

age(1 /(1						
O1FEB	(9:00a	Humberside	(2201 990 0003	124Hr	(21	(180
27JAN	(10:13a	Frankfurt	(+49 621 41 12 15	124Hr	(23	(320

You could make some adjustments so the transactions are more readable by adjusting the width of the cells, and using alignment options for columns, to make your table look more like this:

36 Beect 3ushbur Wolverha West Mic ST10 9Y Page(1 /	vaiton h Road y ampton dlands F 1	00a (Humberside 12201 990 0003 124Hr 121				
01FEB	(9:00a	Humberside	12201 990 0003	424Hr	21	(180
	410.12+	Frankfurt	4+49 621 41 12 15	124Hr	(23	1200

4. At this point, save your application.

Transaction Title

Because the telephone data is made up of presorted prefix types such as T0 for Local calls and T1 for International calls you may want to add a title for each group of transactions.

A text rule will need to be created to generate the correct text label based on the value of the prefix being tested. The value should be Local Calls when processing T0 MOF records and change to International Calls when processing T1 MOF records.

Because there are only two MOF options, we can build a simple IF rule. If there were more than two prefix types you would need to add additional tests for each prefix type.

- The rule name is *CallTitle*.
- The Rule Type should be set to **Text**.
- The Description field contains a description of the rule, such as *Call header*.
- Change the default value to Local Calls. This is the text that will print if no conditions are evaluated to be true.
- The Value should be set to **International Calls** by typing that into the entry for Value =. This is the value that will be used when the condition directly underneath is evaluated to be true.
- The condition uses the built-in variable VPPprefixName. The value of VPPPrefixName is the current Prefix of the MOF record being processed.
- Choose **Is equal to the value** and enter T1. (You need to type T1 into the field). This is testing if VPPprefixname is equal to the value T1.

If this rule is true, the value International Calls will be the result of this rule; if evaluated to be false, the result will be Local Calls. The rule should look similar to this:

		Create	Rule			
	Rule Name Califice Rule Type Text Description Call hea	l ↓ der	Mu	Ilti-occurrence Prefix [None	
Default value =	Local calls	V È				- + *
Value =	International calls	when any of the fol	lowing is true		•	-+
VPP	prefixName	▼ VPP [T] is equal to		T1	•	- •
				C	IK	Cancel

Note: The Multi-occurrence Prefix None option is set to as no Prefix fields are used in this rule.

Another rule needs to be generated to add the text (cont.) to the text generated by the rule above, if the current transaction prefix group T0 or T1 overflows to the next page. This rule will only add the text (cont.) when a T0 or T1 transaction group overflows to the next page. Another rule needs to be generated to add the text (cont.) to the text generated by the rule above, if the current transaction prefix group T0 or T1 overflows to the next page. This rule will only add the text (cont.) when a T0 or T1 transaction prefix group T0 or T1 overflows to the next page. This rule will only add the text (cont.) when a T0 or T1 transaction group overflows to the next page.

The rule looks like this:

		Create Ru	le		
	Rule Name 🚾 Rule Type Te Description Te	ntinuation ext IV ext for continuation on next page	Multi-occurre	nce Prefix All	
Default value =					- + *
Value =	(cont.)	v 📄 when any of the follow	ring is true		-+
VDE	_NewGroup	▼ 🛒 [T] is equal to	▼ [false	V	- +
				ОК	Cancel

- The rule name is Continuation.
- The Rule Type is Text.
- Because we will be testing MOF Prefixes, the Multi-occurrence Prefix is set to All to test all MOF prefixes, in this case T0 and T1.
- The Description field contains a description of the rule.
- The Default value field is empty, as if this is not an overflow condition, we do not want to print anything.
- The Value is set to **(cont.)** by typing that text into the field. This is the value that will be used when the condition directly underneath is evaluated to be true.
- The condition is using the built-in rule VDE_NewGroup. This rule is true when a MOF prefix is different from the previous one, and false if it is the same. This is exactly the condition needed to print (cont.), when it is not a new group because there is no change in the prefix. So, the condition is set to VDE_NewGroup is equal to false. This condition is true when the current MOF prefix does not belong to a new group.

Using rules to add a Transaction Label

Add Two Rows for Separation and Title

1. Highlight the top cell of your table.

2. Insert two rows above the current row.

These two new rows should contain one cell only, so highlight the two rows entirely, one after the other, and use the Merge Cell option to merge all of the cells in each row into one.

Add the Rule CallTitle into the Second Row

To do this:

- 1. Place the cursor in the second row.
- 2. Double-click the rule **CallTitle**.
- 3. Change the Row Height options as necessary and select a larger font and bold attributes.
- 4. Insert the rule **Continuation** after the CallTitle rule using the same process described above, add a space character between the two rules.
- 5. Change font attributes as needed. Typically, a smaller font than the CallTitle text.

Add a spacer Row that will show between TO and T1

A spacer row can be used to separate transactional prefixes, for example, when T0 changes to T1 you may want to add a space.

- 1. Place the cursor in the first row and right-click.
- 2. Select the VI Design Express Row Options. This provides control over row visibility.
- 3. Check the option **Show this row only when rule is 'true'**. Select the built-in rule **VDE_BetweenGroup**.

4. Select OK.

VI Design Express Row Options	
Never show this row Show this row only for prefix T0 V Show this row only when rule is 'true'	OK Cancel
VDE_BetweenGroup Show this row only when previous prefix is different Show this row only when next prefix is different Show this row only when space left in frame is greater than O in O mit this row when all variable data objects are blank 	

This VDE Row Options rule makes this row visible when the rule VDE_BetweenGroup is evaluated to be true. It will be evaluated as true when a MOF prefix is different from the previous one, except at the beginning of a new frame.

The second row contains the CallTitle label, either Local Calls or International Calls. These labels should only appear once per group of transactions, or at the start of a new page caused by an overflow condition. There is a VDE Table Row option for that.

- 5. Click on the second row to place the cursor in that row. Right-click and select VI Design Express Row Options.
- 6. Check the option **Show this row only when rule is true**.
- 7. Select the built-in rule **VDE_NewGroupOrFrame**.
- 8. Click **OK**.
- 9. Save the application.

Data Transforms to sum call totals and Grand Total

This application needs to show totals for Local Calls or T0 transactions and International Calls or T1 transactions. It also needs a grand total for the bill. The data for these totals are not part of the SOF or MOF data, however, they can be obtained by summation of the T0_F7 field in the T0 records, the T1_F7 field in the T1 records and by combination of both.

To create these totals you need to create three Data Transforms.

- Data Transform to sum Local calls in a customer record set
- Data Transform to sum International calls in a customer record set
- Data Transform to sum All calls in a customer record set

•

Data Transform to sum Local calls in a customer record set

Create a new Data Transform. Name it TotalLocal.

- The Data Transform type is set to **Text**.
- The Multi-occurrence prefix used to sum local calls is T0.
- Type in a description for the data transform.
- The Start String should be set to the field T0_F7.
- The Data Transform option to use is Summation.
- Check the **Reset on true** option and select the rule **VDE_NewGroup** to reset at the beginning of each transaction group.

		Create Dat	a Transform			
Data Tra Data Tr	nsform Name Gran Total ansform Type Text Description Sum up all calls			Multi-occurr	ence Prefix All	
Start String	*_F7				• II	-+
Summation	▼ Reset on "true"	VDE_Net	wRecordSet			- +
🗌 Repeat data transform						
Count:	Separator: 💿 Space	🔘 Tab	🔘 New line	○ Other		
					ОК	Cancel

The Data Transform should look similar to the one shown below.

Data Transform to sum International calls in a customer record set

Create a new Data Transform. Name it TotalInternational. This is similar to the Data Transform you just created, but will use the field T1_F7 for the summation.

- The Data Transform type is set to Text.
- The Multi-occurrence prefix used to sum international calls is T1.
- Type in a description for the data transform.
- The Start String should be set to us the field T1_F7.
- The Data Transform option to use is Summation.

• Check the **Reset on true** option and select the rule **VDE_NewGroup**.

Data T Data	ransform Name Totalinternational Transform Type Text Description Sum up internation	▼ nal calls	Multi-occurre	ence Prefix T1	
Start String	T1_F7			• I	-+
Summation	I▼ Reset on "true"	NewGroup	V		⊙ ⊕
Repeat data transform	1				
Repeat data transform	n Separator: ⊙ Space	○ Tab ○ New lin	e Other		

Data Transform to sum All calls in a customer record set

Create a new Data Transform. Name it **GrandTotal**. This is similar to the Data Transform you just created, but will use a unique field identifier ***_F7** for the summation. Meaning all F7 MOF fields for the customer record set. This becomes available because the Multi-occurrence Prefix option is set to All.

- The Data Transform type is set to Text, Set the Multi-occurrence prefix to All.
- Type in a description for the data transform. The Start String should be set to *_**F7**, and the Data Transform option to use is **Summation**.
- Check the **Reset on true** option, and select the rule **VDE_NewRecordSet** to reset the summation at the beginning of each new customer record set.

		Create Data Tra	nsform		
Data Tra Data T	ansform Name TotalLocal ransform Type Text Description Sum up local calls		Multi-oc	currence Prefix T0	
Start String	T0_F7			T T	- +
Summation	▼ Reset on "true"	VDE_NewGrou	p 💌		- +
🗌 Repeat data transform					
Count:	Separator: 💿 Space	🔾 Tab	New line O Other		
				ОК	Cancel

Control Local and International Totals visibility

You only want to show the total for either local calls or international calls at the end of each group. To do this:

- Insert two rows below the last row the row containing T1 details.
- Move to the third cell of the first of the two rows you just inserted and type the label **Total Local Calls**. Set font attributes as desired.
- Move to the last cell in this row and insert the **TotalLocal** data transform by double clicking on that data transform in the VDE Data panel.
- Do the same for the next row. Enter the text **Total International Calls** in the third cell. Then enter the **Total International** data transform in the last cell in that row.

Control Row Visibility for Totals

Some VDE Row options need to be set to control when these local and international total rows are visible.

- For the first of the two rows inserted above, place the cursor in the row.
- Right-click and select the VDE Table Row options.

• Set the table row options as shown below:

UK
Cancel

- Note there are two Table Row options to set:
 - The first will show this row only when the prefix is T0. T0 contains Local Call details.
 - The second Row Option is Show this row only when next prefix is different. This means that the Total Local Calls row will only show when the prefix is T0, and only when the next prefix to be processed is a different prefix. Which is when you would expect to provide a total for T0 prefix.

You need to move to the next row, the International call total, and repeat the same VDE Table Row options, making sure the Show this row only for prefix is set to T1, the international transactions.

Footers

This application will use the Table Footer option for the Grand Total. The footer row only appears at the very end of a table.

- Highlight the last row in the table and select the **Table Cell Options**.
- Select Headers and Footers.
- Select the options to add a single Footer row.
- Enter the text **Total** in the third cell of this row.
- Insert the **GrandTotal** data transform into the last cell of this row.
- Adjust Font attributes as needed.
- Save your application
Adjusting Row Attributes

It may be necessary to adjust some row attributes. The InDesign adjacent rows inherit their common border attributes. This is not a problem when all rows are displayed, but because VDE Row Options may allow a row to show or not, some row attributes that get inherited may not be wanted.

The best way to see this is to switch into InDesign Preview Mode. Do this by selecting **View > Screen Mode > Preview**.

In order to make the local and international transactions appear as separate tables, it is necessary to remove the borders on the spacer, and call title rows. Follow these steps to do this:

1. Highlight the top row. This is actually one row above the top visible row.

International calls						
01FEB	(9:00a	Humberside	2201 990 0003	124Hr	(21	(180
27JAN	1 0:13a	Frankfurt	(+49 621 41 12 15	124Hr	23	(320
		Total local calls				1 80
		Total international calls				(320
		Total				(180

- 2. Right-Click and select Cell Options.
- 3. Select Stroke and Fill.
- 4. Set the Weight: value to **0**.
- 5. Set the Type: value to **none**.
- 6. Select OK.
- 7. Highlight the row containing the text International Calls.
- 8. Right-Click and select **Cell Options**.
- 9. Select Stroke and Fill.
- 10. Delete the top and bottom cell stroke, to keep only the vertical strokes, the top border has been removed with the spacer row, and the bottom border is the top of the TO row, so it must be kept solid.
- 11. Set the Weight: value to **0**.
- 12. Set the Type: value to **none**.
- 13. Select OK.
- 14. Highlight both the T0 and T1 rows.
- 15. Right-Click and select **Cell Options**.
- 16. Select Row and Columns.
- 17. Set the Row Height: value to At Least 0.3 inch.
- 18. Select OK.
- 19. Highlight both the Total Local and Total International rows.
- 20. Right-Click and select Cell Options.

- 21. Select Text.
- 22. Set the Top value to adjust the space between the top of the cell and the top of the text, do the same for the Bottom value as required.
- 23. Select OK.
- 24. Highlight both the **Total Rows**.
- 25. Right-Click and select **Cell Options**.
- 26. Then select **Stroke and Fill**.
- 27. Set the Cell Fill Color option to a light a light gray or yellow color you should have created such a color in the swatches panel earlier.
- 28. Select OK

In preview mode your final document should look like this:

Internati 01FEB 27JAN	9:00a 10:13a	Humberside Frankfurt Total local calls Total international calls	2201 990 0003 +49 621 41 12 15	24Hr 24Hr	21 23	180 320 180 320
Internati 01FEB 27JAN	9:00a 10:13a	Humberside Frankfurt Total local calls	2201 990 0003 +49 621 41 12 15	24Hr 24Hr	21 23	180 320 18 0
Internati 01FEB 27JAN	9:00a 10:13a	Humberside Frankfurt	2201 990 0003 +49 621 41 12 15	24Hr 24Hr	21 23	180 320
Internati 01FEB	9:00a	Humberside	2201 990 0003	24Hr	21	180
Internat						
west Midli ST10 9YF Page 1/1	ands ional call	s				
Bushbury Nolverhar	Road					

29. Save and Export your document. Review Export and Printing for more information.

Using Specialty Imaging Effects

This chapter contains:

Printer Support Restrictions	
Limitations	404
Important Printer Setup Information	406
Installing Specialty Imaging support for VDE	410
Correlation Mark	412
Correlation Mark Font (Deprecated)	413
Fluorescent Mark Color	420
GlossMark® Text	427
GlossMark® Text font (deprecated)	428
Variable Pantograph	432
Applying Specialty Imaging Effects to Monochrome TIFF images	442
Infrared Color	443
MicroText Font	448
SI Correlation Mark Effect CR Key Generation	451

Xerox print devices the actual imaging engine that supports five Specialty Imaging effects, plus additional extensions of these effects using *Patterned Ink*. Not all effects are supported on all devices, and not all colors or fonts will print the same across different print engines.

Specialty Imaging effects can be used to provide low-cost document security or novelty effects designed to grab the reader's attention. While the effects may be reproducible on a good copier, by combining these effects with variable data, it becomes much more difficult to change or modify any of the Specialty Imaging effects without destroying the visual appearance. In addition, some effects can be hidden, or are not obvious to the casual observer. Examples are the two-layer Fluorescent, Infrared, or the new Pantograph (v2) effects.

Specialty Imaging effects are especially useful in applications, such as parking passes, event tickets, ID Cards, or other types of documents, that would benefit from some level of fraud protection. Xerox VIPP® Specialty Imaging can provide this added protection at a low cost without the need to add additional hardware, toner, or expensive post processing equipment.

VIPP® Specialty Imaging effects add the ability to enhance the design by including text that can only be viewed under special circumstances. These effects are achieved through the use of color, media, and Xerox technology. Specialty Imaging effects can only be reproduced when printing the VIPP® application, they are not reproducible when viewing on the screen. SI effects are supported when using .vpc formats and are not intended for pdf conversions.

Specialty Imaging effects are based on technologies used to embed an alphanumeric string into a print pattern in such a way that the string is indecipherable under normal viewing conditions, but becomes visible under special viewing conditions, or with the aid of simple tools such as a loupe, UV light, or infrared camera.

Due to the unique properties of the Specialty imaging fonts and colors, not all fonts and SI colors will work equally well across all Xerox production devices nor on all types of media. In addition, the print quality of your device can greatly impact the ability to use SI effects. It is highly recommended that you use VDE to create a patch book of the effects you are interested in, using a combination of different font families and SI colors. Print this patch book to the target print device and review the output. This will help you select the effects and SI colors that work best for your application on the target print device.

Note: Refer to Easy Start Guide (Creating VPG swatches within VDE/InDesign) on how to do this on www. xerox.com.

Note: Specialty Imaging is NOT SUPPORTED when you use:

- Non Xerox devices
- Wax devices
- Pdf conversion formats

The VIPP® Specialty Imaging effects are:

Correlation Mark

FluorescentMark color

Used to print text in a way that the content is not visible unless it is superimposed by a "key transparency." A two-layer Correlation Mark effect is also available where two strings can be embedded into the effect. When the key is used one way the first message is viewable. If the key is flipped or rotated the second string becomes visible. This figure shows an example of a Correlation Mark application. The first image is the view without the key transparency. The second image is the view with a key transparency overlay. Correlation Mark fonts work best with constant colors, but color gradations can also be used. The Correlation Mark Key can be created by printing the Correlation_Font_Key.ps file on a transparency. The Correlation_Font_Key.ps file can be obtained by downloading the SI_Correlation_Utilities.zip file, or by contacting your local Xerox representative. Refer to Specialty Imaging and Barcode Font Download for more information.



Used to print text in a way that the content is virtually invisible under normal light, but becomes visible under UV (black) light. A two-layer Fluorescent effect is also available where a visible second string can be printed

on top of the effect. When a UV light is used to illuminate the effect the visible string fades to reveal the underlying hidden text string.

Note: The media upon which the effect is printed is very important to the effect. Each media must be validated.

This figure shows a color patch under normal illumination (top) and under UV illumination (bottom). Note that no special material other than UV light is used to view the hidden text.



Used to print text in a way that the content is not visible in straight-on view, but becomes visible as gloss under inclined illumination. This figure shows GlossMark Text produced on standard coated paper. The first image is in straight-on view. GlossMark Text works best with constant colors, but color gradations can also be used. VDE supplies predefined color swatches.



GlossMark® Text

Infrared color

Used to print text in a way that the content is virtually invisible under normal light but becomes visible under infrared light. A two-layer Infrared effect is also available where a visible second string can be printed on top of the effect. When an IR light source is used to illuminate the effect the visible string fades to reveal the underlying hidden text string. This figure shows a color patch under normal illumination (top) and under Infrared illumination (bottom). The illustration on the bottom was captured using a web cam and displayed on a PC.



Used to print point sizes normally smaller than one point. The top figure shows the quality of a MicroText font printed on standard coated paper. For comparison, in the bottom figure, the microprinting on Japanese currency is shown at identical scale. When judging quality, it is useful to compare the results to currency printing.



Note: The use of Specialty Imaging can add a level of complexity to page processing on the printer that in certain circumstances can exceed the limitations of the printer (especially smaller or office devices). Thus, the effects cannot be guaranteed to work in all applications. The amount of Specialty Imaging effects on a page, the size of the effect, the quality of the print image/printer, and the media can all affect the look of the printed output. It is highly recommended that you review the Specialty Imaging section of the *Xerox® FreeFlow® VI eCompose Software User Guide*, and that you test the application prior to running in production mode.

MicroText font

Printer Support Restrictions

Specialty Imaging effects are subject to the following limitations:

- Any printing that will be sent through a Fiery/EFI DFE requires that the Fiery/EFI DFE to be set up prior to any VIPP SI printing. A Fiery/EFI DFE must be configured for SI, refer to the instructions on www.xerox.com at: www.support.xerox.com.
- GlossMark Text is not supported on any low gloss toner-based products. GlossMark Text depends on the gloss in the toner for the effect. Verify the effect before going into production using a low gloss toner as, when printed, the gloss effect may not be exhibited. Review the section on Artistic Black as an alternative to GlossMark Text.
- MicroText Mark is not recommended with the DocuTech 180 HLC, DocuTech 180 HLC Publisher, DocuTech 61XX, or DocuPrint family of printers.
- CorrelationMark is not applicable to the Xerox 4110/4590/4595, DocuTech180 HLC, DocuTech180 HLC Publisher, DocuTech 61XX, or DocuPrint family of printers
- Venezia Mode is recommended when using FluorescentMark, Infrared Text, or GlossMark Text with the DocuColor 7000AP/8000AP/7002/8002/8080.
- GlossMark Text, FluorescentMark, and Infrared Text are not applicable to the Xerox Nuvera 100/ 120/144 EA DPS, Xerox Nuvera 288 Digital Perfecting System, 4110/4590/4595, DocuTech180 HLC, DocuTech180 HLC Publisher, DocuTech 61XX, or DocuPrint family of printers.
- GlossMark Text, FluorescentMark, Infrared Text, Correlation Mark, and MicroText Mark are not applicable to the Continuous Feed family of printers.
- Many of these effects can be duplicated by a high-quality copier. These effects are designed to contain variable data and efforts to change the data in the effects will most likely be noticeable.
- Not all effects, or all colors in a given effect, will work effectively on all devices. It is recommended that you generate a patch book, using the targeted device and the targeted media, to review effects and colors before going into production.
- Specialty Imaging is not supported on Wax devices. GlossMark is not supported on Inkjet devices.
- ArtisticBlack Text is not recommended with the Xerox iGen 5 Press with Matte Dry Ink and iGen 150 Press with Matte Dry Ink.
- ArtisticBlack Text, GlossMark Text, FluorescentMark, and Infrared Text are not applicable to the Xerox Brenva HD Production Inkjet Press, Xerox iPrint Production Inkjet System, Xerox Nuvera 288 EA Perfecting Production System, Xerox D136 Copier/Printer.
- Anti-alising is recommended when using MicroText with the Xerox Color 1000 Press, Xerox Color 70 Printer, Xerox iGen 5 Press, Xerox iGen 150 Press, Xerox Nuvera 288 EA Perfecting Production System, Xerox D136 Copier/Printer, Xerox Versant 80 Press, Xerox Versant 180 Press, Xerox Versant 3100 Press, Xerox Color C75 Press, Xerox Brenva HD Production Inkjet Press, Xerox iPrint Production Inkjet System.
- GlossMark Text is recommended to be used in 220 gsm or above.
- **Image Quality > Color Mode > Normal** with Enhanced Gloss is recommended when using GlossMark Text with the Xerox Color 70 Printer family and Xerox Versant 80 Press.

Note: Refer the SI Customer Report on www.xerox.com at FreeFlow® VI Suite Specialty Imaging Customer Report - FreeFlow Variable Information Suite - Xerox for additional details.

Limitations

Specialty Imaging offers alternatives to existing offset capabilities. In this context, it is important to understand that the detailed effect is different from ordinary offset printing.

Specialty Imaging jobs contain complex data, thus, the DFE will behave as with other complex documents. For example:

- A page in a MicroText font can represent 100 pages of 12-pt text. Obviously, the RIP time for the page covered in a MicroText font will be different than the RIP time of a page covered in 12-pt text.
- GlossMark Text is, in essence, text represented by images. A page covered in images will have a different RIP time from a page covered in 12-pt text.
- High data amounts can affect DFE compression issues. Some DFEs require a minimum compression ratio for communication with the Print Engine. Specialty Imaging in some cases can push those limits. When printer limitations are approached, the effects will be visible on the printed page.
- When printer limits are approached, a higher likelihood for color drifts, and so on exists.

There are certain limitations to all Specialty Imaging features. The following list describes the most common limitations.

- Use only the supplied Specialty Imaging Color Swatch files to select Specialty Imaging Color. Do not alter these files.
- The color icon that is displayed for each Specialty Imaging Swatch in the InDesign Swatches panel is an approximation of the color only. Some Specialty Imaging swatch colors are based on color and patterns and it is not possible to display pattern information in the swatch color icon. It is recommended that you create your own patch book to verify the actual color/pattern content of any Specialty Imaging color swatch.
- VDE uses a set of special color swatches and Specialty Imaging Screen fonts to support MicroText effects, GlossMark, Correlation Mark, Infrared, Fluorescent, and Variable Pantograph use only the color swatches installed when the Special or Custom install option is selected. These color swatches and screen fonts provide an approximate appearance of the Specialty Imaging effect only. The screen fonts cannot be used by any other application. The screen fonts and color swatches when installed do not take a large amount of disk storage.
- Specialty Imaging printer fonts can be downloaded. Refer to Specialty Imaging and Barcode Font Download for more information. Specialty Imaging fonts are supplied as a series of zip files. Select the zip file that corresponds to the Specialty Imaging fonts you require.
- MicroText fonts contain only these characters (lower case characters are mapped to upper case characters for printing purposes):

A through Z, 0 through 9, ! @ # \$ % & * () - _ = + [] ; : ' " , . ? / €, and ¥.

- Cyrillic characters can be used with the normal weight (not bold) MicroText fonts.
- Specialty Imaging can affect printer performance. Specialty Imaging requires more processing power than standard text printing; because of this, Xerox recommends testing the application and adjusting the use of Specialty Imaging based on the device and performance needs.
- Media Selection will affect the Specialty Imaging effects. FluorescentMark works best on a high brilliance media, while GlossMark and ArtisticBlack text works best on a coated or high gloss media above 220 gsm. Xerox paper, such as the Digital Color Elite family of products, can be used for all Specialty Imaging effects. MicroText, Infrared, and Correlation Mark work on all media.
- The following are the recommended general paper types:

SI EFFECT	PAPER
SI_ArtisticBlack	Bold/Uncoated
SI_GlossMark	Gloss/Coated
SI_VP_GlossMark	Gloss/Coated
SI_CR_SingleLayer	Gloss/Coated
SI_CR_TwoLayer	Gloss/Coated
SI_IR_DirectCMYK_SingleLayer	Bold/Uncoated
SI_IR_NoColorMgt_SingleLayer	Bold/Uncoated
SI_IR_NoColorMgt_TwoLayer	Bold/Uncoated
SI_MicroText_Color	Bold/Uncoated
SI_UV_DirectCMYK_Single_TwoLayer	Gloss/Coated
SI_UV_NoColorMgt_SingleLayer	Gloss/Coated
SI_UV_NoColorMgt_TwoLayer	Gloss/Coated
SI_VP_Correlation_1Layer	Gloss/Coated
SI_VP_Correlation_2Layer	Gloss/Coated
SI_Pantograph	Bold/UnCoated, treated

- Set the printer tray and queue to the correct weight of the media used. Failure to do so can affect the quality of the Specialty Imaging effects.
- The condition of the printer and the color setting can affect the appearance and quality of the effects. It is critical to calibrate the printer and to ensure that the queue settings are defined as described in Set the printer to use Specialty Imaging. Failure to do so will result in poor or no Specialty Imaging effects.
- Not all Specialty Imaging effects will print in a satisfactory state on all devices. Due to the unique characteristics of these effects and the individual device settings, configurations, and media selections, test and possibly use alternative supported colors, media, fonts, and font sizes to achieve the desired effect.
- First generation EA Toners do not support GlossMark effects.
- Use of UV Coater has not been validated.

Note: Limitations specific to individual specialty imaging effects are included in the sections that describe the effect. Refer to the relevant section for this important information.

Important Printer Setup Information

To prepare the controller follow the instructions in these sections:

- Download and Install Specialty Imaging Fonts
- Set the Printer to Use Specialty Imaging

DOWNLOAD AND INSTALL SPECIALTY IMAGING FONTS

Specialty Imaging fonts can be downloaded. Refer to Specialty Imaging and Barcode Font Download for more information about downloads.

MicroText fonts

Are for use with text applications using MicroText. A typical micro font application may be a financial document where critical information such as the account number, check value, etc., may be printed in a selected area multiple times using the micro font. MicroText fonts only support solid color values, such as black, as the font color. This font set can be installed on any monochrome or color system.

Once you have obtained the Specialty Imaging fonts, use the option to Install PostScript Printer fonts provided by your printer. You may need to refer to the printer documentation. Once the Specialty Imaging fonts have been installed, you need to restart the printer to make those fonts available to the system.

SET THE PRINTER TO USE SPECIALTY IMAGING

The following sections provide information about color management settings on the FreeFlow Print Server. For settings on the EFI controllers, refer to the documentation supplied with the device, or contact the vendor's support site.

 $^{\prime\prime}$ Note: VIPP® and SI must be set up on any EFI DFE prior to doing any VIPP® or SI printing.

Specialty Imaging Effects and Fraud Protection

It is not recommended to use Xerox Specialty Imaging as the sole protector against fraud. Any technology intended to protect documents can be broken by a skilled counterfeiter. Any secure application requires the careful consideration of several protection elements and an assessment of the skill and effort required to circumvent the protection.

Heavy Usage of Specialty Imaging Effects

Due to the unique ability of the Xerox Specialty Imaging effects, heavy use can strain the ability of the printer to render the page. When this happens, color shifts and other anomalies can occur. The correct action is to reduce the size or complexity of the effect along the scan lines on the device. Each device can respond differently to specialty imaging effects. The colors and effectiveness of each effect can vary based on the media, colors, and fonts selected. It is recommended that you verify all specialty imaging effects on the target device before you start full production.

FreeFlow Print Server 7.0 (and above) Settings

All Specialty Imaging effects, such as MicroText, Correlation Mark, GlossMark Text, ArtisticBlack Text, Infrared, Fluorescent, and Variable Pantograph require color management settings on the controller. When using one of these colors it is critical that you follow the steps outlined below to set up color management.

- 1. Edit the queue settings and select the Image Quality tab.
- 2. Set the Automatic Image Enhancement to Off.
- 3. Set the Halftone to **200 line or 200 dot**.

VIPP_SI - Properties (Matt)				
Quantity: 1 *	Queue Name: VIPP_SI Printer Name: Xerox® Versant™ 80 Press	Priority: 50 +		
Settings Stock Output Image Q	uality Image Edit PDL Settings			
Color Mode		Color Management Defaults		
Color Adjustments None	Halftone			
Options Overprint	System Specified			
Halftone 200 Dot (Primary)	200 Dot (Primary)			
Image Resample System Specified	200 Line Stochastic			
Automatic Image Enhanc Off	300 Dot			
Previous Queue Next Queue		<u>QK</u> <u>Apply</u> <u>Reset</u> <u>Cancel</u> <u>Help</u>		

- 4. Set the Color Mode to Normal with Enhanced Gloss. (Only for ArtisticBlack and GlossMark effect)
- 5. Select the **Options** tab in the same menu, check the **PostScript Overprint = On (Override Lock = On)** and **Black Overprint = Off** Option as shown below.
- 6. Set the Anti-Aliasing to **Off**. (With the exception of **On** for MicroText effect)

7. Set the Trapping to **Off**.

VIPP_SI - Properties (Matt)		
Quantity: 1 +	Queue Name: VIPP_SI Printer Name: Xerox® Versant™ 80 Press ge Quality Image Edit PDL Settings	Priority: 50 *
Color Mode 5		Color Management Defaults
Color Adjustments None	Overprint Image: Constraint of the second	Trapping
Options Overprint	Text / Graphics Enhancement	
Halftone 200 Dot (Primary)	Anti-Aliasing RGB to Black for Text / Graphics	1 - 20 pixels
Image Resample System Specified	Black uses K Only	Width
Automatic Image Enhanc Off		T - 20 pixels
Previous Queue		
▼ Next Queue		<u>Un Apply Reset</u> <u>Cancel</u> <u>Help</u>

8. Select the **Color Management** option to set the CMYK Rendering Intent setting.

9. When using Specialty Imaging Swatch colors use Direct CMYK for color management, set this option as shown below.



EFI Fiery Setup and Settings to Support VIPP SI

All Specialty Imaging effects, such as MicroText, Correlation Mark, GlossMark Text, ArtisticBlack Text, Infrared, Fluorescent, and Variable Pantograph require color management settings on the EFI DFE controller. When using one of these colors, it is critical that you follow the steps outlined; failure to do so will result in a poor or inadequate SI effect when printed through the EFI Fiery controller.

To setup a EFI/Fiery DFE for SI, refer to the instructions on www.xerox.com at: https://www.support.xerox.com/en- us/product/freeflow-variable-information-suite/content/163255.

Installing Specialty Imaging support for VDE

During the installation of VDE, Custom installation is selected to install all or selected Specialty Imaging components required for VDE. If the Specialty Imaging options were not selected during the initial install, the installation program can be rerun at any time and the Special or Custom install option can then be selected to install the Specialty Imaging support. Refer to Installing VI Design Express for more information.

Specialty Imaging support consists of Specialty Imaging screen fonts and a custom color swatch containing predefined Specialty Imaging colors.

USING A SPECIALTY IMAGING COLOR SWATCH

VDE Specialty Imaging colors are supplied as Swatch libraries. There are six Specialty Imaging color swatch libraries, each library containing colors for a specific Specialty Imaging or Patterned ink effect. The libraries are contained in a folder named VIDesignExpress_Swatches located in the InDesign Fonts folder.

The six swatch libraries are:

VIPP [®] _ARTBLACK_Swatches.ase	contains colors for Artblack color patterns
VIPP®_Micro_Swatches.ase	contains colors for SI Micro Text
VIPP®_GL_Swatches.ase	contains colors for SI GlossMark Text
VIPP [®] _CR_Swatches.ase	contains colors for SI Correlation Mark Text
VIPP®_UV_Swatches.ase	contains colors for SI Fluorescent Text
VIPP [®] _IR_Swatches.ase	contains colors for SI Infrared Text

All of the Specialty Imaging swatch libraries, a single library, or a single color from a library can be added to the InDesign Swatches panel. It is recommended that you only copy the Specialty Imaging Swatch colors you intend to use in your application, as this will avoid populating the swatches panel with hundreds of unnecessary SI colors.

Adding a Specialty Imaging Library to the InDesign Swatches Panel

- 1. Open the InDesign Swatches Panel.
- 2. Click the **Options** Menu.
- 3. Select Load Swatches ...
- 4. Browse to the location of the Specialty Imaging Swatches libraries, for example:

(Windows:)./Adobe/AdobeInDesign CSX/Fonts

(Mac:) .../Application/InDesign CSX/Fonts

(where X is the InDesign version)

- 5. Select the **Specialty Imaging swatch library** for the Specialty Imaging effect you are using.
- 6. Double-click to populate the InDesign Swatches panel with the SI colors contained in the swatch library.

Adding an individual Specialty Imaging color to the InDesign Swatches Panel

- 1. Open the InDesign Swatches Panel.
- 2. Click the **Options** Menu.
- 3. Select New Color Swatch ...
- 4. When the New Color Swatch menu is displayed, select the **Color Mode** pull-down
- 5. Scroll to the bottom of the drop-down list.

If a Specialty Library swatch library has been selected before, it will appear in this list and can be selected, otherwise select the **Other Library...** option.

6. Browse to the location of the Specialty Imaging Swatches libraries, for example:

(Windows:).../Adobe/AdobeInDesign CSX/Fonts

(Mac:) .../Application/InDesign CSX/Fonts

(where X is the InDesign version)

- 7. Select the Specialty Imaging swatch library for the Specialty Imaging effect you are using.
- 8. Select **Open**. This will display the colors in this library.
- 9. Select the **desired color** from the displayed list.
- 10. Click **OK** to populate the InDesign Swatches panel with the SI color selected.

SPECIALTY IMAGING FONTS FOR VDE

When Custom install was selected during installation, options to install all or some of the Specialty Imaging screen fonts were presented. These fonts are special screen fonts designed to replicate the size of the special Imaging effect on the InDesign screen. These are screen fonts, not printer fonts, and cannot be used to print. To print order Specialty Imaging printer fonts, refer to Download and Install Specialty Imaging Fonts.

During the VDE installation process, when Specialty Imaging fonts screen fonts only have been selected for installation, VDE will place them into the correct font location for InDesign. The fonts will appear in the font menu drop-down box in InDesign. These fonts may be reinstalled at any time by re-running the VDE installation process.

Note on legacy GlossMark and Correlation fonts

The legacy method of printing GlossMark and Correlation Mark text using a collection of dedicated fonts is deprecated. It is still available and supported for backward compatibility but for new applications it is recommended to use the new GlossMark and Correlation Mark features which offer more flexibility.

Correlation Mark

The Correlation Mark feature refers to printing variable text strings in a way that the content is not visible unless it is superimposed by a key transparency. The key printed on a transparency needs to be supplied to all end-users that need to read the data. The Correlation Mark Key can be created by printing the SI_VP_Correlation_key.nm file on a transparency. This file can be found in the xgf/demo folder.

SINGLE LAYER CORRELATION EFFECT

To use the single layer Correlation effect:

- 1. Using the Swatch panel create a New VDE CR Vector Swatch with 2 colors. It is recommended to use the SI_CR_colornames that can be loaded to the color swatches panel. Refer to Using a Specialty Imaging Color Swatch, for a description of this process.
- 2. Draw a Text Box the size of the effect that will be created. For example, for the correlation effect to be ½ inch wide by 3 inches long, make sure to define the text box to be ½ inch wide by 3 inches long. This will represent the area of correlation effect that will be printed on the document.
- 3. Select the **text box**, then choose one of the CR Vector Swatch created in step 1 as the fill color for the text frame. The text box will be filled with a hash pattern representing the selected color.
- 4. Select the **text tool**.
- 5. Select any **OTF** or **TTF font** available to InDesign, do NOT use a Specialty Imaging font. DFont formats are not supported in VDE. Set the font size.
- 6. Set horizontal alignment options using the Paragraph setting under the Type menu option. To center the text in the text box vertically, select **Object > Text Frame Options** and then select Center as the vertical adjustment in the Align box.
- 7. Select **Paper** as the text color from the swatches panel. Selecting any other color will result in this effect failing at the print device. Make sure that Paper is only applied to the text and NOT to the background fill.
- 8. Enter the text using the keyboard or VDE to insert variable text objects.

TWO LAYER CORRELATION EFFECT

To use the two layer Correlation effect:

- 1. Using the Swatch panel create a New VDE CR Vector Swatch with 3 colors. It is recommended to use the SI_CR_colornames that can be loaded to the color swatches panel
- 2. Create the **first Correlation Mark layer** using the process described above but select a 2 layers CR Vector Swatch. Note the exact X, Y coordinates displayed for the layer 1 text box.
- 3. Create the second layer text box exactly on top of the first one. Do not fill it with any color. Select **Paper** as text color and insert the text string for the second layer.
- 4. Use InDesign to Group the two text frame objects.

Correlation Mark Font (Deprecated)

Correlation mark fonts are deprecated but still available for backward compatibility.

Correlation Mark printer fonts can be downloaded. Refer to Specialty Imaging and Barcode Font Download for more information. These fonts can be used with a Xerox print devices with an FFPS or EFI DFE. The Correlation Mark font feature refers to printing variable text strings in a way that the content is not visible unless it is superimposed by a key transparency. The key printed on a transparency needs to be supplied to all end-users that need to read the data. The Correlation Mark Key can be created by printing the Correlation_Font_Key.ps file on a transparency. The Correlation_Font_Key.ps file can be obtained by downloading the SI_Correlation_Utilities.zip file or by contacting your local Xerox representative. Refer to Specialty Imaging and Barcode Font Download for more information.

 $^{
m ?\! >}$ Note: VIPP® and SI must be set up on any EFI DFE prior to doing any VIPP® or SI printing.

Correlation Mark screen fonts can be installed during the VDE Installation. The special font names, listed in the font drop-down list, are formatted in one of these two ways:

SI_fontname-CR	for the single layer effect
SI_fontname-CR-L2	for the second layer effect

There are six fontname Font families to select from; these are listed in the Font drop-down list. In addition all have four font styles such as Book or normal, Italic, Bold and BoldItalic, with the exception of SI_NeueSmall-CR and NeueSmall-CR-L2 which is only available in Book or normal. The screen fonts, along with the special color keys listed in the color library which are prefixed with SI_CR_, only approximate the size and color of the text strings printed. Do not alter the color names or font names as VIPP[®] uses these as special keys during the print operation.

Correlation Mark is available as a single layer or two layer effect. It is created by using a special Correlation Mark font and Correlation Mark color. The single layer prints a single string and will become visible when the Correlation Mark key transparency is placed over the effect.

The two layer effect uses two text strings, each printed at the same X, Y coordinates. Each layer has a unique font and color, as listed in this table:

LAYER	FONT TO USE:	COLOR TO USE:
1	SI fontname-CR	SI CR colorname (1)
2	SI fontname-CR-L2	SI CR colorname (2)

In a two layer application, one string is visible when the transparency key is used one way. When the key is flipped over or rotated 90 degrees, the second string becomes visible.

The clarity of the Correlation Mark font depends on many factors used for the application. As an example, Xerox Digital Color Elite Cover or Paper stocks provide good results. It is important to set the paper weight correctly at the device to optimize the effects. In particular, media used for GlossMark effect should be above 220 gsm weight. As with all Specialty Imaging applications, test the application to ensure it meets the design and performance requirements.

A Correlation Mark effect can be printed anywhere on the document (VIPP® will automatically create a white background under the effect. This white background will not be visible to the end user. The only time that this is not taken care of automatically, is when using a Correlation Mark font with the CR-L2 syntax in the font name. CR-L2 fonts are considered to be Layer Two Correlation Mark fonts, which are normally used for the top layer in the two layer Correlation Mark special imaging effect; therefore VIPP® will not draw a white box under CR-L2 fonts as the

bottom Correlation Mark layer must interact with the top CR-L2 layer. Using the CR-L2 Correlation Mark font in a single layer effect is legal, but not recommended. To do this, select an area of white on the document, or draw a white box below the effect. Printing a string with a CR-L2 font over a color area in the document will produce unpredictable results.

Because of the interaction between the layers in a two layer Correlation Mark effect, it is important that the CR font is used for the bottom layer and the CR-L2 font for the top layer. Failure to follow this order will result in only the top layer effect being visible. In summary:

- When creating a Single Layer effect any CR font can be used.
- When creating a Two Layer effect, select any CR font as the bottom layer and any CR-L2 font for the top layer.

SINGLE LAYER CORRELATION MARK EFFECT USING CORRELATION FONTS (DEPRECATED)

To use the single layer Correlation Mark effect using correlation fonts (deprecated):

- 1. The Correlation Mark screen fonts must be installed. Refer to Installing Specialty Imaging Support for VDE for information on installing this font set into the InDesign environment.
- 2. The SI_CR color swatches that will be used must be available. With the document open in InDesign, refer to Using a Specialty Imaging Color Swatch for information on copying selected SI_CR colors to the Swatches Panel.

Select the **text tool** and set the **text attributes** by selecting the **Correlation Mark font** from the font dropdown list. Selecting an SI font is slightly different to normal font selection in InDesign. This is because in a normal font selection, InDesign has a single font that it scales to support many font sizes. With SI fonts, there is a single font per supported font size.

To select an SI Correlation Mark font, select **one of the available SI_fontname-CR font families** from the Font Family list. Next select the **Font Style**. SI font styles lists the font style and font size. It is important to select the correct font style and size at this point. For the majority of the SI fonts with the exception of the SI_NeueSmall-CR fonts the fonts are available in these point sizes: 18, 24, 30, 36, 42, 48, 54, 60, 66 and 72.

Last, for display purposes within InDesign, set the **Point Size** to the appropriate point size. This will enable a correct approximation of the SI effect in the InDesign screen.

For example, to use an SI Correlation Mark font from the font family SI_NeueSign-CR, at a point size of 36 with a Bold Italic style, select the SI_NeueSign-CR family from the Font list. Then select **BoldItalic-36** from the Font Style list, then set the point size to **36** in the point size list.

Do not select any other font attributes as these will be ignored by VIPP®.

3. Draw a text box at the required location on the document. The text box needs to be the same width as the effect required in the document. This is because the Correlation Mark effect appears as an area of color on the document.

For example, to add a band of Correlation Mark four inches long in the document with the text centered, the text box must be 4 inches in width and the center alignment must be selected from the Paragraph menu. The height of the text box is irrelevant other than it must be large enough to contain the Correlation Mark text being printed. It is important to understand that the width of the text box must be long enough to contain the longest text string placed in the text box. VDE will not shrink to fit.

4. Use InDesign to set the required text alignment option, this can be set to left, right or center alignment, no other alignment parameter is valid. Alignment options can be found in the **Type > Paragraph panel** in InDesign.

- 5. Set the text color by selecting one of the available **Specialty Imaging Correlation Mark colors** in the Swatches panel. Correlation Mark colors use the following naming convention: SI_CR_colorname. (To load these colors into the Swatches panel, see 2 above.) Failure to select one of these special CR colors will result in the Correlation Mark effect not working as desired. Only the text in the text box should be assigned the SI_CR_ colorname, the text frame background should contain no color.
- 6. Enter the text string. The text string can be text entered using the keyboard, the insertion of a variable text object from VDE, or a combination of both. The text string must fit on a single line.

TWO LAYER CORRELATION MARK EFFECT USING CORRELATION FONTS (DEPRECATED)

To use the two layer Correlation Mark effect using correlation fonts (deprecated):

- 1. Create the first Correlation Mark layer using the process described above. Note the exact X, Y coordinates displayed for the layer 1 text box. The second layer text box must be drawn using the same coordinates in order to get the two layer Correlation Mark effect. The layer two text box will exactly overlay the layer one text box.
- 2. Select the **second layer Correlation Mark font**. This must be a font family with the format SI_fontname-CR- L2
- 3. Select the **font style and size** and set the point size in the InDesign Font Size list. For example, if the font family SI_NeueSign-CR-L2 and the font style/size BoldItalic-36 have been selected.
- 4. Change the InDesign point size to 36.
- 5. Assign a SI_CR color to the text and enter the second text string as above, using the same alignment parameters. Although using the same alignment parameters for both strings is not required, doing so results in a cleaner effect printed on the page.
- 6. Use InDesign to Group the two text frame objects.

As with all Specialty Imaging applications, test the application to validate that the effect meets the design specifications and print performance.

CORRELATION MARK LIMITATIONS AND REQUIREMENTS

Paper Requirements	The Xerox Digital Color Elite Gloss families of paper products are recommended.
Text Content	Any arbitrary content. Best results are obtained when using a limited number of characters.

Limitations that only apply to Correlation Fonts (deprecated)

Text Color	Any InDesign color swatch beginning with SI_CR_ and ending with a color name.
Text Size	The entered InDesign text size must match the numeric value of the selected font style. For example when the font style is set to BoldItalic-48, the
	InDesign text size must be set to 48.

Font	The supported font families are L2 versions are also included: SI_NeueModern-CRSI_NeueClassic-CRSI_ NeueSecurity-CRSI_NeueFixed-CRSI_NeueSign- CRSI_NeueSmall-CR
DFEs	Xerox print devices driven by FFPS and EFI DFEs. Due to the large amount of data contained in a Correlation Mark font, using several Correlation Mark fonts on a single page can cause compression issues.
Color	Select one of the predefined Swatch colors listed in the InDesign Swatch panel. Available Correlation Mark colors are prefixed with SI_CR Do not change the Swatch name or the color values as these have no effect on the color used at print time, but VDE does pass the color name to the print device which matches it with a pre-defined Colorkey in VI Compose. Making any changes will invalidate that color selection and unpredictable results may occur.
Scale	Any change in scale has a high likelihood of causing moire. Scaling is strongly discouraged.
Rotation	Any rotation other than multiples of 90° has a high likelihood of causing moiré. Rotation is strongly discouraged.

CORRELATION MARK FONT TABLE (DEPRECATED)

The available Correlation Mark fonts and their related font faces are listed here.

FONT FAMILY	FONT FACE (SIZE)
SI_NeueClassic-CR	Book (18, 24, 30, 36, 42, 48, 54, 60, 66, 72)
SI_NeueClassic-CR-L2	Italic (18, 24, 30, 36, 42, 48, 54, 60, 66, 72)
SI_NeueModern-CR	Bold (18, 24, 30, 36, 42, 48, 54, 60, 66, 72)
SI_NeueModern-CR-L2	BoldItalic (18, 24, 30, 36, 42, 48, 54, 60, 66, 72)
SI_NeueSecurity-CR	
SI_NeueSecurity-CR-L2	
SI_NeueFixed-CR	
SI_NeueFixed-CR-L2	
SI_NeueSign-CR	
SI_NeueSign-CR-L2	
SI_NeueSmall-CR	Book (6, 8, 10, 12, 14, 16, 18, 20)
SI_NeueSmall-CR-L2	

CORRELATION MARK COLOR SWATCHES

Single and two layer Correlation Mark effects can use any of the available predefined color swatches prefixed with SI_CR_ in the color swatch panel. The available colors are listed below.

COLOR SWATCHES		
SI_CR_Black50	SI_CR_DarkRed50	SI_CR_Olive50
SI_CR_Black75	SI_CR_DarkRed75	SI_CR_Olive75
SI_CR_Black100	SI_CR_DarkRed100	SI_CR_Olive100
SI_CR_Blue50	SI_CR_Gray50	SI_CR_Red50
SI_CR_Blue75	SI_CR_Gray75	SI_CR_Red75
SI_CR_Blue100	SI_CR_Gray100	SI_CR_Red100
SI_CR_Cyan50	SI_CR_Green50	SI_CR_Teal50
SI_CR_Cyan75	SI_CR_Green75	SI_CR_Teal75
SI_CR_Cyan100	SI_CR_Green100	SI_CR_Teal100
SI_CR_DarkBlue50	SI_CR_Magenta50	SI_CR_Yellow50 (deprecated)
SI_CR_DarkBlue75	SI_CR_Magenta75	SI_CR_Yellow75 (deprecated)
SI_CR_DarkBlue100	SI_CR_Magenta100	SI_CR_Yellow100 (deprecated)
SI_CR_DarkGreen50	SI_CR_Maroon50	
SI_CR_DarkGreen75	SI_CR_Maroon75	
SI CR DarkGreen100	SI CR Maroon100	

Note: Do not change the name or the color settings on these color definitions. The colors listed give an approximation of the actual color pattern that will be printed on the print device only.

DESIGNING DOCUMENTS WITH CORRELATION MARK

The characteristics of a Correlation Mark font make it useful to use for adding security features to a document. A solid color patch can be used to insert one or two layers of extra information.

Correlation Mark refers to printing of variable text that would normally show as a solid constant color patch, but a key transparency placed on top with correct orientation would expose the text outline. Both a single or a twolayer Correlation Mark is supported. This allows either a single string or two strings to be generated in the same Correlation Mark effect. That is two different strings of text can be used in the same spot. When the key transparency is placed in one orientation it will expose the Layer 1 text, when the transparency is rotated 90 degrees or is turned over using the flip side of the transparency the text in Layer 2 is exposed.

Correlation Mark font can be used to embed information into a document pertaining to its identity, authenticity, value, ownership, or any element that is of value to the rightful owner of the document. In the concert ticket example shown below, the constant color area can be used to hold variable data.



Another piece of information can be placed in the same spot using the Layer 2 font. The figures below show an example where the string, ONE, is placed in one layer and the string, TWO, is placed in the same spot. This is known as a 2 Layer Correlation.



Fluorescent Mark Color

Fluorescent Mark color, available on FFPS and EFI full color Xerox engines, refers to printing variable text in a way that the content is not clearly visible under normal light but becomes visible under UV/ black-light. When the Specialty Imaging package is installed with VDE a Swatch library containing Specialty Imaging fluorescent color names is installed. Colors from this library need to be added to the InDesign Swatches panel. To produce the Fluorescent effect, it is important to follow the procedure below. If this is not done, the Fluorescent effect will not be created correctly and will not print correctly on the printer. VDE will generate the correct VIPP® code on the printer to print the effect using special VIPP® color keys pre-installed on the printer. This effect is available on the FFPS and EFI without the need to install any special fonts.

 st Note: VIPP® and SI must be set up on any EFI DFE prior to doing any VIPP® or SI printing.

The two-layer fluorescent effect allows you to further disguise the effect by laying down a layer of text that is visible under normal light conditions, but will fade to reveal the hidden text under UV illumination.

Once a Specialty Imaging fluorescent color has been made available to the InDesign Swatches panel, it will be listed using the following syntax SI_UV_colorname.

The color swatches contained in the color library are used to provide an approximation of the printed color only. The color values displayed in InDesign are not the values printed at the print device and should not be changed. Likewise, it is critical that the color name is not altered, as this is used on the printer to select the appropriate color key on the printer to print the effect.

SINGLE LAYER EFFECT

To use the single layer effect:

- 1. Ensure the SI_UV_colornames required for the application are loaded to the color swatches panel. Refer to Using a Specialty Imaging Color Swatch, for a description of this process.
- 2. Draw a Text Box the size of the effect that will be created. For example, for the fluorescent effect to be ½ inch wide by 3 inches long, make sure to define the text box to be ½ inch wide by 3 inches long. This will represent the area of fluorescent color that will be printed on the document.
- 3. Select the **text box**, then choose one of the available SI_UV colors as the fill color for the text frame. The text box will be completely filled with the selected color.
- 4. Select the **text tool**.
- 5. Select any **OTF** or **TTF font** available to InDesign, do NOT use a Specialty Imaging font. DFont formats are not supported in VDE. Set the font size. Fluorescent text effects work better when the font size is between 8 and 14 points, however, smaller or larger font sizes are allowed.
- 6. Set **horizontal alignment options** using the Paragraph setting under the Type menu option. To center the text in the text box vertically, select **Object > Text Frame Options** and then select **Center** as the vertical adjustment in the Align box.
- 7. Select **Paper** as the text color from the swatches panel. The color Paper must be the text color selected, selecting any other color will result in this effect failing at the print device. Make sure that Paper is only applied to the text and NOT to the background fill.
- 8. Enter the text using the keyboard or VDE to insert variable text objects.

TWO LAYER FLUORESCENT EFFECT

To use the two layer Fluorescent effect:

- 1. Create the first Fluorescent Mark layer using the process described above. Note the exact X, Y coordinates displayed for the layer 1 text box. The second layer text box must be drawn using the same coordinates in order to get the two layer FluorescentMark effect. The layer two text box will exactly overlay the layer one text box.
- 2. Select a **Top Layer text color** that corresponds to the color used in the bottom layer, refer to the table below for more information. Type the new text string. It is suggested that the second text string use a slightly larger font size. For example, in the effect shown below, the Layer one color selected was SI_UV_LEAFGREEN1, this would allow any of these layer two colors (SI_UV_L2_MAGENTA or SI_UV_L2_YELLOW) to be used for the top layer text color. In the example below, SI_UV_L2_YELLOW was selected.
- 3. Use InDesign to Group the two text frame objects.

The sample below illustrates the two layer Fluorescent effect. The top layer of text is visible under normal light but will fade and the hidden text will be revealed under UV light.

Karen Hello

Note: VDE cannot display the Fluorescent effect. The effect is viewable when printed only. For better fluorescent effects, use a brilliant white media. As with all specialty imaging applications, test the application to verify that the effect meets the design specifications and print performance.

FLUORESCENTMARK COLOR LIMITATIONS AND REQUIREMENTS

No special materials are involved in this effect. Instead the Optical Brightening and Whitening Agent of the paper substrate is used. Consequently some limitations exist based on the paper choice.

Using FluorescentMark color means that text strings that were invisible or hard to see in normal light appear at a much higher contrast under Ultra Violet light. Since no special materials are used, the limitation is that the UV component of normal light will already excite some of the fluorescence effect. Also, the characteristics of the physical toner gloss, and so on might make it possible to decipher the hidden string in visible light. In order to mask this decoding, the color patch is created with a rough texture.

Paper requirements	The effect strength increases with paper brightness. Paper brightness is normally indicated on the packages. The Xerox Digital Color Elite Gloss families of paper products are recommended.
Patch Color	Use any of the SI_UV_ colors available in the InDesign Color Swatch panel. Do not change the Swatch name or the color values as these have no effect on the color used at print time, but VDE does pass the color name to the print device which matches it with a pre-defined Colorkey in VI Compose. Making any changes will invalidate that color selection and unpredictable results may occur.

Text Content	Any arbitrary content. Best results are obtained when using a limited number of characters.
Text Color	Use the "Paper" option available in the InDesign Swatches panel.
Two Layer Text Color	Refer to the Color swatches for two layer Fluorescent effect table below. The text for the visible text layer Layer 2 - top layer must be one of the colors listed based on the bottom layer SI_UV_color selected.
Text Frame Fill	The text frame must be filled with an SI_UV_ colorname selection from the Swatches panel.
Font	Any supported font on the printer or supported by VDE.
Text Size	Not restricted, but should be large enough to be easily visible 10 - 14pts, as larger point sizes may be visible without UV lighting.
DFEs	Xerox only, FFPS and EFI.
Color	Select one of the predefined Swatch colors listed in the InDesign Swatch panel. Available fluorescent colors are prefixed with SI_UV Do not change the Swatch name or the color values as these have no effect on the color used at print time, but VDE does pass the color name to the print device which matches it with a pre-defined Colorkey in VI Compose. Making any changes will invalidate that color selection and unpredictable results may occur.
Scale	Scaling will affect the masking, but is allowed
Rotation	Rotation will affect the masking, but is allowed.

FLUORESCENTMARK (UV) COLOR SWATCHES

COLOR SWATCHES REQUIRING NO SPECIAL COLOR MANAGEMENT		
SI_UV_BISTROGREEN1	SI_UV_ GREENERPASTURES2	SI_UV_ REDDISHORANGE1
SI_UV_BISTROGREEN2	SI_UV_HUNTERGREEN1	SI_UV_ REDDISHORANGE2
SI_UV_BLAZE_ORANGE1	SI_UV_HUNTERGREEN2	SI_UV_ REDDISHYELLOW1
SI_UV_BLUE1	SI_UV_JUNEBUG2	SI_UV_ROSERED1
SI_UV_BLUEBLUE1	SI_UV_JUNGLEGREEN1	SI_UV_RUSTICBROWN1

COLOR SWATCHES REQUIRING NO SPECIAL COLOR MANAGEMENT		
SI_UV_BLUEBLUE2	SI_UV_JUNGLEGREEN2	SI_UV_ SEAFOAMGREEN1
SI_UV_BLUEGRAY	SI_UV_LEAFGREEN1	SI_UV_SKYBLUE1
SI_UV_BRONZEMIST2	SI_UV_LEAFGREEN2	SI_UV_SPRINGGREEN1
SI_UV_BUTTERNUT1	SI_UV_LIMEGREEN1	SI_UV_SPRINGGREEN2
SI_UV_CHIPMUNK2	SI_UV_MAROON1	SI_UV_STRAW1
SI_UV_DARKBROWN11	SI_UV_ MEDIUMSEAGREEN1	SI_UV_STRAW2
SI_UV_DARKBROWN12	SI_UV_ MEDIUMSEAGREEN2	SI_UV_TAUPEROD1
SI_UV_DARKORANGE1	SI_UV_ORANGEROD1	SI_UV_TAUPEROD2
SI_UV_DARKSKY1	SI_UV_ORANGEROD2	SI_UV_TURTLEGREEN1
SI_UV_DEEPPINK1	SI_UV_PACIFIC2	SI_UV_TURTLEGREEN2
SI_UV_DEEPTEAL1	SI_UV_PALEBLUE2	SI_UV_VERMILION1
SI_UV_DEEPTEAL2	SI_UV_PARKNAVY1	SI_UV_VERMILION2
SI_UV_GOLDENROD1	SI_UV_PARKNAVY2	SI_UV_VETIVER1
SI_UV_GRASSGREEN1	SI_UV_PINEBARK2	SI_UV_YELLOW1
SI_UV_GRASSGREEN2	SI_UV_PLUMPERFECT1	SI_UV_ YELLOWISHGREEN1
SI_UV_GREENERPASTURES1	SI_UV_PLUMPERFECT2	SI_UV_ YELLOWISHGREEN2

COLOR SWATCHES REQUIRING "DIRECT CMYK" COLOR MANAGEMENT SETTINGS		
SI_UV_BROWN1	SI_UV_GOLD1	SI_UV_PURPLE
SI_UV_DARKGRAY1	SI_UV_GOLD2	SI_UV_PURPLE1
SI_UV_DARKPINK1	SI_UV_GREEN1	SI_UV_RUSSIANBLUE
	SI_UV_PINK	

Note: Do not change the name or the color settings on these color definitions. The colors listed give an approximation of the actual color pattern that will be printed on the print device only. These colors affect the color of the background box only. VDE selects the text color automatically.

COLOR SWATCHES FOR TWO LAYER FLUORESCENT EFFECT	
BOTTOM LAYER SI_UV_COLOR	TOP LAYER FLUORESCENT COLOR (THE VISIBLE TEXT)
SI UV BLUEBLUE1 (deprecated)	SI UV 2L MAGENTA or SI UV 2L YELLOW
SI UV BISTROGREEN1	SI UV CYAN or SI UV MAGENTA or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV BISTROGREEN2	SI UV CYAN or SI UV MAGENTA or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV BLAZE ORANGE1	SI UV CYAN or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV BLUEBLUE2 (deprecated)	SI UV 2L MAGENTA or SI UV 2L YELLOW
SI UV BRONZEMIST2	SI UV CYAN or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV BUTTERNUT1	SI UV CYAN or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV CHIPMUNK2	SI UV CYAN or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV DARKBROWN11	SI UV CYAN or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV DARKBROWN12	SI UV CYAN or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV DARKORANGE1 (deprecated)	SI UV 2L CYAN or SI UV 2L MAGENTA or SI UV 2L YELLOW
SI UV DARKPINK1	SI UV 2L CYAN
SI UV DARKSKY1(deprecated)	SI UV 2L YELLOW
SI UV GOLDENROD1 (deprecated)	SI UV 2L CYAN or SI UV 2L MAGENTA or SI UV 2L YELLOW
SI UV GRASSGREEN1 (deprecated)	SI UV 2L CYAN or SI UV 2L MAGENTA
SI UV GREENERPASTURES1	SI UV CYAN or SI UV MAGENTA or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV GREENERPASTURES2	SI UV CYAN or SI UV MAGENTA or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV HUNTERGREEN1	SI UV CYAN or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV HUNTERGREEN2	SI UV CYAN or SI UV MAGENTA or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV JUNEBUG2	SI UV CYAN or SI UV MAGENTA or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV JUNGLEGREEN1	SI UV CYAN or SI UV MAGENTA or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV JUNGLEGREEN2	SI UV CYAN or SI UV MAGENTA or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV LEAFGREEN1	SI UV 2L CYAN or SI SI UV 2L MAGENTA
SI UV LEAFGREEN2	SI UV 2L MAGENTA or SI UV 2L YELLOW
SI UV LIMEGREEN1	SI UV 2L CYAN or SI UV 2L MAGENTA or SI UV 2L YELLOW
SI UV MAROON1 (deprecated)	SI UV 2L CYAN or SI UV 2L YELLOW

COLOR SWATCHES FOR TWO LAYER FLUORESCENT EFFECT	
BOTTOM LAYER SI_UV_COLOR	TOP LAYER FLUORESCENT COLOR (THE VISIBLE TEXT)
SI UV MEDIUMSEAGREEN1	SI UV 2L MAGENTA
SI UV ORANGEROD1 (deprecated)	SI UV CYAN or SI UV MAGENTA
SI UV PACIFIC2 (deprecated)	SI UV CYAN or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV PARKNAVY1 (deprecated)	SI UV CYAN or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV PARKNAVY2 (deprecated)	SI UV CYAN or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV PINEBARK2 (deprecated)	SI UV CYAN
SI UV PLUMPERFECT1 (deprecated)	SI UV CYAN or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV PLUMPERFECT2 (deprecated)	SI UV CYAN or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV REDDISHORANGE1	SI UV 2L CYAN or SI UV 2L MAGENTA
SI UV REDDISHORANGE2	SI UV 2L CYAN or SI UV 2L MAGENTA
SI UV ROSERED1	SI UV 2L CYAN
SI UV SPRINGGREEN1	SI UV 2L YELLOW
SI UV SPRINGGREEN2	SI UV 2L YELLOW
SI UV STRAW1 (deprecated)	SI UV 2L MAGENTA
SI UV STRAW2 (deprecated)	SI UV 2L CYAN or SI UV 2L MAGENTA or SI UV 2L YELLOW
SI UV TAUPEROD2 (deprecated)	SI UV CYAN or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV TURTLEGREEN1 (deprecated)	SI UV CYAN or SI UV MAGENTA or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV TURTLEGREEN2 (deprecated)	SI UV CYAN or SI UV MAGENTA or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV VERMILION1	SI UV 2L CYAN SI UV 2L MAGENTA
SI UV VERMILION2	SI UV 2L MAGENTA
SI UV VETIVER1 (deprecated)	SI UV CYAN or SI UV MAGENTA or SI UV YELLOW
SI UV YELLOW1	SI UV 2L YELLOW
SI_UV_YELLOWISHGREEN1 (deprecated)	SI_UV_2L_CYAN or SI_UV_2L_MAGENTA or SI_UV_ 2L_YELLOW
SI_UV_YELLOWISHGREEN2 (deprecated)	SI_UV_2L_YELLOW

DESIGNING DOCUMENTS WITH FLUORESCENTMARK COLORS

The method by which the FluorescentMark colors are created and rendered makes it difficult to alter electronically or physically, and if designed well, makes it difficult for a user to even realize that information is embedded in textured color patterns. Another benefit of FluorescentMark colors is that to decode the hidden information, only a UV light source is required. Many inexpensive types of UV sources exist for example, portable money detectors, flashlights, and even key chains.

FluorescentMark colors are used to embed a text string into a textured color pattern in such a way that the text is indecipherable under normal viewing light, and visible only under ultra-violet (UV) lighting. In addition, a second layer of visible text can be used to further hide or restrict the visibility of the hidden layer. When viewed under UV illumination the top layer of text will fade to allow the hidden layer to become visible.



In the concert ticket example below, a unique ticket identification (ID) number is included on the ticket. The same ticket ID can be encoded as FluorescentMark colors, which appear as textured color patterns at different locations on the ticket.



In the example below, a portion of the ticket is enlarged to show the ticket ID in plain text with FluorescentMark colors immediately below. The FluorescentMark color appears as a textured color pattern.



Authenticity of the ticket is established by viewing it under UV light and comparing the FluorescentMark colors with the visible ID number, as shown below. Parity indicates that it is an authentic ticket.



The same ticket portion from the previous illustration but viewed under UV light. The FluorescentMark colors now reveal a number that matches the visible ID.

Similar applications for FluorescentMark colors are on coupons, checks, college grade reports, etc.

GlossMark® Text

The GlossMark feature, available on Xerox only FFPS and EFI Full Color only, refers to printing variable text strings in a way that the content is not visible in straight-on view, but becomes visible as gloss under inclined illumination.

 st Note: VIPP® and SI must be set up on any EFI DFE prior to doing any VIPP® or SI

printing. To use the GlossMark effect:

- Using the Swatch panel create a New VDE GL Vector Swatch. It is recommended to use the SI_GL_colornames that can be loaded to the color swatches panel. Refer to Using a Specialty Imaging color swatch for a description of this process.
- 2. Draw a Text Box the size of the effect that will be created. For example, for the GlossMark effect to be ½ inch wide by 3 inches long, make sure to define the text box to be ½ inch wide by 3 inches long. This will represent the area of GlossMark effect that will be printed on the document.
- 3. Select the **text box**, then choose one of the GL Vector Swatch created in step 1 as the fill color for the text frame. The text box will be filled with a hash pattern representing the selected color.
- 4. Select the **text tool**.
- 5. Select any **OTF** or **TTF font** available to InDesign do NOT use a Specialty Imaging font. DFont formats are not supported in VDE. Set the font size.
- 6. Set **horizontal alignment options** using the Paragraph setting under the Type menu option. To center the text in the text box vertically, select **Object > Text Frame Options** and then select **Center** as the vertical adjustment in the Align box.
- 7. Select **Paper** as the text color from the swatches panel. Selecting any other color will result in this effect failing at the print device. Make sure that Paper is only applied to the text and NOT to the background fill.
- 8. Enter the text using the keyboard or VDE to insert variable text objects.

GlossMark[®] Text font (deprecated)

GlossMark fonts are deprecated but still available for backward compatibility.

GlossMark Text font, available on Xerox only FFPS and EFI Full Color only, refers to printing variable text strings in a way that the content is not visible in straight-on view, but becomes visible as gloss under inclined illumination. VDE uses a combination of special GlossMark swatches and Specialty Imaging GlossMark Text fonts to create the gloss effect. The fonts installed and available in the font drop-down list starting with SI_ are screen fonts only. They are there to approximate the size and color of the printed text string. To print the effect on the Xerox printer you must first install the GlossMark printer font to the printer. Specialty Imaging fonts can be downloaded. Refer to Specialty Imaging and Barcode Font Download for more information about downloads.

When the Specialty Imaging package is installed with VDE, the Specialty Imaging screen fonts are installed and will be listed in the font pull-down list, with the prefix SI_GL-familyname. A Swatch library containing Specialty Imaging Gloss color names is also installed. Colors from this library need to be added to the InDesign Swatches panel. Refer to Using a Specialty Imaging Color Swatch.

There are six fontname Font Families to select from; these are listed in the Font drop-down list. In addition all have four font styles Book or Normal, Italic, Bold and BoldItalic, with the exception of SI_NeueSmall-GL, which is only available in Book or normal.

The color swatches are used to provide an approximation of the printed color only. The color values displayed in InDesign are not the values printed at the print device and should not be changed. Likewise, it is critical that the color name or the font name is not altered, as these provide information to the printer at print time.

To use the effect:

- 1. Ensure the SI_GL_ colors required for the application are loaded to the color swatches panel. Refer to Using a Specialty Imaging Color Swatch, for a description of this process.
- 2. Draw a Text Box the size of the effect that will be created. Make sure the text box is wide enough to accommodate the largest text string that will be placed in this text box. The height of the text box is irrelevant as it is the size of the actual SI GlossMark font that will determine the size of the GL color printed on the page.
- 3. Selecting an SI font is not the same as normal font selection in InDesign. To select the Specialty Imaging GlossMark Text font, first select the **GL font family** from those available in the drop-down box then insert fonts with the SI_fontfamilyname-GL format. Next, select the **Font Style**. This involves selecting the font style with the font point size. The majority of the SI fonts with the exception of the SI_NeueSmall family are available in the following sizes such as 18, 24, 30, 36, 42, 48, 54, 60, 66 and 72.
- 4. Next, for correct display in InDesign, you should set the **InDesign point size option** to match the font you selected.

For example, to use an SI_GlossMark font from the font family SI_NeueSign-GL at a point size of 36 with a bold Italic style, select the SI_NeueSign-GL family from the font list. Next select BoldItalic-36 from the Font Style list. Finally, it is important for viewing purposes on the screen to set the InDesign point size option to match the BoldItalic-36 setting by setting the point size to 36.

5. With the Text Insertion cursor blinking in the text box, select the font color. Select a SI_GL color from the GL colors in the Swatches panel. Only the text color will be affected. Do NOT set the text background color, which should remain set to None.

6. Enter the required text using the keyboard or VDE to insert variable text objects or a combination of both. Make sure that the text box is wide enough to contain the longest string that will be printed. Keep text to a single line.

As with all Specialty Imaging applications, test the application to validate the effect meets the design specifications and print performance.

GLOSSMARK TEXT LIMITATIONS AND REQUIREMENTS

Paper Requirements	GlossMark Text requires paper with a smooth glossy surface, for example, a coated glossy paper.
GlossMark Text Color	Use any of the SI_GL colors available in the InDesign Color Swatch panel. Do not change the Swatch name or the color values as these have no effect on the color used at print time, but VDE does pass the color name to the print device which matches it with a pre-defined Colorkey in VI Compose. Making any changes will invalidate that color selection and unpredictable results may occur.
Text Content	Arbitrary font content, the text string should be reasonably short, since color shifts can occur in large constant areas.

Limitations that only apply to GlossMark Fonts (Deprecated)

GlossMark Text Size	Must set the font family name and the font style attribute. The InDesign point size should reflect the number displayed in the style selection. For example, if the style selected is Book-24, you should set the InDesign point size to 24. Failure to do this will result in an incorrect display of the GlossMark text in the InDesign screen.
Font	Only the Xerox-supplied SI_NeueClassic-GL, SI_ NeueModern-GL, SI_NeueSecurity-GL, SI_NeueSign- GL, SI_NeueFixed-GL, and SI_NeueSmall-GL type faces are supported.
DFEs	FFPS and EFI. Due to the large amount of data contained in a GlossMark font, using several GlossMark fonts on a single page can cause compression issues.
Color	Select one of the predefined Swatch colors listed in the InDesign Swatch panel. Available GlossMark colors are prefixed with SI_GL Do not change the Swatch name or the color values as these have no effect on the color used at print time, but VDE does pass the color name to the print device which matches it with a

	pre-defined Colorkey in VI Compose. Making any changes will invalidate that color selection and unpredictable results may occur.
Scale	Any change in scale has a high likelihood of causing moiré. Scaling is strongly discouraged.
Rotation	Any rotation, other than multiples of 90°, has a high likelihood of causing moiré. Rotation is strongly discouraged.

GLOSSMARK TEXT FONT TABLES

The available GlossMark Text fonts and their related font faces are listed here:

FONT FAMILY	FONT FACE (SIZE)
SI_NeueClassic-GL	Book (18, 24, 30, 36, 42, 48, 54, 60, 66, 72)
SI_NeueModern-GL	Italic (18, 24, 30, 36, 42, 48, 54, 60, 66, 72)
SI_NeueSecurity-GL	Bold (18, 24, 30, 36, 42, 48, 54, 60, 66, 72)
SI_NeueFixed-GL	BoldItalic (18, 24, 30, 36, 42, 48, 54, 60, 66, 72)
SI NeueSign-GL	
SI NeueSmall-GL	Book (6, 8, 10, 12, 14, 16, 18, 20)

GLOSSMARK COLOR SWATCHES

Select any of the GlossMark colors listed in the color swatch panel as the fill color for the selected GlossMark text font. The available colors for GlossMark effects are prefixed with SI_GL_ and are listed in the table below.

COLOR SWATCHES		
SI_GL_Black	SI_GL_lightBlue	SI_GL_Olive
SI_GL_Blue	SI_GL_lightGreen	SI_GL_Peach
SI_GL_Cyan	SI_GL_Magenta	SI_GL_Red
SI_GL_Gray	SI_GL_Maroon	SI_GL_Yellow
SI GL Green		

Note: Do not change the name or the color settings on these color definitions. The colors listed give an approximation of the actual color pattern that will be printed on the print device only.

DESIGNING DOCUMENTS WITH GLOSSMARK TEXT

The differential gloss characteristics of GlossMark Text make it difficult to reproduce or alter electronically or physically. If designed well, the GlossMark Text also has an aesthetic component, increasing the perceived value of the ticket.

GlossMark Text is printed in a constant color that, under certain angles of illumination, will show a variable data string in the local gloss of the solid color.

In the concert ticket example below, the constant color area below the ticket price can be used to hold variable data.



In the examples below, the GlossMark Text area is enlarged in straight-on view, showing a solid color. Then the same area is shown under an angled illumination, revealing the ticket price as gloss variation.



Similar applications for GlossMark Text are coupons, checks, college grade reports, and so on.

Variable Pantograph

The variable pantograph is one of the FreeFlow VI Suite Specialty or Security Imaging (SI) effect along with other VI Suite SI effects, such as Microtext, Gloss Mark, Correlation marks, Infrared, and Ultraviolet, that can be incorporated into your print job to assist in deterring or detecting document fraud. It is important to note that these features do not rely on special paper or ink, but they do require Specialty Imaging setup on your DFE and possibly the use of available specialty fonts from Xerox. Additionally, it is crucial to validate the effectiveness of any SI effects included in a document, as the quality and performance of your individual printer can significantly impact their effectiveness.

Users can utilize the VI Design Express Software to choose and incorporate VI Suite Specialty or Security Imaging (SI) Variable Pantographs (VPGs) into their current or new Adobe Creative Cloud InDesign (.indd) file. VIPP enables the utilization of VI Design Express (VDE) and Variable Pantograph (VPG) v2 swatches to ensure the use of good and validated pantographs.

The Specialty or Security effect of a Variable Pantograph (VPG) is achieved by using multiple rectangular boxes and layering. The VPG consists of a stochastic pattern background layer and a foreground layer containing variable or static text. To enhance the effect, the text is displayed in Helvetica Rounded bold font, and carefully selected values for the stochastic background layer such as color and angle are used. To further ensure effective hiding on original prints, distraction patterns such as None, Lines, Hexagon, Sparse, Spiral, Wavy, and WavyUp may be applied to the layering. The VDE program provides all these options when creating or using a new or existing Vector Pattern swatch.

The newer release of VI Design now includes a new Vector pattern drop-down menu to help users choose optimal values and combinations for success. All available vetted values have been extensively tested by Xerox for printing on a variety of MFD/printer target devices such as Baltoro, Iridesse, Versant, and iGen5 families. Xerox has also tested all patterns and combinations available in the drop-down selections of VDE to ensure their validity, as a VPG must remain hidden on the original print and then pop on the copy. The following (MFD/Copying) machines have been tested: Lanier, Kyocera, Konica-Minolta, HP, Ricoh, Canon, Lexmark, Brother, as well as Xerox's VersaLink and AltaLink family devices.

Note: Pantographs are specially designed and requires specific settings to function properly. Follow the below guidelines:

- Font requirements: The Helvetica Rounded Bold (HRB) font is the only recommended font for VPGv2. Other fonts, especially non-rounded ones, have not been tested and are not validated. Only HRB can be used. Sharp-cornered fonts can disrupt the Pantograph feature. If HRB font is not available in the Operating System fonts directory, add it. For instructions on installing fonts, refer to Installing Pantograph Font for Windows OS or Installing Pantograph Font for Mac OS.
- Language Compatibility: Only English text has been evaluated. Usage of foreign (Multi-National) text might vary and has not been validated.
- Text Angle: The text must be applied at a 57.5-degree angle. Other angles might work but have not been tested.
- Testing and Validation: For any SI effect, it is essential to perform due diligence by testing and validating within your specific environment or print devices.

INSTALLING PANTOGRAPH FONT FOR WINDOWS OS

1. Download the font files. Font files are often provided in compressed .zip folders. Inside a .zip folder, you can find several variations of the same font, such as light and heavy.
2. To extract the files, right-click the .zip folder and select **Extract** if the font files are in a .zip folder. You can see the available TrueType and OpenType font files.

Name	Date modified	Туре	Size
Nolf in the City Light	2/18/2014 9:37 AM	TrueType font file	45 KB
Wolf in the City	2/18/2014 9:38 AM	OpenType font file	20 KB
Wolf in the City	2/18/2014 9:38 AM	TrueType font file	46 KB

3. To install the fonts, right-click on the font file you want to install and select Install.

Name	-	Date modified	Туре	Size
🔊 Wolf in the Ci	ty Light	2/18/2014 9:37 AM	TrueType font file	45 KB
Nolf in t	Preview		Type font file	20 KB
🔊 Wolf in tl	Print		Type font file	46 KB
🔍 wolf_in_t 😵	Install		lip File	69 KB

- 4. To allow permissions, if prompted to allow the program to make changes to your computer, click **Yes**. Your new fonts will then appear in the Fonts list in applications like Microsoft Word. Following are the two other ways to install and manage fonts:
 - All fonts are stored in the C:\Windows\Fonts folder. You can also add fonts by dragging the font files from the extracted folder into this directory. Windows will automatically install them.

To preview a font, open the Fonts folder, right-click the font file, and select **Preview**.

• You can also manage fonts through the control panel. Depending on your version of Windows, go to **Control Panel > Fonts or Control Panel > Appearance and Personalization > Fonts**.



INSTALLING PANTOGRAPH FONT FOR MAC OS

- 1. To install the fonts, copy and paste the TTF (TrueType) or OTF (OpenType) font files into the */Library/Fonts* folder.
- 2. To activate the fonts, restart the application you want to use. Some applications may require a full system restart to recognize the new font.
- 3. To access the fonts, after installation, the fonts are available in the font menu of applications, such as Adobe InDesign for use in the VIDesign Express application.

CREATING A VARIABLE PANTOGRAPH

To create a Variable Pantograph Swatch:

- 1. Select the New Vector Pattern Swatch menu from Swatch Panel.
- 2. Enter a name required for the Variable Pantograph, for example, SI_VP_Variable_Pantograph_1.

- 3. Select Variable Pantograph radio button. The Default is Glass.
- 4. Select the appropriate printer from Target Printer drop-down list. The values are drawn from the internal vpgdatafile containing approved and verified values.
- 5. Choose the suitable pure CMYK color for Color 1.

Note: The Graphic User Interface may display options for Color 2 and Color 3; however, these cannot be selected for a VPG.

- 6. Similarly provide valid values for other entities.
- 7. Click **OK** button.

New Vector Pattern Swatch					
Name: Target Printer:	SI_VP_ Variabk Gloss Correlation (Orrelation (Variable Par Baltoro-FFPS	e_Pantograph_1 (1 layer) (2 layers) ttograph		~	OK Cancel
Color 1:	BLACK (0,0,0	0,100)	_	~	
Color 2:	[Black]			~	
Color 3:	[Black]			~	(CR 2 layers Only)
Angle:	45°				
Distraction:	None				
Te	Line Width: ct (h) darkness:				
Backgroun	d (s) darkness:	30			
Horizor	tal Adjustment:				
Verti	cal Adjustment:				
Rota	tion (Degrees):				
	lorizontal scale:				
	Vertical scale:				
G	enerate CR Key:				
Will this job	be rotated at p	rint?			

8. To create a new swatch, click **OK**.



VI Design Express will create three swatches in Swatch panel:

- SI_VP_Variable_Pantograph_1 (Requested Swatch)
- SI_VP_Variable_Pantograph_1_PlusS (Auxiliary Swatch)

New Vector Pattern Swatch					
Name:	SI_VP_ Variabl	e_Pantograph_1_P		ОК	\square
				Cancel	\square
Target Printer:					
Color 1:	BLACK (0,0,0	0,100)	~		
Color 2:	[Black]		~		
Color 3:	[Black]		~	(CR 2 layers Only)	
Angle:					
Distraction:					
	Line Width:				
Te	xt (h) darkness:				
Backgrour	nd (s) darkness:				
Horizor	ntal Adjustment:				
Verti	cal Adjustment:				
Rota	ation (Degrees):				
I	Horizontal scale:				
	Vertical scale:				
G	enerate CR Key:				
Will this jol	b be rotated at p	rint?			

•	SI_VP_	Variable_	Pantograph_	1_	MinusS	(Auxiliary	Swatch)	
---	--------	-----------	-------------	----	--------	------------	---------	--

New Vector Pattern Swatch						
Name:	SI_VP_ Variab	le_Pantograph_1_ (1 layer) (2 layers)	MinusS		Сапсе!	
Target Printer:						
Color 1:	BLACK (0,0,	0,100)		~		
Color 2:	[Black]			~		
Color 3:	[Black]			~	(CR 2 layers Only)	
Angle:						
Distraction:						
	Line Width:					
Te	ct (h) darkness:					
Backgrour	d (s) darkness:					
Horizor	ital Adjustment:	⊖ ∪ pt				
Rot	ation (Degrees)	~ o pt				
Rod	torizontal scale:					
	Vertical scale:					
G	enerate CR Key:					
Will this jo	be rotated at p	orint?				

Note: When a background darkness value of 38 is selected, only the Stochastics MinusS Swatch will be created. If the main Swatch is deleted, the Stochastics PlusS and MinusS swatches will not be removed automatically.

APPLYING A VARIABLE PANTOGRAPH TO A FRAME

1. Create a rectangle frame using the Rectangle Frame Tool (F).

2. To apply the vector pattern, select a rectangle frame. To apply the Swatch on the text frame, click created **Variable Pantograph swatch**.



Using Specialty Imaging Effects

3. Create a text frame. Place either variable or static text anywhere in the text frame. Select the attributes required for text entered. For example, Font (Recommended font is Helvetica rounded bold), size, and set the text to be at angle of 57.5 for the Variable Pantograph to work effectively.



4. Place the text frame inside the rectangle frame, ensuring that both frames are on the same layer, with the text frame placed above the rectangle frame.



5. To create another frame with the Variable Pantograph Swatch in the same page, create the frame and apply Swatch as explained above.



6. Create a separate layer and move one set of frames inside for effective Variable Pantograph.



Note: If you need to export a previously created Variable Pantograph job (Saved before VI release) in VI Design Express 18.1.0 as Variable Pantograph V1, change the ini entry SupportVariablePantographOriginal to true.

By default, SupportVariablePantographOriginal entry is false to support the latest Variable Pantograph.

Applying Specialty Imaging Effects to Monochrome TIFF images

You can apply Specialty Imaging effects such as VP/GL, VP/CR, UV, IR, and Artistic black can be applied to monochrome TIFF images.

To apply specialty imaging effects to monochrome TIFF images, select an option:

- Create an InDesign document with a tiff image in two frames.
- Create SI_VP_GlossMark swatch pattern with no distraction pattern as described.
- Create SI_VP_CRMark swatch pattern with no distraction pattern.
- Apply SI_VP_GlossMark on first tiff image.
- Apply SI_VP_CRMark on second tiff image.
- Export as VPC and print it for the effect to be verified.

Note: Specialty Imaging effects can be applied to monochrome TIFF images only and cannot be applied to grayscale or color TIFF images.

Infrared Color

Infrared color, available on Xerox only FFPS and EFI Full Color engines, refers to printing variable strings in a way that the content is not visible under normal light, but can be viewed when using Infrared light. Predefined Infrared color keys are listed in a table at the end of this section.

 $^\circ$ Note: VIPP $^{
m s}$ and SI must be set up on any EFI DFE prior to doing any VIPP $^{
m s}$ or SI printing.

INFRARED COLOR SWATCHES

Infrared effects are available as a single layer or two layer effects. A single layer effect hides a string of text under a solid color, while a two layer infrared effect hides a string of text under a color that has additional text printed on top. When an infrared light source is used to view the effects, the top layer of text or two layer and the area of color covering the hidden text will disappear revealing the bottom layer of text. The text colors and fill colors must be selected from the SI_Color swatches for Infrared printing.

A Swatch library containing Specialty Imaging Infrared color names is installed when the Specialty Imaging option or Complete option is selected at installation. Colors from this library need to be added to the InDesign Swatches panel. Refer to Using a Specialty Imaging Color Swatch.

COLOR SWATCHES REQUIRING NO SPECIAL COLOR MANAGEMENT SI IR 2L BLUEPURPLE1 SI_IR_2L_PALEBLUE1 SI IR LAWNGREEN1 SI IR 2L DARKPINK1 SI_IR_2L_PURPLE1 SI IR LIGHTPURPLE1 SI IR 2L GRAYBROWN1 SI IR ARGYLEPINK1 SI IR MALLARDGREEN1 SI_IR_2L_GREENYELLOW1 SI_IR_BLACKSLATE1 SI_IR_MAROON2 SI_IR_2L_LIGHTBROWN1 SI_IR_BRONZEGREEN1 SI_IR_MAZARINE1 SI_IR_OLIVE21 SI_IR_2L_LIGHTCYAN1 SI_IR_CINNABAR1 SI_IR_2L_LIGHTGRAY1 SI_IR_COCONUTSHELL1 SI_IR_ORANGERED1 SI_IR_2L_LIGHTGRAY2 SI_IR_CORDOVAN1 SI IR ORANGERED2 SI_IR_2L_LIGHTGREEN1 SI IR CRIMSON1 SI IR RASPERBERRY1 SI_IR_2L_LIGHTMAGENTA1 SI_IR_DARKGREEN2 SI_IR_RED1 SI_IR_2L_LIGHTOLIVE1 SI IR DARKPURPLE1 SI IR RHODODENDRON1 SI_IR_2L_LIGHTPURPLE1 SI_IR_EVERGREEN1 SI_IR_ROSEPINK1 SI_IR_2L_LIGHTPURPLE2 SI_IR_GOLDENROD1 SI_IR_ROSEVIOLET1 SI_IR_2L_LIGHTRED1 SI_IR_GRAPEJUICE1 SI_IR_SNORKELBLUE1

The table below shows the SI_IR_ colors available for single and two layer Infrared printing.

COLOR SWATCHES REQUIRING NO SPECIAL COLOR MANAGEMENT					
SI_IR_2L_LIGHTYELLOW1	SI_IR_JASMINEGREEN1			SI_IR_VIOLETKNIT1	
SI IR 2L ORANGE1	SI IR 🖡	(NIT1			
COLOR SWATCHES REQUIRING "DIRECT CMYK" COLO MANAGEMENT SETTINGS	R				
SI_IR_BLUE1		SI_IR_DP_FIREBRIC	:K1	SI_IR_DP_ SUBLIME1	
SI_IR_DARKBLUE1		SI_IR_DP_FIREBRIC	:K2	SI_IR_DP_ SUBLIME2	
SI_IR_DARKGREEN1		SI_IR_DP_ LIGHTORANGE1		SI_IR_DP_ PURPLE1	
SI_IR_DARKOLIVE1		SI_IR_DP_ LIGHTORANGE2		SI_IR_DP_ PURPLE2	
SI_IR_DEEPBLUE1		SI_IR_DP_PINK1		SI_IR_DP_CYAN1	
SI_IR_DEEPTEAL1		SI_IR_DP_PINK2		SI_IR_DP_CYAN2	
SI_IR_DP_LIGHTYELLOW1		SI_IR_DP_ORANGE	1		
SI_IR_DP_LIGHTYELLOW2		SI_IR_DP_ORANGE	2		
SI_IR_DP_YELLOW1		SI_IR_DP_MAGENTA1			
SI IR DP YELLOW2		SI IR DP MAGENTA	2		
SINGLE LAYER INFRARED COLOR SELECTIONS THE FILL COLOR FOR THE TEXT FRAME OPERATION):					
SI_IR_2L_BLUEPURPLE1		SI_IR_2L_PALEBLU			
SI_IR_2L_DARKPINK1				SI_IR_2L_PURPLE1	
SI_IR_2L_GRAYBROWN1	S		SI_IR_ARGYLEPINK1		
SI_IR_2L_GREENYELLOW1				_IR_BLACKSLATE1	
SI_IR_2L_LIGHTBROWN1			SI_ BR	SI_IR_ BRONZEGREEN1	
SI_IR_2L_LIGHTCYAN1			SI	IR_CINNABAR1	

SI_IR_

COCONUTSHELL1

SI_IR_CRIMSON1

SI_IR_CORDOVAN1

SI_IR_DARKGREEN2

SI_IR_2L_LIGHTGRAY1

SI_IR_2L_LIGHTGRAY2

SI_IR_2L_LIGHTGREEN1

SI_IR_2L_LIGHTMAGENTA1

SINGLE LAYER INFRARED COLOR SELECTIONS THE FILL COLOR FOR THE TEXT FRAME OPERATION):	
SI_IR_2L_LIGHTOLIVE1	SI_IR_DARKPURPLE1
SI_IR_2L_LIGHTPURPLE1	SI_IR_EVERGREEN1
SI_IR_2L_LIGHTPURPLE2	SI_IR_GOLDENROD1
SI_IR_2L_LIGHTRED1	SI_IR_GRAPEJUICE1
SI_IR_2L_LIGHTYELLOW1	SI_IR_ JASMINEGREEN1
SLIR 2L ORANGE1	SI IR KNIT1

TWO LAYER INFRARED COLOR SELECTIONS (THE FILL COLOR FOR THE TEXT FRAME OPERATION):	
SI_IR_2L_BLUEPURPLE1	SI_IR_2L_ LIGHTBROWN1
SI_IR_2L_DARKPINK1	SI_IR_2L_ LIGHTGRAY1
SI_IR_2L_GRAYBROWN1	SI_IR_2L_ LIGHTOLIVE1
SI_IR_2L_GREENYELLOW1	SI_IR_2L_PURPLE1
SI_IR_2L_LIGHTCYAN1	SI_IR_2L_LIGHTRED1
SI_IR_2L_LIGHTGRAY21	SI_IR_2L_ LIGHTYELLOW1
SI_IR_2L_LIGHTGREEN1	SI_IR_2L_ORANGE1
SI_IR_2L_LIGHTMAGENTA1	SI_IR_2L_PALEBLUE1
SI IR 2L LIGHTPURPLE21	SI IR 2L LIGHTPURPLE1

TWO LAYER IR VISIBLE TEXT COLOR:

SI_IR_Black

SI_IR_Blue

SI_IR_Green

 SI_IR_Red

Note: Do not change the name or the color settings on these color definitions. The colors listed give an approximation of the actual color pattern that will be printed on the print device only.

DESIGNING DOCUMENTS WITH INFRARED COLOR

The method by which the Infrared color application is created and rendered makes it difficult to reproduce or alter electronically or physically, and if designed well, makes it difficult for a user to even realize that information is embedded in textured color patterns. Another benefit of Infrared colors is that the decoding of the hidden information can be accomplished with a standard web-camera fitted with IR illumination for night vision. Many inexpensive webcam models exist, which will illuminate the object with IR light, capture the resulting reflected light, and digitally convert the raw captured video into a grayscale video stream viewable on a standard computer.

Infrared colors are used to embed a text string into a textured color pattern in such a way that the text is hidden under normal viewing light, and visible only under infrared (IR) illumination. It is quite similar to FluorescentMark color technology, the main difference is that IR illumination is required instead of UV illumination in order to reveal the hidden text.

In a Two-layer Infrared color application an extra layer of information using Overprint can be placed on top of the existing IR text. The overprinted text uses solid colors and is visible under normal illumination but will disappear under IR illumination revealing the underlying IR text. This has the advantage of being able to add another set of variable data as well as extra level of distraction to hide the IR data.

In a Two-layer Infrared color application the designer can add another variable string of text as an overprint. The examples below are a race ticket with a solid area where the ticket number verifier is encoded with Infrared colors. A variable text that is not security sensitive in this example, the Section, Row, and Seat numbers is printed as overprint solid color text. Under normal illumination only the overprint text is visible. Under IR illumination the overprint text is not visible anymore and the Infrared color encoded text is revealed.



Also, note that Text is only one type of object that can be used with Infrared colors. There can be other applications such as inserting graphics or logos. As long as the right color set is used any type of information can be embedded as an Infrared color.

Create a Single Layer IR Effect

Steps to create a Single Layer IR effect:

- 1. Ensure the SI_IR_ colors required for the application are loaded to the color swatches panel. Refer to Using a Specialty Imaging Color Swatch, for a description of this process.
- 2. Draw a Text Box the size of the effect that will be created. For example, for the infrared effect to be ½ inch wide by 3 inches long, make sure to define the text box to be ½ inch wide by 3 inches long. This is the background size of the infrared effect.

- 3. With the text box selected, open the Swatches Panel and select the **SI_IR_ colorname**. Do not use an SI_IR_ 2L_ colorname.
- 4. Select the **text tool**.
- 5. Select any **OTF** or **TTF font** available to InDesign, do NOT use any of the Specialty Imaging fonts. DFont formats are not supported in VDE. Set the font size.
- 6. Select **Paper** as the text color from the swatches panel. The color Paper must be the text color selected, selecting any other color will result in this effect failing at the print device.
- 7. Use the InDesign **align options** to center the text both horizontally and vertically within the text frame.
- 8. Enter the text using the keyboard or VDE to insert variable text objects.

Create a Two Layer IR Effect

Steps to create a Two Layer IR effect:

- 1. Ensure the SI_IR_2L color names required for the application are loaded to the color swatches panel. Refer toUsing a Specialty Imaging Color Swatch Using a Specialty Imaging Color Swatch, for a description of this process.
- 2. Draw a Text Box the size of the effect that will be created. For example, for the infrared effect to be ½ inch wide by 3 inches long, make sure to define the text box to be ½ inch wide by 3 inches long. This is background size of the infrared effect.
- 3. With the text box selected, open the **Swatches Panel** and select the **SI_IR_L2 colorname**. Do not use an SI_IR_colorname. This is a special IR color that will interact with a visible layer of text laid down in step 9 below.
- 4. Select the **text tool**.
- 5. Select any **OTF** or **TTF font** available to InDesign, do NOT use any of the Specialty Imaging fonts. DFont formats are not supported in VDE. Set the font size.
- 6. Select **Paper** as the text color from the swatches panel. The color Paper must be the text color selected, selecting any other color will result in this effect failing at the print device.
- 7. Use the InDesign **align options** to center the text both horizontally and vertically within the text frame.
- 8. Enter the text using the keyboard or VDE to insert variable text objects.
- 9. Next, create the text that will appear as the visible top text layer.
- 10. Create a second text frame the same size as the text frame created in step 2 above, use the same coordinates as it must overlay the first text box. Do not apply any fill to this text frame.
- 11. Select any **OTF** or **TTF font** available to InDesign, do NOT use any of the Specialty Imaging fonts. DFont formats are not supported in VDE. Set the font size.
- 12. Select a **font color** from the color swatches panel. One of these four colors must be selected SI_IR_Black, SI_ IR_Blue, SI_IR_Red or SI_IR_Green. Selecting any other color will cause the effect to not render correctly at the print device.
- 13. Use InDesign to Group the two text frame objects.

MicroText Font

MicroText fonts can be used on Xerox FFPS and EFI devices. Not supported on Highlight Color. Micro text refers to printing text strings at a point size smaller than 1pt. Typically, information in a string is repeated to avoid loss or readability due to fibers in the paper making a character unreadable. Using the Repeat Data Transform feature in VDE is an easy way to repeat a text string.

VDE will install a set of eight micro fonts, if the Specialty Imaging package is selected during the install process. These fonts will be listed in the InDesign font drop-down list. These fonts are only used to display the approximate size and color of the MicroText effect. To print Micro Text, download the fonts or contact your local Xerox representative. Refer to Specialty Imaging and Barcode Font Download for more information about downloads.

A Swatch library containing Specialty Imaging Micro Text color names is installed to the InDesign Fonts folder when the Specialty Imaging option or the Complete option is selected during installation. Colors from this library need to be added to the InDesign Swatches panel. Refer to Using a Specialty Imaging Color Swatch.

Note: VIPP® and SI must be set up on any EFI DFE prior to doing any VIPP® or SI printing.

USE THE EFFECT

To use the effect:

- 1. Once you have loaded the SI Micro Text colors to the InDesign Swatches panel, select one as your font color.
- 2. Select the **text tool**, then select the **SI_Micro font family name** from the font drop-down list. Next, select the font style option. The available options are f6, f6-5, f7, f9, f6-5-Bold, f6-Bold, f7-Bold, and f9-Bold.
- 3. Next set the **InDesign Font Size option** to 1 point. No other font attributes should be selected and they will be ignored. In order to view the text on-screen, select a larger point size, such as 10 pts., to verify that the correct text is being placed in the application. However, the text size attribute must be reset to 1 point before the application is saved and exported. Failure to do this will result in unpredictable results.

Note: If necessary, increase the view magnification of the document to see the MicroText.

4. Draw a **text box**.

- 5. Insert the text insertion point in this box.
- 6. Enter the required text. This can include the insertion of static text or variable text inserted using VDE controls. The MicroText string is typically repeated several times in a single line.
 - Note: The Repeat Data Transform function can be used to repeat text strings X amount of times. This may be useful when you want to repeat a Micro Text string. Microtext requires a smooth media to print on. Excessive fiber in the paper can make some micro characters unreadable, this is why the repetition of text items is recommended. As with all Specialty Imaging applications, test the application to validate the effect meets the design specifications and print performance.

MICROTEXT FONT LIMITATIONS AND REQUIREMENTS

Paper Requirements	Rough papers will increase defects. The Xerox Digital Color Elite Gloss families of paper products are recommended.
Text Color	Any solid color can be selected as the font color. Black, Cyan, Magenta and Yellow are recommended. Black is the only color supported on HLC devices.
Text Content	Text should be repeated or redundant. Text containing MicroText font should not be used for the single occurrence of any non-redundant item, such as license plate or credit card numbers. By repeating information the readability of the text is improved.
Text Size	No matter what the size of the selected Microtext font is, the text size in the document must be set to 1 point.
Font	Upper-case, limited character set. Contains only these characters lower case characters have been mapped to upper case for printing purposes: A through Z, 0 through 9, ! @ $\#$ % & *() = + [];:'",.?/ \in ¥, and Cyrillic characters.
Font size	MUST be set to 1 point No other attributes such as bold or italic should be set. Failure to do this will result in unpredictable results.
DFEs	FFPS and EFI. The high data content of text consisting of MicroText font can lead to a DFE slow-down.
Scale	Any change in scale will destroy the font and is strongly discouraged.
Rotation	Any rotation, other than multiples of 90°, has a high likelihood of destroying the font. Rotation is strongly discouraged.

Text applications using MicroText font are implemented within VIPP[®] using a PostScript font. This font is not scalable different sizes are actually created by using different fonts and cannot be rotated, except for integer multiples of 90°. The MicroText font supports the most common character set but is restricted to Upper Case letters, numbers and few symbols. Special characters, such as β , $\ddot{\beta}$, O, \mathcal{A} , and the like, are not included in the set. Lower case characters are mapped to upper case characters for printing purposes.

The high resolution of MicroText font applications is directly impacted by the paper quality or coating as can be seen below.



It is important to know that in a MicroText font application, not all characters might be individually readable at all locations see S in the first ENSEMBLE and that non-redundant text license plates, user IDs, and so on should be

repeated.

MICROTEXT FONT TABLE

The available MicroText fonts are:

FONT NAMES	FONT STYLE
SI micro	f6, f6-Bold, f6-5, f6-5-Bold, f7, f7-Bold, f9, f9-Bold

DESIGNING DOCUMENTS WITH MICROTEXT FONTS

MicroText font text refers to the printing of variable data strings using font sizes below 1 point. The size of MicroText fonts makes them difficult to reproduce or alter electronically or physically, and if designed well, makes it difficult for a user to even realize that information is embedded in the document. A simple loupe or magnifier can be used to make the MicroText font visible.

In the concert ticket example below, several unique text and symbol strings are present on the ticket. MicroText font can be used to repeat these unique identifiers in a non-obvious way. One approach is to replace or augment the lines in the ticket design with this variable data. It is important to note, that conventional microprinting might have a fixed string as part of the design, but that VIPP[®] MicroText fonts are capable of personalizing the microprinting with the unique ticket identifiers.



Below, a portion of the ticket is enlarged to show the MicroText font on the ticket:



Below, a different line in the ticket design is enlarged to show a different part of the ticket ID printed in MicroText font.



Applications using MicroText font can include coupons, checks, college grade reports, and so on.

SI Correlation Mark Effect CR Key Generation

The Correlation Mark feature prints variable text strings so that the content is not visible unless it is superimposed by a key transparency. Ensure that you provide the key, printed on a transparency, to all end users that need to read the data. The following steps describe how to create the VDE Correlation Mark key.

GENERATE CR KEY

To generate CR Key Swatch:

1. Select the New VDE Vector Pattern Swatch menu from Swatch Panel.



In the existing New VDE Vector Pattern Swatch UI, a new Checkbox named Generate CR Key has been added, which will be enabled only if selected swatches are of types Correlation (1 layer) or Correlation (2 layers).

New VDE Vector Pattern Swatch	
Name: SI_VP_ <mark>Correla</mark> O Gloss O Correlation	tton_1 OK Cancel
 Correlation Void Pantoç 	(2 layers) Jraph
Color 1: 📕 C=0 M=100	Y=0 K=0
Color 2: 🛄 C=0 M=0 Y=	100 K=0
Color 3: 📕 [Black]	 (CR 2 layers Only)
Distraction:	● None 🔿 Light 🔿 Heavy
Line Width:	0p1
Text Pixel Frequency:	0 12
Background Pixel Frequency:	
Horizontal Adjustment:	0 0p0
Vertical Adjustment:	C 0p0
Rotation (Degrees):	0
Horizontal scale:	01
Vertical scale:	0 1
Generate CR Key:	0

- 2. Enter a meaningful name for the Correlation Swatch, for example, Correlation_1.
- 3. Select Correlation (1 layer) Radio Button.

Using Specialty Imaging Effects

- 4. Provide valid values for all entities.
- 5. Select Generate CR Key checkbox

6. Click **OK** button.

If User selects Generate CR Key checkbox and clicks OK, corresponding Key will be generated.



By selecting Swatch Options for Swatch Key, for example SI_VP_Correlation_1_KEY, all the entities will be disabled as shown below:



New VDE Vector Pattern Swatch	
Name: SI_VP_ Correla	ation_1_KEY OK
	Cancel
 Correlation 	(1 layer)
Color 1:C=0.M=100	V=0 K=0
	=100 K=0
Color 3: 📕 [Black]	 CR 2 layers Only)
Distraction:	● None 🔿 Light 🔿 Heavy
Line Width:	↓ 0p1
Text Pixel Frequency:	≎ 12
Background Pixel Frequency:	
Horizontal Adjustment:	© 0p0
Vertical Adjustment:	0p0
Rotation (Degrees):	≎ 56
Horizontal scale:	
Vertical scale:	
Generate CR Key:	

Note: Any value edited in Correlation swatch will automatically update its corresponding CR Key as well.

APPLYING A KEY SWATCH TO A FRAME

You can apply a key swatch to a frame, as shown in the following figure.



The key swatch appears in black and white, and the key swatch name appears as a preview.

DELETING A CR KEY

In the Swatches panel, click the correlation swatch, then select **Swatch options...**



If the Generate CR Key check box is not selected, click **OK**. The corresponding CR Key is deleted.

New VDE Vector Pattern Swatch	
Name: SI_VP_ Correlation_1 Gloss Correlation (1 layer) Correlation (2 layers) Void Pantograph 	OK Cancel
Color 1: C=0 M=100 Y=0 K=0 Color 2: C=0 M=0 Y=100 K=0 Color 3: [Black]	✓✓ (CR 2 layers Only)
Distraction: • None Clight Line Width: 0p1 Text Pixel Frequency: 0 12	🔿 Неаvy
Background Pixel Frequency: 39 Horizontal Adjustment: 0p0 Vertical Adjustment: 0p0 Rotation (Degrees): 56 Horizontal scale: 1 Vertical scale: 1 Generate CR Key:	
Generate CR Key: 🗖	

DESIGNING A DOCUMENT WITH BOTH SI EFFECT AND KEY

Usually, the CR keys are printed on a transparent sheet, while the job is printed on other media. To design a document, you can apply both the SI effect or correlation and the CR key of the document. When the document exports, two PDF files or two VPC files are generated.

To create both the design and key in the same document:

After the first page of the document, you can add multiple pages, as shown in the following figure:

	Aargins and Columns Wer Guides Treate Guides		Insert Pages Move Pages Duplicate Spread	> >		10 fk 11			aic Graphics Frame]	tei Di	
	ireate Alternate Layout iquid Layout		Delete Pages Print Spread		2 <u>8</u>	24 20	×		ж. ю		
7 7 1 1 1 7	rst Page review Page lest Page ast Page lest Spread review Spread	Chi-Shift-Numpad 9 Shift-Numpad 9 Shift-Numpad 3 Chi-Shift-Numpad 3 Alt-Numpad 3 Alt-Numpad 9	Apply Mester to Pages Page Transitions	5	() () () ()	t Page IIName ame		2	(Nove) (Nove) (Paper) (Paper)	tve))	
0	io to Page io Back io Forward Anabasina & Santan Cathon	Ctrl+J Ctrl+Numped 9 Ctrl+Numped 3			(Ln	ame			C+130 M+0 T+0 K C+0 M+100 Y+0 K C+0 M+0 Y+100 K C+15 M+100 Y+10	e 4 4 1	
1	able of Contents Jodate Table of Contents Jable of Contents Styles								C+75H+5Y+330 C+330H+90Y+33 S2_VP_Certelation S2_VP_Certelation	20 K=0 KEY	

In the following example, a key swatch is added to the second page:



In the export panel of the VPC or PDF, a new check box named Generate CR Key File was added, where you can preview the document and set the starting and ending page numbers. The ending page is the page where CR key is designed in the design document, which generates two different files or one for the key and another for the SI effect. As a result, CR key allows you to have both SI effect and key designed in the same document, as shown in the following figure:

Using Specialty Imaging Effects

Voject Settings Arint Settings	Project Settings				
fult-Up					
Suttening	Project Folder	Project Name			
fedu and Finishing	VIDesignExpress	Untitled-1			
	Production Data File				
			Gear	Browse	5
	Record Buffer Size				
	8192				
	Ignore Missing Resources				
	Include assets in project				
resets					
Vone					
ettings Ionel	Include job ticket				
	The tradition of the later				
	Include CIP3/4 file				
	Droof VI Droject Container after Evnort				
	E Proof VI Project Container alter Export				
	Include SI screen fonts in VPC				
	Modify DDEs in Asset Enider with Embedded EDS				
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
	Generate OK Key Hie				
	Starting Page	Ending Page			
	10 z	2			

If the document has a key swatch that is applied onto the frame, the Generate CR Key File check box is enabled in the export panel for both VPC and PDF.

Click **OK**. Two VPC or two PDF files are generated, one for the SI effect, and one for the key.

Note: You cannot design both the SI effect and key on the same page.

Hints and Tips

This chapter contains:

Getting Started	460
Using Suppress Variable Blank Lines	463
Using Data Transforms to Correct Case Issues	465
Using Data Transforms to Sub-Divide Data Base Fields	468
Using Data Transforms to Concatenate Two Strings	471
Using Data Transform to Format Numeric Data	473
Create a Rule to Insert Text	475
Using Rules to Control Layer Visibility	477
Adding Specialty Imaging	492

This section describes how to use various VDE features. The chapter is a tutorial describing how to create a simple ID Card InDesign VDE document. Each section:

- describes a feature
- shows how to apply the feature to a document
- adds a new VDE feature to the document design

Prior to creating the InDesign VDE document, retrieve the sample data file and assets that will be used in the document described here. To review the information, browse the VDE installation (.zip or .dmg) and copy the folder called VPPExample to the computer's desktop. This folder contains the data file VPPExample.csv, and all other assets used in the examples described in this chapter.

Below is a sample of the first few records from VPPExample.csv. All examples in this chapter use this database file, which is reproduced below.

```
FullName, Fname, Lname, Addr1, Addr2, City, State, Zip, Dept, EmployID, ImageNo, Telephone
David Kirk, david, kirk, 701 S. Aviation Blvd, Suite 23, El Segundo, ca, 90245, Sales, 2-
98734, 98734. jpg, 310555555
Jenni Smith, Jenni, Smith, 237 Webster Street, ,Webster, NY, 19827, Marketing, 1-
64733, 64733. jpg, 5855558963
Ed Brice, ed, BRICE, 12 Water Dr, Apt 3, Las Vegas, NV, 73463, Admin, 2-38892, 38892. jpg, 3745559898
Mary Hahn, mary, HAHn, 389 Western Ave, ,Miami, fl, 64733, Sales, 1-96676, 96676. jpg, 7655558976
```

```
Note: How To videos are available from the www.xerox.com/support page, search for VIPP, then select
Video. Videos can be used as standalone videos to learn how a specific function works, for example, the
Xerox Specialty Inks videos, or, go through the Hints and Tips series, that will provide the same overview as
this chapter.
```

Getting Started

This section describes how to build the InDesign file that will be used in the examples given in these sections:

- Using Suppress Variable Blank Lines
- Using Data Transforms to Correct Case Issues
- Using Data Transforms to Sub-Divide Data Base Fields
- Using Data Transforms to Concatenate Two Strings
- Using Data Transform to Format Numeric Data
- Create a Rule to Insert Text
- 1. Open InDesign.
- 2. Create a new document.
 - a. Select File > New > Document.
 - b. Set the Page Size to **Custom** and change the width to **3.5** inches and Height to **2.5** inches.
 - c. Set the Margins to **0** inches.
 - d. Select OK.
- 3. Place some static elements on the document.
 - a. Draw a graphic box (approximately 3 inches long, % inches in height) and position in the top left of the document.
 - b. Go to **File > Place** and browse to the folder VPPExample.
 - c. Select the file GlobalStorage_logo-final.jpg.
 - d. Adjust the frame to fit the true size of the image as necessary.
- 4. Draw a black box 1 inch square, position it about % inch from the left and bottom edge of the document. Fill the square using the color Black from the Swatches panel.
- 5. Place some static text.
 - a. Draw a text box level with the top of the black box, starting about and extending to the right of the border of the document. (Leave about 1/8 inch between the black box and the start of the text box).
 - b. With the text insertion cursor flashing, select the **font** and **font attributes**.
 - c. Select a **font** such as Arial from the font pull-down list, set the size to 10 points.
 - d. Type **Name:** in the text box.
 - e. Adjust the text box to fit the height of the selected font.
 - f. Repeat this twice more and enter the strings:

Dept: in the second text box,

EmployNo: in the third text box.

g. Align the text strings vertically with the first string.

6. Save the document as VDEExample.indd.

The document should look something like

t	his:	

D File Edit Layout Type Obje	ect Table View Window Help	Bri 300% 🔻 📕 🗮 🗮 🗐	•		ESSENTIALS 🔻
A Arial	10 pt - TT T' T AV Metrics		96 V T A. [None]		종 细 레 카운 옷이 in 클 클 트리 카운 주이 in
1 1/2	0 1/2 1	1/2	2 1/2	3	1/2
2					
.1					
				A VI DESIGN EXPRESS	* ×
				Sample Data File:	
0			- 16	C:\Users\us970513\Desktop	InDesign Classics\SI_Sample\
-				Asset Folder:	_
		CTADA/		1	8 18
-		DIUKA		Show User Data	
1				Highlight Fields	돠
ī	5 U L		N S	₽ 1 <u>a</u> <u>aaa</u>	Q
2				☑ Data Fields	A
1				T) FullName	David Kirk
7				II Fname	david
1				<u>I</u> Lname	kirk
-				I Addr1	701 S. Aviation Blvd
<i></i>				I Addr2	Suite 23
				<u>I</u> (City	El Segundo
				<u>T</u> (State	CA
-		News		II Zp	90245
		Name:		T) Dept	Private Events
12				I EmployID	2WAQ233
				📲 ImageNo	xerox_logo_detail.jpg
-		Dept:		<u>I</u> Telephone	3105555555
		•		I month	September
-				<u>I</u> day	23
2				II year	2012
-				II officialname	SPECIAL EVENT
-1		EmployAlor		Data Transforms	
-				*	
1			÷		
1					
2					

- 7. The next step is to add a name and address block. To do this, open the VDE plug-in if not already open, then:
 - a. Under the Windows option on the main menu, select VI Design Express to open the VDE panel.
 - b. Select the **Browse folder** option to the right of the Data File option, browse to the folder VPPExample on the computer desktop, and select the data file **VPPExample.csv**.
 - c. Accept the defaults by clicking **OK**. This will populate the VDE plug-in with a list of fields from the data base file. The field called ImageNo is a graphic file, so, if necessary, change the field type by right clicking on the **field** and selecting **Change Type**. Select **Graphic File** from the options presented.
 - d. Draw a text box large enough to contain a name and address block directly under the logo.
- 8. Use the VDE plug-in to enter data from the data file.
 - a. Double-click **Fname** to insert the field **Fname** at the current cursor position.
 - b. Enter a space character using the keyboard, then double-click the Lname field to insert the Lname data.
 - c. Press Enter to move down one line.
 - d. Double-click the field called Addr1, then press Enter to move to the next line
 - e. Double-click the field called Addr2, then press Enter to move to the next line
 - f. Double-click the **City** field, enter a comma and a space, then double-click the **State** field, enter a space character, then double-click the **Zip** field.

- g. Check the box labeled **Show User Data** to show the actual data from the database fields.
- h. Blank lines in the name and address box are discussed in Using Suppress Variable Blank

Lines. The document should look something like this:

GLOBALSTO S O L U T	RA I O
davidkirk	-
701 S. Aviation Blvd	
Suite 23	P
El Segundo, ca 90245	B
Name:	
Dept:	

Notice that there are some immediate issues to deal with. The issues include, Upper and lower case issues and blank lines. Correction of casing issues is discussed in Using Data Transforms to Correct Case Issues. Blank lines in the text box are discussed in Using Suppress Variable Blank Lines.

9. Save the document.

Using Suppress Variable Blank Lines

Variable blank line suppression is used to suppress blank lines that may occur when variable fields are empty. This is common in name and address blocks that use multiple address lines. If these lines are not suppressed blank lines can appear in the printed documents.

The database file, VPPExample.csv, contains typical name and address fields in the header. The data in each record is typical of what may occur in the real world. Some records have data in all fields, other records may have empty fields. The example below will be used to create a simple application that will print a name and address block suppressing empty variable lines.

If the first two records from the database file are used without suppressing the empty lines, a blank line in the address block for record two will appear, because the field, Addr2, is empty.

Record 1:	david kirk	Record 2:	Jenni Smith
	701 S. Aviation Blvd		237 Webster Street
	Suite 23		Webster, NY 19827
	El Segundo, CA 90245		

With InDesign open to the file created in the previous section, use the record counter in the VDE panel and click up through the four records. Notice that a blank line in the name and address block can be found, this because the field Addr2 is empty. The blank lines need to be suppressed. In the steps below, the Suppress Blank Variable Lines option in the VDE Text Fitting options will be used to suppress the blank line caused by an empty variable field.

- 1. Open **VPPExample.indd** and the VDE panel, if not already open.
- 2. Place the text cursor in the name and address block.
- 3. Right-click and select the **VDE Text Fitting** option.
- 4. Check the Suppress Blank Variable Lines option.

Note: A space character is a valid character and thus, if in an otherwise blank line, the line will not be considered empty.

5. Select the **Enable text fitting** option, then click **Fit in width** and **OK**. Data that exceeds the column width will automatically be adjusted to fit the width of the text frame.



Record 2:



- 6. With the **Suppress Blank Variable Lines option** selected, scroll through the data records to see how that option works.
- 7. Save the document.

Using Data Transforms to Correct Case Issues

It is often necessary to modify the case of the data. VDE supports the following case transforms:

Upper Case	Used to transform any string into all upper case characters.
Lower Case	Used to transform the text string to all lower case characters.
Title Case	Used to change the first character of a text string into upper case and all other characters to lower case any character after a space character is converted to upper case.

In this example, VPPExample.indd is modified to use Title case transforms to correct the case of the characters in the Fname and Lname fields in the address block. To perform this task, a Data Transform object will be used.

- 1. Open VPPExample.indd.
- Open the VDE plug-in if not already open. In the next steps three Data Transform Rules will be created: Two Title case transforms for Fname and Lname, and an Upper Case transform for State.
- 3. To create the Title case transform, click the Data Transform icon ¹ on the VDE panel. The Create Data Transform panel opens.
 - a. Assign a Data Transform Name that is meaningful, in this case enter **Firstname**.
 - b. Leave the Data Transform Type as Text.
 - c. Select the database field **Fname** as the Start String.
 - d. Select Title Case as the action.

The Data Transform Rule should look like this:

Edit Data Transform	
Data Transform Name FirstName Data Transform Type Text Description Convert to title case	
Start String Fname	- 🛨 🔺
Title Case	9 Đ

- 4. Click **OK** to save the Data Transform Rule.
- 5. Create the second Title case transform.
 - a. Click the Data Transform icon 🗓 . The Create Data Transform panel opens.
 - b. Assign a Data Transform Name, in this case enter Lastname.
 - c. Leave the Data Transform Type as Text.
 - d. Select the database field Lname as the Start String.

- e. Select **Title Case** as the action.
- f. Click **OK** to save the transform Rule.
- 6. Create an Upper Case transform Rule for the State field.
 - a. Click the Data Transform icon ¹ on the VDE panel to create the Upper Case transform for the State field. The Create Data Transform panel opens.
 - b. Assign a Data Transform Name that is meaningful, in this case enter **StateUpper**.
 - c. Leave the Data Transform Type as **Text**.
 - d. Select the database field **State** as the Start String.
 - e. Select Upper Case as the action.
 - f. Click **OK** to save the transform Rule.

Three new objects are placed on the VDE Panel, as shown below:

	44 2
VI DESIGN EXPRESS	*
Sample Data File:	
C:\Users\us970513\Desktop\In	Design Classics\SI_Sample\
Asset Folder:	
1	⊗ S
Show User Data	
	L.
₽ 1 <u>a</u> <u>aaa</u>	٩
EX Friame	
<u>T</u> Lname	kirk
<u>T</u> (Addr1	701 S. Aviation Blvd
T Addr2	Suite 23
T City	El Segundo
<u>T</u> State	ca
<u>I</u> Zip	90245
<u>T</u> (Dept	Sales
<u>I</u> EmployID	2-98734
ImageNo	98734.jpg
<u>I</u> Telephone	3105555555
V Data Transforme	
T FirstName	David
T LastName	Kirk —
I StateUpper	CA 🗸
* 0	• El al 2 °

- 7. Use these new objects in the name and address block to correct the case issue illustrated.
 - a. Make sure record one is displayed in the document the VDE record counter should be 1.
 - b. Uncheck the Show User Data check-box, this will display the field names in the document.
 - c. Select the **text tool** and highlight the Fname field by double-clicking the **Fname** field.
 - d. Double-click the **Firstname Data Transform** object in the VDE panel to replace Fname with Firstname in the name and address block.
 - e. Select the **text tool** and highlight the Lname field by double-clicking the **Lname** field.

- f. Double-click the **Lastname Data Transform** object in the VDE panel to replace Lname with Lastname in the name and address block.
- g. Select the **text tool** and highlight the State field by double-clicking the **State** field.
- h. Double-click the **StateUpper Data Transform** object in the VDE panel to replace State with StateUpper in the name and address block.

The name and address block should look like this:

GLOBALSTORAGE SOLUTIONS	 VI DESIGN EXPRESS Sample Data File: C:\Users\us970513\Deskto Asset Folder: 	op\InDesign Classics\SI_Samp	
FirstName LastName	Show User Data		(
Addri	Tí Loame	uaviu kirk	
Addr2	<u>T</u> Í Addr1	701 S. Aviation Blvd	
City Ctotal Innex Zin	I Addr2	Suite 23	
City, StateOpper Zip	I City	El Segundo	
Name:	<u>T</u> State	са	
	<u>I</u> Zip	90245	
	II Dept	Sales	
Dent:	I EmployID	2-98734	
Dept.	La ImageNo	98734.jpg	
EmployNo:	<u>I</u> Telephone	3105555555	
	✓ Data Transforms		
	T FirstName	David	
	II LastName	Kirk	
	T StateUpper	CA	
	\$	00 I J J	

- 8. Select the **Show User Data** checkbox to scroll through the data base records and verify that the case issues with Fname, Lname and State have been resolved.
- 9. Save the document.

Using Data Transforms to Sub-Divide Data Base Fields

At times data fields must be divided into individual sub fields that can then be used in the document. For example, in the database file shown below, the first field, FullName contains both the first and the last name.

```
FullName, Fname, Lname, Addr1, Addr2, City, State, Zip, Dept, EmployID, ImageNo,
Telephone David Kirk, david, kirk, 701 S. Aviation Blvd, Suite 23, El Segundo, ca, 90245,
Sales, 2-98734, 98734.jpg, 3105555555
```

Jenni Smith, Jenni, Smith, 237 Webster Street, , Webster, NY, 19827, Marketing, 1-64733, 64733.jpg, 5855558963

Ed Brice, ed, BRICE, 12 Water Dr, Apt 3, Las Vegas, NV, 73463, Admin, 2-38892, 38892. jpg, 3745559898 Mary Hahn, mary, HAHn, 389 Western Ave,, Miami, fl, 64733, Sales, 1-96676, 96676.jpg, 7655558976

If this is the only field in the database containing name information, it can be broken apart so that the first name field can be used as a separate field. In the document being created in these examples, these fields are already separated, but for demonstration purposes the goal is to use the Data Transform, Substring by Index, to break the field, FullName, into two separate fields that can be placed into the document.

There are two Substring actions available in VDE, Substring by Position, and Substring by Index. For data that is consistent in characters or does not have built in delimiters, such as a numeric string, Substring by Position can be used to extract data by specifying the start position and the length (number of characters to capture). However, for fields that contain data that can be of a variable length, such as people's names, the Data Transform, Substring by Index, is used. To use this Data Transform, the data field to be split must have a character that can be used as a delimiter. For example, in a phone number such as 310-555-5555, the dash character can be used as a delimiter, or the space character in the field, FullName can be used as a delimiter. Substring by Index will be used to sub-divide the names, in the field FullName, into two sub fields that can be placed into the document.

In this example, two Substring by Index Data Transforms will be created. One will contain the characters to the left of the space character or index 1 while the other will contain the data to the right of the space character or index 2.

- 1. Open VPPExample.indd, and the VDE panel, if not already open.
- 2. Click the **Create Data Transform** icon ¹ on the VDE panel. When the next panel appears:
 - a. Enter a **name** for the Data Transform, use **Sub1**.
 - b. Leave the type set to **Text**.
 - c. Select the field, FullName, as the Start String.
 - d. Select **Substring by Index** as the action.
 - e. Delete the **default dash (-)** character as the delimiter character, and enter a **single space** character (press the keyboard space bar once).
 - f. For this first sub field, select **Index 1**. Index 1 will result in a sub-field containing all characters prior to the first instance of the space character, in this case, the first name.

The Data Transform object should look like this:
	Data Transform Name	Sub1			
	Data Transform Type	Text			
	Description	Break First and last name apart from I	FullName		
Start String	FullName			• I(÷

- 3. Click **OK** to save the Data Transform.
- 4. Create a **Data Transform object** for the second string, this will be index 2 and will capture all data after the first space character. If the FullName field contained many elements separated by space characters, any of the sub fields can be collected by specifying the correct index value.
 - a. Click the **Create Data Transform** icon ¹ in VDE.
 - b. Enter a **name** for the Data Transform, use **Sub2**.
 - c. Leave the type set to **Text**.
 - d. Select the field **FullName** as the Start String
 - e. Select **Substring by Index** as the action.
 - f. Delete the **default dash (-)** character as the delimiter character, and enter a **single space** character (hit the keyboard space bar once).
 - g. For the second sub field, select **Index 2**. Index 2 will result in a sub-field containing all characters after the first instance of the space character, in this case the last name.
- 5. Click **OK** to save the Data Transform.
- 6. Use these new fields, Sub1 and Sub2, to place the first and last name in the ID Card document being created.
 - a. Click the InDesign Text tool and click the cursor in the text block containing the text Name.
 - b. Double-click the object, **Sub1**, in the VDE panel to insert the substring for first name into the text block.
 - c. Add a **space character**, then double-click the **Sub2 object** to insert the substring containing the last name information.
- 7. Click the text cursor in the **text box** containing the text *Dept*:. Double-click the field **Dept** in the VDE panel to insert the department information into this text box.

8. Click the cursor in the **text box** containing the text EmployNo. Double-click the field **EmployID**.

GLOBALS S O L	UTIONS	♦ VI DESIGN EXPRESS Sample Data File: [C:\Users\us970513\Deskto Asset Folder:	
David Kirk		Show User Data	-
701 S Aviation P	lvd	▲ 1	<u>م</u>
701 S. Aviation B	ivu	✓ Data Fields	
Suite 23		II FullName	David Kirk
	00045	II Fname	david
El Segundo, CA	90245	<u>I</u> Lname	kirk
	Nemer Devid Kirk	I Addr1	701 S. Aviation Blvd
	Name: David Kirk	T(Addr2	Suite 23
		<u>T</u> (City	El Segundo
		T(State	са
	Dept: Sales	ŢĮ Zip	90245
	. ·	T) Dept	Sales
		T) EmployID	2-98734
		🖍 ImageNo	98734.jpg
Contractory (I Telephone	3105555555
		Data Transforms	
	EmployNo: 2-98/34		T
		\$	007733

- 9. Scroll through the document to see the variable data change.
- 10. Save the document.

Using Data Transforms to Concatenate Two Strings

There may be occasions when two or more strings must be concatenated. A typical example might be concatenating a string such as .jpg to a field containing employee ID numbers to create an image call based on an employee number. This example uses the Data Transform tool to do just that.

- 1. Open VPPExample.indd, and the VDE panel, if not already open.
- 2. In the database file there is a data field that contains the image name, which can be used to place the image data. To do that, draw a graphic frame 1 inch by 1 inch, slightly offset over the black box in the ID document. Then, with that graphic frame selected, double-click the field **ImageNo** in the VDE panel.

The ID card should look like this.

GLOBAI S O L	STORAGE
David Kirk	
701 S. Aviation Bl	vd
Suite 23	
El Segundo, CA9	0245
	Name: David Kirk Dept: Sales EmployNo: 2-98734

3. Scroll through the records to see the data and image change.

This is one way to place the variable graphic, but in some cases the full image name may not be in the database file. In that case, the image can be placed using the EmployID field and the Substring by Position action to select characters based on a start position and length parameter, then concatenate the string .jpg to create the image call.

- 4. Select the graphic image that was just added in step 1 and delete it.
- 5. Click the **Create new Data Transform icon**¹ to open the Create Data Transform window.
 - a. Enter a **name** for the new Data Transform object. Use the name **PhotoTransform**.
 - b. Select **Graphic File** as the transform type, as it will be a graphic name when the transform is completed.
 - c. Select **EmployID** as the Start String.

- d. Select **Substring by Position**. In this particular situation Substring by Index could be used, with the dash character as the delimiter, and index 2 to get to the needed part of the data in EmployID. However, this is also a good place to use Substring by Position, as the data contained in this field is in a constant form, number of characters and format, and this option has not been used before. It is necessary to know what the data field looks like. For record 1, the EmployID field contains 2-98734, the characters starting in position 3 for a length of 5 must be captured.
- e. Enter a starting position of 3 and the length of 5, which results in capturing the string 98734 for record 1.
- 6. Concatenate the string .jpg to the captured string.
 - a. To add another element to the Data Transform, click the larger of the two **plus signs** . This will add an additional Data Transform element to the PhotoTransform object being built.
 - b. Enter the string .jpg in the Starting String.
 - c. Leave the Action option set at **No Action**. The Data Transform window for PhotoTransform should look like this:

Create Data Transform		
Data Transform Name	PhotoTransform	
Data Transform Type	Graphic File	
Description	Shows how to append .jpg to extracted string	
Start String EmployID	. I	- + -
Substring by Position	tart 🕶 3 Length 🐳 5	÷ 🕁
Start String Jpg		- +
No Action		÷ 🕁

- 7. Select **OK** to save the Data Transform. This adds an object, PhotoTransform, as a graphic element, to the VDE panel.
- 8. To place this into the document, draw a graphic window 1 inch by 1 inch, slightly offset over the black box in the document.
 - a. With the graphic box highlighted, double-click the **PhotoTransform** object in the VDE panel. This will insert the correct image into the document.
 - b. Scroll through the records to see the text and graphic image change per record.
- 9. Save the document.

Using Data Transform to Format Numeric Data

Sometimes it may be necessary to format numeric strings. This can be as simple as adding commas, periods, or the currency symbol to the numeric string, or formatting a telephone number by inserting parenthesis and dash characters.

In the data base file there is a field called Telephone that, for record 1, contains the data 3105555555. This will be formatted to print as (310) 555-5555.

- 1. Open VPPExample.indd, and the VDE panel, if not already open.
- 2. Click the **Create a new Data Transform** icon ¹ on the VDE panel.
 - a. Enter the name **FormatNumber** as the Data Transform Name.
 - b. Leave the Data Transform Type set to **Text**.
 - c. Select the field, Telephone, as the Start string.
 - d. Select Numeric Format as the Action to take

A screen similar to the one shown below is displayed.

Data Transform Name FormatNumber		
Data Transform Type Text		
Description How to format a numeric string		
Start String Telephone	- II	- +
Jumeric Format	-	- +

- Select No format punctuations. Refer to User Input Masks for information on the meaning and available options when using masking. When performing a currency masking operation, it is necessary to select either US or EU formats for common thousands and decimal delimiters, as these are not the same in each area. Also choose whether or not to use decimal places.
- 4. The task is to format a telephone number, so delete the default string, @@@@@@#, and replace it with: (@@@) @@@-@@@@.

The Data Transform window should look like this:

Edit Data Transform	
Data Transform Name FormatNumber	
Data Transform Type Text	
Description How to format a numeric string	
Start String Telephone II	- + -
Numeric Format Image: [@@@) @@@-@@@@@ No format punctuations Image: Imag	

- 5. Select **OK** to place the Data Transform FormatNumber on the VDE panel.
- 6. To place this formatted telephone number on the document, draw a text box directly under the EmployNo: text box on the document.
 - a. Set font attributes as desired.

- b. Select the **text cursor** and insert a text insertion point in the text frame.
- c. Double-click the object **FormatNumber** to insert the formatted

number. The document should look like this:

GLOBALS S O L	UTIONS	VI DESIGN EXPRESS Sample Data File: C:\Users\us970513\Deskto Asset Folder: Show User Data	p\InDesign	Classic	s\SI_Sa	mple\	41 X 7 13 13
David Kirk		Highlight Fields					묘
704 0 4 1 4 5	L7 262	₹1 <u>3333</u>					٩
701 S. Aviation B	va	TI Chu	El Con	co undo			- 🔼
Suito 23		TÍ State	ci bey	unuu			
Suite 25		TÎ Zip	90245				
El Segundo, CA 9	0245	I Dept	Sales				
		T) EmployID	2-9873	34			
	Name: David Kir	ImageNo	98734	jpg			
		II Telephone	31055	55555			
		✓ Data Transforms					
	Dept: Sales	T) FirstName	David				
		T) LastName	Kirk				
		T) StateUpper	CA				
		T) Sub1	David				
and the second se		PhotoTransform	98734	jpg			
	Employino: 2-98	T) FormatNumber	(310) 5	555-555	5		Ŧ
	(310) 555-5555	\$	0 0	L	ثر لد		

7. Save the document.

Create a Rule to Insert Text

There may be times when it is necessary to enter variable data conditionally. For example, if this were a discount club card, printing a variable discount value dependent on a Premium, Executive or Club Card membership level may be desired. In this case, the database field can be tested for the club card membership level, then a text string such as 10%, 20% or 25% can be printed as a discount value. Insert the discount value using a text frame of its own; or insert it into the middle of an existing text frame. For example, *Get your XX discount*, where XX could be 10, 20 or 25%.

On the ID Card, the task is to add the words Fire Marshal to the ID Card when the EmployNo begins with 2.

A Rule must be created to do this.

- 1. Open VPPExample.indd, and the VDE panel, if not already open.
- 2. Click the **Create a new rule** icon **u** in the **VDE** Panel next to the data transform icon.
 - a. Enter **Fire** as the name for this Rule.
 - b. Select **Text** as the type of Rule.
 - c. Make the Default value blank, this will be the text that is printed if the Rule is false.
 - d. Click the **plus sign** (to the right).
 - e. Enter Fire Marshal in the value field.
 - f. Select when any of the following is true.
 - g. Select EmployID as the field to test.
 - h. Select **[T] begins with** as the condition.
 - i. Enter **2** in the next field.

The Rule should look like this:

Create Rule					
	Rule Name	Fire			
	Rule Type	Text			
	Description	Used to add "Fire Marshal" if true			
Default value =		∎ è		00	6
Value =	Fire Marshal	when any of the following is true		- 4	Ð
Emp	oloyID 🔹	۲۲ [T] begins with	2	 ÷ •	Ð

- 3. Click **OK** to save this Rule. It will appear as a Rule object in the VDE panel. To place this onto the document:
 - a. Draw a text box between the text boxes containing Dept and EmployeeNo.
 - b. Select a **text color** from the Swatches panel, select a red color.
 - c. With the Insert Text cursor flashing in the text box, highlight the object **Fire** in the VDE panel do not double-click.
 - d. Right click to display the **Rule options**.
- 4. Select **Insert Object: Fire**.

5. Scroll through the records. The text, Fire Marshal, will appear for records 1 and 3 only, and will not be visible when records 2 and 4 are shown. Record 1 should look like this:

◆ SWATCHES *■				×
Tr Tint: 100 1 %		VI DESIGN EXPRESS		
		Sample Data File:	<u></u>	
		C:\Users\us970513\Desktop	\InDesign Classics\SI_Sample\	ž,
[Registration] X Q*		Asset Folder:		-
[Paper]		ſ	8 K	3
Black] X X		Show User Data		
C=100 M=0 Y=0 K=0		Highlight Fields	Ę]
		<u>▲1 a aaa</u>		2
	JIVKA	TÎ FullName	David Kirk	
C=15 M=100 V=100		TI Fname	david	
		TI Lname	kirk	
		T Addr1	701 S. Aviation Blvd	
- Hele		I Addr2	Suite 23	
<u> </u>		I City	El Segundo	
wiation B	lvd	T) State	ca	
701 O. Aviation D	IVG	T Zip	90245	
Suite 23		I) Dept	Sales	
		T(EmployID	2-98734	
El Segundo, CA S	90245	🚛 ImageNo	98734.jpg	
		T) Telephone	3105555555	
	Name: Da	∽ Rules		
		T) Fire	Fire Marshal	-
		N		-
	Dept: Sale	* (
the second		91 5 2.		
	Fire Marsh	a		_
	I II C Maron			
Contractor of the second	E mandau Ala	. 0 00704		
	Emblohino	. 2-90/34		

6. Save the document.

Using Rules to Control Layer Visibility

Layers are a powerful InDesign feature. Typically, when using a layer, the user will have one or more versions of that layer. Controlling layer visibility turning it on or off via the Visibility Rule allows you to select the correct layer version based on the evaluation of a field. This could be used to position important information on the page. For example, a State Logo and contact information could be placed in a layer. In the United States 50 versions of that layer would be created one for each state. A visibility rule could be used to place the correct layer version onto the page by evaluating the State information in the data base file. Another example may be language based, where you may have a single layer with 3 or more versions based on the languages you need to support. A visibility rule can be used to turn on the visibility of the correct language version by evaluating the language option in the data base file.

VDE supports the use of variable layers. Layers where the visibility of a layer version is turned on or off. Because of the Dynamic Document Construction used by VDE during export, VDE does have performance considerations when three or more separate visibility rules are used on any single page. Often you can get around this limitation by using Text or Graphic rules to control individual page objects. It is important to understand that one visibility rule that controls twenty or so versions of a layer does not cause performance issues. It is where you place three or more different Visibility Rules on a single page (no matter how few versions of each layer they control). Performance issues will show up as slow export time and large .vpc files. Again, to avoid this, design your document with only one or two visibility rules per page.

In the document we will generate two simple layers to demonstrate how to create Rules to control layer visibility. Although the layers used will be simple blocks of color, in a real application the layer could contain variable text and graphics that could change the whole look and feel of the document. There are two ways to create a visibility rule. The first method shown below would be used when you only have one or two versions of the layer. Using this method you need to generate a visibility rule for each version and apply it manually to the target layer. The second method, described after the first, uses the VPPlayerName option that allows you to attach a single visibility rule to multiple layer versions driven by a data field. This method is preferable when using many versions of a layer.

Before working with Layer Rules ensure that the **Show User Data** option is selected. Failure to do this will result in all layers showing all the time, making testing frustrating. Please make sure this option is selected before you proceed further.

			44 X
		♦ VI DESIGN EXPRESS	*
	TADACE	Sample Data File:	
	JUKAUE	C:\Users\us970513\Deskt	op\InDesign Classics\SI_Sample\
		Asset Folder:	(o 10
S O L	UTIONS	T Chan Han Cata	(v
		Show User Lata	
David Kirk			
701 C Aviation B	livel	✓ Data Fields	<u>*</u>
701 S. Aviation E	biva	T FullName	David Kirk
Suite 23		<u>T</u> Fname	david
oune 20	and a second a second	TI Lname	kirk
El Segundo, CA	90245	<u>T</u> (Addr1	701 S. Aviation Blvd
		TL Addr2	Suite 23
	Name: David Kirk	I City	El Segundo
		T State	Ca
		<u>1)</u> Zip	90245
	Dept: Sales	1) Dept	Sales
			2-98734
	Fire Marshal	ImageNo	98734.jpg
		L) Telephone	\$10555555
THE REAL PROPERTY AND INCOMENTAL	Energlas Max 2,00704	T Kules	Ero Marchal
	EmployiNO: 2-98/34	Data Transforme	
		V Data Harbionits	

- 1. Open **VPPExample.indd**, and the VDE panel, if not already open.
- 2. Create two new layers: Open the Layer panel and add a layer called Green and a layer called Blue.
- 3. Create a green background.
 - a. Make the Green layer the active layer.

b. Draw a solid box, using a green color from the Swatches panel as the stroke and fill

color. The document should look like this:



- c. Move the Green layer below the Layer 1 layer by dragging it down in the Layer panel. This should position the green background below the graphics and text of the ID Card.
- d. Click the **eye icon** next to the Green layer in the Layer panel to turn off visibility.
- 4. Make a blue background.
 - a. Make the Blue layer the active layer.
 - b. Draw a solid box, using a blue color from the Swatches panel as the stroke and fill color.
 - c. Move the Blue layer below the Layer 1 layer by dragging it down in the Layer panel. This should position the blue background below the graphics and text of the ID Card.
 - d. Click the **eye icon** next to the blue layer in the Layer panel to turn off the visibility for that layer
- 5. Create a Visibility Rule for each of the two layers to turn the visibility on the default for the layer will be *off*-or not visible.
 - a. Click the **Create a new rule** icon in the VDE panel.
 - b. Enter **GreenOn** as the Rule name.
 - c. Select **Visibility** as the Rule Type.
 - d. The Default value should be set to off, select **Off** from the drop-down box.
 - e. Next select the **plus sign** to add the Rule details.

- f. Value should be set to on that will turn visibility on.
- g. Select when any of the following is true.
- h. Select EmployID as the data base field to test. Select [T] begins with as the test.
- i. Set the value to test for to **1**.

The Rule should look like this:

	Rule Name GreenOn			
	Rule Type Visibility			
	Description Sets Green Layer on when Emp No begins wit	th 1		
Default value =	Off			- 0
Value =	On when any of the following is true		•	0
1. Contraction of the second s	WID I I having with	1		

- 6. Select **OK** to save the Rule
- 7. Repeat the process to create a Rule for the second layer.
 - a. Click the **Create a new rule icon** in the VDE panel.
 - b. Enter **BlueOn** as the Rule name.
 - c. Select **Visibility** as the Rule Type.
 - d. The Default value should be set to off, select Off from the drop-down box.
 - e. Select the **plus sign** to add the Rule details.
 - f. Value should be set to **on** that will turn visibility on.
 - g. Select when any of the following is true.
 - h. Select **EmployID** as the data base field to test.
 - i. Select **[T] begins with** as the test.
 - j. Set the value to test for to **2**.
 - k. Select **OK** to save the Rule.

Two new Rule objects, called GreenOn and BlueOn, have been added to the VDE Panel.

- 8. Apply the GreenOn Rule.
 - a. Scroll to record 2 in the database file.
 - b. Make sure the **Green layer** is active, select it in the Layer panel.
 - c. Click the **eye icon** in the Layers Panel to make the Green layer visible.



d. Highlight the **GreenOn Rule** object in the VDE panel.

- e. Right-Click, then select the **Insert Object to Layer: GreenOn** option, this inserts the Rule to control the visibility of the Green layer. Because the EmployID field to layer begins with 1, the visibility for the Green layer is turned on.
- 9. Apply the BlueOn Rule
 - a. Make the Blue layer the active layer by selecting it in the Layer panel.
 - b. Scroll to record **3**, click the **eye icon** in the Layer panel to turn on the Blue layer.
 - c. Highlight the **BlueOn Rule** object in the VDE panel.



d. Right-Click then select the **Insert Object: BlueOn** option to layer, this inserts the Rule to control the visibility of the Blue layer.

10. Save the document.



11. Scroll through the records to see the layers being turned on and off. The document should look like this:



USING VPPLAYERNAME TO SUPPORT SEVERAL LAYERS WITH A SINGLE VISIBILITY RULE

In the previous example you created a *Green* and a *Blue* layer. To turn each layer on or off, you had to create two separate visibility rules and attach each one to its appropriate layer. This is acceptable when dealing with only a few versions of the layer, but is not practical if you want to control 50 versions of that layer. The built-in VDE variable, VPPlayerName, provides a simple method to control multiple versions of a layer using a single Visibility Rule. The Layer names available must appear in the VDE Panel as a data object. This can be done using either a DataBase field name containing the layer name or more likely some rule or transform that will contain the layer name.

To use this option on the file you have been using VPPExample.indd either detach the layer rules you just created and delete them, or go back to the VPPExample.indd file used prior to completing this Layer exercise.

At this point you should have the ID Card open in InDesign. If you do not have a *Blue* and *Green* layer, create them now see instructions 2 through 4 in the previous section.

To use the new option in the Visibility we will first create a Rule to contain the Layer name, as this information is not in the current data base file you are using.

Create a Rule to Contain the Layer Names for Use Below

- 1. Click the **Create a new rule** icon in the VDE panel.
- 2. Enter a name for the rule, call it Visibility_Layer_Name.
- 3. Select **Text** as the Rule Type.

- 4. Enter a rule description, to make it easier to identify the rule options later, enter **Rule to get Layer Name**.
- 5. Set the default value to **Blue**. This is the name of the Blue layer.
- 6. Next select the **plus sign** to add the Rule details.
- 7. Set the Value to **Green**. This is the name of the Green layer.
- 8. Select when any of the following is true.
- 9. Select **EmployID** as the data base field to test.
- 10. Select **[T] begins with**.
- 11. Set the value to test for to **1**.
- 12. Select **OK** to save this rule.

This will test the data base field EmployID for the value equal to 1. If true, the rule will return the value Green. If not true, this rule will return the value Blue. This is needed to feed the Visibility rule below. Although possibly more work for these two layers, using this method for multiple versions of a layer will result in design time savings. Even more so if the Layer names are part of the data base file, as you will not need to generate a rule first.

Creating Visibility Rule

To create the Visibility Rule follow these instructions:

- 1. Click the **Create a new rule** icon in the VDE panel.
- 2. Enter a name for the rule, call it MultiVersionVisibility.
- 3. Select **Visibility** as the Rule Type.
- 4. Enter a rule description, to make it easier to identify the rule options later, enter **Rule used to control Green and Blue Layer versions**.
- 5. Set the default visibility value to OFF.
- 6. Next select the **plus sign** to add a rule entry.
- 7. Set the Visibility value to **ON**.
- 8. Select when any of the following is true.
- 9. Select **VPPlayerName** as the option, this is a special Visibility Rule variable that represents the names of InDesign document layers.
- 10. Select Visibility_Layer_Name as the value to test.
- 11. Select **OK** to save this visibility rule.

12. Next you need to attach this rule to all applicable layers. To do this right-click the rule **MultiVersionVisibility**, and click the **Multi-layer Visibility...** option.

	MultiVersionVis	 denitipi; 	A CONTRACT OF A CONTRACT OF A CONTRACT
Data Transforms			Insert Object to Layer: MultiVersionVisibility
	I Firstname	David	Multi-layer Visibility
	I Lastname	Kirk	Edit Rule
	I StateUpper	CA	Delete Rule
	II Sub1	David	Export Rule
	II Sub2	Kirk	Detach Visibility Object from Layer
	Photo Transform	98734.jpg	
	II FormatNumber	(310) 555	
4	OO TI	1 4 9 .	

This will display the Multi-layer Visibility panel that will display all available layers in your job.

📝 Blue	
🗹 Green	
🖾 Layer 1	
Check All Selected	

- 13. Check the layers by name to which you want to apply the Visibility rule. In this case you want to apply the rule to Green and Blue.
- 14. Select **OK**. This will apply the rule.

To test the rule scroll through your records. The Green layer should show when the data base field EmployID is equal to 1. The Blue Layer should show otherwise.

Check the Show User Data option

Make sure the option **Show User Data** is checked in the VDE panel to correctly view the variable layers switching on or off.

Limitations

There are limitations associated with VPPlayerName and variable layers.

Using PDF Visibility Rule

This is similar to the previous topic Using Rules to control layer visibility. Let's use a simple CSV data file to illustrate the usage.

- 1. Open the VDE panel, if not already open.
- 2. Import the VPPExample.csv data file from the VDE panel.
- 3. Create the content that needs to static in the PDF in the first layer as shown below.



4. Create the second layer and name it as copy.

	- 44
≎ Layers	*≣
Ager 1 Age	
© > сору	Ø 🗆
	*

5. Create a text frame in the second layer created with the text COPY in it and place it as shown below:



- 6. Create a PDF Visibility Rule.
 - a. Click the Create a new rule icon in the VDE panel.
 - b. Enter the second layer name **copy** as the Rule Name.
 - c. Select **PDF Visibility** as the Rule Type.
 - d. Select the Default value as **ON**.

 Create Rule
Rule Name copy
Rule Type PDF Visibility
Description

7. Select **OK** to save the rule.

- 8. Apply the Copy Rule to the second layer.
 - Make sure the second layer copy is active, select it in the Layer panel.
 - Highlight the copy rule object in the VDE panel.
 - Right-click, then select the Insert Object to Layer: copy option, this inserts the Rule to the second layer and makes this layer as an optional layer in the PDF. Likewise we can apply this rule to many layers.
- 9. Save the document.
- 10. Export the document as PDF. Refer to Export and Printing.
- 11. Now in the PDF we can see the layers as optional content.



PAGE VISIBILITY

There are occasions where you may want to assign visibility to a page. This is accomplished by creating a visibility rule. Instead of applying the Visibility rule to a layer, you can apply it to the page. When the returned value of the Visibility rule is *On*, the page will print, otherwise, the page will not print. Note that the page will always be visible in InDesign, however, a Visibility water mark will show the current status.

For example, you may be printing an Automobile User Manual. In this case the manual is normally two pages long. However, if the customer ordered a *Special Feature*, then a *Special Feature Instruction* page is inserted between page 1 and 2, which will create a three page document.

To do this, follow these steps:

- 1. You need a data field to be based in a rule to determine the visibility of the extra page.
- 2. Create all three pages of your document using VDE.
- 3. In this case, page two will be the page controlled by the Page Visibility. Place the optional content on page two.
- 4. Next create your visibility Rule:
 - a. Give your Visibility Rule a useful name, such as MyPageVisibilityRule.
 - b. Set the Rule Type to Visibility.
 - c. Provide a short description, useful information when editing your application later.
 - d. Set the Default Value to Off.
 - e. Set the Value to On.
 - f. Select when any of the following is true, or another option depending on your conditional needs.
 - g. Set the data field you will be testing.
 - h. Set the condition to test for, such as is equal to.
 - i. Set the value you are testing for, in the example below, the field Other1 is tested for a value of
 - 1. Your rule should look something like this:

Edit Rule	CALL AND		
	Rule Name	MyPageVisibilityRule	
	Rule Type	Visibility	
	Description	Special Feature Page Visibility Test using Other1	
Default value =	Off		- + ·
Value =	On	when any of the following is true	- +
Oth	er1 💌 :	III is equal to	÷ +

At this point press **OK**. Next, apply the Visibility rule to the page.

Attaching the Visibility Rule to the Page

Follow these steps to attach the Visibility Rule to the page:

1. Right-click the rule.



2. With the correct layer selected in the Layer Panel, select the option **Insert Object to Page: Your Rule name here**. This will apply the page visibility rule.

When you step through your data records, the watermark will be shown to indicate if whether the page is visible or not. When visible, it will be printed, when invisible, as long as nothing else is on that page, the page will not print.



Adding Specialty Imaging

In order to use SI in VDE, the SI screen fonts and color swatches must be installed, this is an option selected in the VDE installer. The VDE installer can be re-run at any time to install these assets. Also, read Using Specialty Imaging Effects in this document to understand VDE and the printer considerations for SI printing.

The information contained in this Hints and Tips section assumes that you read the Specialty Imaging section of this document and have installed the VDE assets and printer resources to support the Specialty Imaging.

HOW TO ADD MICROTEXT

The goal is to place a MicroText line underneath the photo that contains static and variable text.

- 1. Open **VPPExample.indd**, and the VDE panel, if not already open.
- 2. Create a new layer.
 - a. Call the layer Sleffects. It is not necessary to create a new layer in order to use SI effects.
 - b. Make the new layer the active layer.
- 3. Draw a text block anywhere on the document, that extends across the whole document., This text box is drawn because MicroText is a very small font, and it is useful to use a 6 or 8 point size first to ensure that the correct data is entered, before highlighting it and changing the font size to 1 point required for all MicroText fonts.
- 4. Set the text font to a standard font, such as Arial, and the font size to 6.
- 5. Enter the data to be contained in the text block:
 - a. Type Name.
 - b. Insert the object, **Firstname**, from the VDE panel, double-click the **object** in the VDE panel.
 - c. Insert a **space character**, then insert the object, **Lastname**, from the VDE panel.
 - d. Type five space characters, then insert the object, EmployID, from the VDE panel.
 - e. Add **five more spaces**, then repeat the process once more until there are two sets of data. The text line for record 1 should look like this when finished:

Name David Kirk 2-98734 Name David Kirk 2-98734

- 6. Apply center alignment by highlighting the **text string** and selecting **Type Paragraph** and selecting the **center alignment** icon.
- MicroText should be black, cyan, magenta, or yellow. Highlight the text string and select one of these solid colors from the swatch panel.
 Next the MicroText settings will be applied. It is important that the attributes described below are used.

Next the MicroText settings will be applied. It is important that the attributes described below are used. Using any other attribute settings or scaling the font in any way will negatively affect the Specialty Imaging effect.

- 8. Highlight **the text string**, then:
 - Select the **micro text** font to use. Select the **SI_micro font family**, then select one of the eight available styles. For example, f7-Bold. This is approximately 0.7 points and is a bold style.
 - Set the point size attribute to **1**, this must be set to 1, no other value is supported. It is necessary to use the keyboard to set this value to 1.
 - Resize the text box to the approximate height and width of the text. Be careful to allow enough space for records that will have a greater number of characters in the variable objects in the text string.
 - Drag the text string and position it just below the image

To view the MicroText, select **Ctrl +** to zoom in, then select **Ctrl -** to zoom out.

9. Save the document.

HOW TO ADD FLUORESCENTMARK

The goal is to place a fluorescent text line just above the photo that contains variable text.

- 1. Open **VPPExample.indd**, and the VDE panel, if not already open.
- 2. Create a new layer called SIeffects. If already created, make sure that is the active layer.
- 3. Scroll to record 1.
- 4. Draw a text box the width of the document and between the last line of the address line and the photo image.
- 5. With the text box selected, select a **SI_UV_colorname color** from the Swatches panel. This is a special SI color key, it may be necessary to load the SI_UV_color from the VDE color library. Refer to Using a Specialty Imaging Color Swatch to load the SI_UV_color to the Swatches panel.
- 6. Select the color **SI_UV_GOLD1**, this will fill the text box with the SI_UV_GOLD1 color.
- 7. Next click the **text icon** and click inside the **text block** to position the text insertion cursor.
- 8. Select the **Type > Paragraph** option from the menu bar and select the center alignment icon to center the text insertion cursor horizontally.
- 9. Select **Object > Text Frame Options** and under the Vertical Justification settings select **Center** from the Align drop-down box. The horizontal and vertical text alignment will be set to center or center, a recommended setting for a fluorescent text string.
- 10. Select the **text color**. This MUST be set to **Paper** in the Swatches panel. The fluorescent effect will not work when using any other setting.
- 11. Enter the variable text into the application:
 - a. Double-click **Firstname** in the VDE panel to insert that text object into the fluorescent string.
 - b. Add a space character, then double-click the Lastname object to insert that into the text string.
 - c. Add a **space character**, then double-click the **EmployID** object in the VDE panel to insert the employee ID number.
 - d. If required, highlight the text and change the font or the font size. Use any font that InDesign has access to.
- 12. Scroll through the document to see the variables change from record to record.
- 13. Save the document.

Hints and Tips

